
PLANNING COMMITTEE
10.00 am

THURSDAY
14 MAY 2020

IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY AND CAN BE VIEWED 

VIA:   WWW.GLOUCESTERSHIRE.GOV.UK 

MEETING PAPERS

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 14 May 2020

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Andrea Griffiths
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests 
(including their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the 
Code of Conduct. Members who have an interest to declare are 
asked to complete the Declarations of Interests form at the back 
of the chamber.

3.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is Thursday 7th 
May 2020.

4.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which 
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am 
on Thursday 7th May 2020.

5.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 14) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 30th 
January 2020.

6.  MEMBERS SITE VISIT NOTES (Pages 15 - 16) Sarah Pearse
To receive the notes of the Members Site Visit held on Thursday 
12th March 2020.

7.  APPLICATION NO: 19/0058/CHR3MJ     SITE: LAND Sarah Pearse



BETWEEN FARM LANE/KIDNAPPERS LANE, CHELTENHAM, 
GLOS (Pages 17 - 192)
The Committee is asked to consider the construction of a new 6 
forms of entry secondary school building, with a new all-weather 
pitch, sports playing fields, a multi-use games area, onsite 
parking and other associated works.  

8.  APPLICATION NO: 19/0025/FDMAJW (DISTRICT 
REFERENCE P1046/19/CPC) WASTE RECYCLING FACILITY.   
SITE: LYDNEY SKIP HIRE, UNIT 37 LYDNEY INDUSTRIAL 
ESTATE, LYDNEY, GLOS. (Pages 193 - 236)

Denis Canney

The Committee is asked to consider the waste recycling facility 
application.

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1. In the event of the Committee not being able to 

complete the meeting, the Committee will reconvene at 
10am on Friday 15th May 2020.  

2. Members of the public will be able to view the Planning 
Committee via www.gloucestershire.gov.uk 

3. Any person who wishes to register to speak should 
contact Andrea Griffiths on 01452 324206; or 
Email: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

4. Registered speakers will be asked to provide the clerk 
with a copy of their speech at least 24 hours prior to 
the Committee Meeting.  This is to ensure that in the 
event of any technological failures, the clerk will be 
able to present the speech on the registered speakers 
behalf.  

5. The recorded meeting will be posted on the GCC 
Website as soon as possible.   

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Steve Robinson, 
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Simon Wheeler and Cllr Will Windsor-
Clive

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe  e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior 
to the commencement of the meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Unit 

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


: 01452 324206 e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
(since June 2013) before they can sit on the Committee and take part in 
discussion and vote. Substitution arrangements are as set out on page 67 of the 
Constitution. A list of trained Members is available from your Political Assistant.

mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 30 January 
2020 commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford 
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Simon Wheeler

Apologies: Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Brown declared he was a member of Gloucester City Planning 
Committee. 

Councillor Wheeler & Councillor Fisher declared they were members of 
Cheltenham Borough Council Planning Committee.

2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.  

3. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No Member’s questions had been received.  

4. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the Minutes of the meeting held 21st November 2019 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairperson.  

5. MEMBERS SITE VISIT 

Resolved 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

That the site visit notes be noted.  

6. APPLICATION NO: 19/0070/GLMAJW (DISTRICT REFERENCE 19/01060/DCC) 
SITE: ALLSTONE SAND AND GRAVEL CENTRE 

A summary of the application was presented by Linda Townsend, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).  

The planning application had been made under Section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, which sought to renew a temporary planning 
permission until 5th October 2022. The Applicant also sought approval for a change 
to the approved site layout due to the installation of a concrete pad on which the 
wash plant was sited.

Ms Townsend explained that proposal was for the continued use of the 1.89 ha site 
for the crushing and screening of inert waste materials, to produce secondary 
aggregates and reduce the amount of waste material sent to landfill. The applicant 
sought another temporary permission following the grant of outline planning 
permission, in December 2018, by Gloucester City Council, for residential 
development of the Allstone site (16/00948/OUT all matters except access 
reserved).

It was noted that Members of the Planning Committee visited the application site on 
Thursday 23rd January 2020 and the notes of the Site Visit Meeting were available 
at the rear of the Council Chamber.  

Ms Townsend informed Members she needed to amend Condition 16 in Section 8.0 
of the report so that the hours of operation ended at 17.30 and not 18.00 as stated.  
It was noted that since the Committee report was published, a further objection had 
been received from a member of the public (initially sent to Gloucester City Council) 
increasing the number of objections received reported in paragraph 5.2 as being 
31.  The objection related to concerns about traffic congestion on Horton Road and 
the problems caused by HGV traffic which had also been made by other objectors.  
These traffic issues were referred to in paras 7.44 -7.49 of the report.  The 
Gloucester City Environmental Health Officer had also confirmed there were no 
further complaints about the site.

The Committee were informed that, in addition to these objections, the local County 
Councillor had added his objection, which had been reproduced in full in paragraph 
6.4 of the report.  Members noted there were no objections from Gloucester City 
Council, Environmental Health, Environment Agency, the Lead Local Flood 
Authority or the Highway Authority to this application.

Ms Townsend advised the Committee the 1.89 ha site was located 1km south-east 
of Gloucester city centre.  This elongated site lay immediately to the north of the 
Cheltenham to Gloucester railway line and occupied land which was formerly used 
for railway sidings.  It lay to the northwest of an area of land known as the Railway 
Triangle.   Eastern Avenue was over 500 metres to the east and Metz Way was 75 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

metres to the south.  The application site was accessed from Horton Road which 
was approximately 30m from the western end of the site.

An aerial photograph (Slide 3) showed Myers Road, leading off Horton Road.  
Members noted the redevelopment of land to the south of the railway with its 
Morrisons Supermarket, accessed off Metz Way was clear.   Gloucester Royal 
Hospital was located to the west of Horton Road.  St. Peters Primary School and a 
medical practice were located further north of the site, on Horton Road.  The 
Chapel House Care Home was located to the west of Horton Road and opposite 
the Myers Road junction.

Ms Townsend explained that two residential areas known as Swallow Park and 
Armscroft Park estate were located to the north and north-east.  Swallow Park also 
had access from Myers Road.  The area of public open space to the north east of 
the site was Armscroft Park.  This was used by the Gloucester Old Boys Rugby 
Club.  The Rugby Club and its car park were reached by a long access road, from 
Myers Road.  The access road ran along the northern boundary of the adjacent part 
of Allstone’s site. Members noted that Wotton Brook ran along the eastern side of 
Armscroft Park within 250 metres of the eastern end of the application site, but was 
not in the floodplain, it was culverted under the railway line.

The Committee were advised that land to the east of the application site was also in 
the ownership of the applicant.  This land was subject to a number of separate 
planning permissions for the large waste transfer building, external storage and a 
concrete batching plant.   It was noted that the planning history was laid out in 
section 3.0 of the report.

Ms Townsend advised the Committee that since the previous temporary permission 
15/0077/GLMAJW was granted, the applicant had purchased two dwellings, 
adjacent to the northern application site boundary, known as Numbers 1 and 2 Gas 
Holder Cottages but did not form part of the application site.

It was noted that the closest residential properties to the application site were 
accessed off Horton Road and lay to the rear of an electrical wholesaler and 
adjacent to the Irish Club car park and were occupied by Allstone employees.  The 
side/rear corner of Number 2 Gas Holder Cottages was within 5 metres of the site 
boundary.  Slide 5 depicted stockpiles of material on the application site, which 
could be seen to the side/rear boundary of this property.   A planning condition on 
the previous planning permission limited the height of the stockpiles to 6 metres.  

The Committee were informed that the noise limit set by the planning condition at 
55dB was recommended to be relaxed at this location to allow a greater noise level 
of 65dB at this location for up to 20 days a year, to allow for the crushing and 
screening campaigns which are of short duration.   The Noise Management 
Strategy included an acoustic fence of 1.8 m erected at the boundary of the site to 
provide additional noise protection for these properties.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The next closest residential properties to the application site were in Etheridge 
Place, (numbers 5 and 6) which was 35 metres northeast of the site entrance.  The 
photograph at slide 6 showed the rear garden boundaries of these properties from 
Myers Road.  The fence line of a commercial property known as Cheltenham 
Surfacing Ltd could be seen on the left-hand side of Myers Road.

It was explained that the Myers Road provided access to a number of businesses 
as well as access to the Swallow Park housing estate.  Members noted the closest 
commercial property to the application site was located 13 metres north of the site 
boundary and 21 metres North West of the site entrance.  This neighbouring site 
was accessed off Myers Road and was used by a removals company for storage.

Ms Townsend advised the Committee that application was for the continued use of 
the site for the processing of up to 20,000 tonnes per annum of inert waste 
materials, to produce secondary aggregates, for a further three years.  Members 
noted the site had been operating since 2010.

It was noted that the inert waste material comprising demolition/construction wastes 
such as bricks/rubble and soils would be imported to the application site and 
stockpiled for processing.  The processing operations involved the crushing and 
screening of materials using mobile crushing and screening machinery, on a 
campaign basis.  

An external operator came to the site, twice a year over a 3 to 4-week period. 
Reusable material was then washed and stockpiled for distribution.  Any rejected 
waste material was sent to a registered landfill site for disposal.  The applicant 
stated that an average of 20 HGV movements a day were associated with the site 
operations. 

This photograph at slide 10 showed the typical view within the site of stockpiles of 
material.  There were no buildings, weighbridge or wheel wash on the site.  The 
buildings in the photograph were on the south side of the railway tracks in the 
Triangle Retail Park.

The Committee were advised that, as part of these proposals, the applicant had 
added a 38 metre by 30 metre concrete hardstanding, immediately to the west of 
the site entrance ramp and close to the northern site boundary. The ground level of 
the application site was lower than the land to the north and North West of the site.  
The washing plant was used to wash crushed material of soil and debris. It was 
sited on the concrete pad which had sealed drainage.  This part of the application 
site was partially screened from the neighbouring site to the north, which was used 
for storage, by an embankment and some limited natural scrub, which could be 
glimpsed to the right on the plant in photograph 11. 

Ms Townsend advised that the main issues which arose in the determination of this 
application related to concerns about noise, air quality, health and amenity on 
neighbouring residential properties as well as traffic congestion on the local 
highway network.  The applicant had submitted information in the form of noise and 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

air quality assessments which had satisfied the statutory consultees that the 
recycling operation could be carried out without adverse environmental impacts.  

Members were informed that, while traffic congestion along Horton Road was of 
particular concern, no change was proposed to the number or type of vehicle 
movements associated with the operation. The Highway Authority was satisfied that 
there was safe and suitable access to the site and that the impact on the adjacent 
transport network was not so severe to justify refusal. 

Ms Townsend advised that to counter criticism of the applicant’s poor track record 
of compliance with previous permission, amendments to the planning conditions 
were recommended to improve clarity. All the planning conditions of the previous 
planning permission had been reviewed and the amendments were shown in 
Section 8.0 of the report in bold and included four additional planning conditions.  

In addition, there was a new requirement for the applicant to supply an acceptable 
scheme to repair the deterioration in the surface of Myers Road (Condition 15); 
provide an annual progress report of the search for an alternative site (Condition 
35); provide quarterly reports on operations (Condition 33) which could be reviewed 
by a multi-agency liaison group, for which terms of reference had been agreed by 
the Waste Planning Authority (Condition 34).     

The Committee were informed given the lack of material planning reasons why a 
further temporary planning permission should not be granted; subject to the 
inclusion of the new and revised planning conditions, Officers were of the opinion 
that the operator could address the concerns raised by the public, provided that all 
the proposed mitigation measures were adhered to.  The granting of temporary 
planning permission was therefore recommended.

Members were advised that Chris Mead a consultant for the Highway Authority and 
Dan Boot, an acoustic consultant from Atkins were present to assist with questions 
on highway and noise impacts of the development.

The Chairperson invited the registered speakers to address the Committee.  

Mrs Valerie Gannon (Objecting): 
“I have lived in Swallow Park since 1992 long before this company existed.  Today 
as with most days I am up at 5:30am.  The Company in question although operating 
hours are 07:30 -17:30 they open their doors between 05:45 and 06:00.  They park 
from 06:00 onwards on land I believe they do not own.  

If indeed it is theirs, have they sought permission for a change of use as this is the 
car park for the rugby club.  They enter the site through the pedestrian access 
which I believe they had no permission to construct.  I am also a regular train 
traveller so can see first-hand the height of the piles which regularly exceed 
6metres.  These are evidence of general breaches in respect of this application.  

Weight Restrictions

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

On previous permissions they have provided evidence within given timeframes set 
and once produced it was over the set tonnage.  So, do you believe they will stay 
within the 20,000 tonnes set.  What do you propose to do to monitor this and what 
will be the consequences if they exceed it?

On previous permissions a Condition 15 was to prepare a Noise Impact 
Assessment, this was never presented until the current application.  Why was this 
not pursued by the relevant agencies on previous permissions?

Condition 19 states that a Dust & Air Quality Management Strategy should have 
been completed, it was not on previous permissions, again why was this not 
pursued?

The traffic entering and leaving the site is of concern we have a large district 
hospital, a school and doctors’ surgery in the vicinity. The surrounding highways 
were not designed for this level of traffic or more specifically heavy goods vehicles.  

All of the aforementioned issues have been identified by the City & County 
Councils, County Air Quality Advisor and Enforcement Officer.  

Our main objection is that this company have repeatedly flouted conditions set and 
more importantly the agencies that are employed to monitor and inspect these 
premises have not done so robustly and to our knowledge have carried out no 
enforcement.  

Therefore, we are gravely concerned that the modus operandi of both this company 
and the agencies that serve the public will continue.  Do the committee believe that 
a company that continually breaches conditions and submits late applications is a 
responsible one?

Off the 77 letters sent to residents, 31 raised objections, we would regard this to be 
a significant number.  

This company have made no efforts to engage with the residents to appreciate the 
impacts of its business and to work towards mitigating these impacts.

Although we did receive a newsletter to correct any ‘myths’ we may have.  We live 
with this day to day these are facts not myths.  

We understand that to monitor this service more effectively, three monthly meetings 
will be held.  I am interested to know if the meeting planned for 21st January went 
ahead.  

In summary, we recommend that this application is rejected”.    

County Councillor Jeremy Hilton (speech summarised): 

Councillor Hilton explained that nine years of temporary crushing was too much and 
the application should be refused.  He added that he did support aggregate 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

crushing, but he felt this intensive site was too close to residential homes.  This was 
echoed by the fact that Allstones were using the rugby club car park, as they did not 
have sufficient space on their own site for vehicles.  

It was noted that Allstones had failed to meet the planning conditions in the past 
and Councillor Hilton felt the Council were useless at enforcing the conditions. He 
added that residents needed confidence in the enforcement of such conditions.  He 
referred to the fact that Allstones had also breached the 20,000 tonnes limit time 
and again and that the record keeping undertaken by Allstones was simply not 
good enough.  

Councillor Hilton remarked that nothing had been done by Allstones to search for 
an alternative site.  He advised the Committee that Gloucester City had given 
planning permission for homes to be built on the Myers Road site.  Therefore, this 
type of facility needed to be relocated, as Gloucester required more homes for its 
residents.  

In addition, Councillor Hilton referred to the damage to the road surface at Myers 
Road and Horton Road. He felt that Allstones should be made to contribute to the 
resurfacing.  He added he had living condition concerns for those employees who 
lived in the Gas Holder Cottages, given the noise levels were now 65db.  

He requested that Officers request an annual report on Allstone’s progress to find 
and alternative site.  

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentation.  

Councillor Brown requested to know which of the conditions were not being 
complied with.  Martin Evans, Solicitor, advised the Committee that enforcement 
issues were not material considerations when determining an application.  

Councillor Fisher referred to the Joint Core Strategy and the need for student 
accommodation and people’s desire not to live next to a recycling plant.  He 
questioned how enforcement issues were not material to planning.  Ms Townsend 
explained that outline planning had been given by Gloucester City Council for the 
housing development on the site; however the application before the Committee 
was for taking the site forward.   It was noted that Allstones would need to relocate 
before the site could be developed for housing.  

Councillor Cordwell asked if the intensification was due to the use of the specific 
site or was it wider.  Ms Townsend advised the Committee that it related to the 
adjacent site and Allstones were looking to reconcile some of the issues.  

Mr Evans reiterated that the issues of previous breaches of condition were not 
relevant to this application and referred to a High Court ruling in 2018 on this point.    

Councillor Fisher remarked that the Authority had not carried out any enforcement 
to date.  It was noted that Enforcement Officer was not present at the meeting. 
However Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning Officer explained that every complaint 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

received had been investigated in association with Environment Agency & the 
Environmental Health Officer.  

Councillor Parsons questioned if it was possible to stop the applicant requesting 
temporary permissions.  Ms Townsend explained that the applicant had requested 
temporary permission in light of the housing application.  Mr Evans advised the 
Committee that it was not possible to prevent the applicant from applying for 
temporary permission again and Committee would need to consider if the 
circumstances were justified at that time.  

Councillor Tracey wished to know how many occasions the Enforcement Officer 
had visited the site.  Mrs Pearse explained that she did not have the figures to 
hand, although she personally visited the site and the area once a month to monitor 
the site activity.  It was noted that Officer Visits were unannounced, in order to 
monitor noise, etc.  

Councillor Robinson recognised the importance of the site for the recycling of 
materials in Gloucester but raised concerns regarding the repeated temporary 
permissions.  Ms Townsend informed the Committee that the applicant had 
requested the temporary permission and they were entitled to do so.  It was noted 
that the statutory consultees, including Gloucester City Council, had not raised any 
objection to the temporary permission.  

Councillor Hirst felt reassured that the conditions were enforceable and referred to 
the conditions as detailed at Section 6.4 of the report.  He remarked there were 
practical conditions to focus the applicants’ mind and financial penalties if they 
failed to comply with the conditions.  Councillor Hirst questioned the possibility of a 
wheel wash on the site.  Ms Townsend explained that Allstones had a road cleaner 
which they used on the roads, therefore there was no need for wheel wash on site.  

Councillor Fisher questioned the recent permission and if it had expired.  Ms 
Townsend advised the Committee that the permission was initially for a three-year 
period and this had expired on the 5th October 2019. However the new application 
had been submitted before the expiration date.  Councillor Fisher stated that in 
effect Allstones were now operating without permission.   

Councillor Hale questioned the number of vehicle movements per day using the 
site.  Mrs Pearse explained that vehicles were using the access road to other 
businesses in the locality.  It was noted that the waste recycling site and the 
concrete site were part of the housing application site.  

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Bird proposed that the Committee should accept the Officer’s 
recommendation.  Councillor Parsons seconded the proposal. He appreciated 
residents’ concerns but felt there was no option at this stage.  

Councillor Wheeler felt that Allstones had no intention of moving to an alternative 
site.  He also felt that the site was ideal for residential properties and although 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Allstones was a useful recycling business it was not in the best location.  As an 
additional point, Councillor Wheeler referred to the breach of conditions and felt 
they needed to be strongly enforced.  

Councillor Cordwell felt the issue was with the increased use of the site. However, 
he also felt there was no alternative but to accept the proposal subject to strong 
conditions being in place.  

Councillor Brown remarked that the Allstones site was a good business model for a 
city centre; however he had concerns over the number of temporary permissions 
applied for by the Applicant over the years and felt it was difficult to support the 
application.  

Councillor Hirst asked if it was possible to add a condition to prevent any more 
temporary permission applications.  Officers explained that this was not possible.  

The Chairperson concurred with the view of the Committee that the site was not 
ideally located. However a large brownfield site would be required to relocate the 
business.  He echoed the shared view of Members that it was unsatisfactory to 
keep applying for temporary permissions and it was in all parties’ interests that 
Allstones relocated from Gloucester City Centre.  It was noted that the Chairman 
had also visited the site on various occasions in order to gauge for himself the 
effects of the noise, traffic, etc.  He added that Gloucester City would undoubtedly 
welcome the site for housing.  

Councillor Robinson agreed with the Chair’s view and did not want to see the 
application back before the Committee again in three years’ time.  

Councillor Fisher referred to the Joint Core Strategy and the need for affordable 
housing in the city centre, while reducing the need for people to travel in relation to 
climate change.  He added that the business of Allstones was an industrial process 
and should be located accordingly.  Councillor Fisher moved to reject the 
application under the Joint Core Strategy and to keep granting temporary 
permissions would detract the Applicant from finding an alternative site.  

Councillor Morgan supported the proposal to accept the Officer’s recommendation. 
He understood Member’s views in terms of the business of being in the wrong 
location, but the recycling business was necessary.  He added that he would be 
reluctant however to support another temporary permission.  

Councillor Bird felt there was some confusion over the role of the Planning 
Committee versus the needs of the JCS for housing and that Members were 
present to determine the application before them.  It was for the landowner and 
developer to determine what would happen to the site and housing at this stage 
was not relevant to this application.  

Mr Evans reiterated that it was not possible to prevent the Applicant from applying 
for temporary permission. . He drew Members’ attention to the  new condition 
regarding the search for an alternative site.  He proceeded to explained that in the 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

future, Members could take into account the Applicant’s efforts to find an alternative 
site at a future application.    

The Chairperson summarised the current site was not ideal and he had sympathy 
for local residents and appreciated the concerns raised.  

The Chairperson then put Councillor Bird’s proposal to accept the Officer 
Recommendation as presented before the Committee, as seconded by Councillor 
Parsons.  On being put to the vote the application was passed (6 in favour and 5 
against).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
paragraphs 7.74 to 7.78 and subject to the planning conditions in Section 8.0 
of the Officer Report.  

At this juncture, the Committee took a brief adjournment to allow members of the 
public to leave the chamber.    

The Committee reconvened at 11:10am

7. APPLICATION NO: 19/0036CHREG3  SITE: ST JOHN'S PRIMARY SCHOOL, 
ALBION STREET, CHELTENHAM, GLOUCESTERSHIRE GL52 2SN 

A summary of the application was presented by Denis Canney, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).  

Planning application 19/0036/CHREG3 related to an application for a change of use 
from an open area of land to that for educational purposes. In particular the use 
would be for what was known as a Forest School use. The land would be enclosed 
by black 1.75m tall metal railings, with hedgerow behind, which surrounded most of 
the land. It was explained that the site would be landscaped in accordance with the 
details to be agreed via planning condition should the application be granted.

Members were advised that a Forest School was an outdoor, nature-based learning 
opportunity that focussed on the holistic development of the child. It was a regular, 
long term process rather than a one off activity and could take place in any natural 
outdoor environment which may be on school premises or in the local area.  Forest 
schools tied in with the National Curriculum contributing to geography, science and 
design and technology.

The off-site layout plan as identified in Slide 8 showed the black metal railings with 
native hedge inside, willow panel hide, fire pit and log seating area, hazel to 
coppice, mature shrub area and retention of the mature existing tree.  The 
application site was located within the Sydenham Character Area within 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Cheltenham Central Conservation Area. It was noted that Grade II listed buildings 
were located along Berkeley Street including opposite and adjoining the site. 

Mr Canney referred to the consultation responses received from Cheltenham 
Borough Council (CBC), the Highway Authority and the County Ecologist. 

It was explained that Cheltenham Borough Council had raised an objection to the 
application regarding the impact it had on the area regarding loss of the open area 
which made a positive contribution to the area.  Members were advised that initially 
there were concerns regarding the impact of the proposed close boarded timber 
fencing which was considered to be of a poor design. Mr Canney informed the 
Committee that CBC still raised concerns regarding the loss of open space should 
the application be granted.

The Committee noted that the Highways Authority initially raised an objection 
regarding highway safety of vulnerable road users in accessing the site from the 
school; fire risk and accessibility by fire tender; and highway infrastructure (kerb 
heights). However, following discussion and the inclusion of a highways condition 
with detailed matters to be agreed along with an informative to the applicant the 
Highway Authority withdrew their objection.

Mr Canney advised Members that the County Ecologist raised no objections to the 
proposal identifying that there would be a small localised enhancement of 
biodiversity subject to conditions regarding planting and aftercare and an 
informative to the applicant.

It was noted that the application was publicised by site notices and a press notice in 
the Gloucestershire Echo and no representations had been received from members 
of the public.

Mr Canney summarised the main issues for consideration, these being: 

(a) Impact on designated Heritage Assets – (namely the Conservation Area and 
near to listed buildings) and whether there was considered to be less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage assets;
(b) Impact on Residential Amenity (the site may produce smoke (fire pit) and 
noise (children play learning); and  
(c) Impact on Highway Safety (vulnerable users (children) and access for fire 
tender) 
(d) Whether it was considered that in the planning balance that the public benefit 
of the use of the private land for educational purposes was an acceptable use of 
the land in the context of the above planning considerations.

The Committee were advised that the proposed development of the outdoor “Forest 
School” on land opposite the school entrance was by virtue of its design, location 
and need for educational facility was, on balance, considered by Officers not to 
have an adverse impact on the local highway network, biodiversity or amenity of 
neighbouring and nearby residents and businesses.  The proposed development 
was considered to have a neutral effect on the character and appearance of the 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Conservation Area and setting of the listed buildings.  Even if the development was 
shown to have a harmful effect on these heritage assets, Officers considered this 
would be less than substantial harm and would be outweighed by the public 
benefits of the proposal.   It was therefore considered by Officers that the proposed 
development was in accordance with Policy SD4, SD8, SD9, INF1 of the JCS and 
Paragraphs 94, 170, 175, 193 and 196 of the NPPF and that planning permission 
should be granted.

As there were no registered speakers, the Chairperson invited questions from 
Members following the presentation.  

Councillor Wheeler informed the Committee that he knew the site, as it was near 
the Liberal Democrat Office.  

Councillor Hirst asked whether, in terms of the fire pit, a condition could be imposed 
to ensure that it was properly extinguished at the end of the day and that the gates 
were locked.  Officers explained that the gates would be locked to restrict access to 
the site and if Members wished the fire pit could be removed from the application 
via a planning condition.  Mr Canney advised Members the site was in a heavy 
trafficked area.  

Councillor Hale felt the site was quite accessible and wondered if it was possible to 
secure the site at night to prevent inappropriate use.  Mr Canney explained that it 
was not possible to control those elements, he added that the height of the fence 
was 1.75m tall and the gates would be locked when the site was not in use.  

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Morgan felt it was a good opportunity for city children to be able to take 
part in the Forest School activity. He added if the fire pit was controlled and the 
gates were locked, he saw no issue with the application.  

Councillor Wheeler explained he was familiar with the site and was supportive of 
Forest Schools. However he felt the site in question made a valuable contribution to 
the Conservation Area and should be preserved as such.  Therefore, he was 
unable to support the application.  

Councillor Parsons questioned if Councillor Wheeler had a conflict of interest given 
the close proximity of the Liberal Democrat Office.  Mr Evans, Solicitor advised the 
Committee that he did not consider this to be a conflict of interest.  

Councillor Robinson strongly supported the use of Forest Schools and was pleased 
to support this application.  

Councillor Parsons advised the Committee that he had visited the site in his own 
time, and he felt the impact locally would be considerable given the volume of 
traffic.  He added that he supported Forest Schools but was unable to support this 
application.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Councillor Cordwell felt there were enough conditions to make it viable. He added 
that Regulation 3 would prevent the Applicant from being able to appeal if refused.  

Councillor Morgan proposed to accept the Officer’s recommendation.  This was 
seconded by Councillor Robinson.  

On being put to the vote the application was passed (7 in favour and 4 against).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
paragraphs 7.22 and subject to the planning conditions in Section 8.0 of the 
Officer Report.  

8. SECOND REVIEW GLOUCESTERSHIRE STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT 

Robin Drake, Principal Planning Officer presented the report in detail.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the intention of the Director to prepare a Cabinet 
report for March 2020 that would seek a recommendation to County Council 
adopt the further revised (2nd Review) Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) for Gloucestershire incorporating the amendments made following the 
public consultation between October and December 2019.  

9. DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning Officer presented the report.  

Resolved 

That the delegated decisions made between 7th November 2019 and 15th 
January 2020 be noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.45 am

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1
Notes by: Sarah Pearse (12/03/2020)

Member Site Visit Meeting

12th March 2020

Weather conditions: Dry, sunny and cold with foreboding dark clouds on the horizon. 

Planning Committee Member Attendance:

Councillors:
AWFORD, Cllr Philip (Chairman)
BIRD, Cllr Robert
BROWN, Cllr David
CORDWELL, Cllr John 
FISHER, Cllr Bernard
HALE, Cllr Terry
HIRST Cllr Stephen 
MORGAN, Cllr Graham

P
Ab
Ap
P
Ab
P
P
Ap

PARSONS, Cllr Shaun 
PREEST Cllr Alan
ROBINSON Cllr Steve
TRACEY, Cllr Pamela
VINES, Cllr Robert
WHEELER, Cllr Simon
WINDSOR-CLIVE, Cllr Clive

Ab
P
P
Ab
P
P
Ab

Key: P=present, Ab=absent, Ap= apologies

Officers in attendance: 

Sarah Pearse, (SP) Principal Planning Officer, Kevin Phillips, (KP) Team Manager, 
and Denis Canney, Senior Planning Officer (Case Officer).

Site 1: Planning application 19/0025/FDMAJW by Mr J Reilly of Lydney Skip 
Hire for a waste recycling facility on land at Unit 37, Lydney Industrial Estate, 
Harbour Road, Lydney.

Case Officer: Denis Canney (CO)

Members were joined on site by John Reilly the owner of Lydney Skip Hire, Stewart 
Holmes his Agent and Rob Beswick representing Mabey Property Ltd, who currently 
own Lydney Industrial Estate.

The CO described, the proposal, the site and pointed out surrounding land uses. He 
identified the existing Lydney Skip Hire Operation and the Enovert Waste Transfer 
facility on nearby land within the Industrial Estate.

Using a plan, the CO showed the location of adjacent land where there is a current 
outline planning application to be determined by The Forest of Dean District Council 
for mixed industrial and residential development. He explained to Members that 
although the adjacent hybrid application for mixed use and residential has yet to be 
determined, the report considers the waste recycling facility proposed development 
both with the existing undeveloped adjoining agricultural land  and from the point of 
view that the hybrid application has already been granted and implemented.

Member Questions:

Cllr Wheeler asked when considering the application, where do we place the hybrid 
application in our minds.

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



2
Notes by: Sarah Pearse (12/03/2020)

The CO stated that the report considers both scenarios, with and without permission 
being granted. It is an outline application that may or may not get planning 
permission, and may or may not be implemented if permission were granted. It is a 
material consideration members should give it the weight that they see fit.

Mr Holmes the Agent for the site, pointed out that the proposed accommodation 
would actually be closer to the Enovert site that the current application site. The 
Agent pointed to Naas House, a nearby listed building mentioned in the report and 
which can be seen from the site.

Cllr Robinson asked if the access Road is private. The Agent explained that it is 
public highway along Harbour road until you reach the Mabey property Site Office. 

The Local Member stated that he had no problems with the proposal on a well 
established Industrial Estate. Any jobs created were welcomed.

The site meeting ended at 11.30 

Page 16



APPLICATION NO: 19/0058/CHR3MJ VALIDATION 
DATE:

21 August  2019

DISTRICT REF: 19/01690/DEEM3

AGENT: Evans Jones Ltd, Royal Mews, St. Georges Place, 
Cheltenham.

APPLICANT: Head of Property Services, Gloucestershire County Council

SITE: Land Between Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire

PROPOSAL: Construction of a new 6 forms of entry secondary school 
building, with a new all-weather pitch, sports playing fields, a 
multi-use games area, onsite parking and other associated 
works.

PARISH OF Leckhampton SITE AREA: 5.66 Ha
GRID 
REF:

394127 E
219629 N

RECOMMENDATION: That the Planning Committee be minded to grant planning 
permission for the reasons summarised in paragraphs 8.157 to 8.166  subject to the 
application being first referred to the Secretary of State as requested by him to 
consider as a departure application from the adopted local plan, the prior completion 
of a S106 planning agreement to secure the long term safeguarding of the ecological 
mitigation land to the rear of Moat Cottage  and in accordance with Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and subject to the 
conditions set out in section 8 of this report.

1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1 The proposed Cheltenham Secondary School site is located within the 
Leckhampton area on the southern outskirts of South Cheltenham. The 5.66 
Ha site is roughly rectangular in shape, largely comprised of fields which have 
been used for arable agricultural purposes and equestrian use.  There are two 
small farming sheds located in the southern area of the site, adjacent to the 
residential property of Little Vatch.

1.2 Kidnappers Lane lies to the north of the site’s boundary, with Farm Lane 
running along the majority of its western side.  There is well-established 
hawthorn hedgerow planting approximately 5-6m high along both roads. The 
south boundary abuts an existing field, and is delineated by an existing native 
shrub buffer with occasional tree planting. Little Vatch, a detached residential 
property, is located to the south west corner of the site between the site 
boundary and Farm Lane and is screened by an existing Leylandii hedge 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Page 18



approximately 1.8m high. Hatherley Brook (designated as an ordinary 
watercourse) runs along the length of the site’s eastern boundary and forms a 
natural division between this site and the rear gardens of the adjacent small 
businesses and residents along Kidnappers Lane. These properties are set 
back from the site boundary approximately 30-65m. 

1.3 A former plant nursery is located to the north of Kidnappers Lane. Existing 
residential properties lie on the west side of Farm Lane comprising 
predominantly dormer bungalows all east facing towards the site. Views of the 
site from these units are currently screened by the existing established 
hawthorn hedge that borders the west boundary of the site.

1.4 The site is not within a protected landscape; however the Green Belt (GB) and 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) share a boundary, on the 
southern side of Church Road which lies approximately 300m from the site. A 
prominent feature of the AONB and the surrounding landscape, is 
Leckhampton Hill which incorporates a large footpath network that affords 
views across the site towards Cheltenham.

1.5 An existing public right of way (PROW) runs through the site, east to west, and 
is located within the more elevated part of the site close to the southern 
boundary. 

1.6 Vehicular access to the site is currently obtained via two gated entrances off 
Farm Lane, on the western boundary. The first entrance is approximately 140 
meters south of the Farm Lane/ Kidnappers Lane junction. The second 
entrance is situated further south along Farm Lane, approximately 10 meters 
from the Brizen Lane Junction. Pedestrian access is afforded to an existing 
PROW running west/east across the site (Leckhampton Footpath 9). (This is 
subject to a separate stopping up application of the footpath related to the 
consideration of this planning application).

1.7 The topography of the site entails a level difference of 7.0m, falling from the 
highest point in the south west corner of the site, to the lowest point in the 
north east corner of the site. As well as this cross fall across the length of the 
site, an approximate fall of 2.0m also exists directly along the eastern 
boundary falling towards the direction of Hatherley Brook. As a consequence 
of this, the PROW drops away sharply at its eastern end where it crosses 
Hatherley Brook.

1.8 A scheduled ancient monument is located approximately 250M south-east of 
the application site, referred to as the moated site and fish ponds at Church 
Farm, Leckhampton. The closest listed buildings are located 90m south of the 
site which comprise of the 18th century Grade II listed buildings known as 
Leckhampton Farmhouse and a late 16th century to mid- 17th century Barn.

1.9 The site falls within the Impact Risk Zone 1 of Leckhampton Hill and Charlton 
Kings Common Site of Specific Scientific Interest (SSSI) which lies 1.3km from 
the Site. The Hatherley Brook and the existing hedgerow/tree network are 
considered of local level value.

Page 19



1.10 Environment Agency mapping shows the majority of the site located within 
Flood Zone 1, an area of land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1,000 
annual probability of river or sea flooding. A small strip along the eastern 
boundary is within Flood Zones 2 and 3 of the Hatherley Book. The extent of 
the Flood Zone 2 reaches approximately 15m west into the site in the far 
northeast corner of the site, at the Kidnappers Lane crossing. Anecdotal 
evidence confirms that the public highway (Kidnappers Lane) flooded during 
the major flood event of 2007.

1.11 A desktop study analysis reveals the Agriculture Land Classification of the site
as Subgrade 3b, a grade of moderate quality agricultural land capable of 
producing moderate yields of a narrow range of crops, principally cereals and 
grass or lower yields of a wider range of crops or high yields of grass which 
can be grazed or harvested over most of the year. As lower quality agricultural 
land no statutory policy protection is provided.

Pre-Application Screening Opinion

1.12 The applicant did not take advantage of requesting any formal pre-application 
advice from the County Planning Authority. However The County request for a 
formal Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) screening opinion was made 
in March 2019 under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017. The proposal falls under Schedule 2, 10 (b) 
Urban development projects, including the construction of shopping centres 
and car parks, sports stadiums, leisure centres, and multiplex cinemas. Under 
Column 2, (i) the development includes more than 1 hectare of urban 
development which is not dwelling house development; or (iii) the overall area 
of the development exceeds 5ha. There was a delay in issuing the screening 
opinion to facilitate further archaeological investigative works and trial 
trenches because the County Archaeological Advisor was concerned that the 
ground works and intrusions required for the proposed development may have 
an adverse impact on significant archaeological remains relating to prehistoric, 
Roman, medieval and post-medieval archaeological remains.  

1.13 The site area for development is 5.95 ha and as such exceeds the threshold 
identified in Schedule 2. The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 
provides further advice in respect of indicative criteria and thresholds relating 
to the likelihood of the need for an EIA. Paragraph 017 of the relevant section 
of the NPPG states that if “a proposed project is listed in the first column in 
Schedule 2 of the 2017 Regulations and exceeds the relevant thresholds or 
criteria set out in the second column (sometimes referred to as ‘exclusion 
thresholds and criteria’) the proposal needs to be screened by the local 
planning authority to determine whether significant effects on the environment 
are likely and hence whether an Environmental Impact Assessment is 
required.” At paragraph 018 the NPPG states that “only a very small 
proportion of Schedule 2 development will require an Environmental Impact 
Assessment.”

Page 20



1.14 While there is potential for some environmental effects to be generated by the 
scheme, such as archaeological and heritage, ecology and biodiversity, flood 
risk and drainage, ground contaminators, highway impacts and safety, 
landscape character and visual amenity, public rights of way, these details can 
be considered through documentation to be submitted and mitigation 
measures which could be set out and submitted/considered with any planning 
application to avoid the potential for significant effects to be generated.

1.15 Advice in the NPPG has not been relied upon solely. Schedule 3 of the 2017 
Regulations has been considered with the result that the development is not 
considered to be of more than local importance (in the context of EIA 
legislation), would not have significant environmental effects on local area and 
would not have unusually complex/hazardous environmental effects either 
alone or in combination with other existing or approved developments (in the 
context of EIA legislation).

1.16 Whilst the proposed school development falls within the scope of Schedule 2 it 
would not, in the opinion of the County Planning Authority be likely to have a 
significant effect on the environment in terms of the requirement for an EIA. 
Having consulted with the County Archaeological Advisor, the County 
Highways Representative, the Public Rights of Way Advisor (No response)  
the Lead Local Flood Authority, the County Ecological Officer, the County Air 
Quality Advisor, the County Landscape Advisor, Natural England  and both 
Tewkesbury (No response) and Cheltenham Borough Councils in respect of 
Planning and Environmental Health (No response from Cheltenham EHO), it is 
considered that  the location of the proposed secondary school would not 
have a significant effect on the environment to warrant the production of an 
EIA.  A screening opinion was issued in June 2019. An Environmental 
Statement was therefore not requested however advisory notes were made to 
the applicant regarding key matters which would need to be addressed as part 
of the application submissions, e.g. A Transport Assessment, further 
ecological evaluation and mitigation, a Flood Risk Assessment, a full 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Contaminated land investigation, 
and an Air Quality Impact Assessment.

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

2.1 The proposal is for the construction of a new 7,921m², 6 Form Entry, 
educational building for 900 Key Stage 3 and 4 secondary school students, 
accepting Year 7 students through to Year 11 GCSE students. The School is 
proposed to meet the existing and forecast additional demand for Secondary 
school places in the local area and will be provided over a phased programme 
of entry, with Year 7 commencing first. Associated facilities will include all-
weather pitch (Astro or 3G), sports playing fields, a multi-use games area 
(MUGA), which will be available for community use outside of school hours 
such as weekday evenings and weekends and onsite car parking and other 
associated works. The proposal includes a package of improvements and 
enhancements to the local highway network fully detailed within the Transport 
Statement which forms part of the application.

Page 21



2.2 The School will comprise of two storeys, providing different teaching spaces, 
offices and halls. The development includes the following:

 42 x general teaching spaces for Drama, Art, Technology, Science on 
ground floor, with Music, ICT, Humanities, English, Maths, Modern 
Languages on the first floor

 1 x dining hall with outdoor dining and breakout space
 1 x café 
 1 x main hall
 1 x sports hall and associated changing facilities
 1 x activity studio
 17 x learning resource centres
 36 x Staff administration rooms
 Circulation space including student locker space
 Toilets 

2.3 The proposed vehicle access points into the site will be from a new access 
point on Kidnappers Lane on the northern boundary and separate entry and 
exit points located off Farm Lane on the western boundary of the site. In order 
to support pedestrian accessibility, a segregated pupil entrance is located at 
the north-east corner of the site with two further entrances located off Farm 
Lane.

2.4 The main application was received on 6th August 2019 and validated on 21st 
August 2019 following the submission of additional documents required by the 
County Planning Authority (CPA) in order to validate the application.

2.5 The Applicant has submitted extensive information in support of the planning 
application comprising:

 Design and access Statement (August 2019)
 Planning Statement (02 August 2019)
 Education Statement 
 Due Regard Statement 
 Community Engagement (19 July 2019) plus addendum (14 August 

2019)
 Public Right of Way Stopping Up Order 
 Ecology – Interim preliminary appraisal and protected species report 

(01/08/2019). Preliminary appraisal and protected species report 
(19/11/2019)

 Arboricultural survey, impact assessment and protection plan 
(25/07/2019)

 Archaeological evaluation report (09/07/2019) 
 Landscape Visual Impact  Assessment (August 2019)
 Transport Strategy (July 2019)
 Travel Plan (July 2019)
 Community Use Strategy
 Site Investigation (August 2019)
 Flood Risk Assessment (28/06/2019)

Page 22



 Sustainable Drainage – Drainage Strategy Report (11/07/19)
 Building Environmental Strategy 
 Natural Ventilation Summary 
 Mechanical Ventilation Summary 
 Daylight Summary 
 Energy Statement 
 Mechanical and Electrical  Services 
 External Lighting Strategy (30/07/2019)
 Structural Engineering Summary 
 Acoustic Strategy  - Report (05/07/19)
 Glint and Glare Strategy (16/07/19)
 Construction Management Plan  - Air Quality Assessment (Aug 2019)
 Waste Minimisation (July 2019)
 Transport Assessment (July 2019) with appendices  
 Associated site location plans, building layouts, cross sections and 

Artist Impressions
 Planting plans and schedules
 Landscape Master plan
 Travel plan
 Air Quality Assessment
 Cut and fill cross sections

Following consultation responses from statutory consultees additional 
information was submitted on:

17th October 2019:

 Agents covering letter
 Sustainable Urban Drainage layout
 Drainage strategy report
 Construction method statement
 Western Power letter regarding the feasibility of diverting overhead 

power lines.
 Highways information in respect of swept path analysis, access layout, 

road safety audit and off site highway works
 Floodlighting and lighting clarification

25th November 2019

 Energy Statement
 Revised proposal plans identifying photo voltaics (pv’s) on roof
 Construction dust assessment/ air quality
 Offsite highway mitigation – Arboricultural report and LVIA addendum
 Wild Service - Ecological appraisal and protected species
 Floodlighting and external lighting generally – plans
 Highways - Off site highways works

5th December 2019

Page 23



 Revised cut and fill analysis sheets
 Highways information – PICADY analysis
 Off site highways works preliminary ecological appraisal
 Revised Construction method statement

11th December 2019
 Drainage Strategy Report

12th December 2019
 Updated Landscape Master plan
 Drainage layout sheets 

17th December 2019 
 Revised glint and glare analysis

24th January 2020
 Sustainable Drainage System Strategy

21st February 2020
 Investigation – Archaeological Excavation Feb 2020

12th March 2020
 Supporting letter 12/03/2020
 Landscape Management Plan and associated documents – Pegasus 

Design
 Construction Environmental Management Plan – Wild Service Ecology
 All Weather Pitch Flood Lighting
 On site lighting layout LUX Plan
 Main Site and Highways Aboricultural Addendum
 Off site street lighting report
 Air Quality
 Construction Method statement V2 (Amended V3 31/03/2020)
 Archaeology (Post planning written scheme of investigation).
 Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy.   

The Proposal

2.6 The following Paragraphs (2.7 to 2.85) summarise the Design and Access 
Statement submitted by the Applicant in support of the application.

Project Rationale/ Education Statement

2.7 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has a statutory duty to ensure there 
are sufficient school places available. Since 2011 GCC has been providing 
additional capacity at existing primary schools to meet the increasing demand 
for school places. This is the result of any an increase in the birth rate locally 
and naturally changing demographics, coupled with additional pupil yield from 
new housing.

Page 24



2.8 These pupils are now moving through the system into the secondary sector. 
Some of the existing secondary schools in Cheltenham have had to take 
additional places to meet this increasing demand. However this rising school 
population coupled with significant strategic housing developments means that 
this would not be a sustainable long term option for meeting the demand for 
secondary school places.

2.9 On 13th December 2017, GCC Cabinet approved the establishment of a new 
900 place (11-16 age range) secondary school in Cheltenham to meet the 
additional demand for local secondary school places from September 2021.

2.10 SF Planning of Cheltenham were appointed by GCC in November 2017 to 
investigate the planning potential of seven alternative sites within the required 
catchment area, namely within the area where GCC education have identified 
a shortfall in the supply of Year 7 school places.

2.11 In 2016 GCC undertook a strategic review of school place planning in 
Cheltenham. The aim was to build an overall picture of school places in the 
town, against an assessment of existing and future need. The strategic review 
and associated assessment of need found (in summary) an identified need for 
secondary education as follows: 

 shortfall of at least 120 Year 7 pupils by 2019 (4 forms of entry (FE)), 
increasing to 6FE by 2021/22 (equivalent to a shortfall of 180 
secondary school places);

 Pressure for places most acute to the south of Cheltenham; and 
 Expansion of existing secondary schools in Cheltenham is not feasible, 

as it would not meet the future demand in full.

2.12 The County Education Department concluded through this process that the 
most appropriate solution to meet the shortfall was to identify a strategic site 
capable of accommodating a new 6FE secondary school in the south of 
Cheltenham. An assessment of required land take to accommodate this 
requirement identified that a site of circa 7ha would be required. 

2.13 Prior to appointment of SF Planning, GCC undertook a thorough search of 
sites in the south of Cheltenham that would meet the site size requirements. 
The search has been undertaken through a review of existing county 
landholdings in the area. Land Agents were also instructed to identify other 
land and land owners outside of the county ownership in the area. In addition 
GCC engaged with both Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) and Tewkesbury 
Borough Council (TBC) to obtain the early view of officers on the range of 
sites identified.

2.14 Through the above process 7 sites were identified, and these were subject to 
review by SF Planning in November 2017.

1. Land south of Shurdington Road, Leckhampton
2. Land at Farm Lane, Leckhampton (current application site)
3. Land North of Leckhampton Lane (Brizen Farm Site)
4. Land at Cold Pool Lane, Cheltenham.

Page 25



5. Land at Chargrove Lane, Cheltenham (Chargrove Triangle site)
6. Land East of Kidnappers Lane, Leckhampton
7. Land North of Leckhampton Lane, Leckhampton.

2.15 In summary, SF Planning’s conclusions in November 2017 were that the focus 
of site selection should be on those sites that;

 Met the 7ha requirement.
 Were located closest to the area of secondary school need.
 Were free or largely free from planning policy constraints.
 From a delivery viewpoint, sites in GCC ownership were preferred 

(avoid protracted negotiations and/or compulsory purchase)

2.16 Further feasibility work was undertaken in 2018 (Roberts Limbrick Architects), 
including further detailed analysis of the preferred sites identified within the SF 
Planning report and a feasibility study of the sequentially preferred - site 2. 

2.17 The Roberts Limbrick feasibility report identified that site 2 (Land at Farm 
Lane, Leckhampton) was reasonably unconstrained and furthermore could 
accommodate a new 6FE school, including all necessary supporting facilities 
and play space etc.

2.18 In conclusion: 

 The site for the proposed school building (site 2) was subject to 
independent analysis which identified the site as the sequential 
preferred option to serve the required catchment area.

 GCC investigated whether an alternative site/s could be made 
available to the project subject to a Compulsory Purchase Order 
(CPO). However, legal advice confirmed that CPO is not an 
acquisition power available in this case.

 The site is not subject to any restrictive statutory or non-statutory 
land use designation which could restrict development. As the site 
is not within the statutory Green Belt, Cotswold Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB) or Conservation Area, legislation that could 
challenge the use of the site for a school building does not apply.

 The site is proximate to the proposed school catchment.
 The site is not subject to flooding and is not high quality agricultural 

land.
 All alternative sites would require building upon the Green Belt.

2.19 On the basis of the various reports and sequential testing undertaken an 
application was subsequently prepared and submitted (now before the 
Committee) for a proposed 6FE school upon County Council owned land to 
the south of Kidnappers Lane (east of Farm Lane) Leckhampton (site 2 para 
2.14 above). 

2.20 In 2018 the Balcarras Academy Trust was appointed by the Secretary of State 
for Education to be the sponsor for the new school.

Page 26



Design 

2.21 The proposed building massing has been considered by the Applicant in its 
landscape setting and urban definition in terms of creating landmarks, 
terminating vistas, building height and site edge definition. The material palette 
has been developed as a reflection of the local architecture of Leckhampton 
and the wider Cheltenham area and to define its identity as modern and 
vibrant. The materials chosen are simple and contemporary. The proposed 
school building is composed of three main materials, brick, timber and metal 
cladding for the main external walls, complimented by refined fenestration 
patterns. 

2.22 The building form stays true to the design concept. The teaching 
accommodation wraps around the open outdoor social breakout space - 
school 'Heart' - in a 'C' shaped form. The courtyard has a direct impact on the 
surrounding elevations. The buildings contain a large 450 seat Main Hall with 
raised bleacher seating to create a performance space for theatre and 
performances. Two wings of teaching accommodation surround the external 
courtyard whilst a four court sports hall with sports gallery sits alongside a 
purpose designed Activity Studio for a full range of indoor sporting activities, 
from badminton to basketball.

2.23 A full size, floodlit, all-weather sports pitch is also proposed for the provision of 
hockey and football, sitting on the highest part of the site on the southern 
border whilst a smaller MUGA sits alongside the school building for netball or 
volleyball and smaller team sports. A wide range of summer and winter 
sporting activities are also catered for on the external grassed sports pitches 
with the entirety of the School's sporting provision available for out of hours 
use as part of an access and security arrangement that allows these areas to 
be accessed independently. With direct access from the car park it is 
envisaged that this element of the building will play a large part in the benefits 
that this building brings to the community and south Cheltenham.

2.24 The site also incorporates 110 car parking spaces with direct access from 
Kidnappers Lane and a drop off circle with visitor and accessible parking close 
to the building main entrance. 115 specific cycle parks are also provided for 
both staff and students.

2.25 The majority of the building will be naturally ventilated, apart from specific 
spaces technically requiring mechanical ventilation or cooling to meet their 
utility, in order that the building can perform as efficiently as possible. To 
further enhance a sustainable solution, the building is designed with a fabric 
first approach where high levels of insulation and low levels of air infiltration 
are maintained

Landscape Design

2.26 The layout of the site has been carefully considered, taking into account the 
existing context of the site, levels, constraints and views from Leckhampton 
Hill to the south. The site can be observed from sections of the existing 

Page 27



footpath network on Leckhampton Hill. As a result of this, the proposals for the 
site have been laid out to ensure views of the new school development are 
filtered wherever possible.

2.27 The site then is split into three sections of terraces, governed essentially by 
topography. To the south, the sports fields and the All Weather Pitch (AWP) 
inhabit the higher two terraces with the school buildings located to the north of 
the site, sitting in the lowest area with good access levels to the local road and 
pathways.

Ecology

2.28 An ecology survey has taken place to identify the various animals that inhabit 
the site and to establish how to design the site with regard to keeping any 
ecological impacts as limited as possible.

2.29 The initial Ecological Appraisal comprised a Phase 1 Habitat Survey and 
Protected Species Survey assessment. In addition, protected species surveys 
were undertaken. The Ecological Appraisal Report includes a description of 
methods used to identify habitats, results and recommendations for mitigation. 
The Ecological reports present the findings of the surveys, and identify 
ecological constraints and opportunities. They also propose a series of 
pragmatic and proportional mitigation and enhancement measures.

2.30 In response to the concerns of the County Ecologist, in March 2020, an 
additional two fields of land adjacent to Moat Cottage, to the south east of the 
proposed School site were included to facilitate biodiversity off setting.   The 
landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) details how the protected 
and otherwise notable species and habitats on the application site, highway 
improvement land and biodiversity offset land will be protected throughout the 
construction period and operational phase of the new School.

Archaeology

2.31 An archaeology survey of the site was undertaken to establish and understand 
the previous uses for the site. A total of 19 trenches were excavated, targeted 
on specific features identified by a geophysical survey of the site, lidar 
analysis and historic maps. Two distinct and spatially separate archaeological 
sites have been identified by the evaluation, an Iron Age and Roman rural 
settlement in the north western part of the site and a series of hollow ways and 
possible stone structural remains were identified in the southern field. These 
findings are in line with the general historical and heritage understanding for 
the local area. The Archaeological Evaluation Report documents all findings 
from across the site. The Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) details how 
the archaeologists will fulfil the requirements set out in the project brief to 
cover the archaeological work necessary on site during the construction 
period.

Arboriculture

Page 28



2.32 A full tree survey of the site and surrounding highway verges has been 
conducted assessing the impacts of the proposed development on the site's 
existing trees, recommending which trees should be removed or retained and 
demonstrating the proposed protection measures for those retained trees.

2.33 The layout has been designed to retain the maximum number of trees and 
existing hedgerows across the site and to increase habitat levels across the 
site where hedgerows, trees and habitat have been controlled.

2.34 The Arboricultural Survey, Impact Assessment and Protection Plan states that 
provided the recommendations in the report are followed, with additional tree 
and habitat planting, the arboricultural impact of this development is 
considered by the Applicant to be acceptable.

Landscape and Visual Impact

2.35 A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) (including addenda) has 
been prepared to consider the potential effects of the proposed development 
on the existing landscape character, landscape components and features; and 
visual amenity, informed by desktop study and site visits conducted in July 
2018 and 2019. The LVIA has been undertaken with regard to published best 
practice. 

2.36 The application site encompasses arable and horse paddock or ‘horsiculture’ 
uses framed by mature hedgerows with occasional trees including Hatherley 
Brook marked by tall trees along the eastern boundary. An internal boundary 
and the western boundary comprise species-poor, treeless hedgerows. A 
further internal boundary is marked by a double row of post-and-wire fencing 
between which a PROW  traverses the central part of the application site.

2.37 The application site is not subject to any landscape designation. However, the 
Cotswold AONB follows Church Road, to the south. Several designated 
heritage features occur to the east and south including Listed buildings and a 
Scheduled Monument. Land to the south of Church Road and that west of 
Brizen Lane/Brizen Park is within the Cheltenham-Gloucester Green Belt.

2.38 The Applicant considers that the proposed development would be in keeping 
with prevailing landscape and townscape character within the urban fringe 
context of the application site.

2.39 Removal of some hedgerows and trees during construction would be offset in 
the medium and long term by an improved management regime and new tree, 
hedgerow and shrub planting that would provide betterment to the lost 
vegetation.

2.40 The Applicant accepts that the permanent stopping-up of a public footpath 
would represent a major effect, albeit that alternative routes are available a 
short distance to the south and east of the application site.

Page 29



2.41 Views toward the proposed development are restricted to those from the 
upper floors of some properties along Farm Lane, Little Vatch, and a few 
properties to the east of Hatherley Brook. The Applicant considers that, at 
most, some of these properties would experience moderate effects, although 
many would experience negligible effects only.

2.42 On balance, the Applicant considers that whilst short sections of two 
bridleways would experience moderate visual effects during construction and 
Year 1 of operation of the proposed development, overall, the proposed 
development could be successfully accommodated within the application site 
and surrounding non statutory designated landscape without unacceptable 
permanent effects on landscape elements and features, landscape character 
or visual amenity as a whole.

2.43 The Landscape Addendum considers the potential landscape effects of the 
proposed highway off-site works specifically where verges are to be 
adjusted/widened to accommodate footways/cycleways, associated with the 
proposed new secondary school.

2.44 The Addendum concludes that the proposed highway works will have a low 
effect on the character of Kidnappers Lane and small section of the A46 and 
negligible effect on the surrounding area overall. The creation and extension 
of footways including two new crossings will require the loss of lengths of 
grass verge, driveways, scrub and small amount of vegetation (detailed in the 
AIA) which make a limited contribution to the overall character. Extensive 
lengths of hedgerow will require management to allow for the works. Whilst 
this may result in an initial thinning and reduction in vegetation cover, it will 
retain a level of screening along its length in the long term.

Flood Risk Assessment

2.45 The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) report has been prepared to address the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to assess 
whether the site is likely to be affected by flooding, appropriate for the 
suggested location and presenting any flood risk mitigation measures 
necessary to ensure that the proposed development and occupants will be 
safe, whilst ensuring flood risk is not increased elsewhere.

2.46 The majority of the site is within the Environment Agency Zone 1 (Low Risk), 
with the banks of the Hatherley Brook eastern site boundary in Flood Zone 2 
(Medium Risk) and 3 (High Risk).  There is a low risk of flooding from all other 
sources. There are no historic records of flooding at the site. The proposed 
educational development is considered ‘more vulnerable’ with respect to flood 
risk and is acceptable within the Flood Zone 1 and 2 areas of the site in which 
it is proposed. In a sequential approach to site layout, the school building has 
been located within Flood Zone 1, and on this basis the Applicant considers 
that the proposals are demonstrated as being in accordance with the 
principles of the Sequential Test. 

Page 30



2.47 The building Finished Floor Level is set at 150mm above immediately 
surrounding ground levels to ensure any design exceedance flows, should 
they occur, are directed away (in line with best practice). It is also 
recommended that there is no development within 5m of the Hatherley Brook 
west/left bank top, in line with discussions held with the LLFA. Provided that 
the above recommendations are implemented, along with the approved 
Sustainable Drainage Strategy, the Applicant considers that the application 
meets the flood risk requirements of the NPPF.

Sustainable Drainage

2.48 The drainage strategy has been prepared to address the requirements for 
storm and foul water discharge how the proposed development site could 
effectively drain through onsite sustainable drainage techniques and off-site 
foul drainage infrastructure. The drainage strategy is a guide on how a 
compliant drainage scheme could be designed on site in accordance with the
Flood and Water Management Act 2010, NPPF, the LLFA and CPA 
requirements.

Highways and Transport

2.49 Cotswold Transport Planning (CTP) were instructed on behalf of the delivery 
contractor to undertake a transport appraisal to assess the proposed 
development’s impact on the highway network. The assessment has been 
undertaken in discussion with GCC Highways, AHR Architects, Balcarras MAT 
and GCC Education to ensure that the methodology produced robust outputs. 

2.50 Following discussions with GCC Highways it was agreed that a detailed  
paramics microsimulation traffic model would be the most appropriate method 
of assessing development traffic impacts on the local highway network.
Paramics enables a detailed representation of the highway network and the
events that occur on it in the form of modelling of individual lanes, traffic   
signals, junctions, pedestrians crossing and bus stops. The full details of the 
modelling Ref: 14229 Page 36 Date: 08 August 2019 can be read in the 
Transport Assessment Report submitted as part of the planning application.

2.51 As part of the proposed development, further off-site highway mitigation will be 
provided in the form of increasing the flare length on Kidnappers Lane at the 
junction with the A46 Shurdington Road and the upgrading and addition of 
new Toucan crossings on the A46. These proposed improvements have been 
included in the paramics modelling with the outputs demonstrating that, 
although there are increases in the overall network performance, with regards 
to journey times and queue lengths, these cannot be considered to have a 
severe impact on the operation or safety of the local highway network.

2.52 The Applicant states that facilitating sustainable access to and within the site 
has been key to the scheme’s design from the very outset. The Applicant 
considers that proposed development meets the objectives of the NPPF as 
well as local planning policy through providing places near to where children 

Page 31



live so that schools are at the heart of their communities and which therefore 
minimise travel to school distances.

2.53 Notwithstanding this, significant pedestrian and cycle infrastructure 
enhancements on the local highway network are proposed to ensure that safe 
pedestrian and cycling routes are available. The Applicant states that there is 
also excellent access for those pupils arriving by public transport with frequent 
bus services running near the School. At the site itself, to ensure that it is as 
permeable as possible, there are a number of pedestrian and cycle access 
points. Safe and suitable access by all modes will be achieved.

2.54 Furthermore, a Travel Plan has been developed to provide a mechanism 
whereby the use of the private car is discouraged, and sustainable modes of 
access are actively encouraged and promoted (see below). This will be 
monitored by the School, who will maintain the Travel Plan and uphold the 
ethos of promoting access that will reduce the impact of vehicular traffic on the 
surrounding area.

2.55 The access strategy also includes access by motor vehicle and off-site 
highway mitigation will be provided to reduce the impact as much as possible. 
The site itself has been designed to meet the required standards for safe 
access and to ensure that the right balance can be struck in terms of suitable 
parking provision for the site thereby reducing the impact on the local 
neighbourhood.

2.56 With this in mind, as part of the transport arrangements, a drop off zone has 
been developed as well as clearly delineated and safe car parks 
accommodating 115 parking spaces including 5 disabled spaces, 4 motorbike 
spaces together with 115 secure cycle storage.

Travel Plan

2.57 A primary responsibility of Cheltenham Secondary School is that of its effects 
on the local community and local traffic infrastructure. It is inevitable that a 
new school will generate traffic on the local roads and the School's Travel 
Plan documents how it will aim to reduce the impact of traffic generated by the 
School as well as to promote sustainable travel.

2.58 All schools are required to keep, maintain and update a Travel Plan. This 
Travel Plan is an interim plan and will be so until the final School is in place 
and the final Travel Plan developed by the new School team. Currently the 
Balcarras Academy Trust are assisting in the creation of the Interim Travel 
Plan to enable opportunities and travel habits for accessing the site by foot, 
bicycle and bus and to discourage single-occupant car journeys and drop offs 
to the site.

Public Right of Way Stopping Up Order

2.59 The site is currently bisected on an east-west axis by a PROW. Leckhampton 
Footpath 9 crosses the site linking Farm Lane and Kidnappers Lane. For 

Page 32



reasons of pupil safeguarding and school management/ security it is 
paramount to the Balcarras Academy Trust that the site is not fettered by a 
publicly accessible path passing through the site. The planning application 
therefore seeks consent to stop up the existing footpath.

2.60 In line with statutory guidance issued by the Department for Education and 
guidelines published by the Association of Chief Police Officers for reducing 
crime within the built environment, the permanent closure (stopping up) of the 
Leckhampton Footpath 9 is pursued as an essential and contingent part of this 
application to facilitate a safe learning environment for the future pupils of the 
School.

2.61 The application to stop up the footpath is being promoted under Section 257 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act) (as amended). It is an 
application under these provisions which accompanies the planning 
application. The application includes a map, detailing the footpath which is to 
be stopped up in order to necessitate the new school development.

Community Use Strategy

2.62 The Cheltenham Secondary School has a comprehensive provision of high 
quality sporting facilities and equipment. It is the intention of the Balcarras 
Academy Trust that these facilities will be available to the community out of 
hours for clubs and groups to use.

2.63 The building contains a four court indoor Sports Hall with sports gallery, an 
Activity Studio, a MUGA and an AWP with floodlighting all covering a wide 
range of sporting activities. A fully accessible changing provision ensures that 
all members of the community will find a sporting activity available to them at 
this site as the school building brings benefit to the local environment. 

2.64 The Community Use Strategy sets out the management strategy that allows a 
comprehensive out of hours use in union with the running of a full time school.

Site Security

2.65 The school site security solution is key to the success of the School and 
safeguarding of students is the first primary requirement of OFSTED. With this 
in mind the main school area is secured in its entirety. The visitor and staff 
parking areas will be open access.  However all hard social areas, sports 
pitches, astro pitches and areas used by the School during school hours, will 
be securely fenced. 1.8m high bow top, vertical bar fencing is proposed along 
Farm Lane, along the eastern boundary parallel to the sports pitch footpath 
and to the pupil access area off Kidnappers Lane. Fencing here will tie into the 
school façade thus creating a secure school boundary. 3.0m high weldmesh 
ball stop fencing is proposed to the MUGA and astro pitch. The fencing to the 
astro pitch will form the secure boundary to the south area of the site. A small 
section of 1.5m high bespoke vertical slat timber fencing is proposed to the 
small timber bridge pupil access off Kidnappers Lane in the north east 

Page 33



boundary, along with lockable gates. These gates will be locked during school 
hours.

Community Use

2.66 The Applicant states that the new school building is intended to offer additional 
advantages to the local community further to its role as an educational 
resource. The opportunity to exploit the building for further community use is a 
valuable addition. It is intended that the sports facilities, both within the 
building's Sports Hall and Activity Studio and the external sports fields and the 
flood lit AWP, are accessible as a separate entity from the main school 
building, allowing this section of the building and site to be available for the 
use of local clubs, teams and the community.

2.67 As such, there is a separately defined entrance to the building easily 
accessible by pedestrians and vehicles from the northern edge car park. This 
entrance offers immediate access to a Community Office to organise and 
manage to bookings with Changing Rooms and WCs available. From here the 
Sports Hall, Activity Studio and external pitches are all easily available and 
accessed without the need to enter the rest of the school building.

Building Environmental Strategy 

2.68 The proposed Cheltenham Secondary School building is designed to high 
standards for limiting energy consumption and carbon dioxide production. This 
ethos extends through the design to ensure that the lighting, heating and 
ventilation of the building is based on non-wasteful, simple systems with 
simple controls to ensure that the building requires the minimum levels of 
energy input to run efficiently. The environmental services strategies have also 
have been developed to meet the particular requirements of Cheltenham 
Secondary School, whilst ensuring the solutions have been developed in line 
with the requirements of the school specific brief and the DfE’s Output 
Specification (OS).

Climate Change/Sustainability and Energy Statement 

2.69 In response to GCC’s declared climate change emergency, the Applicant’s 
Design Team were tasked with undertaking a review of the 
sustainability/energy strategy for the proposed school. The school design was 
commissioned and the bulk of the design work completed prior to GCC’s 
climate change declaration. As such, and in line with the local education 
authority’s aspirations at that time, the scheme was designed to offer 
significant enhancements on current standards (Building Regulations 2013). 
Indeed, the submitted scheme being designed using the principles of ‘fabric 
first’. This achieved an improvement upon part L of the building regulations of 
circa 16%.

2.70 In response to the climate change emergency, the Applicant’s Design Team 
were instructed to review the proposals and make recommendations to the 
client as to further enhancements which could be achieved without 

Page 34



fundamentally altering the building design. The Design Team in discussion 
with the education authority suggested a target of 25% improvement beyond 
current building regulations.

2.71 In response, design engineers have recommended that further improvements 
can be achieved by the provision of photovoltaic (PV) array at roof level 
coupled with air source heat pumps (ASHP) (in lieu of the gas boilers originally 
proposed). The provision of ASHP and PV, coupled with the ‘fabric first’ 
design will now achieve a building which will achieve a minimum on-site 
reduction of at least 25% beyond current Building Regulations (Part L2A - 
2013). Indeed, the design engineer’s assessment achieves an overall 
reduction of approximately 32%. (This achieves an ‘A’ rated energy 
performance certificate). This will assist in contributing toward meeting the 
council’s and local education authority’s zero carbon aspirations.

2.72 Hydrock Consultants were appointed by Kier to provide planning stage 
advisory services in relation to the design and construction of the proposed 
development. The purpose of the document is to inform the Applicant’s Design 
Team, and GCC, of the energy strategy for the project and how it relates to 
national and local planning requirements. This document summarises an initial 
options appraisal that has been carried out for the development in terms of 
energy. This includes passive and active design measures.

2.73 The report looks at measures to reduce emissions from the new development 
against the notional building baseline for the commercial building. These 
include siting and location, form and fabric, ventilation, daylight access, use of 
thermal mass, active design, heating and hot water and lighting. 

2.74 The report provides a summary of an outline assessment of the reduction of 
CO2 emissions for the proposed school development. After analysis of carbon 
emissions under Building Regulations Part L2A using the Simplified Building 
Energy Model (SBEM) it is proposed that the development will provide a 32% 
reduction of the Target Emission Rate (TER). While the School currently 
achieves a 32% reduction of the TER using the Building Regulation UK Part L 
(BRUKL) calculations the school is suitable for additional future renewable 
technologies. The roof structure has been designed to allow for more PVs to 
be installed meeting the target of net zero carbon by 2030.

External Lighting Strategy

2.75 The proposed building and site will be lit during the night. The proposed 
building itself will be lit with wall mounted luminaires providing the required lux 
levels for access around the perimeter. Within the car park, further lighting will 
be provided for safe use. The AWP will be floodlit for night time school and 
community use. The Outdoor lighting report dated 8th March 2020 provides 
details of external lighting and expected lux levels.

2.76 The Lighting Impact Assessment dated 5th March 2020 examines the effects 
on the environment of the proposed floodlighting for the new all-weather 
sports facility. The floodlights will be mounted on the 13m high galvanised 

Page 35



steel base hinged raising and lowering masts. The floodlights proposed are 
Philips ArenaVision Gen 3 LED sports floodlights which feature flat style optics 
designed to reduce upward waste light and overspill and also feature a 
variable dimming facility to allow the end user to tailor the illuminance levels to 
suit the standard of play. Additional side shields will be fitted to the floodlight 
units to physically cut off spill light and reduce upward spill light. 

2.77 The report concludes that the proposed lighting system for the 3G Pitch has 
been designed to meet the specific lighting requirements for development and 
community use as a Hockey pitch and is suitable for high quality coaching, 
whilst ensuring that nationally recognised environmental standards are 
adhered to. The design takes account site of location on the fringe of the open 
countryside and in the view of existing residents. The designer has chosen a 
luminaire with excellent spill control systems ensuring that it is fully Dark Skies 
compliant and has been oriented to avoid the disturbance of bats and other 
wildlife.

Acoustic Strategy

2.78 An Acoustician has played a large role in developing and coordinating the 
proposed building design where both internal and external acoustic issues 
have been fully explored and developed into the final school design.

2.79 A survey of existing external noise and the control of internal sound sources 
has been used to determine the sound insulation performance of the building 
envelope and ventilation systems to achieve an internal noise level suitable for 
the educational purposes. 

2.80 In addition, the location of plant has been considered such that any noise 
emitted will not affect either the school occupants or the occupants of local 
environment.

2.81 This project has a further important acoustic space. The Theatre space has 
acoustic performance requirements in excess of the BB93, the Building 
Regulation standards for education establishments. The Theatre benefits from 
improved separation from circulation spaces with an enhanced specification of 
entrance doors, with enhanced specification walls, additional acoustically 
absorptive material to the space to reduce reverberation time and optimised 
placement of the absorptive materials to reduce unwanted room effects both 
for the performers and the audience.

Glint and Glare Strategy

2.82 Long distance views across towns and cities can often be compromised by 
sunlight reflections from shiny or glazed equipment both within and on top of 
buildings. The Cheltenham Secondary School project recognises that there 
are important views across Cheltenham and the site from Leckhampton Hill.
The design has considered how roof mounted plant and photovoltaic panels 
would have potential to create glint and glare across the city and has worked 
to reduce this to the minimum possible.

Page 36



Construction Management Plan/ Construction Method Statement

2.83 The proposed Cheltenham Secondary School will be constructed by Kier. As 
part of being a responsible contractor a Construction Management Plan used 
to ensure a highly managed, safe, efficient and considerate construction 
operation.

2.84 This document also includes, but is not be limited to:
 Procedures for maintaining good public relations
 Site Operation hours
 Details of deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and 

waste from the site
 Procedures for emergency deviation of the agreed working hours.
 Control measures for pollutants
 Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for 

safe working or for security purposes
 Measures for the management of construction traffic and deliveries
 Car parking arrangements and temporary site accommodation

Waste Minimisation

2.85 Waste minimisation and recycling are important considerations in the creation 
of sustainable development. Those involved in the planning and development 
process have an obligation to carefully consider the amount of waste being 
created by new developments and how this waste will be managed. The 
principles of waste control and recycling are established. Nationally, the 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) set out their 
guidance in the Waste Management Plan for England, which provides a 
hierarchy for sustainable waste management. This hierarchy is as follows:

 Waste Prevention
 Preparing for re-use
 Recycling
 Other Recovery
 Disposal

2.86 As part of the design and construction of the proposed Cheltenham Secondary 
School by Kier all aspects of minimising the amount of waste materials that 
are created by the design and in terms of the ways that the generation of 
waste can be reduced and in the ways that those waste products are recycled 
or disposed of.

Stakeholder and Community engagement

2.87 The Applicant states that throughout the design development of the 
Cheltenham Secondary School proposal the Design Team has worked hard to 
ensure that the project has undergone a strong and rigorous consultation 
process. This has resulted in a design that has taken on the requirements and 

Page 37



aspirations of a wide group in invested stakeholders, from the eventual 
building managers, the Design Review Panel's fellow professional designers 
and, of course, the end users, the local community and their Parish 
Councillors. The team have also appreciated the opportunity to present the 
proposal directly to CBC’s Planning Department.

2.80 The following section outlines the consultation that has taken place to date, 
summarises the pre-application advice received from the Design Review 
Panel and considers feedback received at the public exhibition. It 
demonstrates how the proposals have been evolved by the applicant in order 
to take on board the main comments received.

 2.81 The consultation falls broadly into 3 main categories:
 Consultation with the school building end users: Developing the design 

through a series of Client Engagement Meetings with associated 
stakeholders, the GCC Project Management Team and The Balcarras 
Academy Trust.

 Peer Review with fellow professional designers: Engagement with the 
Cheltenham Design Review Panel and presentations to CBC’s 
Planning Department.

 Community Engagement: a series of engagements presenting the 
scheme to the local community together with a series of meetings 
discussing the proposals with the site's local Parish Councillors.

2.82 The Statement of Community Involvement documents the process and results 
of the engagement process. An addendum to the Statement of Community 
Involvement was submitted in August 2019 which provides commentary upon 
action taken/amendments made to address concerns raised during the two 
engagement events. 

2.83 The comments received from interested parties allowed consideration of the 
design quality during the evolution of the Schools design. The broad range of 
opinions expressed provided invaluable insight and while it was clear that 
opinion was wide-ranging, from strong support (31%) to strong objection 
(31%), the majority (38%) were neutral, the strong supporters and neutral 
respondents accepting that a school is required in this location. The public 
engagement events helped clarify expectations and reconcile the design 
constraints.

Due Regard Statement.

2.84 The Statement of Due Regard is a statement documenting how during the 
decision making process of the School's procurement that 'due regard' has 
been taken towards the three aims of the public sector equality duty (Section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010).

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act:

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and

Page 38



 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic.

2.85 The statement explains the activity being considered, and the expected 
outcomes. It details the expected consultation and engagement and identifies 
the need for future monitoring and review.

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 A review of CBC’s and GCC’s on line planning register identified no relevant 
planning history associated with this site.

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough Council’s neighbouring land 
applications.
Ref number: Description Decision
19/00334/OUT Residential development of up to 25

dwellings, associated infrastructure, open 
space and landscaping, with creation
of new vehicular access from Kidnappers 
Lane, Demolition of existing buildings
Land Off Kidnappers Lane Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire.

Allowed on 
Appeal  
23/03/2020

19/00471/FUL Erection of two self-build dwellings and 
associated works. Little Vatch, Farm Lane, 
Leckhampton, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, 
GL53 0NS. 

Not yet 
determined
CBC

13/01605/OUT Residential development of up to 650 
dwellings; mixed use local centre of up to 
1.94ha comprising a local convenience retail 
unit Class A1 Use (400sqm), additional retail 
unit Class A1 Use for a potential pharmacy
(100sqm), Class D1 Use GP surgery 
(1,200sqm,) and up to 4,500sqm
of additional floor space to comprise one or 
more of the following uses, namely Class A 
Uses, Class B1 offices, Class C2 care home, 
and Class D1 Uses including a potential 
dentist practice, children’s nursery and/or
cottage hospital; a primary school of up to 
1.72ha; strategic open space including 
allotments; access roads, cycle ways, 
footpaths, open space/landscaping and 
associated works; details of the principal 
means of access; with all other matters to be 
reserved.

Refused
08/08/2014
CBC

14/00838/FUL Full application for residential development 
comprising 377 dwellings, including access 
and associated infrastructure. Land To The 
West Of Farm Lane, Shurdington. 

Consent
26/04/2016
Tewkesbury 
BC

Page 39



3.2 The remaining area to the north of the school application site, covered by 
emerging CP policy MD5 is the subject of pre-application discussions with 
CBC. Pre-application public consultation has taken place in the last year, but it 
is unclear when an application will be forthcoming.

4.0 POLICY CONTEXT

National Planning Policy Framework

4.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF3) published on 
19th February 2019 sets out the Government’s planning policy for England 
and how this is expected to be applied and is a material consideration in 
determining the application.  In assessing and determining planning 
proposals, the local planning authority should apply the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, which is the main focus of the NPPF3 in 
relation to both the plan-making and decision making process.

4.2 Paragraph 94 of the NPPF3 states that it is important that a sufficient choice 
of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities.  Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive 
and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development 
that will widen choice in education. They should: 

“a)  give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through 
the preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and 

b)   work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to 
identify and resolve key planning issues before applications are 
submitted.” 

4.3 Paragraph 95 of the NPPF3 states that planning policies and decisions 
should promote public safety and take into account wider security and 
defence requirements by:

a) anticipating and addressing possible malicious threats and natural 
hazards, especially in locations where large numbers of people are 
expected to congregate. Policies for relevant areas (such as town 
centre and regeneration frameworks), and the layout and design of 
developments, should be informed by the most up-to-date information 
available from the police and other agencies about the nature of 
potential threats and their implications. This includes appropriate and 
proportionate steps that can be taken to reduce vulnerability, increase 
resilience and ensure public safety and security; and

b) recognising and supporting development required for operational 
defence and security purposes, and ensuring that operational sites are 
not affected adversely by the impact of other development proposed in 
the area.

4.4 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF3 states that transport issues should be 
considered from the earliest stages of the development proposals so that 

Page 40



opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport are identified 
and pursued.  The environmental impacts of traffic and transport need to be 
assessed and taken account of for avoiding and mitigating any adverse 
effects and for net environmental gains.  Paragraph 111 requires all 
development that will generate significant amounts of movement to provide 
a travel plan and be supported by a transport statement or assessment of 
the likely impacts.

4.5 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF3 states that 

“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”

4.6 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF3 states that applications for development 
should:

a. “give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the 
scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible 
to facilitating access to high quality public transport, with layouts that 
maximise the catchment area for bus or other public transport services, 
and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; 

b. address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in 
relation to all modes of transport; 

c. create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the 
scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid 
unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and design 
standards; 

d. allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and 
emergency vehicles”

4.7 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF3 states that “the creation of high quality 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve.  Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design 
expectations, and how these will be tested, is essential for achieving this. So 
too is effective engagement between applicants, communities, local planning 
authorities and other interests throughout the process.” 

4.8 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF3 states that planning decisions should ensure 
that developments: 

a. “will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for 
the short term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b. are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping; 

c. are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not 

Page 41



preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as 
increased densities);

d)  establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, 
welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;

e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 
promote health and well-being with a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users and where crime and disorder and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and 
resilience..”

4.9 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF3 requires planning decisions to enhance the 
natural and local environment by: 

“a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory 
status or identified quality in the development plan);

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, 
and of trees and woodland;

c) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public 
access to it where appropriate;

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current 
and future pressures;

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels 
of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, 
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as 
air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river 
basin management plans; and

f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate.”

4.10 Paragraph 175 of the NPPF3 is concerned with the principles of decision 
making where there is a biodiversity interest which could be affected by 
development.  

“d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance 
biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate 
biodiversity improvements in and around developments should be 
encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity.”

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (WCS) (2012)

Page 42



4.11 Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

4.12 The WCS forms part of the Development Plan. Policies from the adopted 
WCS which are relevant to this application are:

 Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction

Joint Core Strategy – Adopted 5th December 2017

4.13 The adopted Joint Core Strategy (JCS) forms part of the Development Plan 
and provides the strategic policy for development across the three 
administrative areas of Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury until 2031.  
Tewkesbury Borough Council formally adopted the Joint Core Strategy (5th 

December 2017) along with Gloucester City Council (23rd November 2017) 
and Cheltenham Borough Council (11th December 2017). 

4.14 The JCS contains a number of strategic objectives, one of which (Objective 7) 
is the promotion of sustainable transport, reducing the need to travel and 
reliance on the car by improving opportunities for public transport, walking and 
cycling by making routes more convenient, safe and attractive.  

4.15 Objective 9 is concerned with promoting healthy communities by enhancing 
opportunities for high quality education working in partnership to encourage 
healthy lifestyles through access to key community facilities and sustainable 
transport as well as ensuring that environmental quality and air quality is 
protected.  

Relevant JCS policies are:
 Policy SP1 – The Need for New Development.
 Policy SP2 – Distribution of New Development.
 Policy SD3 – Sustainable Design and Construction.
 Policy SD4 – Design Requirements.
 Policy SD6 – Landscape.
 Policy SD7 – The Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
 Policy SD8 – Historic Environment.
 Policy SD9 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity.
 Policy SD14 – Health & Environmental Quality.
 Policy INF1 – Transport Network.
 Policy INF2 – Flood Risk.
 Policy INF3 – Green Infrastructure.
 Policy INF4 – Social and Community Infrastructure.
 Policy INF5 – Renewable Energy and low carbon energy development.
 Policy INF6 – Infrastructure Delivery.

JCS Policy INF1 – Transport Network

Page 43



1.  Developers should provide safe and accessible connections to the 
transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. All 
proposals should ensure that:

i. Safe and efficient access to the highway network is provided for all 
transport modes;

ii. Connections are provided, where appropriate, to existing walking,  
cycling and passenger transport networks and should be designed 
to encourage maximum potential use;

iii. All opportunities are identified and taken, where appropriate, to 
extend and/or modify existing walking, cycling and public transport 
networks and links, to ensure that credible travel choices are 
provided by sustainable modes.

2. Planning permission will be granted only where the impact of development 
is not considered to be severe.  Where severe impacts that are attributable 
to the development are considered likely, including as a consequence of 
cumulative impacts, they must be mitigated to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authorities and in line 
with the Local Transport Plan.

3. Developers will be required to assess the impact of proposals on the 
transport network through a Transport Assessment.  The assessment will 
demonstrate the  impact, including cumulative impacts, of the prospective 
development on:

a) Congestion on the transport network
b) Travel safety within the zone of influence of the development
c) Noise and/or atmospheric pollution within the zone of influence 

of the development

4. Where appropriate the local planning authority may require applications to 
be accompanied by a Travel Plan that has full regard to the criteria set out 
in the NPPF.

4.16 The supporting text of Policy INF1 makes reference to the potential for short - 
distance trips to transfer where appropriate to non-car modes, such as public 
transport, walking or cycling - something which the NPPF3 considers to be a 
core planning principle.  The policy recognises that to enable the transfer to 
non-car modes requires a co-ordinated approach across several policy and 
delivery areas and the JCS seeks to achieve this through its policies on design 
and infrastructure.  The role of the Development Plan is to reflect, support and 
enable the implementation of transport objectives of the Local Transport Plan 
through its land-use policies and proposals.  The Local Transport Plan is the 
key strategy for the delivery of essential transport infrastructure to support the 
delivery of growth identified in the JCS and sits alongside the JCS (see 
Paragraphs 4.26 and 4.27 below).

JCS Policy SD9: Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Page 44



1 The biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected 
and enhanced in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that 
are resilient to current and future pressures. Improved community access 
will be encouraged so far as is compatible with the conservation of special 
features and interests.

2. This will be achieved by:

i. Ensuring that European Protected Species and National Protected 
Species are safeguarded in accordance with the law

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity on 
internationally, nationally and locally designated sites, and other assets 
of demonstrable value where these make a contribution to the wider 
network, thus ensuring that new development both within and 
surrounding such sites has no unacceptable adverse impacts 

iii. Encouraging new development to contribute positively to biodiversity 
and geodiversity whilst linking with wider networks of green 
infrastructure. For example, by incorporating habitat features into the 
design to assist in the creation and enhancement of wildlife corridors 
and ecological stepping stones between sites

iv. Encouraging the creation, restoration and beneficial management of 
priority landscapes, priority habitats and populations of priority species. 
For example, by securing improvements to Strategic Nature Areas (as 
set out on the Gloucestershire Nature Map) and Nature Improvement 
Areas.

3. Any development that has the potential to have a likely significant effect on 
an international site will be subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment.

4. Within nationally designated sites, development will not be permitted unless 
it is necessary for appropriate on -site management measures, and 
proposals can demonstrate that there will be no adverse impacts on the 
notified special interest features of the site.

5. Development within locally designated sites will not be permitted where it 
would have an adverse impact on the registered interest features or criteria 
for which the site was listed, and harm cannot be avoided or satisfactorily 
mitigated. 

6 Harm to the biodiversity or geodiversity of an undesignated site or asset 
should be avoided where possible. Where there is a risk of harm as a 
consequence of development, this should be mitigated by integrating 
enhancements into the scheme that are appropriate to the location and 
satisfactory to the local planning authority. If harm cannot be mitigated on 
site then, exceptionally, compensatory enhancements off site may be 
acceptable.

The supporting text of the policy advises enhancements will be secured 
through the design of the development and via planning conditions.

JCS Policy INF4: Social and Community Infrastructure 
1. Proposals to develop land or buildings currently or previously in use 

as a community facility will demonstrate, including evidence of 

Page 45



engagement with relevant local community groups and partner 
organisations, why the facility is no longer required and, as 
appropriate, how, when and where suitable local replacement 
facilities will be provided. Provision of replacement facilities will have 
regard to the locational and other relevant elements of this policy. 

2. Where new residential development will create, or add to, a need for 
community facilities, it will be fully met as on-site provision and/or as 
a contribution to facilities or services off-site. New or refurbished 
provision will be of an appropriate type, standard and size. From an 
early stage, developers will be expected to engage with the relevant 
local authorities and infrastructure providers and, as appropriate, 
relevant local community groups where they exist, to ensure that 
new provision meets the needs of the community that it will serve 
and is fit for purpose. 

3. Social and community infrastructure should be centrally located to 
the population it serves and be easily accessible on foot and by 
bicycle. It should be located so as to have the potential to be well-
served by public transport. Developers should aim to provide flexible, 
multifunctional facilities within mixed-use developments, creating 
shared space which maximises benefits to the community and 
minimises land-take. In the case of open space, ‘easily accessible’ 
means it is located within reasonable walking distance of the 
development it serves. New facilities should be accessible to all 
members of the community, and be planned and phased in parallel 
with new development.

Joint Core Strategy Review 

4.17 The JCS authorities have published an 'Issues and Options' consultation 
under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. The consultation period ran from 12th November 
2018 to the 11th January 2019.  This is at an early stage in the review process 
therefore carries no significant weight.

Cheltenham Borough Local Plan Second Review (Adopted July 2006) 
Saved policies:

4.18 The Cheltenham Borough Local Plan adopted in 2006 contains a number of 
‘saved’ policies which have not been replaced by the JCS and will remain in 
place until replaced by the emerging Local Plan. They form part of the 
Development Plan.  

4.19 The following ‘saved’ policies of the adopted Cheltenham Borough Local Plan 
are considered to be relevant to the determination of this application:

The policies relevant to this application are as follows:
 Policy CP2 – Sequential Approach to the Location of Development.
 Policy CP4 – Safe and sustainable living.

Page 46



 Policy CP7 – Design Policy.
 Policy GE5 – Protection and Replacement of Trees.
 Policy GE6 – Trees and Development.
 Policy GE7 – Accommodation and protection of natural features.
 Policy BE 11- Buildings of Local Importance.
 Policy BE 20 - Archaeological Remains of Local Importance.
 Policy CO1 – Landscape Character.
 Policy NE1 – Habitats of legally protected species.
 Policy NE3 – Biodiversity and geodiversity of local sites.

Emerging Cheltenham Plan 2011-2031

4.20 The emerging Cheltenham Local Plan is currently at the Main Modifications 
stage. The Full Cheltenham Council unanimously voted in favour of consulting 
on the Main Modifications to the Cheltenham Plan at its meeting on the 14th 
October 2019. The public consultation subsequently took place and the 
submission of the consultation responses and final proposed Cheltenham Plan 
to the Planning Inspector took place in Spring 2020. The proposal for the 
School is located within the identified allocation for the secondary school as 
set out in Policy MD5 of the Main Modifications of the Cheltenham Local Plan 
(see Paragraph 6.1 below).

4.21 On 17 March 2020, Cheltenham Borough Council received the Inspector’s 
Report on the Examination of the Cheltenham Plan 2011-2031. The Report 
sets out the Inspector’s recommendations and her reasons for them. These 
are described in more detail below. The Inspector’s Report concludes that the 
Cheltenham Plan provides an appropriate basis for the planning of the 
Borough provided that a number of main modifications are made. The 
implications of the Inspector’s Report on the allocation of the school site are 
set out in detail below (Paragraphs 7.10 to 7.23).  The publication of the 
Inspector’s Report concludes the examination process. The Borough Council 
were originally targeting to hold a meeting to formally adopt the plan in April 
2020. However due to the current Covid-19 outbreak it is currently uncertain 
when the Cheltenham Plan will be formally adopted by the Council. As 
explained below, it is considered that considerable weight can now be given to 
the policies in the emerging Cheltenham Plan when determining planning 
applications. 

Other District Council Policy
 
Leckhampton and Warden Hill Neighbourhood Plan

4.22 On 15th September 2015, CBC approved the designation of a neighbourhood 
area covering Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish made under Section 61G 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Regulation 5(1) of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 to enable the Parish 
Council to undertake neighbourhood planning and prepare a neighbourhood 
plan.  To be adopted by the Borough Council, the neighbourhood plan must 
be in general conformity with the development strategy and policies set out in 

Page 47



existing development plans.  CBC’s website shows no neighbourhood plan 
has been adopted for this area to date.  

Other County Council Policy

Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Commitment 

4.23 On the 15th May 2019, Gloucestershire County Council endorsed a climate 
change emergency and committed to help deliver a carbon neutral County by 
2050.  Councillors agreed at Full Council to work with partners to identify what 
measures are needed to deliver a stepped target of 80 percent reduction of 
carbon emissions by 2030.  This commitment refers to the inclusion in the 
Council’s major strategies such as the Local Transport Plan to having clearly 
identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions. 

4.24 While not part of the Development Plan, the Council’s Climate change 
commitment could be considered a material consideration when determining 
planning applications.   

Gloucestershire’s Climate Change Strategy (December 2019)  

4.25 Gloucestershire County Council’s vision:
“By 2050 we will create a carbon neutral county that provides quality of life 
now and for future generations, having improved the quality of our natural 
environment. By 2030 we will have reduced our carbon emissions by 80%.”

The strategy sets out a challenging action plan with short, medium and long 
term measures to reduce carbon emissions. Most relevant actions to this 
application are:

Action By Who Resources needed Lead Organisation 
11. Work with our partners 
to ensure that all new 
public buildings and 
residential and commercial 
developments support the 
move to zero carbon and 
improve resilience 

Leadership 
Gloucestershire 

To be established GCC 

12. Work with our partners 
to aim for all new 
development sites to 
deliver high quality green 
infrastructure in line with 
the ‘Building with Nature’ 
standards, developed by 
Gloucestershire Wildlife 
Trust. 

Leadership 
Gloucestershire 

To be established GCC 

The Council has pledged to:

2. Buildings – ours, residents, businesses and partners

Page 48



 Work with our partners to aim for all new development sites to deliver 
high quality green infrastructure in line with the ‘Building with Nature’ 
standards, developed by Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust.

7. Land use
 Develop and implement the ‘Million Trees Challenge’; an extensive tree 

planting programme with public and private landowners across the 
county, aiming to plant a million trees by 2030 as a significant 
contribution to Net Zero by 2050.

 Support Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership to maintain and 
enhance the quality of our natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing biodiversity including in managing our own estate.

Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan 2015 – 2031

4.26 Whilst not part of the Development Plan, the adopted (2011) Local Transport 
Plan (LTP) is a material consideration to be taken into account when preparing 
the Development Plan and when determining planning applications.  The LTP 
sets out the long-term transport strategy up to 2031.  It aims to influence how 
and when individuals choose to travel so that individual travel decisions do not 
cumulatively result in the failure of the transport network, negatively impacting 
on the desirability of Gloucestershire as a place to live, work and invest.  The 
LTP will shortly be reviewed as new priorities emerge, and was subject to 
public consultation early in 2020, the 10 week consultation period closed on 
26th March 2020.  

4.27 The LTP explains that Gloucestershire County Council is the local Highway 
Authority and the Transport Authority and does not have resources to address 
problems without close partnership working and shared responsibility of parish 
and district councils, businesses, transport operators and individuals.  Funding 
streams are needed to support the delivery of the strategy.  It is no longer the 
function of the LTP to identify funding for transport.  Funding contributions may 
be obtained from developers of land through planning obligation agreements 
with local planning authorities to mitigate the impact of development in line 
with policies of the NPPF3.  

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The application was publicised by site notices dated 5th September 2019 
and a press notice in the Gloucestershire Echo newspaper on the 5th 
September 2019.  The expiry date for comments was 26th September 2019.  

5.2 50 neighbour notification letters were sent to adjoining residential properties 
with comments requested within 28 days from the date of the letter.  A total 
of 121 (29/04/2020) public comments have been recorded (45 objecting, 62 
supporting and 14 neutral).  Full details of the public comments can be 
viewed on line through public access 
(https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?
activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=PVT9H0HN01600) , a summary of 

Page 49

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=PVT9H0HN01600
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=PVT9H0HN01600


issues raised  is contained in Appendix 1 to the report, with the main issues 
as follows:

 Highways.
 Design of school buildings.
 Infrastructure.
 Location of school facility.
 Need for school facility and catchment area.
 Landscape.
 Ecology.
 Pollution.
 Flooding.
 Health and safety concerns.
 Planning policy/legislation.
 Housing development.
 Quality of the planning application.
 Decision making process.

5.3 Local Member
County Councillor R Vines - Brockworth Division

“The only observation I would make is a general one.

I hope there will be adequate parking arrangements not just for the staff but 
for parents who will be delivering students to the school.
We have enormous problems outside most schools in the county but these 
are of a historic nature, we wouldn't want to be designing something to build in 
a future problem.

If as much is done to make sure sufficient parking is available it would make 
sense.”

Local Member
County Councillor I Dobie – Leckhampton and Warden Hill

“As County Councillor for Leckhampton and Warden Hill I should like to take 
advantage of the current consultation period on planning application 
19/0058/CHR3MJ (new Leckhampton Secondary School) to suggest a way to 
improve safe cycling and walking to/from the school from a significant 
catchment area in the north of my division - and beyond.

The Cotswold Transport Planning study into cycling and walking to the school 
shows that many pupils are likely to go to the new school from housing to the 
north of Warden Hill Road (i.e Alma Road, Hatherley etc.). Between this 
housing and the new school are the paths designated LF5 (part of), LF 38 and 
39 by CTP. These offer an excellent off-road safe route to school.

However the same safe and unpolluted off-road route could be extended by 
over 600 metres to Warden Hill Road if the length of GCC-owned former 

Page 50



railway line which I am now calling a “green corridor” were to be reopened to 
the public and properly paved as a pathway.

Attached please find a feasibility study into this exciting project which I 
commissioned (using my County Councillor’s “Highways Local” fund) last 
year. [This feasibility study is available to view through public access 
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_CLLR_CO
MM_24AUG19.pdf]

Please would you now consider incorporating delivery of this project into the 
plan for the £30million new secondary school.

As County Councillor for Leckhampton and Warden Hill I have been assured 
by the current GCC administration that a substantial slice of this funding would 
be available for infrastructure projects to encourage sustainable travel to the 
school. I am also aware of an alternative source of funding, namely the 
£20million in S106 currently being generated by the Brizen Park/Brizen View 
housing development off Farm Lane in Leckhampton.”

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC)
The comments provided are CBC officer comments on the application.

“Comments on the principle of development
The emerging Cheltenham Local Plan is currently at the Main Modifications 
stage. The Full Cheltenham Council unanimously voted in favour of consulting 
on the Main Modification to the Cheltenham Plan at its meeting on the 14th 
October 2019. The public consultation is currently taking place and it is 
anticipated that the submission of the consultation responses and final 
proposed Cheltenham Plan to the Planning Inspector will take place towards 
the end of December 2019. Policy MD5 of the emerging Cheltenham Plan is 
set on the following pages:

Mixed use allocation Policy MD5 of the emerging Main Modifications sets out:

Policy MD5: Leckhampton
Site Description Originally a JCS site, development at this location will need to take 

into account landscape impacts; highways issues and green 
space. Site boundaries are based on the JCS Inspector’s 
comments in her Note of Recommendations from 21 July 2016. 
Development at this location will need to ensure that the JCS 
examination’s consideration and findings related to this site are 
fully taken into account. Along with this, the site has extensive 
planning history related to the earlier, larger proposal 
(13/01605/OUT); the Inspector’s and Secretary of State’s findings 
in this appeal should also be reflected in any future scheme.

Site Area 15 21 ha
Constraints  Local Green Space

 Impact on AONB

Page 51

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_CLLR_COMM_24AUG19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_CLLR_COMM_24AUG19.pdf


 Flood Risk mitigation
 Highways
 Heritage assets.

Site specific 
requirements

 Approximately 2350 dwellings on land north of Kidnappers 
Lane.

 Provision of a secondary school with six forms of entry on land 
to the south of Kidnappers Lane

 Provision of playing fields for the school on land within the 
designated LGS

 Safe, easy and convenient pedestrian and cycle links within the 
site and to key centres

 A layout and form that respects the existing urban and rural 
characteristics of the vicinity

 A layout and form of development that respects the character, 
significance and setting of heritage assets that may be affected 
by the development

 A layout and form of development that respects the visual 
sensitivity and landscape character of the site as part of the 
setting of the AONB.

The proposal for the school is located within the identified allocation for the 
secondary school as set out in Policy MD5 of the Main Modifications of the 
Cheltenham Local Plan. Given this there is no objection to the principle of the 
school in this location, however careful consideration needs to be given to 
ensure the school site is not considered in isolation as the school site forms 
part of the larger MD5 allocation. The delivery of the school as part of MD5 
should not compromise the delivery of the MD5 allocation as a whole including 
the allocation for 350 dwellings. Gloucestershire County Council will therefore 
need to ensure that appropriate assessments have been carried out in relation 
to highways/transport, archaeology, ecology, noise and air quality. Appropriate 
mitigation measures should be put in place to address any identified adverse 
impacts to ensure that the development has an acceptable impact on the 
environment in accordance with national and local planning policy including 
Policy MD5 of the emerging Cheltenham Plan. In addition, measures should 
be put in place to secure high levels of energy efficiency with the development 
in order to improve its sustainability benefits as required by Policy SD3 of the 
JCS.

 
Other relevant considerations: 
Design/Landscape/Arboricultural 

Policy SD4 of the JCS and saved Local Plan policy CP7 require development 
to be of a high standard of architectural design that responds positively to and 
respects the character of the site and its surroundings. Policy CO1 of the 
Saved Local Plan sets out that in considering landscape character 
development will only be permitted where it would not harm; (a) the attributes 
and feature which make a significant contribution to the character, 
distinctiveness, quality and amenity value of the landscape; and (b) visual 

Page 52



amenity of the landscape. Policy SD6 of the JCS seeks to ensure proposals 
seek to respect landscape character, local distinctiveness and historic 
landscapes and introduces the need for Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessments in support of applications. Policy SD7 of the JCS seeks to 
protection of the AONB. These policies are considered to be consistent with 
the objectives of section 15 of the NPPF. 

It is noted that the Gloucestershire Design Review Panel considered the 
application on the 30th April 2019. The Architect Panel viewed the application 
at the end of the year; notes the changes to the scheme however did not 
provide any comments on the application.

Overall it is considered that the design and mixture of materials proposed 
would provide a building with architectural interest and is of a good standard 
which responds well to its surroundings.

Landscape

The proposed sixth form secondary school on this site and the proposed for 
this tranquil semi-rural site are significant. There will be considerable 
hedgerow removal and tree felling and pruning as a part of the proposed 
development. However as per the Arboricultural Implications Survey, taken in 
context, the percentage of quality tree/hedge removal is low (much canopy 
cover is being retained) and significant new tree and hedge planting is to be 
undertaken as a part of the overall final landscaping scheme. 

The species of tree to be planted are a mix of native and exotic species, all 
with a good track record of growing well within Cheltenham and as such would 
be expected to thrive if sufficient aftercare and watering takes place. It should 
be noted that trees to be planted are to be large-extra heavy standards or 
semi-mature trees and as such will require considerable aftercare. A 
management plan for retained trees along the northern boundary of the site 
(adjacent to Hatherley Brook) should be drawn up so as to guide future works. 
This could be undertaken as a planning condition or Reserved matter. It is 
noted that many of the trees along this boundary are large and mature and 
have a susceptibility to brittle fracture/failure at weak forks etc and as such, 
significant future tree works (possibly in the form of crown reduction/pollarding 
may be necessary. Such a management plan should not only include such 
future tree work proposals in the longer term but also proposed watering and 
aftercare of newly planted trees and hedges in the short term. There would be 
clarification of planting technique and materials necessary for tree planting if a 
proposed tree pit design were also submitted for formal approval as a part of 
this application or as a planning condition/reserved matters. 

It is noted that there are a significant amount of goat willow (Salix caprea) to 
be planted along Hatherley brook where trees are to be removed. Whilst such 
trees grow well, in Cheltenham, they reproduce  frequently, and without due 
diligence, many, many more goat willows may establish than is intended-ie 
they are very invasive. It is recommended to reduce the number of proposed 
goat willow plantings and to plant native oak species instead. This will provide 

Page 53



longer year round screening, be of greater ecological benefit and provide for 
long term canopy cover as well as visual amenity. 

Similarly, it is noted that the hawthorn hedge fronting onto Farm lane is to be 
removed and a new hedge planted. The existing hedge is of good quality and 
if possible would be preferable to be retained. However it is noted that footway 
widening proposals are to be undertaken. As such the new hedgerow species 
are acceptable-they are to be (nearly) all native species. However it is noted to 
plant dog rose (Rosa canina) within this mix. Experience shows that such 
thorny stems can protrude from hedgerows over the footpath adjacent. It may 
be better if this species is swapped for native holly (Ilex aquifolium) which will 
help to also provide year round evergreen screening into/out of the site. 

Amenity and Environmental Health 

Saved Local Plan policy CP4 advises that development should avoid causing 
unacceptable harm to the amenity of adjoining land users and the locality. The 
policy is consistent with advice set out within adopted JCS policy SD14 and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF. 

The Borough’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has reviewed the 
application. While the noise report is considered to be satisfactory the EHO 
has recommended that a condition be added to ensure that a further acoustic 
assessment is done when choosing/installing plant and equipment so that the 
criteria laid out in Table 6 of the report are achieved. 

In regards to the use of the MUGA’s EHO would recommend a condition be 
added to restrict their use to help reduce the impact on neighbours. The report 
works on worst case scenario i.e. not all pitches being in use at the same time 
but with the potential for them to be rented out to the public the EHO considers 
that all pitches being in use is more likely than not, particularly through the 
winter months. The EHO recommends a restrictive condition with their use 
finishing at 21:00hrs. This will also aid with preventing artificial light from 
becoming an issue to neighbours as well. 

On the Contaminated Land Report EHO have no adverse comment to make, 
recommending that the conclusions and recommendations set out in the 
report are followed.

Statutory Consultees 
The application includes a number of documents which will require 
consideration by the necessary Statutory Consultees as required by the Town 
and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015 schedule. The Borough does not retain any specialist experts on 
these matters and therefore provide no comments, other to reiterate that the 
proposal should not prejudice the ability to delivery of the MD5 allocation of 
the emerging Cheltenham Plan, and comply with the requirements of the 
NPPF, The Joint Core Strategy, the saved policies of the Cheltenham Local 
Plan and the Emerging Cheltenham Plan. 

Page 54



Conclusions 

Cheltenham Borough Council does not object to the application for the 
construction of a new secondary school building, with a new all-weather pitch, 
sports playing fields, a multi-use games area, onsite car parking and other 
associated works. However, the Borough Council expresses the need to 
ensure that details submitted in support the application do not prejudice the 
ability delivery of the full mixed use allocation of MD5 for both housing and the 
school.”

6.2 Tewkesbury Borough Council – Were consulted but no comments received.
 

Parish/Town Council
6.3 Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council - 

Comments received on 26/03/2020

“Holding comments re additional landscape and drainage information.

I (Cllr Mears) am concerned that the proposed drainage scheme could be 
greatly underestimating the run-off and could result in the school being 
flooded.

Using the measured rainfall for the storm on 20 July 2007 that flooded Warden 
Hill and for the storms on 27 June 2007 and 12 June 2012 (the one that 
flooded the Boo Homes development) gives a figure for the total inundation 
per second on the 5.9 ha area of the school that is 6 to 9 times higher than the 
runoff rates that Hydrock are estimating. Hydrock are using a method called 
Qbar. I do not know a lot about it but it is based on UK average rainfall for the 
years 1941 to 1975 and is well known to underestimate runoff from heavy 
storms. Leckhampton Hill experiences exceptionally heavy storms because of 
its height and location. The school will be a little further away from 
Leckhampton Hill than my garden where the 2007 rainfalls were 
measurements, but the rainfall will still be very heavy in major storms. 

The better way to calculate the runoff is to start with the likely rainfall for a 30 
year storm, a 100 year storm and a 100 year storm plus allowance for global 
warming. You then need to look at the ability of the land to absorb the rainfall 
initially before it runs off. Hydrock identify that the land has a 20 cm layer of 
top soil over impermeable lias clay (Charmouth mudstone) and like Redrow 
they acknowledge that soakaways will not work and that the runoff needs to 
be captured, partly by deliberately allowing the land to flood. The storms on 20 
July 2007 and on 12 June 2012 occurred when the ground was already highly 
saturated by rainfall the previous day and one must assume that not much 
rainfall will get absorbed in a major storm. Some rainfall will be trapped by the 
grass and 10 to 20 mm might be absorbed in the top soil. Overall the land 
might be able to hold the first 20-30mm of rainfall but the rest will run off. 

In the storm on 20 July 2007 there was 130 mm of rainfall mainly over a period 
of 8 hours. According to Halcrow's report, the storm was a 30 year storm. A 

Page 55



100 year storm would be 30% higher. Then one needs to add 30% or 40% for 
global warming. Adding 40% means a 100 year storm would amount to about 
235 mm in 6 hours, with an average rate of rainfall of 40mm per hour. This 
was the average rainfall for the storms on 27 June 2007 and 12 June 2016, 
but they only lasted 75 minutes and 45 minutes respectively. 

Allowing for say 30 mm being absorbed and trapped in the grass still leaves 
over 200 mm to run off. The rate of runoff will depend on the slope of the 
ground towards Hatherley Brook. Hollows in the land will fill up and then the 
water will flow as if in a very wide grass ditch. I might be able to use the ditch 
equations to estimate roughly what the flow will be.

Of course this is the situation we have at present without the school, at least 
for CF2 which is a grass field. CF1 is arable land and should absorb and hold 
water better because it is ploughed, has more furrows and has crops in 
summer that will impede the flow. So the school buildings, car park and other 
hard surfaces will certainly increase the runoff for CF1. The situation for CF2 
may not change much and to the extent that the school levels the land the 
runoff may be reduced. Hydrock are planning to put a bund round the field 
along Hatherley Brook so that runoff is trapped by flooding the field. So that 
could increase the capture and reduce the runoff compared with the situation 
at present. Putting in drains under the playing fields should also mean that the 
land is drier when the storm starts and has more capacity to absorb the initial 
rainfall. But they would also increase the rate of runoff. 

It is not evident that Hydrock have considered this in detail. They seem to 
have simply used the standard Qbar method without considering how heavy 
an actual storm on Leckhampton Hill can be. There is a risk therefore that the 
school could be flooded by the SUDS being overwhelmed as happened for the 
Boo Homes estate on 12 June 2016”.

[Case Officer Comments: These concerns were passed to the LLFA who are 
satisfied with the data collection method and information submitted by the 
applicant.]

Comments received on 28/10/2019

“Supplementary comments on the safety report.

1. We note the limited opportunities for crossing the busy A46 Shurdington Road 
and, in places, the inadequate widths of the central refuges at crossings which 
are less than the length for a bicycle e.g. at the Woodlands Road/A46 
junction. 

2. There is a real danger to southbound cyclists turning right towards the Park at 
the A46/Moorend Park Road (MPR) junction from the direction of the Norwood 
roundabout (north east) en route for Bournside School. This is because of 
inbound traffic towards the Norwood roundabout crossing at high speed as the 
lights change whilst the traffic waiting to turn right onto MPR west tries to 
cross the inward lane before the lights go green for the MPR traffic. Although 

Page 56



not ideal, as it would be preferable for a continuous useable path to be 
created, if necessary cyclists and secondary school pupils, can dismount and 
cross on foot during the all red pedestrian crossing period. Last year this 
period was reduced from 40 seconds to 25 seconds, which is unlikely to be 
adequate if increased numbers use this route and more pupils for the new 
school cross at the junction in order to use the cycle track to Kidnappers on 
the west side of the A46. 

3. The risk to pedestrians of walking in the road in Kidnappers Lane is 
acknowledged in the report, a road that is increasingly becoming a rat run for 
motorists. The issues with uncontrolled crossings and entry points from 
PROWs on to Kidnappers Lane is also highlighted in the report but without 
effective remedy advocated. 

4. It is suggested that a raised pedestrian raft is added to facilitate safe road 
crossing at the transition point of the new footway/cycleway from the east to 
west sides in Kidnappers Lane. It is also recommended that the proposed 
School Safety Zone advisory 20mph speed limit is made mandatory. 

5. It is noted that there is no continuous footpath at the south end of Kidnappers 
Lane where the road is narrow, just north of Vineries Close where the 
pavement ends. This will likely result in pupils who use this route to school 
needing to walk in the increasingly busy road, as do pedestrians now. It is 
therefore recommended that the south section of Kidnappers Lane is 
mandated as a time-limited ‘no through road’ around school start and end 
times. 

6. The report refers to parking restrictions around the school to increase safety 
and discourage parental ‘drop off' from cars in the immediate vicinity of the 
school. This could have the unintended consequence of parents instead 
electing to drop their children off in nearby housing estates. Measures must be 
taken to prevent this as the geography and road sizes in nearby housing 
developments are unsuitable if safety and navigability are to be preserved. For 
example, the nearby Lanes estate is a cul de sac with narrow roads and often 
without delineation between pavement and formal road space. Parents 
dropping off children could easily block these roads and safe turning at peak 
times would be difficult to achieve. 

7. Nothing is said about the danger of exposure of pupils to high particulate and 
other airborne pollution due to the close proximity of pupils to high numbers of 
motor vehicles when using the A46, a risk increasingly recognised to be 
significant”. 

Comments received on 16/10/19
A comprehensive package of documents was submitted by the Parish Council, 
the full version with appendices can be viewed on public access. 
(http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_LLWWH_
COMM_16OCT19.pdf )

Page 57

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_LLWWH_COMM_16OCT19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_LLWWH_COMM_16OCT19.pdf


New Secondary School in Leckhampton, Cheltenham, ref 19/0058/CHR3MJ – 
Response in Objection

Introduction

1. Please find enclosed our Strong Objection to your Application for a Secondary 
School within our Parish, 19/0058/CHR3MJ.  Our main observations are 
expressed in this covering letter, with the full detail in supporting annexes.  
Our concerns are supported by Up Hatherley and Shurdington Parish 
Councils, who have replied separately.

2. Assessing such a large and complicated submission has not been an easy 
task, especially due to the absence of an Executive Summary and the obvious 
haste in which the whole application has been put together.  Many of the 
papers making up the proposal have been rushed, are little better than ‘tick 
box’ or formulaic and remote desk-based assessments, have not been 
thoroughly proofread and lack authority.  For instance, the Atkins paper on 
Landscape includes the incorrect observation that the school site is part of a 
strategic housing allocation, implying that development is consistent with local 
plans – not so, as the site was removed as a strategic site by the Joint Core 
Strategy (JCS).   

3. We are very aware that there is strong cross-party and public support across 
Cheltenham for another secondary school.  However, we have serious 
reservations about the original sequential study which examined several 
options in South Cheltenham.  This study was seriously flawed and carried out 
just a partial examination of the area and did not consider adequately all 
landscape and traffic issues.  The inadequacies of that sequential study help 
explain why we have so many objections to this application, particularly with 
traffic and environmental impact.  

4. Our local Borough Council has already accepted that the school can be sited 
in the Leckhampton Fields, a position which was explained in its latest version 
of the Cheltenham Plan.  Yet we are not comfortable with the precise location 
of the school buildings in this application, on the GCC owned land originally 
allocated by CBC just for the school sports fields.  Although we understand the 
reasons why the school buildings have been moved from the Miller controlled 
land (due to the difficulty and timeframe of achieving a Compulsory Purchase 
Order) our concerns over the impact on landscape and traffic in particular 
mean that we would still prefer the school to be sited as originally agreed in 
the last published version of the Cheltenham Plan - on the Miller controlled 
land.  This would reduce the available land for development, reducing the 
number of additional homes that the local road network must cope with 
(entirely consistent with the outcome of the recent Joint Core Strategy1), 
making the whole development more sustainable.

1   In the JCS proceedings the Inspector was very clear where development was acceptable in the 
Leckhampton Fields.  This did not include the GCC owned land, which lies outside the less 
sensitive areas of the Landscape and Visual Sensitivity Plan towards the northern part of the Fields.  
Furthermore, she also stated that the areas suitable for development could take “an allocation in the 

Page 58



5. The feedback from the public exhibitions on the school proposals and other 
local surveys and consultations indicates that local people are divided fairly 
evenly between supporting the proposed new school and opposing it.2  
Concerns over increased traffic predominate, particularly from those living 
closest to the site, who will have to cope with the day to day consequences of 
its operation.

Traffic

6. We have two major concerns with this application: severe traffic congestion 
and damage to Valued Landscape.  These are the same issues that caused 
the Secretary of State in 2016 to reject the application from Bovis Homes and 
Miller Homes to build housing on the Leckhampton Fields on land adjacent to 
the proposed site for the school.

7. The Parish Council has a very good understanding of the local traffic network 
based on traffic surveys that we have conducted since 2012 and traffic 
modelling.  We have also been advised by professional traffic consultants on 
this application and on previous planning proposals and appeals relating to 
development in this area.  Based on our analysis of the present application we 
recommend that it must be rejected on grounds of severe cumulative traffic 
congestion.  The application claims that its traffic modelling shows that the 
school will not cause severe congestion.  But as discussed in Annex A, the 
modelling is seriously flawed.  The evidence set out in Annex A shows that 
based on the catchment currently proposed the school will certainly create 
severe cumulative traffic congestion. 

8. Section 1 of Annex A explains the nature of the traffic problem.  Section 2 
explains the Secretary of State's finding on severe cumulative traffic 
congestion in 2016 and Section 3 explains how this constrains the traffic that 
can be permitted to the school. Section 4 explains the error in the traffic 
modelling.  Section 5 analyses how much extra traffic and congestion the 
school will create based on the catchment proposed in the application and 
Section 6 explains the impact that existing housing development will also have 
and other factors that will add to the traffic problem. Section 7 explains in 
detail three ways that the traffic problem can be improved very substantially 
by: 

order of 200 dwellings” although she also said that this would be subject to a detailed examination.  
Miller are now proposing 363 houses on this land, clearly in contradiction to the JCS and the 
Cheltenham Plan (which assumes 250).  So, placing the school buildings back on the Miller land 
and limiting any housing development to the areas permitted in the JCS should reduce their 
proposed development back to around 250 dwellings.

2   For instance, at the GCC public engagements, it was assessed “The broad range of opinions 
expressed provided invaluable insight and while it was clear that opinion was wide-ranging, from 
strong support (31%) to strong objection (31%), the majority (38%) were neutral, the strong supporters 
and neutral respondents accepting that a school is required in this location.”  Appendix D: Community 
Engagement, 14 Aug 19, para 1.5.

Page 59



a) making the catchment much more local by adjusting the catchments of 
the new school and Bournside School; 

b) substantially improving the throughput of the junction of the A46 and 
Moorend Park Road which causes the congestion on the A46; 

c) a limited expansion of Balcarras School. 

9. Section 8 of Annex A recommends that the Planning Committee need to look 
carefully at whether such a large new school could create excess capacity that 
would worsen the traffic by drawing in pupils from further away in order to fill 
vacancies. Finally, Section 9 recommends that the application needs to be 
refused and a revised application submitted.  It also makes the more general 
point that whilst it is very important to provide sufficient educational capacity it 
is also very important to provide new housing.  With new housing there is no 
way to avoid creating more traffic as people must travel to work and to 
schools.  But with the new school there is a choice and given the already 
serious traffic congestion in the area it is the responsibility of both the County 
Council and local schools to minimise the traffic impact of the new school as 
resolutely as possible.

10.Also important, but not covered in Annex A is the need to ensure that the 
footpaths and cycle tracks proposed to improve access to the school are 
sufficiently usable to strongly encourage pupils to walk to the school (covered 
in Annex B).  It is not clear that the application lives up to what was put 
forward to local people at the public exhibitions on the school proposal 
concerning new cycling and walking routes across Burrows Field and Lotts 
Meadow.  The application seems to suggest that pupils can cycle along 
Church Road in the traffic congestion.  This is quite unrealistic. 

11.Two other concerns not covered in Annex A are:
a)We believe that the A46 / Kidnappers Lane junction is inadequate to handle 
the volume of traffic currently projected whilst allowing existing users including 
residents safe and reliable access to and from the A46.  Furthermore, as 
discussed in Annex A, the congestion in Church Road means that much more 
traffic will come to the school via the A46 than is anticipated in the application 
and this will further increase the pressure on the A46 / Kidnappers Lane 
junction. 

b) The school application must not be reliant in any way on any future 
mitigation measures that might be provided by the Miller Homes proposal.  
Although the allocation for 250 houses is included in the Cheltenham Plan the 
Miller Homes application may well be turned down or scaled back substantially 
because of the issues of traffic congestion, as happened in the case of the 
original Bovis-Miller application in 2014.  It is imperative that the school 
application covers financially whatever traffic mitigation measures are required 
for the school and that those mitigations are in place well before the school 
opens.  The school application has not been Master Planned and coordinated 
with the Miller development; the two are separate and self-contained 

Page 60



proposals and the Miller development, if it goes ahead, cannot legally be 
required to solve traffic problems that the school has already created. 

Park & Ride

12.One of the core issues in the local traffic system is a high volume of traffic 
entering and leaving Cheltenham to and from the southwest via the A46 
Shurdington Road and contributing to gridlock at rush hour. The £435 million 
A417 ‘Missing Link’ investment by Highways England offers a unique 
opportunity for strategic co-operation between GCC and Highways England. 
The yet to be agreed Miller development could also contribute.

13.Creating a ‘Park and Ride’ facility at or near to the A417/A46 interchange 
would give commuters an alternative to private motorcars. The consequential 
reduction in the number of private vehicles entering the southwest 
Cheltenham road system would increase the likelihood of success for this 
major road scheme by Highways England, reduce the chance of creating a 
traffic ‘bottleneck’ elsewhere and improve traffic congestion and pollution 
around the school. 

Pupil Drop-Off

14.The school design allows for a drop-off area for parents as well as about 45 
on-site parking spaces for parents.  However, it is likely that some parking 
could occur on the local highway, in the vicinity of the school site, particularly 
when the school is at its full 900 pupil capacity.   The application optimistically 
calculates that a maximum of 5 vehicles might need to park on the highway at 
peak drop off times, and comments that the local Lanes/Brizen Lane area 
apparently has a capacity to take up to 60 parents’ vehicles.  It also makes the 
point that the Redrow development will have space.  Such capacity 
observations suggest that the local area will regularly have to deal with the 
scale of drop-off problems that all local secondary schools experience.  

15.Local lanes are simply not wide enough to allow mass drop-offs while also 
permitting an unimpeded flow of traffic.  We wish additional evidence to be 
provided that gives a higher level of confidence that the school grounds can 
cope with at least 95% of worst-case parent drop-off traffic (for instance, by 
looking at best practice nationally).  If not, the size of the drop-off zone inside 
the school will need to be increased.  At the very least, the school travel plan 
needs to have strict and enforceable procedures to ensure local roads and 
housing estates are not swamped by parents trying to park.  This is especially 
important as dissuading ‘drive and drop’ is an important part of encouraging 
more sustainable forms of travelling to school and modal shift.

Walking and Cycling

16.The application proposes about 2km of cycle/foot paths.  If the school is to 
achieve a high percentage of pupils travelling on foot/cycle/bus (and in 

Page 61



meetings with consultants supporting this application, well over 90%3 has 
been claimed as an aspirational target), then better infrastructure must be 
provided.  In order to help beat national average modal changes of 40% of 
secondary school pupils walking or cycling to school, our recommendations for 
upgrading existing paths and creating some smaller new ones are attached at 
Annex B.

17.We propose that GCC and CBC should take this opportunity to make 
Leckhampton an exemplar of active, sustainable travel and work co-
operatively with all parties including housing developers (Master Planning is 
required to avoid sub optimal solutions and to minimize costs).  Given local 
constraints, to make cycling a more viable option may require some 
reallocation of road space, for example in parts of Kidnapper’s Lane, and 
reordering of priority between user groups.

18.Major progress could be made to achieve the desired endpoint of more 
sustainable travel in the wider community and higher numbers of pupils 
walking/cycling to school if some or all measures outlined in sections C - E of 
Annex B were adopted. 

19.Some of these measures are already included in the current proposals but at a 
low level of implementation that is unlikely to encourage sufficiently 
widespread usage. Others offer major potential benefits for the wider 
community at likely modest cost to the public purse, for example by working 
with housing developers to deliver linked cycle tracks and walkways.  

Landscape

20.Appendix J in the application deals with your Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment.  It fails to adequately inform decision making as it minimises the 
impact on the local Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and the view 
from Leckhampton Hill has been completely ignored.  No mention that it is in 
the shadow of the AONB, no reference to the Valued Landscape within the 
Leckhampton Fields, no mention of the JCS Inspector's finding that no 
development should be permitted at this site because of landscape damage, 
no real attempt to mitigate or screen the impact of the buildings. The author’s 
limited knowledge of the area is transparent.

21.The school application is contrary to Policy CE1: Landscape of the Cotswold 
AONB Management Plan 2018-23, specifically page 43, paragraph 2 of that 
policy that ‘Proposals that are likely to impact on, or create change in, the 
landscape of the Cotswolds AONB, should have regard to the scenic quality of 
the location and its setting and ensure that views – including those into and 
out of the AONB – and visual amenity are conserved and enhanced.’4

3   Although 99% has been quoted by Balcarras staff, that does not appear to be repeated in the application.  In 
the Interim Travel Plan at Table 5.1 on page 31,  79 to 81% is indicated, although that is considered 
“conservative”.
4  https://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Management-Plan-2018-23.pdf

Page 62

https://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Management-Plan-2018-23.pdf


22.The proposed school building is in the direct sightline of perhaps the most 
famous and most photographed view from the Cotswold Way on Leckhampton 
Hill above the Devil’s Chimney onto the Severn Vale below, and because of its 
proximity to the Hill, it will be extremely prominent in that view. The large 
urban block-like design, unmitigated by any design features such as the green 
roofs used by the award winning Gloucester Services, is incompatible with the 
scenic quality of the location and would negatively impact rather than 
conserve or enhance the view and visual amenity from this very significant 
viewpoint and along the Cotswold escarpment within the AONB at 
Leckhampton Hill.

23.The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and supporting material does 
not adequately assess the lighting pollution that could affect the surrounding 
residential properties.  Our Ecology consultant’s report addresses this in detail 
(attached).(http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ
_LLWWH_COMM_16OCT19.pdf)   In such a rural setting viewed from the 
AONB, the implementation of lighting columns at 15m would have a major 
impact on the dark night sky, particularly in the winter months and out of hours 
when the Astro Pitch will be in use by the community.   

24.Para 8.19 of the Impact Assessment states that the night-time character has 
been qualitatively assessed, however, we find no evidence of this and feel that 
it has been overlooked.  It is unusual to provide a broad statement that the 
additional lighting intrusion will be 'read' against the backdrop of existing 
lighting.  It would be our recommendation that you seek lighting 
assessment/guidance on the impacts of these proposed features and lighting 
pollution on the residential receptors and AONB setting as well as the night-
time character.  These findings should be included as part of the Impact 
Assessment and should provide an adequate basis for mitigation proposals to 
offset the intrusion. 

25.We also have concerns over the placement of the flood-lit Astro Pitch playing 
field so far away from the school buildings.  The southern side of the site is the 
most sensitive part from an ecology, landscape and noise disturbance aspect; 
this rural setting needs protection.  It would reduce the light contamination on 
the local landscape and wildlife if the pitch was sighted next to the buildings.  
We further recommend that an earlier lighting curfew of 20:00 to 07:00 be 
adopted May to September (rather than 22:00 to 06:00 as proposed in the 
application), in order to protect valuable bat habitat and reduce light and noise 
disturbance (this restriction might reasonably be subject to review based on 
future surveys).  Low UV lighting should be used throughout of 2700K to 
reduce the blue light component level, as recommended by the Institute of 
Lighting Professionals and Bat Conservation Trust (para 2.4 of our Ecology 
report).

26.We also request that the habitat area to the NE parallel to Hatherley Brook 
and flood zone not be fenced to protect the existing wildlife corridor.  Brooks 
and streams are a Priority Habitat under the Gloucestershire Biodiversity 

Page 63

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_LLWWH_COMM_16OCT19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_LLWWH_COMM_16OCT19.pdf


Action Plan.  Furthermore, we have concerns over the removal of species-rich 
hedgerows of relatively high ecological value and agree with the GCC Interim 
Ecology Assessment at para 5, that highlights the potential 'loss of hedgerows 
of significant stature and length which are likely to be important wildlife 
corridors'.  We would ask that all these ecological matters are addressed in 
the final version of the GCC Ecological Report.

Carbon Neutrality Requirement

27.The County Council has made a very recent cross-party and unanimous 
commitment that all new public buildings should be Carbon Neutral.5    The 
motion specifically noted that the "GCC holds significant sway over the design 
of county-council-backed public buildings, such as the proposed new 
secondary school in Leckhampton" (our emphasis).  The motion goes on to 
commit the Council to ensure that "all new public buildings commissioned are 
carbon-neutral throughout their entire lifespan."

28.Yet this application provides no evidence of carbon neutrality within its design.  
For instance, it does not include such items as solar panels and a traditional 
gas-boiler based heating system has been suggested rather than a modern 
heat pump (the Government has already ruled that gas boilers will not be 
permitted in future house building because of their contribution to 
CO2 emissions and global warming).  To maximise the absorption of 
CO2 towards achieving “carbon neutrality”, school buildings should have 
plants growing on suitable roofs and plants/moss growing on “green walls”.   
New trees around the school should be planted of varieties which are 
optimised for absorption of CO2 and pollution.

29.The school should be constructed to higher ecological standards than in the 
current plans.  For example, the school design could embrace the higher 
standards mandated for such buildings used by neighbouring public 
authorities in Wales.  If the County’s ‘green’ commitment is to mean anything, 
then surely this new school is an ideal place to start, inspiring our youth to 
have more faith in the promises of its local politicians.

Air Pollution

30.The Air Quality Assessment, prepared by Air Quality Consultants (AQC), and 
submitted as part of the planning application for a new secondary school in 
Leckhampton, concludes that: the "air quality effects of the proposed school 
are judged not to be significant".  We assert that the methodology of the 
pollution modelling contained in this assessment is so flawed that little 
confidence can be placed in this conclusion.  Our detailed criticisms are in 
Annex C and contribute to our view that this application is not yet ready for 
submission.

5  https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-september-
2019/cross-party-support-to-make-developers-go-carbon-neutral/

Page 64

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-september-2019/cross-party-support-to-make-developers-go-carbon-neutral/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gloucestershire-county-council-news/news-september-2019/cross-party-support-to-make-developers-go-carbon-neutral/


Educational Need

31.One of the main justifications cited that 900 more secondary places are 
needed is the birth rate bulge which happened in 2006 and 2007.   GCC has 
recently published census data for secondary school numbers in the year 
2018/2019.  The Office for National Statistics has also released new birth rate 
figures for 2017 and 2018.  This demographic data casts doubt on some of 
GCC’s original assumptions and, just as the plans to expand Warden Hill 
primary have been delayed, we think it may be wise for GCC to review and re-
validate its justification for this school (Annex D).  Is a school as large as 900 
pupils still fully justified, or does it now depend more on housing developments 
that have yet to be authorised?  Using GCC’s own pupil projections, only 
around 25% to 33% of the projected additional places will be in the South of 
Cheltenham.  Certainly, a smaller school would reduce the impact of extra 
traffic on the local road network.  At the very least, we would wish to have full 
visibility of GCCs assumptions underpinning its assessment of school size.  
Given all our concerns, particularly over traffic, we need to be reassured that 
this application is based on and justified by the very latest figures for 
educational need.

Conclusion – We Formally Object

32.The feedback from the two public exhibitions on the school proposals showed 
that local residents are split fairly evenly between supporting the new school, 
opposing it and being undecided.  Opinion is similarly divided among 
individual Members of the Parish Council, but a majority of Members support 
the school in principle provided that it is genuinely required to meet the 
educational needs of this area.  Unanimously, however, the Parish Council 
has very serious reservations about the detail of what is being proposed in this 
application. 

33.As demonstrated in Annex A, the traffic impact has been seriously 
underestimated. Avoiding severe cumulative traffic congestion in the morning 
peak period is a major challenge and the application needs substantial 
revision.  Annex A has proposed ways to greatly improve the traffic problem 
and we commend these strongly. Adjusting the catchment areas of Bournside 
and the proposed new school so that almost all the pupils of the new school 
are within easy walking/cycling distance is the most obvious improvement.  
But the catchment areas need to be firm, rigorously applied and not open to 
future change that would detrimentally affect the traffic.  Traffic mitigation must 
be improved significantly, as must the plans for cycle and walkways.

34. In the similar circumstance of the Bovis-Miller appeal, the Secretary of State 
criticised GCC for its complacency over the traffic congestion in this area in 
the morning peak traffic period.  GCC needs to avoid making the same 
mistake twice. 

35.The Secretary of State also in 2016 rejected the development on the 
Leckhampton Fields on the grounds of the damage to Valued Landscape as 

Page 65



well as on the grounds of severe cumulative traffic congestion.  As discussed 
above in paragraphs 20 to 26, the application has ignored proper procedure in 
the dismissive way it has treated the very important issue of landscape, 
ignoring the requirements of the NPPF with respect to Valued Landscape and 
to the impact of the school on the landscape of the Cotswold AONB and the 
nationally significant view from Leckhampton Hill.  

36. Inspector Ord, the JCS examiner, in July 2016 explicitly ruled out allowing a 
school on the GCC land because of the landscape damage it would cause.  In 
that case it was a proposal for a primary school that she ruled out.  However, 
the proposed secondary school because of its larger scale would be even 
more damaging.  The application cannot be permitted with such a glaring 
weakness which could also expose GCC to the risk of Judicial Review. 

37.The best way to mitigate the landscape damage would be to locate the school 
buildings on the land north of Kidnappers Lane controlled by Miller Homes, as 
GCC originally proposed in 2017 for inclusion in the emerging Cheltenham 
Plan.  The school building could then be screened by the hedgerows and tall 
trees along Kidnappers Lane.  The Parish Council understands the reasons 
that GCC decided to move the building onto its own land when Miller Homes 
refused to make available the necessary modest area on their land.  But the 
Parish Council believes this decision should be reconsidered if, as may be the 
case, the new school is required to meet the educational needs of the Miller 
Homes development, which could oblige Miller Homes to make their land 
available?

38.The school building also needs to be made more sympathetic in style and 
materials, and tree planting is required on the GCC land to soften the visual 
impact of facilities. GCC should also make the school building carbon neutral 
to comply with its own policies and to set a good example as a local authority. 

39. In summary, much as many in our community wish to see the benefits of a 
new Flagship Academy school, we are not convinced that this application is 
ready to be considered by the GCC Planning Committee.  The Parish Council 
has very good knowledge of the area and of the various constraints affecting 
development.  We are keen to give whatever help we can in revising the 
application in order to make it acceptable and strongly suggest an early 
meeting.”

[The Case Officer understands that the Parish Council met with the Highways 
Authority to discuss their concerns.]

6.4 Shurdington Parish Council

Comments received on 10/12/2019 and 17/09/2019

“Shurdington Parish Council (PC) would like to maintain their objection to the 
proposed school, having reviewed the most recent documents. Their objection 
is on the same grounds as previous:

Page 66



Shurdington Parish Council agrees that a new school is necessary and that 
the case for a new school on the "South" side of Cheltenham is pretty solid. 
However the PC would like to note this proposed development is really East of 
Cheltenham and the location is completely unsuitable, therefore Shurdington 
Parish Council object to the position of the proposed new school.

There will be just shy of 1000 pupils and a couple of hundred staff etc. at the 
school when fully occupied. That will have a very big impact on the 
surrounding villages and highway network. Beyond a couple of new zebra 
crossings and some road signs there are ZERO anticipated changes to the 
scale of any roadways, highways etc. In the view of Shurdington Parish 
Council that is unacceptable. The rules state that "Planning permission will be 
granted only where the impact of development is not considered to be severe. 
Where severe impacts that are attributable to the development are considered 
likely, including as a consequence of cumulative impacts, they must be 
mitigated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the Highway Authorities and in line with the Local Transport Plan". 

Shurdington Parish Council suggest any planning officer who cares to attempt 
to get to this site at 0830 or 1700 will not need any convincing that there is 
already a severe traffic and safety problem even without the additional traffic 
generated by the proposed school.

The planning rules state "Proposals should be centrally located to the 
population it serves and be easily accessible on foot and by bicycle. It should 
be located so as to have the potential to be well-served by public transport". It 
might be argued that this school is not currently centrally located or on any 
bus route or other public transport route. There is mention of seeking to find 
out if the Stagecoach 66 route could be changed, that's not really a long term 
solution and would be at the discretion of a private public transport provider.

The access to the school is via Farm lane. Those who have driven it will know 
it is not a big road. The estimates on future bike, car and bus usage are about 
as useful as all of the other traffic and transport surveys the PC have seen 
from the planning depts. over the past few years - i.e entirely inaccurate and 
useless - so to assume that there will be 'no impact' on traffic in that area is 
just ludicrous.

The adjacent housing to Farm Lane (and in the future Kidnappers lane) will 
suffer like other neighbourhoods during school hours. It well known that most 
schools have large numbers of complaints about inconsiderate parking. The 
only mitigation being offered is that they will work with the police on the issue 
until the school reaches full occupancy. This is not sustainable as police 
resources are already over stretched, this must be mitigated for by other 
means.

The estimate/projection is that no pupils attending the school will live more 
than 0.9 miles from the new school. Therefore this is not a new school for any 
Shurdington pupils and therefore its creation should not be to the detriment of 
existing residents within the parish.

Page 67



The suggestion is that they are offering to build 2km of new cycle path. 
Assuming this is not one path in one direction but maybe paths in multiple 
directions then those cycle paths (let’s say 6 of them) are likely to be no more 
that 300 meters long. This would seem to be completely inadequate. Why 
does the planning not insist on cycle paths to cover the entire area of the 
school catchment to encourage safe and sustainable journeys to the school by 
pupils and staff.

The Councillors have requested for a study/report to measure the impact on 
Shurdington and the surrounding area as a direct consequence of the school 
being built at the proposed location. Shurdington Parish Council fully support 
the objection submitted by Leckhampton & Warden Hill Parish Council.”

6.5 Up Hatherley Parish Council (PC) - comments received 13/09/2019. 

“Although the proposed Cheltenham School will not be in Up Hatherley Parish, 
traffic issues and the environmental impact of the development will directly 
affect their community.

The PC’s main concern is the impact that vehicle movements and parking off 
site will have on traffic flow and the reduction in air quality that will result. The 
PC believe that the impact of increased vehicle traffic will be substantial, even 
severe, given that both Church Road and Shurdington Road are already 
severely congested during peak hours.

Church Road is unable to cope with the current traffic situation at peak times 
which would coincide with school start time meaning even more vehicles along 
what is a difficult road at the best of times, given current parking allowances 
for residents.

The PC also believes that local footpaths will need to be substantially 
improved to cope with the undoubted extra use that will result from this 
development. The PC welcomes the proposal to improve the safety of 
crossing the Shurdington Road.

Given that there are plans to develop 350 homes on adjacent land, the PC 
believes it is essential that developers fund the required improvements to 
roads, cycle ways and footpaths to make this workable. 

The PC note that the plan is for there to be 115 car parking spaces on site as 
well as a drop off zone for parents taking their children to school by car and 
there has been consideration given to improving cycle and pedestrian access 
to the school. However, the PC note with concern that no improvements to 
bus services are envisaged as necessary because the children attending the 
school will be local. The PC believe this to be an oversight, as improved bus 
services would reduce private car use by both parents and staff, many of 
whom will not be living within easy walking or cycling distance of the school. 
The PC also wonder if any thought has been given to initiatives such as 
staggered start times.

Page 68



The final point relates to the proposal for the main access to be from Farm 
Lane and the entrance for staff and "deliveries" to be from Kidnappers Lane. It 
is difficult to envisage how restrictions might work in practice; it is even harder 
to imagine that either lane would be suitable for HGVs in their present 
configuration. There will also inevitably be school parking along both lanes, 
and they are presently too narrow for this purpose.

The PC welcome the proposal to make sports facilities on site available to the 
wider community, as better recreational facilities are a priority for the 
community. However, the PC are disappointed that there is no proposal for a 
swimming pool as aquatic facilities are extremely limited on the South side of 
Cheltenham.”

 
6.6 Natural England (NE)

Comments received 01/10/2019 these can be viewed in full on line under 
'documents' tab 'associated documents' through public access.

“No objection based on the submitted plans and preliminary ecological 
appraisal. NE considers that the proposed development will not have 
significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites 
or landscapes. NE included generic advice on natural environment and 
opportunities.”

Comments received on 22/01/2020.

“No capacity - Natural England’s West Midlands Area Planning team does not 
have the capacity to assess the above application at the present time. Natural 
England is not able to fully assess the potential impacts of this proposal on 
statutory nature conservation sites or protected landscapes or, provide 
detailed advice on the application. If you consider there are significant risks to 
statutory nature conservation sites or protected landscapes, please set out the 
specific areas on which you require advice. 

The lack of detailed advice from Natural England does not imply that there are 
no impacts on the natural environment. It is for the local planning authority to 
determine whether or not the proposal is consistent with national and local 
environmental policies. Other bodies and individuals may provide information 
and advice on the environmental value of this site and the impacts of the 
proposal on the natural environment to assist the decision making process.
Generic advice is provided in the Annex 
(http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_NATENG
_COMM_01OCT19.pdf ) to the consultation response.”

 6.7 Severn Trent Water Ltd
Comments received 02/09/2019.

“Severn Trent Water Ltd has no objections to the proposals subject to the 
inclusion of the following condition:

Page 69

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_NATENG_COMM_01OCT19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/19_0058_CHR3MJ_NATENG_COMM_01OCT19.pdf


The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage plans 
for the disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority, and

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is first brought into use. This is to ensure that the 
development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as well as to 
prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the risk 
of pollution.”

Comments received on 03/12/2019

“Having received the consultation for the above planning application, I have 
the following comments to make.

The submitted drainage plan drawing: T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001 P03 
Superseded by  T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001 Rev P08 shows all foul is 
proposed to discharge to the public foul sewer, and all surface water is 
proposed to discharge to a nearby watercourse (we would advise discussing 
the surface water proposals with the LLFA). Based upon these proposals I can 
confirm we have no objections to the discharge of the drainage related 
condition.

Please note for the use or reuse of sewer connections either direct or indirect 
to the public sewerage system the applicant will be required to make a formal 
application to the Company under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
They may obtain copies of our current guidance notes and application form 
from either our website (www.stwater.co.uk) or by contact our Development 
Services Team (Tel: 0800 707 6600). Please provide a copy of this email 
when making your application”.
 

6.8 Sport England
Comments received 05/09/2019.

Initially Sport England objected to the proposal and queried the dimensions of 
the proposed artificial pitch; proposed flood lighting restrictions; the proximity 
of the pitches to the changing rooms, car parking and storage facilities; 
availability for community use; the layout of the playing fields; and the potential 
for floodlighting the MUGA. 

Comments received on 17/09/2019

“Further to my email dated the 5th September 2019, it was brought my 
attention that we had mis-interpreted the surface of the AGP. Therefore I 
would be grateful if you could remove my previous comments and replace 
them with the following.

Strategic/Local Need for the Playing Field

Page 70



I have consulted both the Football Association/Football Foundation and 
England Hockey in order for me to give a comprehensive response. From the 
adopted playing pitch strategy, there is a clear need for an FA compliant 3G 
AGP and better access to existing hockey AGPs.

England Hockey comments: As identified in the Cheltenham PPS, there are 
several hockey compliant AGPs within the local area, however, many present 
restrictions in relation to limited access, absence of community use, informal 
football and price point. Cheltenham Hockey Club is based at Balcarras 
Academy with agreed on site Club House provision and a majority user on the 
existing AGP, this is a key strategic site for hockey. The club uses other AGPs 
too in the town. These AGPs are also used by other hockey clubs that exist in 
the area.

The proposal mentions possible floodlight restriction, could this be clarified? 
Ideally, access until 10pm on weekdays and weekends is the ideal model to 
maximise community use engagement. Full size - exact dimensions for the 
proposed AGP?

EH would be concerned over the location of the AGP in relation to the car 
parking, possible equipment storage and ancillary facilities in providing a 
positive experience for facility users and supporting good practice in relation to 
maintenance and management of the site.

Football Association/Football Foundation comments:
As per the Cheltenham Playing Pitch Strategy, there is a strategic need to 
deliver a FA/FF compliant floodlit full-size 3G pitch within the local area to 
support the needs of Gloucestershire FA member Clubs, Leckhampton Rovers 
FC (27 teams) and Charlton Rovers FC (22 teams). 

The proposed sand filled AGP as part of this planning application will not meet 
the preferred surface for training and match play requirements for football (3G) 
and is technically not complaint for football. The location of the AGP on the 
proposal doesn't lend itself to community use (i.e. walk to ancillary facilities, 
car parking, across grass pitches etc.). 

While I accept the FA/FF comments regarding the surface, I am mindful of 
those by England Hockey. The application is for a school and the proposed 
surfaces give the students the widest opportunities for sport. Therefore I do 
not have an issue with the proposed surface. 

AGP
The location of the proposed AGP has also been raised by both the FA/FF 
and EH, and I am in total agreement with this. However, I have spoken with 
the applicants consultant and accept that the location of the AGP and he has 
explained it is due to the site constraints, which is unfortunate. The need to 
have sports lighting with the correct lux level to the sport which is to be played, 
football 200 lux, hockey 250 lux, is a minim requirement. This is also a 
considered a health and safety issue is I would recommend that the lighting 
levels should be at 250 lux.

Page 71



Playing Fields
The proposed natural turf playing field layout is too tight/constrained which will 
create additional maintenance costs or result in lost days if it is not carried out. 
The location of the changing facility is an issue, and a health and safety issue 
for those wearing studs walking over tarmac. There should be boot changing 
facilities near the pitches.

MUGA
It is difficult to comment on these, due to the lack of information. They should 
be sports lit.

Sports Hall design
There is lack of detail to properly comment, with the exception that it is 
obvious there is insufficient storage for the sports hall. The applicant's 
consultant has explained the reason for this, but I do feel it is a mistake to 
reduce the size from what is acknowledged is best practice. 

Finally there is lack of storage for the outdoor sports.

The design of the sports facilities is very poor. Bearing in mind comments 
made already on the facilities, the actual submitted community use agreement 
is extremely poor and would not be supported by Sport England. I am 
attaching one as a good example to help the school. 

I believe my concerns can be addressed by conditions set out below.

Conclusion

Given the above assessment, Sport England does not wish to raise an 
objection to this application as it meets our Provide objective. The absence of 
an objection is subject to the following conditions being attached to the 
decision notice should the local planning authority be minded to approve the 
application:

1. No development shall commence until details of the design and layout of 
the artificial grass pitches, MUGA and sports hall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority [after consultation with 
Sport England]. The artificial grass pitches, and sports hall shall not be 
constructed other than in accordance with the approved details.”
Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Development Plan Policy **.

Informative: The applicant is advised that the design and layout of the artificial 
grass pitches, netball courts and pavilion should comply with the relevant 
industry Technical Design Guidance, including guidance published by Sport 
England, and England Hockey for Sport.

2. Within 9 months of the date of this permission, a community use agreement 
prepared in consultation with Sport England has been submitted to and 

Page 72



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and a copy of the 
completed approved agreement has been provided to the Local Planning 
Authority. The agreement shall apply to [describe facilities forming part of the 
development] and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by 
non-educational establishment users, management responsibilities and a 
mechanism for review. The development shall not be used otherwise than in 
strict compliance with the approved agreement." 

Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports 
facility/facilities, to ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport and to 
accord with Development Plan Policy **.

3. Before the artificial grass pitches are brought into use, a Management and 
Maintenance Scheme for the facility including management responsibilities, a 
maintenance schedule and a mechanism for review shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority after consultation with 
Sport England. This measures to ensure the replacement of the Artificial 
Grass Pitch within the manufacturer's recommended period. The measures 
set out in the approved scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from 
commencement of use of the artificial grass pitches.

Reason: To ensure that a new facilities are capable of being managed and 
maintained to deliver facilities which is fit for purpose, sustainable and to 
ensure sufficient benefit of the development to sport and to accord with 
Development Plan Policy **.

Should the conditions recommended above not be imposed on any planning 
consent, Sport England would consider the proposal to not meet exception 5 
of our playing fields policy, and we would therefore object to this application.

Comments received on 02/12/2019 – No further comments to add.

6.9 Western Power Distribution

Comments received on 02/09/2019
Thank you for allowing me to comment on the above development. In this 
instance we object to the development as proposed.

Reason for objection - Western Power Distribution have High Voltage 
overhead distribution network within this proposed development.
We will be happy to withdraw the objection upon discussion and agreement to 
either a permanent easement to protect our access rights, or the diversion of 
our network from the area at the developers cost.
We must emphasise that any alteration, building or ground works proposed in 
the vicinity of our network that may or may not directly affect our cables, must 
be notified in detail to Western Power Distribution.

[Case Officer Note: On 17/10/2019 to address this objection, the Applicant 
submitted a letter from Western Power Distribution providing details of a 
budget estimate for electricity connection works by Western Power Distribution 

Page 73



(West Midlands) plc (WPD). It summarises the likely costs to carry out the 
connection works. The solution involves a new substation and cable 
diversions. It demonstrates that the Applicant has been in negotiation with 
Western Power Distribution to resolve the situation. The information was 
passed onto Western Power Distribution, but no further comments have been 
received.]
 

6.10 Public Health - Gloucestershire County Council – No comments received.
 
6.11 Public Health England – No comments received.
 
6.12 Planning Casework Unit 

“The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government has 
received a 3rd party request to call in the above application.  It is not the 
Secretary of State’s policy to intervene in planning applications before the 
Council has the opportunity to make a decision on an application (except in 
very exceptional circumstances). I understand that the date when the 
application will be considered by the Planning Committee has not been set. 
Therefore, I would be grateful if you could advise when the application is likely 
to be considered.

If the Committee are minded to approve the application we request that the 
local planning authority give an assurance that they would not issue a 
Decision Notice until the Secretary of State has considered whether or not to 
call in the application.  If this is not possible the Secretary of State could issue 
an Article 31 holding direction on the application.

I should be grateful if you could confirm whether you are content not to issue a 
Decision Notice in this case until the Secretary of State has decided whether 
or not to call in the application.”

[Case Officer Note:  The Case Officer confirmed that no decision would be 
issued until the Secretary of State has decided whether or not to call in the 
application. If Planning Committee Members are minded to approve the 
application it would need to be notified to SoS in any event as a departure.

6.13 Crime Prevention Design Advisor – No comments received.
 
6.14 Wales & West Utilities

Comments received 29/08/2019 these can be viewed in full online under 
'documents' tab 'associated documents' through public access.

“Our records show those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities (WWU) in its 
role as a Licensed Gas Transporter (GT). Service pipes, valves, syphons, stub 
connections, etc. may not be shown but their presence should be anticipated. 
No warranties are therefore given in respect of it. They also provide 
indications of gas pipes owned by other GTs, or otherwise privately owned, 
which may be present in this area. This information is not information of WWU 

Page 74



and WWU is unable to verify this information or to confirm whether it is 
accurate or complete.”

 
6.15 Cotswold Conservation Board – Consulted but no comments received. 

6.16 Environment Agency (Lower Severn)

Comments received 09/10/2019.

“The EA consultation checklist has ticked the various flood risk boxes. 
However the proposed development does not appear to include any 
development within the floodplain at this location, which runs fairly closely to 
the Hatherley Brook (albeit the floodplain here is based on JFlow which is 
fairly coarse data). With this in mind, it is on the face of it a Flood Zone 1 
development that we would not ordinarily comment on. One question I had 
that I wasn't sure on from the documents submitted was whether this is EIA 
development? If it is then we'd be a statutory consultee and I will make formal 
comments accordingly. Assuming it's not EIA, then we would normally just 
refer you to our flood risk standing advice and the informatives listed below.  

One thing I would like to mention however is that I've had a brief look at the 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and note that it appears to be a desk-based 
study that has not undertaken any bespoke modelling of the various sources 
of flood risk in this location. Nor has it included an analysis of climate change 
and added an appropriate allowance onto the floodplain to accommodate 
such. This is a requirement of the NPPF/G, and without it the FRA potentially 
underestimates the extent of the floodplain at this location over the lifetime of 
the development. I would suggest that this should be addressed by the 
developer in the interests of sustainable development. 

 Informatives
 For our flood risk comments please refer to our Area Flood Risk Standing 

Advice.
 For contaminated land matters, you are advised to seek the comments of 

your Environmental Health Officer or Contaminated Land Officer, with 
reference to our 'Development Guidance' sheet.  

 For foul drainage matters, you are advised to seek the completion of the 
'Foul Drainage Assessment Form' for your consideration.   

 For Pollution Prevention and any consent requirements (separate to 
planning) you are advised to refer to our 'Development Guidance' sheet 
which includes pollution prevention advice relating to specific activities.”

6.17 Historic England

Comments Received on 29/04/2020

Thank you for your e-mail of 23rd April 2020 regarding the above application 
for planning permission. On the basis of the information available to date, we 
offer the following advice to assist your authority in determining the 
application.

Page 75



Due to current restrictions we have not been able to visit the site, but on the 
basis of the information provided we can offer the following advice.

Historic England Advice

The proposed new secondary school and associated playing fields has the 
potential  to impact on the significance of highly designated heritage asset 
known as Moated site and fishponds at Church Farm (National Heritage List 
for England No.1016994), also known as Leckhampton Moat.

Leckhampton Moat is a small moated site that contained a manor house 
dating from between the 12th and 16th centuries. It formed, alongside the 
Church of St Peter (Grade II* listed building NHLE 1340121), the secular (Lord 
of the Manor) power alongside the Ecclesiastical (church) power over a former 
small village to the north of the moat from the 12th to the 16th centuries. The 
village now consists mainly of buried remains, although two Grade II listed 
buildings (Moat Cottage, NHLE 1340125, and Olde England NHLE 1152960) 
are likely to be the last remaining properties of that former village as they lie 
alongside a hollow way (track way) leading from the Church past the moat 
northwest towards the development site. This formed the main street through 
the village. The fields surrounding these properties and the hollow way have 
evidence of ridge and furrow. This is an indicator of medieval farming practice 
and landholding associated with villages of this date.

The association of the hollow way, Grade II houses and open fields with the 
moated site forms its setting, as they contribute to its significance.

The proposed new school is located at the far end of the red line development 
area, close to existing properties and proposed residential development as 
part of the wider Cheltenham developments. The school will serve those new 
developments. The school playing fields will be closer to the moated site. They 
will help retain more open views across the landscape, although floodlighting 
and fencing will urbanise that space.

In our view this will cause some harm to the significance of the moated site 
through a change in its setting, reducing the amount of open fields associated 
with the village and moated site. We note that the proposal includes ecological 
mitigation in two fields to the north of the moated site. This is welcome as it 
retains the open fields close to the village. This will preserve some of the 
moats setting and will be an enhancement to the historic environment as well 
as the natural environment. Any development in those fields would cause 
harm to the significance of the heritage asset.

Although there is some harm to the significance of the heritage asset which is
contrary to National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs193 and 
194 that harm is at the lower end of less than substantial and it is for you to 
decide if that harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme and the 
proposed mitigation, as per NPPF Paragraph 196.

Recommendation

Page 76



Historic England has no objection to the application on heritage grounds.
However we consider that the issues outlined in our advice need to be 
addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 
193, 194 and 196 of the NPPF.
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining 
the application. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you 
would like further advice, please contact us.

7.0 STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE OBSERVATIONS

7.1 County Ecologist

Comments received 09/09/2019 these can be viewed in full under 'documents' 
tab 'associated documents'.

Summary of recommendation: Further information and/or clarification required.

Comments received on 01/04/2020 (full copy in Appendix 2)

“This response is based on the inspection of submitted drawings and other 
documents as well as a site visit. Further information was supplied in both 
November 2019 and March 2020. This memo supersedes my previous memo 
on this application dated 09/09/2019. The observations relate to all proposed 
works, mitigation and aftercare management on Land off Farm 
Lane/Kidnappers Lane, adjacent highways and land adjacent to Moat 
Cottages.”

“Summary of recommendation: Could be refused on biodiversity grounds 
alone but given other considerations could be consented subject to the 
attachment of appropriate conditions and informatives.”

“Assessment against Legislation, Policy and Guidance Considerations 

Relevant legislation, policy and guidance considerations have been taken into 
account as part of this response, including as relevant the following: 

o The Town & Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017 
o Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
o The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 

amended) 
o Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
o Protection of Badgers Act 1992 Biodiversity – Code of practice for 

planning and development BS 42020:2013 Natural England’s Standing 
Advice National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice 
Guidance 

o ODPM Circular 06/2005 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation – 
Statutory Obligations and their impact within the Planning System 

Page 77



o Gloucestershire Minerals, Waste, Transport and District Local 
Development Plan(s) https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/planning-policy/ 

o Gloucestershire Green Infrastructure Pledge 
https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge 

o Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Strategy 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-
change/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/ 

 Conclusions 

The conservation and enhancement of biodiversity is not just a planning policy 
matter. The County Council as planning authority, applicant and landowner 
must also consider its Green Infrastructure Pledge and Climate Change 
Strategy. In addition to this there are legal matters to address. The County 
Council has a statutory duty to conserve biodiversity where it is reasonable to 
do so whilst carrying out its functions (Section 40 of the Natural Environment & 
Rural Communities Act 2006). This covers not just protected species but also 
priority species and habitats on the English List (Section 41). Several of these 
categories of species occur on and around the proposed new school site and 
the surrounding highways network. 

There are adverse impacts on protected species including notably dormice 
and bats. This is an important legal consideration because the Planning 
Authority must not consent the development if there is doubt as to whether 
Natural England would grant the required European Protected Species 
licences. However it is my view the submitted CEMP and LEMP might contain 
sufficient measures to satisfy Natural England. 

The extensive removal of woody and other vegetation represents a significant 
biodiversity as well as carbon loss. This has been difficult to mitigate. The fact 
that some trees next to nearby highways may also become compromised and 
struggle to survive in the future adds further carbon loss potential. This is 
disappointing and this development if consented would not sit that well with 
the Council’s Climate Change Strategy (December 2019). The Council’s 
Climate Change Strategy says the Council will implement climate change 
impact assessments into the council’s decision making process such as 
planning. Relevant to this is the strategy’s land use ambition to “maintain and 
enhance the quality of our natural environment, protecting and enhancing the 
biodiversity of the county”. 

The development proposals are not particularly consistent with the NPPF 
paragraphs 8, 102(d), 118(a), 170(d) and 175(d) or the PPG Climate Change 
paragraphs 005 plus Natural Environment paragraphs 016, 019, 022, 023 & 
024. I am also of the opinion that the development appears to be somewhat 
contrary to Joint Core Strategy policies SD9 and INF3. 

The overall adverse outcome for biodiversity has been greatly reduced 
compared to the original new school proposals. On biodiversity grounds alone 
my view is that the development could be refused but of course there are 

Page 78



other important planning matters to consider here such as public (educational) 
need.

Determination: Ecological advice to GCC as County Planning Authority:

If the County Planning Authority is minded to give consent to the development 
it must be based on at least the following conditions and advice notes.

1. to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved documents and drawings.

2. Seeking bat and dormice licence evidence or evidence that a licence is 
not required prior to the removal of tree, shrub and hedge removal.

3. Seeking the submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement prior to 
the commencement of development.

4. Seeking the submission of a final exterior lighting scheme prior to the 
occupation of the building.

5. Within six months of the commencement of the development a tree, 
shrub, hedgerow planting scheme to be implemented on other County 
Council owned land shall be submitted for approval by the County 
Planning Authority.

Advice notes:
1. Protected species advice.
2. All species and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned 

by the applicant should be copied [if not already] to the Gloucestershire 
Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).”

7.2 County Landscape Advisor
Atkins GCC Landscape & Visual Architect Consultant

Comments received 06/09/2019 

These comments provided were a review of the submitted information without 
the benefit of a site visit. Additional information was required.

Comments received 30/09/2019 following a site visit.

“I share your concerns as to the loss of existing vegetation. There appears to 
be no good reason for the loss of the existing hedgerow to Farm Lane. Purely 
in landscape and visual terms this makes an important contribution to the 
character of Farm Lane and to the overall character of the landscape, 
particularly when seen from the higher ground of the AONB. I would 
recommend that the applicant is asked to reconsider loss of this hedgerow, 
the importance of which may be further emphasised once ecological surveys 
are complete.

Whilst the further loss of the existing hedgerow within the site is unavoidable, I 
am concerned that the proposed new landscape measures do not provide 
adequate compensation for the biodiversity loss.

Page 79



Hatherley Brook and the associated vegetation form an important green 
corridor in this part of the urban framework. At present I do not consider 
sufficient effort has been made to retain and protect this with too much 
uncertainty left to “detailed review” during construction. Considerable level 
changes will be required across the site to accommodate the Astro pitch and 
grass pitches. Sections and levels provided do not cover some of the key level 
changes, for example where there will be embankment and retaining walls at 
the south west corner of the school buildings, and note that the brook has not 
been surveyed. It appears that this is also an important wildlife corridor with a 
number of bat species already identified using the site. It is not clear that the 
implications of lighting on this corridor have been fully assessed. I note that it 
is intended that the Astro pitch will be part of the facilities available for 
community use and that both the pitch and the footpath to it will be lit along 
with the buildings and MUGA pitches though no details have been provided. 
The site development will represent a significant increase in hard standing or 
pitch areas to be drained. I note the comments of the local flood authority and 
concur with their request for more information on drainage detail and 
discharge to the brook, assessing the potential impacts on landscape 
character of changes to the water regime. I would recommend that these 
shortcomings are addressed and additional information/redesign provided to 
protect this important corridor. This should include sections of sufficient detail 
to demonstrate that the RPAs of trees within the corridor will not be affected 
by level changes adjacent.

I would reiterate concern that, given the high intensity of site development, too 
much design information is still to be clarified or confirmed. This should be 
reviewed and addressed by the applicant as, at the moment, I am concerned 
that there is too much scope for further loss of existing landscape or dilution of 
the proposed.

Whilst the landscape plans show the main site area, much related off-site 
development isn’t clearly defined or assessed. We noted on site the 
narrowness of the local roads and the potential impact on existing roadside 
vegetation of changes in vehicle movements and intensity. In particular I am 
concerned that there seems insufficient information on the proposed shared 
cycleway/footpath to be created on Kidnappers Lane? At three meters wide 
this has the potential to adversely impact on existing roadside trees, 
potentially requiring removal of some (especially at the southern end of the 
lane) or adversely impacting on the RPAs of others. The Arboricultural survey 
does not appear to cover this nor does the LVIA assess the potential impact 
on what is another important visual green corridor. Further details should be 
provided.

Comments received on 17/12/19

In respect of the proposed works within highways land, if you are content that 
the Grampian style condition proposed by the Agent is appropriate then I have 
no objection to that.

Page 80



I remain concerned that far too much detail is being left at risk to be decided 
later. I remain of the opinion that, overall, the impact on the landscape and on 
views from the AONB and impact on it’s setting are such that the detail, 
especially mitigation of impacts on the stream corridor and adjacent residents, 
needs to be resolved before the application is determined.

With regard to the all weather pitch, which is one of the major adverse impacts 
on the stream corridor, it would seem prudent to delay determination until the 
issue of the footpath diversion is resolved and the orientation/location can be 
addressed rather than leave another major element hanging.”

Comments received on 11/02/2020

“Further to our discussions last week, I remain of the opinion that at present 
the site is overdeveloped and the potential impacts on landscape and on 
visual receptors are such that, without further clarification and mitigation, I 
would recommend refusal. I am in particular concerned at the loss of 
landscape connectivity and the potential visual impact with so much of the 
development proposals currently left in the hope of resolving at a later date. 
So much of the information is qualified that it is more suited to an outline 
application.

In order to provide clarity, could you please request additional information as 
detailed in my e-mail.”

Comments received on 30/03/2020 

“Thank you for your email and letter regarding the additional information 
submitted in respect of the above application. In respect of landscape and 
visual matters, I have reviewed the letter from Evans Jones of 12th March 
2020 (Ref. 14229) and the relevant documents and drawings set out in that 
letter.

Plans 1 & 2 comprising the Location Plan show the application are, roads in 
ownership of the County and also a larger area of pasture between 
Kidnappers Lane and Field Cottage and Moat Cottage.

Whilst I remain of the view that the proposals represent an over-development 
of the site, I am pleased to see the considerable effort the applicant has put 
into developing the scheme, responding to my previous comments and, in 
particular, removing much of the uncertainty evidenced on previous 
application documents. In particular, I am pleased to see the significant 
improvements in the retention of vegetation along the Hatherley Brook and 
along the road frontages. This will significantly improve the retention of the 
important visual connectivity from the AONB.

I note it is proposed to use the large area of County owned land adjacent to 
Moat Cottage as off-set for biodiversity loss. Assuming you are in agreement 
with the Agent’s contention that this can be successfully delivered by condition 
then the proposal and the location of the land are welcomed.

Page 81



I have a few minor comments/questions on the latest proposals:
Drawing 10 “Land at Moat Cottage”

I am pleased to see the inclusion of orchard planting. In landscape, historic 
and visual terms it would be better if this could be set out to a recognised 
orchard planting grid.

It is unclear what is proposed for the centre of the larger field? There is 
general reference to grassland improvement and to either late mowing or 
grazing but the substantive area is left white on the plan?

Drawing 03-A “Vegetation Retention, Protection and Removal”
I am unclear how the very straight line between vegetation to be removed and 
that retained is to be achieved along the brook where it borders the access 
path to the Astro Pitch? 

Drawing 02-RevB
I am pleased, as noted above, to see much greater definition on layout and 
materials.

I remain concerned at the long tarmac path running from the school buildings 
to the Astro Pitch and the potential impact of this on the retained vegetation. I 
would prefer, if it can be accommodated, a no-dig solution with a porous 
surfacing.

I note that a potential future bus stop is still shown, the construction of which 
would require a considerable length of the now retained hedgerow to be 
removed. I would suggest this is removed and alternative options brought 
forward if there is a future requirement.

Reviewing my previous comments, I note that drawing 11 has been produced 
to provide detail on the highway landscape works. The description of the grass 
reinforcement has been amended appropriately. I have read the lighting 
report, lux plan, CEMP and am content with these. I am assuming the County 
Ecologist and Atkins intrusive lighting consultant will be able to comment in 
detail.

With regard to the Landscape and Ecological Plan (P19-0501_12); this is a 
very comprehensive document. I am pleased to see that it covers both the 
initial 5 year establishment phase and the ongoing maintenance for years 6 – 
20. The proposals seem appropriate. My concern is ensuring its 
implementation post construction completion. Can I suggest there needs to be 
an agreed mechanism to ensure this is both adequately funded and effectively 
managed?”

Comments received on 09/04/2020

“If you are minded to approve the application then I would suggest that, as per 
the comments in bold red from the applicant’s landscape architect, the 

Page 82



drawings are amended accordingly prior to approval. This to ensure a ‘clean’ 
approval rather than have outstanding changes at the start.”

[Case Officer Note: this has been done and amended plans submitted)

“I note that comment may still be forthcoming from CTP/Kier on the future bus 
stop. In the absence of that, I would recommend a condition to require any 
future provision to require a separate planning application. This to ensure that 
all steps are taken to avoid or minimise further future loss of hedgerow.
I’ve read through The County Ecologists report and think the conditions he’s 
proposed on ecological grounds also cover most landscape conditions. As 
previously noted, the Landscape & Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) is a 
good document and should (as proposed) be operational for 20 years. The 
required LEMP clearly sets out its purposes at 1.3 which cover not only the 
new school site but offsetting land at/near Moat Cottages as well as 
surrounding highways. I would reiterate my concern that this must be properly 
funded for the 20 year period. I don’t know if this can be covered by condition 
or if it needs a separate formal agreement with Education?

I would recommend a condition to require an annual landscape inspection and 
report, ideally with a planning officer or landscape architect for the county 
present to ensure the implementation of the LEMP and the establishment and 
development of the landscape scheme. This to ensure the successful 
establishment of the landscape to meet landscape, visual and ecological 
mitigation requirements and provide for the expected biodiversity gain.
Linked to this, I would recommend the standard condition requiring the 
replacement of any planting which dies or fails to thrive during the first 5 years 
but would suggest, given the importance of ensuring successful 
establishment, this is linked to the condition to implement the LEMP to provide 
for the use of alternative species shown to be more suitable to the site or for 
additional planting/seeding where the landscape and biodiversity aims om the 
LEMP are failing.

Finally, noting the County Ecologist’s comment about the need for EA 
licencing, can I suggest that his proposed Condition 2 is widened to preclude 
ANY work on site prior to the issue of licences (or confirmation from EA that 
they are not required). This will ensure the existing landscape and visual 
amenity is maintained until such time as development is fully permitted.”
 
Comments received on 23/04/2020

“Thanks for the amended plan. Taken with my previous email, I think that 
probably now covers my comments and recommendations for conditions if you 
are minded to recommend approval. 
I would be interested in seeing how we provide for the future management and 
biodiversity of the landscape.”

7.3 Atkins GCC Air Quality Advisor 
Comments received 11/09/2019 these can be viewed in full under 'documents' 
tab 'associated documents'.

Page 83



“Conclusion and recommendations

The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Statement which describes 
baseline conditions and presents the likely air quality effects of the proposed 
development during operation.  The assessment of operational impacts, 
principally those due to vehicular emissions, has been made in line with 
relevant guidance and current methodologies.

We consider the findings of the AQC report to be valid, such that the 
operational air quality impacts assessed associated with the proposed 
development are not significant and do not present a planning concern.

Assessment of construction phase impacts is absent.  The AQC report 
indicates that a Dust Management Plan (DMP) / Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) will be adopted to minimise adverse impacts of 
construction activities.  The Construction Management Plan4 submitted with 
the application is generic in nature and could be improved to include site 
specific mitigation measures.  

It is our recommendation that the following planning condition be imposed:

Condition: Submission of a site-specific appraisal of construction dust impacts 
in line with IAQM Construction Dust Guidance3 and identification of site 
specific mitigation measures (as part of a CEMP/DMP) for the control of 
construction dust and emissions, is to be submitted to and approved by the 
planning authority (GCC) and the local authority (CBC) prior to 
commencement of works on site. 
Reason: for the protection of amenity at local sensitive receptors in the vicinity 
of the proposed development and associated construction activities.”

Comments received 19/11/2019 these can be viewed in full under 'documents' 
tab 'associated documents'.

“Conclusion and recommendations

Assessment of construction phase impacts remains absent. Assessment of 
potential construction dust impacts is necessary to inform the scale and nature 
of the mitigation measures required to control dust emissions associated with 
construction of the proposed development.

The AQC report2 indicates that a DMP / CEMP will be adopted to minimise 
adverse impacts of construction activities. The Construction Management 
Plan7 submitted with the application is generic in nature and could be 
improved to include site specific mitigation measures. It references a CEMP, 
yet to be submitted to the planning authority for approval. The Keir 
Construction Method Statement5 adds little to previously submitted 
documentation and is not sufficient to resolve previous concerns.

It is still our recommendation that the following planning condition be imposed:

Page 84



Condition: Submission of a site-specific appraisal of construction dust impacts 
in line with IAQM Construction Dust Guidance3 that identifies site-specific 
mitigation measures for the control of construction dust and emissions. 
Submission of a CEMP / DMP identifying those site-specific mitigation 
measures, for approval by the planning authority (GCC) and the local authority 
(CBC) prior to commencement of works on site.

Reason: for the protection of amenity at local sensitive receptors in the vicinity 
of the proposed development and associated construction activities.”

Comments received on 01/04/2020 

“We have reviewed the additional documentation uploaded to the GCC 
Planning Portal for the above application in relation to Air Quality, namely:

 Air Quality Consultants (AQC) Construction Dust Assessment, March 
2020 

 Keir Construction Method Statement, March 2020 

The revised AQC Dust Assessment (March 2020) report addresses previous 
comments (by Atkins, February 20201) with regard to the assessment of 
effects from trackout. It makes appropriate recommendations for mitigation 
measures for the control of potential dust emissions arising from all 
construction activities, including trackout.

The Keir Construction Method Statement (March 2020) has been updated to 
include reference to the AQC Dust Assessment (March 2020) report findings 
and commits to implementation of the mitigation measures included therein, 
including IAQM guidance2 measures 43-51 for the control of dust from 
trackout.

We are satisfied that that operational air quality impacts do not present a 
material planning concern. Furthermore, given the revisions described above, 
we are satisfied that an appropriate appraisal of potential air quality impacts 
during construction has been completed, and that the appointed construction 
contractor (Keir) is committed to implementing recommended mitigation 
measures for the control of dust.

We have no further comments in regard to air quality.”
 

7.4 Atkins GCC Glint/Glare/Lighting Advisor 

Comments received on 18/12/2019

“The glint /glare report makes some basic assumptions with little or no 
supporting text. The overall assumptions may be right, but there needs to be 
some more evidence. There is no sun-path analysis and no statement about 
surrounding receptors. The positioning of the PV’s on the roof will normally 
mean that there is no problem.”

Page 85



7.5 GCC Lead Local Flood Authority

Comments received 09/09/2019 these can be viewed in full on line under 
'documents' tab 'associated documents' through public access.

“The principle of the drainage strategy is OK; however, the applicant should 
provide an appropriate discharge rate, estimates of the volume of surface 
water required to be stored and evidence that there is space available on site 
to store it. The discharge rates and storage volumes should be included in 
their indicative plan. The LLFA recommends an objection until this information 
is provided and assessed by the LLFA.”

Comments received on 03/12/2019

“Following the LLFAs recommendation of objection on 9th September 2019, 
an updated Flood Risk Assessment (T19002-HYD-R-C-0001, 26 September 
2019) has been submitted and I have the following comments and 
recommendation based on this document.

The report states that each catchment will be discharged at various rates that 
are equal to the equivalent greenfield runoff rate. However, the Micro 
Drainage outputs for the different storm events don't appear to match this. The 
final discharge rate for the 1 in 1 year and 1 in 30 year storms for catchments 
2, 3 and 4 are all more or less equal to the 1 in 100 year runoff rate. Not only 
could this increase the risk of flooding downstream by the site discharging 
surface water at a higher rate than it currently does, there are several parts of 
the network, particularly Catchment 3, where there is "Flood Risk" showing in 
the 1 in 30 year event (page 132 of the report). My concern is that if it is 
showing flood risk in a 1 in 30 year event when discharging at the 1 in 100 
year rate then there will be a flooding when it is discharging at the correct rate.

Another point of concern is the lack of managing the runoff volume. 
Developments should try and ensure that the volume of runoff is also not 
increased and is measured with the 1 in 100 year 6 hour storm. This is 
generally done by controlling to QBar, however, if the proposed discharge rate 
is a variable one then the design should include Long-Term Storage. This will 
be the difference between the predicted runoff volume and the greenfield 
runoff volume for the 1 in 100 year 6 hour storm and should have a controlled 
discharge rate of 2l/s/ha, as outlined in section 3.3.1 of the CIRIA Manual 
C753.

Finally, I have concerns about the flooding in Catchment 3 in the 1 in 100 year 
event. While some flooding is acceptable (the flooding in Catchment 4 also 
isn't desirable but the topography of the site should take it away from the 
building), the flooding in the social space from manholes S2 and S4 could be 
putting the building at risk. Similarly, where will the flooding from the manhole 
SLAND and SACO drains flow? I'm also unsure how the outfall to the swale 
will function. It appears that manhole SMH. 49 will flood to over 200m3 but will 
this be controlled or will it flood out of the manhole cover and over into the 
swale uncontrolled?

Page 86



I still have concerns and uncertainties over this design and I uphold my 
recommendation for objection until these have been satisfied.”

Comments received on 13/12/2019

“Following the objection recommended by the LLFA on 3rd December 2019, 
an updated Drainage Strategy Report (T19002-HYD-R-C-0001, 6 December 
2019) has been submitted and I have the following comments and 
recommendation based on these documents.

The proposal is to discharge surface water into the Hatherley Brook at an 
equivalent rate to the greenfield runoff rate for QBar for all events up to the 1 
in 100 year plus 40% for climate change. This will ensure that the rate and 
volume of surface water runoff from the site will not be increased as a result of 
the development.

Surface water will be attenuated on the southern two playing fields, a series of 
swales to the north east of the site and in underground storage beneath the 
car parking area. The MicroDrainage simulations of the drainage network does 
show some flooding in the 1 in 100 year (plus 40% climate change) rainfall 
event but this will be limited to the car park.
With this drainage strategy, the applicant has demonstrated that they will be 
able to develop this site in accordance with the NPPF, without increase flood 
risk elsewhere. The LLFA recommends no objection subject to the following 
condition for detailed design.

Condition: No development shall commence on site until a detailed 
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) Strategy document has been provided 
for approval by the Local Planning Authority, this should be in accordance with 
the proposal set out in the applicant's submission (T19002-HYD-R-C-0001 
and T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001). The SuDS Strategy must include a 
detailed design and maintenance schedule. The SuDS Strategy must also 
demonstrate the technical feasibility/viability of the drainage system through 
the use of SuDS to manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the 
measures taken to manage the water quality for the life time of the 
development. The approved scheme for the surface water drainage shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
first put in to use/occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage and thereby preventing the risk of flooding. It is important that these 
details are agreed prior to the commencement of development as any works 
on site could have implications for drainage, flood risk and water quality in the 
locality.

NOTE 1 :The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will give consideration to how 
the proposed sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help 
protect water quality, however pollution control is the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency 

Page 87



NOTE 2 : Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter 
that will be dealt with by the Local Planning Authority and has not, therefore, 
been considered by the LLFA.
NOTE 3: Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA 
when resubmitted through suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. 
Please quote the planning application number in the subject field.”

Comments received on 16th March 2020

“In the latest Sustainable Drainage System Strategy document (24 February 
2020; T19002-HYD-R-C-0002), the swales in northeastern corner of the site 
have been reduced in size following an ecological report and topographical 
survey and will only function in extreme events. The swales and the 
underground storage beneath the car park have been replaced by 
underground storage beneath the MUGA.

The LLFA has no objection to the variation subjection to the following 
condition for detailed design which should include simulations of the altered 
network to show how it functions in a 1 in 30 year and 1 in 100 year rainfall 
events.

Condition: No development shall commence on site until a detailed 
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) Strategy document has been provided 
for approval by the Local Planning Authority, this should be in accordance with 
the proposal set out in the applicant’s submission (T19002-HYD-R-C-0002 
and T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001, P09). The SuDS Strategy must include 
a detailed design and maintenance schedule. The SuDS Strategy must also 
demonstrate the technical feasibility/viability of the drainage system through 
the use of SuDS to manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the 
measures taken to manage the water quality for the life time of the 
development. The approved scheme for the surface water drainage shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
first put in to use/occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage and thereby preventing the risk of flooding. It is important that these 
details are agreed prior to the commencement of development as any works 
on site could have implications for drainage, flood risk and water quality in the 
locality.”

Comments received on 06/04/2020

“I wasn’t able to properly assess the drainage because the networks modelled 
in MicroDrainage (Appendix F) don’t resemble the network in the plan 
submitted in Appendix B (Drawing: T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7003-P09), 
particularly catchments 3 and 4. There is no manhole SMH.52 on the plan but 
a manhole called this plays a key role in either catchment as, according to the 
MicroDrainage network, it controls the discharge rate as well as connects to 
storage structures. The storage structures in either catchment don’t 
correspond with the 980m3 storage under the MUGA in the plan and the 

Page 88



swales don’t appear to be included in either network model. Catchment 3 
seems to have a green roof included but there is no mention of this in the rest 
of the drainage strategy and there are “porous car parks”, which aren’t 
included in the plan.

I also think that, considering catchments 3 and 4 now discharge at the same 
point and therefore interact with each other, they should be included in the 
same drainage model in MicroDrainage and simulated together.”

[Case Officer Note: The latest information was submitted to try and address 
the requirements of the suggested pre commencement planning condition. 
Because of the errors identified it will still be necessary to impose the 
suggested planning condition].

7.6 County Archaeologist

Comments received on 28/08/2019

“I advise that I have checked the proposed development area against the 
County Historic Environment Record. The wider locality is known to contain 
extensive archaeological remains relating to settlement and activity of the 
prehistoric, Roman and medieval periods. These include the earthwork 
remains of a medieval moated settlement designated a Scheduled Monument, 
which is located c. 245m to the south-east of the application site. This 
development proposal may therefore have an adverse impact on the setting of 
that Scheduled Monument, and for that reason I recommend that you should 
consult Historic England for their views on this scheme.

I note that this planning application is supported by a report on an 
archaeological evaluation (Oxford Archaeology, report dated July 2019). I 
confirm that in my view the report on the archaeological evaluation provides 
sufficient information to allow an informed planning decision to be made 
regarding the impact of the proposed development on any archaeological 
remains present on this site.

The archaeological evaluation comprised the excavation of 19 trial-trenches 
placed to investigate ground anomalies predicted by a previous geophysical 
survey, and also to test areas where no such anomalies were found. The 
result of the evaluation was positive in that two areas containing significant 
archaeological remains were found.

In the north-western part of the application site, evaluation trenches 3 - 8 
revealed archaeological remains relating to a settlement dating to the late Iron 
Age and Early Roman periods. The settlement is represented by ditched 
boundaries forming enclosures pits. An undated post-hole found in Trench 3 
may indicate potential for structures also to be present.

In the southern part of the application site evaluation trenches 16, 17 and 19 
confirmed the presence of a hollow-way track, and also indicated the presence 
of a stone structure (possibly a cottage). The evidence of historic maps 

Page 89



suggests that two further cottages or outbuildings may also be present in the 
southern part of the application site. Dating evidence suggests that all of this 
activity is of later medieval and/or early modern date.

In my view the archaeological remains described above are not of the highest 
significance, so meriting preservation. Nevertheless, the remains have the 
potential to make a significant contribution to our understanding of the 
archaeology of the locality, and indeed a wider area.

On that basis I am pleased to confirm that I have no objection in principle to 
the development of this site, with the proviso that any significant archaeology 
should be investigated and recorded in advance of the commencement of the 
development in order to mitigate the ground impacts of this scheme.

To facilitate the archaeological work I recommend that a condition based on 
model condition 55 from Appendix A of Circular 11/95 is attached to any 
planning permission which may be given for this development, ie;

'No development shall take place within the application site until the applicant, 
or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority'.

Reason: It is important to agree a programme of archaeological work in 
advance of the commencement of development, so as to make provision for 
the investigation and recording of any archaeological remains that may be 
destroyed by ground works required for the scheme. The archaeological 
programme will advance understanding of any heritage assets which will be 
lost, in accordance with paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.”

Comments received on 25/02/2020

“The submitted Written Scheme of Investigation Issue No. 2 dated February 
2020 is an appropriate form of archaeological work. The suggested condition 
may be amended to say that the archaeological programme should be 
undertaken in accordance with the WSI.”

7.7 GCC Highways Development Management (HDM).

Comments received 15/10/2019. Holding Objection - Insufficient Information

“The Highway Authority is issuing a holding objection as further work is 
required to establish the modelling work undertaken by the applicant and 
ensure that appropriate mitigation is secured to address highway safety 
concerns and highway capacity concerns”

Position Statement received 13/11/2019 this can be viewed under 'documents' 
tab 'associated documents'. 

Page 90



Comments received 20/12/2020: (Fully copy available at Appendix 3)

“No objection subject to conditions. Highways Development Management 
Officers are satisfied from all the evidence which ahs been presented and 
rigorously scrutinised and are satisfied that no objections should be raised 
subject to conditions. A full copy of the response is contained in Appendix 2.

Summary 

This is a major planning application and as a Regulation 3 application it has to 
be considered in an open and fair process. GCC as the Education Authority 
are the experts in assessing the needs for secondary education in a particular 
area and are aware of the anticipated locations where pupils will be drawn 
from. GCC as the Highway Authority have to consider the transport 
implications on the local highway network and ensure that there are safe and 
usable routes to the new school, taking into consideration all the information 
by various consultants.

The inclusion of additional post code areas for consideration has effectively 
doubled the pupil catchment area, and has thus allowed a more robust 
analysis of the potential vehicle trip generation and distribution patterns 
to/from the school, as well as ensuring a worst case assessment of the impact 
on the nearby junction of the A46 Shurdington Road with Kidnappers Lane. 
The Education Authority assessed the catchment areas but we in Highways 
Development Management wanted to look at and examine a worst case 
scenario. The resultant modelling still allowed the junction to function, albeit 
with some delays so in reality, with the likely smaller catchment area where 
pupils will realistically travel from will ensure that the worst case scenario will 
not be reached.

In addition, the Local Plan development allowing for 350 houses, whilst not 
forming any part of the consideration of this proposal, will provide for improved 
junction capacity along the A46, although the timing of such further 
improvements may not occur during the initial opening years of the school 
prior to its full occupancy.

The impact on the highway network has been assessed and found to be 
manageable, the accesses are acceptable and the pedestrian and cycling 
routes to and from the school will be upgraded as far as possible depending 
upon geometric restrictions. There will always be an impact with any new 
development such as a new school and a balanced and equitable view has to 
be taken in arriving at a recommendation.

Comments received on 23/03/2020

The loss of the bus pull in is a retrograde step. It should still be included - it’s a 
secondary school and they will have school trips and visiting teams for sports 
in buses.  At least if its done now as part of the works the ecology will have 
time to establish before full opening rather than come back euphemistically 

Page 91



later on as an afterthought.  Its all part of the new school works now and will 
be there if a bus service is provided in the future especially with the potential 
new residential developments coming on board.

Highways Development Management raises an objection to this aspect but 
accept that a balance has to be taken by the CPA in making their 
recommendation.”

7.8 Public Rights Of Way

Comments received 21/10/2019 these can be viewed in full online under 
'documents' tab 'associated documents' through public access.

“Public Right of Way CHL9 is to be stopped up as a consequence of this and 
we would have no objections to this application. There are two other footpaths 
in close proximity that the public can use and they are Cheltenham footpath 
10 and Cheltenham Circular footpath 8.”

8.0 Planning Considerations:

8.1 The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a new 6FE 
secondary school on land at Farm Lane/ Kidnappers Lane in the south of 
Cheltenham.  The main considerations material to the determination of this 
planning application are: 

 the relevant legislative and planning policy context. This includes statutory 
instruments, the national policy context such as the NPPF, the existing 
Development Plan, and any draft policy including any proposed allocations 
within the emerging Cheltenham Local Plan

 potential for Development Plan departure and referral to the Secretary of 
State

 any demonstrable educational needs in the Cheltenham area
 the suitability of the location to meet those needs
 highways and transport
 ecological impact including species protects under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act and lighting
 landscape impact
 flood risk
 drainage and sustainable urban drainage strategy
 archaeology
 public rights of way
 design
 amenity impact (including noise, dust and air quality)

 energy efficiency and carbon footprint and its relationship with policy on 
climate change

 waste minimisation and management
 community engagement
 other relevant planning issues

Page 92



Planning Policy Context

8.2 NPPF3 published in February 2019 sets the national policy context for the 
proposed development of a new 6 form of entry secondary school.  The NPPF 
states that in assessing and determining proposals, the local planning 
authority should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
which is the main focus of the NPPF in relation to both the plan making and 
decision making process. The NPPF seeks to ensure that there is sufficient 
choice of school places available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. It states that transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of the development proposals to ensure that opportunities to 
promote walking, cycling, and public transport are identified and pursued. The 
NPPF requires that built development be sympathetic to the local character 
and surrounding built and landscape environment, whilst optimising the 
potential of the site. It is advised that planning decisions enhance the natural 
and local environment and seek net gains for biodiversity.

8.3 The local policy which forms the Development Plan that are of particular 
relevance to the consideration and determination of this application are the 
JCS (5/12/17), the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan Second Review (July 
2006) and the emerging Cheltenham Plan 2011 to 2031. The proposal for the 
school is located within the identified allocation for the secondary school as 
set out in Policy MD5 of the Main Modifications of the Cheltenham Local Plan 
(CLP). However at this stage the emerging CLP is not adopted but is a 
material consideration of some weight given that that it has gone through 
Examination in Public, subject to Proposed Main Modifications and a 
published Inspector’s Report. 

 
8.4 The Inspector’s Report received by CBC on 17th March 2020 states (at 

Paragraph 13) that “a change was made to the emerging CP between the 
Preferred Options stage and the submission stage in order to introduce the 
allocation of a site for a secondary school at Leckhampton (Site MD5). The 
Leckhampton site had been assessed as a site for 350 dwellings in the early 
SA but following representations from the Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) MD5 was amended to a site for approximately 250 dwellings together 
with a secondary school allocation in the CP as submitted. The allocation for 
250 dwellings together with a secondary school in Policy MD5 as submitted 
was not therefore included within the original SA work on preferred options.” 

8.5 Paragraph 14 states “the changes to Policy MD5 were considered within the 
Integrated Assessment (IA) Report in November 2017. The implications of the 
changes were found to be not significant for the overall findings of the 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA), and positive benefits in terms of the provision of 
educational capacity for existing and new communities were identified. Policy 
MD5 as submitted was the subject of public consultation at the Regulation 19 
stage, and the proposal for 250 dwellings and a secondary school were 
discussed at the hearings.”

8.6 “The process of SA and Strategic Environmental appraisal (SEA) is an 
iterative one, and relevant evidence produced throughout the preparation of 

Page 93



the Cheltenham Plan (CP) contributes towards that process. I am satisfied that 
the work carried out up to and including the 2017 IA Report, together with the 
detailed appraisal work submitted to support the proposals for Policy MD5 in 
the submitted CP are sufficient to meet the requirements for the SA of the CP 
as submitted.”

8.7 The Inspector’s Report states (Paragraph 66) that “In the course of the 
examination it became clear that there was no certainty that a secondary 
school within the original MD5 allocation could be delivered. The allocated site 
is within the control of Miller Homes, who oppose its development as a school. 
The site is not therefore available for GCC as education authority to acquire 
without the use of Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) powers. The option of 
using CPO powers has been considered, but GCC owns land immediately to 
the south of the MD5 proposal which could provide an alternative location for 
the school.”

8.8 Paragraph 67 states “with the combination of opposition to the acquisition of 
the land from Miller Homes and the availability of a potential alternative site in 
GCC’s ownership, it is unlikely that an application for CPO powers to purchase 
the school site within MD5 as allocated in the submitted CP would be 
successful. The NPPF requires proposals in Local Plans to be deliverable. 
Since there is no certainty that the school site in Policy MD5 as submitted 
could be delivered, Policy MD5 as submitted is not effective or justified and 
would be unsound.”

8.9 Paragraph 68 states “there is an agreement between GCC and CBC that a 
new secondary school is required in the Leckhampton/Warden Hill area. The 
NPPF para 72 requires local planning authorities to take a proactive, positive 
and collaborative approach to meeting the requirements for new school places 
to ensure there is sufficient choice to meet needs. To ensure that the CP is 
positively prepared and meets objectively assessed infrastructure 
requirements I asked the Council to identify an alternative site which would be 
suitable and deliverable to meet the need.”

8.10 Paragraph 69 states “the land owned by GCC south of Kidnappers Lane has 
been subject to an updated SA, it is suitably located, available and deliverable. 
The allocation of the land for a secondary school ensures that the CP has 
been positively prepared and is sound.”

8.11 Paragraph 70 states “through the relocation of the school to land south of 
Kidnappers Lane, land is released within the original Policy MD5 allocation for 
alternative use. It is proposed through MM024 to increase the level of 
residential provision back to the figure of 350 dwellings which was considered 
at the Preferred Options stage and tested through SA at that time.”

8.12 Paragraph 71 states “the provision of 350 dwellings within the original Policy 
MD5 site together with an extension to the south to provide a site for a 
secondary school has been the subject of full public consultation as part of the 
Main Modifications (MMs) consultation. It has also been the subject of further 
sustainability appraisal. I have considered the many representations made 

Page 94



concerning the increase in housing numbers and the location of the new 
secondary school proposed at Leckhampton.”

8.13 Paragraph 72 states “the level of housing as now proposed is less than 50% 
of the site for 764 dwellings considered by the Inspector at the JCS 
examination. The impact on the landscape and natural environment has been 
the subject of considerable evidence from both the developers of the housing 
site and from GCC. I accept that there would be a significant change in the 
character of the area in the vicinity of the proposals. However, residential 
development would be primarily concentrated in the area which both I and the 
JCS Inspector consider to be most able to accommodate it, and careful siting 
of the school buildings and playing fields south of Kidnappers Lane would 
ensure that its impact is mitigated through careful design and landscape 
treatment.”

8.15 Paragraph 73 states “transport issues are clearly a concern for local residents, 
but these have also been addressed by the developers and the GCC. In any 
event, any application for development of site MD5 must satisfy JCS Policy 
INF1 and CP Policy H2 as modified which requires traffic impacts to be fully 
assessed at planning application stage.”

8.15 Paragraph 74 states “the NPPF seeks to boost significantly the supply of 
housing. The importance of meeting the need for educational facilities and 
providing a choice of school facilities is also stated in the NPPF. In the 
circumstances of the CP, I consider that the proposed modification to Policy 
MD5 is fully justified and would ensure that the plan complies with national 
and JCS policies in these respects.”

8.16 The site is confirmed by the Inspector’s report as forming part of the MD5 
allocation in the CP.  In their consultation response CBC state that “the 
delivery of the school as part of the MD5 allocation should not compromise the 
delivery of the MD5 allocation as a whole including the allocation for 350 
dwellings. GCC will therefore need to ensure that appropriate assessment s 
have been carried out in relation to highways/transport, archaeology, ecology, 
noise and air quality. Appropriate mitigation measures should be put in place 
to address any identified adverse impacts to ensure that the development has 
an acceptable impact in accordance with national and local planning policy 
including MD5 of the emerging plan, In addition measures should be put in 
pace to secure high levels of energy efficiency with the development in order 
to improve its sustainability benefits as required by Policy SD3 (Sustainable 
design and construction) of the JCS.” Although the site is confirmed as being 
within the emerging local plan, and this plan can be given considerable weight 
because of the stage it has reached, it is not within the adopted Development 
Plan. Therefore should the CPA be minded to grant planning permission, the 
proposal would have to be referred to the Secretary of State for their 
consideration as a departure application. 

8.17 JCS Policy SD3 provides the context for sustainable design and construction. 
It states that development should be able to demonstrate how it will contribute 
to the aims of sustainability through increasing energy efficiency, minimising 

Page 95



waste and avoiding the unnecessary pollution of air, harm to the water 
environment and contamination of land or other natural systems. The 
development will also be expected to be adaptable to climate change in 
respect of the design, siting, layout, orientation and function of both buildings 
and associated external spaces. Consultations have taken place with 
appropriate statutory consultees and professional technical advisors to assess 
the planning application as submitted and subsequent amendments. These 
responses will be used in this report to assess the material considerations 
raised by the proposed development against policy.

Educational needs in Cheltenham

8.18 Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council (LWWHPC) objects to the 
proposal and alongside a number of local residents, questions the need for a 
school at all, the need for a school of this size and the need for a school in this 
location. Shurdington Parish Council (SPC) supports the overall need for a 
new secondary school, but object to this location. The project rationale is set 
out at Paragraph 2.7 onwards of this report. GCC has a statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places available. Since 2007 there has been 
an increase in birth rate locally, naturally changing demographics and 
additional pupils generated from new housing in the area. This has resulted in 
the significant increase in demand for primary school places year on year in 
Cheltenham. This increase has initially been met through increasing capacity 
at existing primary schools. However, these pupils are now moving to the 
secondary system. Where possible, existing secondary schools have 
expanded to increase capacity, but this is not sustainable in the longer term. 

8.19 On 13th December 2017, GCC Cabinet (the Executive body) approved the 
establishment of the School in this area. In its consideration the Cabinet report 
states that “in the autumn of 2016 a strategic review of school planning in 
Cheltenham was undertaken to update pupil forecasts in the light of changing 
demand and to identify future patterns of needs for school places across the 
town. The review concluded that, taking into account basic need projections, 
new housing developments and the provision of a new secondary school as 
part of the north west Cheltenham development, there will be a shortfall of at 
least 120 year 7 places by 2019/20 (4 forms of entry). Should no additional 
capacity be available, this will increase to a shortage of at least 180 places 
each year by 2021/22, equivalent to 6 forms of entry.”

8.20 Two options were considered at Cabinet, the first to expand existing schools 
and the second to build a new school. The Officer’s advice was that “Cabinet 
adopts option 2 and establishes a new 900 place secondary school (6 forms of 
entry) with a phased opening from September 2019.  Whilst the continued 
expansion of existing Cheltenham schools could meet some of the projected 
shortfall, it would not be possible to meet the future demand in full. Adopting 
this approach would result in an on-going shortfall of between 90 and 120 
places each year (3-4 forms of entry) from 2021. Further, the opportunity to 
establish a new school would be lost given that 3-4 forms of entry is not a 
viable size for a secondary school, with no flexibility going forward to cater for 
any unidentified need e.g. new housing yet to come forward.

Page 96



8.21 The council could expand schools outside Cheltenham to accommodate 
children from the town. However, it would incur similar capital costs to a new 
school and significant additional revenue costs in doing so – with an on-going 
transport liability being created for the council each year. This approach would 
also be contrary to the council’s policy of providing local provision for local 
children, and, in any event, would at best merely delay the need for a new 
secondary school given the rising demand for school places being 
experienced within the county as a whole.

8.22 Further, transporting children outside of their local area would be considered 
unreasonable admissions practice by independent appeal panels and the 
Local Government Ombudsman – and, on this scale, could potentially lead to 
judicial review and intervention from central government for failure to 
effectively fulfil the council’s statutory duties.  This option would also be 
considered unacceptable to Cheltenham families due to distance and, given 
individual academy admissions policy, would result in the additional 
Cheltenham children being allocated places at the least popular schools 
outside of Cheltenham.”

8.23 Paragraph 94 of the NPPF3 states that “it is important that a sufficient choice 
of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities.”  JCS Policy INF4 point 3 seeks to ensure that social and 
community infrastructure should be centrally located to the population it serves 
and be easily accessible on foot and by bicycle. It should be located so as to 
have the potential to be well-served by public transport. Developers should 
aim to provide flexible, multifunctional facilities within mixed-use 
developments, creating shared space which maximises benefits to the 
community and minimises land-take. The CPA is satisfied that there is 
sufficient reasoned justification that a new school is required in the south 
Cheltenham area. Through basic need projections taking into consideration 
natural population growth, new housing development in the area and 
maximising capacity at existing schools, the Applicant has demonstrated that 
there is a need for a new secondary school within this area.  Therefore the 
CPA considers the proposal is in accordance with Policies SP1 and INF4 of 
the JCS.

Location 

8.24 Cheltenham Borough Local Plan Second Review (2006) Saved Policy CP2 
relates to the sequential approach to the location of development.  The 
Applicant’s supporting statement comments that  “the distribution of 
development, particularly that which attracts a lot of people, can play an 
important role in sustainability by helping to reduce the need to travel, 
distances travelled, and congestion, and by promoting more sustainable 
transport choices. The application of a sequential approach to the location of 
development is therefore essential in making existing urban areas more 
sustainable.”

Page 97



8.25 The Applicant states “GCC have undertaken a comprehensive review of the 
sites available for a new school which has included a sequential approach to 
identifying an appropriate site. In doing so, it established that the application 
site was the most appropriate due to the unconstrained nature of the site and 
its location within an area with the most acute need for school places.”  The 
detail of this in included in Paragraphs 2.10 to 2.20 of this report. SF Planning 
of Cheltenham were appointed by GCC in November 2017 to investigate the 
planning potential of seven alternative sites within the required catchment 
area, namely within the area where GCC Education have identified a shortfall 
in the supply of Year 7 school places.

8.26 The selected sites were located within the administrative boundaries of CBC 
and TBC. All of the identified sites within TBC (with the exception of Site 7) are 
located within the Green Belt, which represents a significant constraint to 
development. This, coupled with the extra time required to achieve an 
allocation from the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and other site-specific issues, 
made in the opinion of GCC Sites 4 and 5 undeliverable. Furthermore Site 7 
was ruled out purely on the basis that it was under development for residential 
use (now complete).The only site that was worth further consideration within 
the TBC area was Site 3.

8.27 All of the identified sites within CBC were potentially free in the opinion of 
GCC from any significant planning policy related constraints. This relates to 
Sites 1, 2 and 6. Unlocking one or more of these sites involved working with 
CBC and LWWHPC to achieve an allocation through the Cheltenham Plan 
and support through local Neighbourhood Plans. Particular consideration was 
given to the aspiration to allocate sites 2 and 6 as open space. (Local Green 
Space). 

8.28 Sites 2 and 4 are both within GCC ownership. For the reasons outlined above, 
it is clear to GCC at the time, that the use of Site 2 would be more desirable 
than Site 4 (located within the Green Belt). All other sites would require 
reaching an agreement with the landowner(s) or compulsory purchase, both of 
which would take time and affect the delivery timescale for the new school.

8.29 The conclusion of the November 2017 SF Planning report was that the 
sequentially preferable option was that of a combination of Sites 1 and 2. This 
was on the basis that the combined sites would have the fewest planning 
constraints out of all of those assessed in the report; would fit the school site 
size/needs requirements and, in part, is owned by GCC and the school 
allocation could be delivered via the emerging CLP.

8.30 The draft CLP had allocated a site referred to as MD5 (Site 1), for a mixed 
used development to include residential use and a new secondary school. The 
allocated site is within the control of Miller Homes and was confirmed as not 
available for purchase by GCC, as the Education Authority. Therefore to 
pursue that site, GCC would have to use compulsory purchase powers, that in 
itself can be time consuming, potentially require public inquiry and no 
guarantee of a successful outcome. In addition GCC sought legal advice that 

Page 98



suggested compulsory purchase would likely be less successful if other 
options were open to the Council.

8.31 The Roberts Limbrick feasibility report identified to GCC that Site 2 was 
reasonably unconstrained and furthermore could accommodate a new 6FE 
school, including all necessary supporting facilities and play space etc.

8.32 Site 2, the current application site was subsequently included in the CLP at the 
modifications stage and its potential inclusion was confirmed through the 
Inspector’s Report as stated in Paragraph 8.7 above. The CPA is satisfied with 
the principle for the justification of the school in this location and that 
alternative sites of an appropriate size in the vicinity, both within and outside of 
the County Council ownership were considered but were not preferred or 
unavailable as detailed in the feasibility reports as outlined in support of this 
application.

Highways and Transport

8.33 Paragraph 102 of the NPPF3 states that transport issues should be 
considered from the earliest stages of the development proposals so that 
opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport are identified 
and pursued.  The environmental impacts of traffic and transport need to be 
assessed and taken account of for avoiding and mitigating any adverse effects 
and for net environmental gains.  

8.34 The Applicant has submitted a Transport Assessment, with an associated 
draft Travel Plan, which identifies the various transport issues relating to the 
proposed development. It also identifies what measures will be taken to deal 
with the anticipated transport impacts of the scheme to improve accessibility 
and safety for all forms of travel through a package of highway improvements 
and mitigation. 

8.35 The initial highway submission was reviewed by the County Highway Authority 
(HA) in October 2019. They raised a holding objection and requested 
additional work to be undertaken by the Applicant to establish the modelling 
work and to ensure that appropriate mitigation work was undertaken to 
address highway safety and capacity concerns.  A position statement was 
issued by the HA in November 2019 which stated what had been done to date 
and what additional clarification was required. Following the receipt of 
additional information, a final ‘no objection subject to conditions’ was made by 
the HA in December 2019.

8.36 LWWHPC, Up Hatherley PC (UHPC) and Shurdington PC (SPC) together with 
a number of local residents have objected to the proposal because they 
consider the traffic impact to have been seriously underestimated. UHPC and 
SPC both support the objections raised by LWWHPC and in addition consider 
that they will suffer from problems on the local traffic network in their parishes, 
as a consequence of the new school, but will not benefit educationally as 
children from localities will not be able to attend the school because it is 
outside of their catchment. LWWHPC consider that they have a very good 

Page 99



understanding of the local traffic network and have conducted their own 
surveys and traffic modelling since 2012. They have suggested ways which 
they believe would greatly improve the traffic problem. LWWHPC has made a 
comprehensive submission and their objections are detailed in section 6.3 of 
this report. In summary their highway concerns relate to: 

a) Highways improvements at junction with the A46 inadequate to cope 
with anticipated volumes of traffic. The Parish Council consider that the 
suggested Miller Homes solution of a roundabout is preferable.

b) Traffic generation. They question the assumption of a high modal split 
towards walking and cycling and consider that local roads such as 
Kidnappers Lane and Church Lane are too narrow and will not be able 
to cope with increased traffic. 

c) Traffic modelling results- the Parish Council question the acceptance of 
the results for reduced speed, extra journey times and queueing for the 
AM peak with the both the new school combined with a 350unit 
housing development.

d) Pupil drop-off and pick-up – they are concerned that parking will block 
local roads.

e) Walking and cycling issues.

8.37 This detailed representation package from LWWHPC was passed to the HA to 
take into consideration alongside the submitted planning application.  The 
Local County Councillor I Dobie provided a feasibility study into using the GCC 
owned former railway line as a public footpath. This was also passed to the 
Applicant and HA for comment. The Applicant has commented that “the 
current planning application as submitted is a stand-alone proposal in terms of 
proposed mitigation measures. Any additional improvements to the pedestrian 
path/cycle network (which are not as yet firm commitments) have not been 
assessed in the preparation of the submitted application.” Any further 
improvements in the local area that can encourage road users to walk or cycle 
rather than drive should be encouraged; however this feasibility study does 
not form part of the planning application. Any improvements associated with 
the proposed School need to be necessary and directly related to make the 
new school development acceptable in planning terms. These additional 
improvements whilst positive, are outside of the proposed school catchment 
area and would not be necessary to make the proposed School development 
acceptable, when set against the wider infrastructure proposed as part of the 
planning application.

8.38 The proposal has been tested by the Applicant to ensure that suitable 
mitigation is provided at the A46/Kidnappers Lane junction. This has been 
recognised by the HA, who state in their consultation comments, dated 18th 
December 2019, Paragraph 5.11:

 “However, and most importantly, the Highway Authority have considered a 
worst case scenario with the existing A46 / Kidnappers Lane junction 
remaining as the main access for the school from the A46 for the time being, 
assuming no development of the land to the north east of Kidnappers Lane. 
This is based on the fact that the application for potential development of the 

Page 100



adjacent land to the north east of Kidnappers Lane has yet to be submitted 
and decided upon through the planning process; thus ensuring that the 
proposals can be undertaken on the existing network.” 

8.39 The HA consultation comments then go on to state that, whilst it is recognised 
that the new school will have a localised impact on the A46/Kidnappers Lane 
junction, the mitigation proposed is considered acceptable.

8.40 LWWHPC are concerned that incorrect assumptions have been used in 
calculating the traffic generation, including walking, cycling, and staff vehicles. 
The HA have confirmed that all of the evidence presented was rigorously 
scrutinised and was formally agreed before being used in the modelling. It 
must be noted that whilst there is anticipated to be at least a 20% modal shift 
with the Travel Plan and infrastructure in place, the benefits of this were not 
taken into account for the modelling and this was presented as very much a 
worst case scenario. Paragraph 5.16 of the HA consultation response states: 
“The data used for the traffic assessment is considered to be a worst case 
scenario, with a relatively high element of predicted car usage (21%) in terms 
of pupil trips to/from the proposed school. It should be noted that, based on 
data collected in recent years at Balcarras and Bournside schools, equivalent 
average ‘pupil mode share’ percentages by car at these schools are 17% and 
14% respectively.”

8.41 In relation to traffic modelling LWWHPC state: “In summary the impact is 
significant for certain junctions based on a highly optimistic traffic generation 
to the site. If the 'actual' trip generation is worse, the resulting impact could be 
significantly worse. This was the main concern from the Cheltenham Chamber 
of Commerce in their earlier assessment on the Bovis Miller development of 
650 dwelling in the same location, can GCC Planning clarify from the 
applicant, what an acceptable impact would be with the proposed mixed 
development at this location?"  

8.42 The appeal decision for the Bovis Miller development, although carefully 
considered in the context of the current application, is not considered to be 
directly comparable because it has a significantly greater traffic generation 
than the proposed development of the School on this site. In their consultation 
response, the HA have confirmed that what was presented as part of the 
application was very much a worst case scenario. The impact of the 
development proposal on the local highway network is likely to be less, with 
the highway network able to absorb the increase in traffic with appropriate 
mitigation and in paragraphs 10.3 and 10.4 the HA state: 

“The impact on the highway network has been assessed and found to be 
manageable, the accesses are acceptable and the pedestrian and cycling 
routes to and from the school will be upgraded as far as possible depending 
upon geometric restrictions. There will always be an impact with any new 
development such as a new school and a balanced and equitable view has to 
be taken in arriving at a recommendation.  In summary, Highways 
Development Management Officers are satisfied from all the evidence which 

Page 101



has been presented and rigorously scrutinised and are satisfied that no 
objections should be raised subject to conditions”

8.43 The Parish Councils are concerned that local lanes are not wide enough to 
allow mass drop offs while also permitting unimpeded flow of traffic. The HA 
consultation response states at Paragraph 4.9 that:

 “Following discussions and review of evidence, the predicted modal choice for 
pupils travelling to / from the proposed school has been agreed as: - 21% by 
car (including car sharing), 65% by walking/cycling modes and 14% by bus 
(using existing services). Based on these mode choice percentages and 
assuming a total of 900 pupils attending the school, it is estimated that there 
could be 141 associated vehicle arrivals during the AM drop-off and 132 
during the PM pick-up periods.” 

8.44 The HA consultation response states that “the school start and finish times 
have not yet been established. A Stage 1 road safety audit was carried out on 
the proposed road works associated with the proposed secondary school. This 
was assessed and a number of recommendations were made, primarily 
involving the safety of pupils and staff walking to the school.” The Applicant 
responded by accepting these recommendations and addressed the concerns 
by amending their plans. The HA consultation response states that “we have 
reviewed these and found them to be acceptable in consultation with our own 
Road Safety Auditors. There will be follow up audits carried out at opening and 
post opening to assess the safety of the scheme.”  “Proposals for a school 
safety zone and a local area parking strategy with appropriate restrictions 
have been formulated and plans have been prepared and are included within 
the submitted amended application plans.”

8.45 LWWHPC comments “that the application proposes about 2km of 
cycle/footpaths. If the school is to achieve a high percentage of pupils 
travelling on foot/cycle/bus then better infrastructure must be provided.” The 
HA consultation response states at Paragraph 7 that “A walking, cycling and 
horse riding assessment review (WCHAR) has been compiled by the 
applicants transport consultants, WYG.”  This informed the design of the 
highway improvements. Following comments from LWWHPC and members of 
the public and further assessment by the HA, further improvements have been 
made. These have then been again further assessed through the Road Safety 
Audit process. Many sections of existing and proposed footways will be 
widened and where possible converted to footway/cycleway provisions.

8.46 A late minor modification to the scheme was submitted in March 2020 and this 
was to accommodate Landscape improvements and Ecological mitigation. 
This involved the loss of the suggested bus layby to the front of the school on 
Farm Lane. The Applicant states that “the highway mitigation strategy does 
not currently include the provision of a new bus service or the rerouting of an 
existing bus service to serve the site.  A bus pull in was however indicated just 
in case a bus service was provided at some point in the future.” 

Page 102



“The bus pull in has been omitted now to allow for greater retention of existing 
boundary planting.  The rationale being that if a bus service was required (bus 
service to the school is not currently justifiable to the small catchment 
proposed) then any requirement would come close to the point when the 
school reaches full capacity.  At this stage new boundary planting and off-site 
mitigation would have been established for 4 plus years, therefore in 
ecology/landscape terms it will be easier to mitigate for the small amount of 
hedgerow loss in the future.  Any proposal to form a pull in would be subject to 
a separate application and detailed ecology mitigation in the future." 

8.47 The HA considers that the bus pull in being removed is a retrograde step and 
objects to its omission from the application, but accepts that a balance has to 
be taken by the CPA in making their recommendation.

8.48 JCS (2011-2031) Policy INF1 (Transport Network) provides the context for the 
transport network considerations for developers and seeks to ensure that 
developers should provide safe and accessible connections to the transport 
network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. Planning 
permission will only be granted where the impact of the development is not 
considered to be severe. Where severe impacts are attributable to the 
development, they must be mitigated to the satisfaction of the HA; the impacts 
of the proposals on the transport network must be assessed through a 
transport assessment; and where appropriate the proposal must also be 
accompanied by a Travel Plan.

8.49 Taking into consideration the extensive submitted information, the proposed 
development and suggested highways mitigation work is considered 
appropriate for the nature and scale of the development and its associated 
traffic generation and is therefore considered to be in accordance with the 
JCS (2011-2031) Policy INF1 (Transport Network). Future development of the 
MD5 allocation, possibly by Miller Homes, would need to take the school 
traffic generation into consideration and mitigate accordingly within their 
development.

Ecological Impact

8.50 The natural environment policies that are of particular relevance to the 
consideration and determination of this application are JCS Policies SD9 and 
INF3. Policy SD9 seeks to ensure that the biodiversity and geological 
resource of the JCS will be protected and enhanced in order to establish and 
reinforce ecological networks that are resilient to current and future pressures. 
(See Section 4.16 for the policy detail.) Policy INF3 relates to green 
infrastructure and seeks to ensure that “The green infrastructure network of 
local and strategic importance will be conserved and enhanced, in order to 
deliver a series of multifunctional, linked green corridors across the JCS area.”

8.51 The Ecological survey and evaluation of the site took place prior to the 
submission of the application, and follow up survey work was carried out in 
September and October 2019 with a report submitted in November.  Given the 
sensitivities of this ecology identified in that report, the CPA consulted Natural 

Page 103



England (NE). Their response was received on the 22nd January 2020 in 
which they state “Natural England’s West Midlands Area Planning team does 
not have the capacity to assess the above application at the present time”. NE 
also provided a copy of their Generic Standing Advice on the natural 
environment and opportunities and referred to their guidance on “Protected 
Species: how to review planning applications” (October 2014). The 
responsibility of evaluating the application against legislation, policy and 
guidance therefore falls to the County Ecologist.

8.52 The County Ecologist states that

 “The conservation and enhancement of biodiversity is not just a planning 
policy matter. The County Council as planning authority, applicant and 
landowner must also consider its Green Infrastructure Pledge and Climate 
Change Strategy. In addition to this there are legal matters to address. The 
County Council has a statutory duty to conserve biodiversity where it is 
reasonable to do so whilst carrying out its functions (Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006). This covers not just protected 
species but also priority species and habitats on the English List (Section 41). 
Several of these categories of species occur on and around the proposed new 
school site and the surrounding highways network.”

8.54 The County Ecologist reviewed the Interim Ecological Report submitted in 
support of the planning application in August 2019 using the recently 
published Ecological Impact Assessment Checklist produced by the Chartered 
Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM) and the 
Association of Local Government Ecologists (ALGE). He considered it 
insufficient due to survey work not being finalised and ecological assessment 
incomplete.  The County Ecologist states that “There are adverse impacts on 
protected species including notably dormice and bats. In my view the extent, 
nature and likely management of the landscaping proposed does not provide 
sufficient biodiversity mitigation. This is not just a planning policy matter. This 
is an important legal consideration because the LPA must not consent the 
development if there is doubt as to whether Natural England would grant the 
required European Protected Species licences. There must not be a mis 
match between the phased vegetation removal (as part of mitigation) and the 
planned construction works timetable.”  This view is supported by the 
protected species standing advice which states that “for certain species a 
developer will need a wildlife licence before they can start work.”

 8.55 A further Ecological Report including additional survey data was received late 
November 2019 in response the earlier concerns made by the County 
Ecologist. In early December 2019, on request, an additional Ecological 
Report covering the assessment of off-site highways works was received. 
Unfortunately there was a lack of sufficient and adequate mitigation details 
across the school site, on Farm Lane and Kidnapper’s Lane etc. The County 
Ecologist did not consider that a net gain had been demonstrated. If the 
footprint of the building could not be reduced to allow for more habitat and 
improved naturalistic planting, then the County Ecologist suggested that 
“biodiversity offsetting is the only solution to make this development 

Page 104



environmentally acceptable”. In discussion with the Applicant and their 
Ecological Advisor it was agreed that a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) taking account of the existing ecological interest 
and potential phasing of the development should be compiled to properly 
inform a decision on the planning application. 

 8.56 In March 2020 additional information was submitted by the applicant to the 
CPA comprising:

 Landscape Management Plan and associated documents – Pegasus 
Design

 Construction Environmental Management Plan – Wild Service Ecology
 On site lighting layout LUX Plan
 Main Site and Highways Aboricultural Addendum
 Off site street lighting report
 Landscape master plan
 Revised site location plan showing the application site and land within 

the Applicant’s control (including the proposed biodiversity off land  
adjacent to Moat Cottage)

This information was has been carefully considered by the County Ecologist. 
The consultation response is reported in full at Appendix 3 which has been 
used to inform the case officer’s consideration. 

8.57 The Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) (dated February 
2020) will be undertaken by the management company instructed by the 
School and will be secured by planning condition. The LEMP is designed for 
the operational phase of the development (when the school will have been 
built) and will commence from the handover date from the landscape 
contractor to the management company. The purpose of the LEMP is:

 To ensure that clear objectives for the new Cheltenham Secondary 
School are agreed and laid down.

 To provide long term management and maintenance objectives for 
the off site highways works and land adjacent Moat Cottages  
undertaken by the management company instructed by GCC 
Highways.

 To set clear standards for the performance of landscape 
maintenance work prior to the handover to the landscape 
maintenance contractor.

 To develop work programmes and schedules for landscape 
maintenance staff for the first year after completion and thereafter 
for a period of 20 years.

 To help in the allocation of financial resources for landscape 
maintenance.

 To help monitor success and progress against management 
targets.

Page 105



This document should be seen as an operational guide for maintaining the 
external grounds of the new school development, to be followed in the 12 
months following practical completion. A further management regime is also 
addressed for the long term period of 20 years. Again, this will be secured by 
planning condition.

8.58 The external landscape design consists of hard and soft landscaping, a 
wildlife habitat area, a MUGA, 6 table tennis tables, sheltered dining area, a 
sand filled astro pitch, grassed sports pitches, parking spaces, parent drop off, 
minibus and coach laybys. The existing vegetation around the site has been 
considered carefully, in line with report findings from both the ecological 
surveys and arboricultural surveys. Existing tree and understorey vegetation 
has therefore been retained where possible to facilitate commuting corridors 
of dormice and bats as well as ensuring the value of these ecological habitats 
are reinforced and enhanced as part of the long term proposals. 

8.59 Offsite highways improvement works are also proposed to aid the safe 
passage of students from nearby local areas directly to the school, including 
footpath widening proposals to cater for pedestrians and cyclists. The LEMP 
will also ensure that existing vegetation affected as part of the site highway 
improvement works will be pruned or removed in an appropriate and timely 
manner, and appropriate replacement tree planting and future maintenance 
will take place.

8.60 In addition to the main school site and offsite highways improvement 
proposals, an additional two adjoining field areas to the south east of the 
school site (within GCC control) off Kidnappers Lane is proposed for 
biodiversity off setting. It is proposed that this will be enhanced with new soft 
landscape treatments to enhance the ecological value and biodiversity gain of 
the application wide proposals, offering mitigation proposals for increased 
developed area and potential impacts on existing ecological habitat. The 
smaller northern field of this off site land is the primary site for the ecological 
mitigation proposals. However, the larger field to the south will also offer 
enhancement opportunities comprising a new native hedgerow planted with a 
‘making good’ margin of species rich long grass to the base of new hedgerows 
to the periphery of this field area.

8.61 The proposed biodiversity off set land adjacent to Moat Cottages is critical to 
the biodiversity balance of the proposed school site. The preservation of this 
area of land needs to be secured for the life of the school planning permission. 
The County Legal Advisor has suggested that whilst the initial implementation 
of ecological measures on the off site mitigation land can be controlled by 
planning condition, its long term preservation should be secured through a 
S106 Agreement. However it is not legally advisable for the County Council to 
enter into a Section 106 Agreement with itself as it would not be enforceable.  
An alternative solution would be that a S106 Agreement could be entered into 
with CBC, although this option has not been explored. In his view the County 
Legal Advisor identifies a Section 106 Agreement is the appropriate 
guarantee. He is supported in this view by the DEFRA information note which 
states: 

Page 106



“37. It may not be possible to enforce a planning condition that requires 
agreement of third parties, such as offset providers11. If LPAs wish to use a 
condition to secure biodiversity offsetting, the condition should be framed so 
as to require that the development authorised by the permission should not 
commence, or proceed beyond an agreed stage, until the specified offsetting 
requirement has been secured and/or the necessary funding provided. The 
LPA will need to consider carefully which elements of the requirement can be 
secured through enforcement of the condition. This will need to include 
consideration of whether the long term delivery of the biodiversity offset after 
the development has been completed needs to be guaranteed in some other 
way.” (My emphasis)

8.62 The Applicant considers that is possible for this matter to be controlled via a 
planning condition which can reference the LEMP. The site would be further 
safeguarded because of the presence of protected species in the area and the 
requirement to obtain a European Protected Species licence from Natural 
England prior to any development taking place on site. In addition, the 
Inspector’s Report on the emerging Cheltenham Local Plan recommends the 
adoption of the Plan with the offset land (together with other land extending 
towards the built-up limits of Cheltenham) being designated as Local Green 
Space (LGS). Policies applicable to land designated as LGS can be potentially 
as restrictive as Green Belt policies and would discourage the opportunity to 
develop the land. However the safest and most appropriate mechanism for 
securing the long term delivery of the biodiversity offset after the development 
has been completed is through a S106 Agreement and this would need to be 
secured before development can take place on site.

8.63 Notwithstanding the above, the County Ecologist states: “Bats and dormice 
would be impacted by the proposed development and associated highways 
works. Roosting bats will be affected by the stable demolition, tree loss and 
work on site plus potentially highway works. Dormice are affected by the on-
site and highways works involving loss to hedges and trees etc. The LPA must 
consider the three tests in Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) before determining this application 
(ODPM Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 99, 112 & 116). Regulation 55(2) 
defines the circumstances where derogation is allowed for an affected species 
and a licence could be issued by Natural England. The judgement on the first 
two tests should be made by the planning officer under delegated powers, or 
members of the planning committee.” 

8.64 “The first test at Regulation 55(2)(e) asks if there is a justification of public 
health, public safety or an imperative reason of overriding public interest, 
which includes beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment? To pass this test there should be a high degree of need for the 
development which would result in beneficial results to the local area that are 
likely to be in accordance with local planning policy requirement(s). The LPA 
might conclude for example that there is an urgent need for the new school 
due to nearby residential housing developments having been already 
permitted or planned in accordance with local planning policy requirements.” 

Page 107



8.65 “The second test set out in Regulation 55(9)(a) deems that there should be ‘no 
satisfactory alternative’. In this case the LPA conclusions could be that there 
are no other viable options to the activity proposed that can be done 
differently, i.e. changed footprint or landscaping, location of the new school on 
a different site.” The Applicant has explored the possibility of an alternative 
site and this is discussed in sections 8.24 to 8.32 above.

8.66 “The third test set out in Regulation 55(9)(b) deems that the development 
should have no detrimental effect on the favourable conservation status of a 
species. This last test is ultimately made by Natural England but currently my 
view is that tentatively this test might be met for both bats and dormice. If the 
LPA deems that the 3 tests can be met then it is possible to consent the 
planning application in accordance with obligations under Regulation 55 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 
Thereafter TWO development species licence applications would be required 
which may or may not be granted by Natural England to allow the 
development to proceed.”

8.67 In his conclusion, the County Ecologist states that “There are adverse impacts 
on protected species including notably dormice and bats. This is an important 
legal consideration because the Planning Authority must not consent the 
development if there is doubt as to whether Natural England would grant the 
required European Protected Species licences. However it is my view the 
submitted CEMP and LEMP might contain sufficient measures to satisfy 
Natural England.” Therefore significant to that is the ability to ensure the offset 
land can be provided, managed appropriately and safeguarded.

8.68 The CPA needs to consider whether the suggested biodiversity offset 
mitigation and associated documents are sufficient to satisfy JCS Policy SD9 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity which states:

1 The biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected 
and enhanced in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that 
are resilient to current and future pressures. Improved community access 
will be encouraged so far as is compatible with the conservation of special 
features and interests.

 2. States that “this will be achieved by:

i. Ensuring that European Protected Species and National Protected 
Species are safeguarded in accordance with the law

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity on 
internationally, nationally and locally designated sites, and other assets 
of demonstrable value where these make a contribution to the wider 
network, thus ensuring that new development both within and 
surrounding such sites has no unacceptable adverse impacts 

iii. Encouraging new development to contribute positively to biodiversity 
and geodiversity whilst linking with wider networks of green 
infrastructure. For example, by incorporating habitat features into the 

Page 108



design to assist in the creation and enhancement of wildlife corridors 
and ecological stepping stones between sites

v. Encouraging the creation, restoration and beneficial management of 
priority landscapes, priority habitats and populations of priority species. 
For example, by securing improvements to Strategic Nature Areas (as 
set out on the Gloucestershire Nature Map) and Nature Improvement 
Areas.”

3. Any development that has the potential to have a likely significant effect on 
an international site will be subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment.

4. Within nationally designated sites, development will not be permitted unless 
it is necessary for appropriate on -site management measures, and 
proposals can demonstrate that there will be no adverse impacts on the 
notified special interest features of the site.

5. Development within locally designated sites will not be permitted where it 
would have an adverse impact on the registered interest features or 
criteria for which the site was listed, and harm cannot be avoided or 
satisfactorily mitigated. 

6 Harm to the biodiversity or geodiversity of an undesignated site or asset 
should be avoided where possible. Where there is a risk of harm as a 
consequence of development, this should be mitigated by integrating 
enhancements into the scheme that are appropriate to the location and 
satisfactory to the local planning authority. If harm cannot be mitigated on 
site then, exceptionally, compensatory enhancements off site may be 
acceptable.

8.69 The Applicant states that “securing land for the new school, agreeing matters 
with all relevant state holders, formulating a design team and delivery 
contractor takes a considerable amount of time, thus the landholding forming 
the school application was based upon standard formula at the time the school 
proposal was first promoted”. “Going forward (assuming that the 
environmental bill reaches statute) it is evident that most development sites 
(including school sites) will need to be larger to accommodate net gain 
provisions. In this case we have worked hard to retrospectively improve 
ecology and environmental gains where practicable (responding to changing 
GCC aspirations since the planning application was submitted), however when 
the site was originally identified the provision of net environmental/ecology 
gain was not on the agenda either in terms of a statutory requirement (which it 
is still not) or pledges from GCC Pledges”.  

8.70 In terms of JCS Policy SD9, since making the original planning application in 
August 2109, the Applicant has submitted additional ecological information in 
an attempt to address the concerns of the County Ecologist. This is not a 
nationally or locally designated site, but does contain assets of demonstrable 
value, such as the European protected species and their habitats. Part 6 of the 
Policy SD9 seeks to ensure that “harm to the biodiversity or geodiversity of an 
undesignated site or asset should be avoided where possible.”  The CPA 
considers that notwithstanding that there will not be an overall net biodiversity 
gain at the site, even with the suggested LEMP in place, biodiversity of the 
application site has been protected and enhanced to as great an extent as is 

Page 109



possible within the constraints of the site. Given the NPPF policy on 
biodiversity and the need for mitigation in such scenarios, this does raise a 
potential issue for the proposal which needs to be weighed in the planning 
balance.

8.71 JCS Policy INF3 relates to Green Infrastructure and seeks to ensure that the 
green infrastructure network of local and strategic importance will be 
conserved and enhanced, in order to deliver a series of multifunctional, linked 
green corridors across the JCS area. Point 3 of Policy INF3 states: 

3. Existing green infrastructure will be protected in a manner that reflects its 
contribution to ecosystem services (including biodiversity, 
landscape/townscape quality, the historic environment, public access, 
recreation and play) and the connectivity of the green infrastructure network. 
Development proposals that will have an impact on woodlands, hedges and 
trees will need to include a justification for why this impact cannot be avoided 
and should incorporate measures acceptable to the local planning authority to 
mitigate the loss. Mitigation should be provided on-site or, where this is not 
possible, in the immediate environs of the site.

8.72 The County Ecologist states that good landscaping with demonstrable 
biodiversity net gain is to be expected at this location. This is particularly 
relevant as this is a County Council-led development and the Council has 
signed up to a Green Infrastructure Pledge and has a statutory requirement to 
conserve biodiversity whilst carrying out its functions.  In terms of JCS Policy 
INF3, the documents forming the latest ecology submission provide a 
justification for the impact and show in terms of hedgerow, the scheme now 
includes a +30% enhancement which can be considered to be a  
proportionate mitigation. As stated above, the Inspector’s report has 
recommended areas of land extending towards the built-up limits of 
Cheltenham should be designated as LGS.

8.73 In terms of Ecology the proposal has raised protected species issues and 
biodiversity net loss/gain issues. As stated above the first has legal 
imperatives as well as policy implications. The Applicant has provided offsite 
biodiversity mitigation and a LEMP to control the ongoing management of the 
school site and the offset land. The CPA considers this should be secured 
through a 106 Agreement. To further ensure that biodiversity and amenity is 
conserved and in accordance with Local Plan Policies, the County Ecologist 
has suggested planning conditions to ensure that bat and dormouse licences 
or proof that they are not required are secured from NE prior to the removal of 
trees, shrubs and hedgerows; secure an Aboricultural Method statement; 
lighting controls to minimise the impact upon ecology and to secure a planting 
scheme is submitted.  The County Ecologist is of the opinion that “the overall 
adverse outcome for biodiversity has been greatly reduced (by subsequent 
revisions and amendments submitted in March 2020) compared to the original 
new school proposals (as presented in 2019).”

Landscape Impact

Page 110



8.74 JCS Policy SD6 states that “development will seek to protect landscape 
character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, 
environmental and social wellbeing.  Proposals will have regard to the local 
distinctiveness and historic character of the different landscapes in the JCS 
area, drawing, as appropriate, upon existing Landscape Character 
Assessments and the Landscape Character and Sensitivity Analysis. They will 
be required to demonstrate how the development will protect or enhance 
landscape character and avoid detrimental effects on types, patterns and 
features which make a significant contribution to the character, history and 
setting of a settlement or area. All applications for development will consider 
the landscape and visual sensitivity of the area in which they are to be located 
or which they may affect. Planning applications will be supported by a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment where, at the discretion of the local 
planning authority, one is required. Proposals for appropriate mitigation and 
enhancement measures should also accompany applications.”

8.75 LWWHPC and some members of the public have expressed concerns about 
the impact of the proposal in landscape terms and its visibility from the AONB, 
and the lighting impact when lit at night.  LWWHPC consider the proposal to 
be contrary to Policy CE1 of the Cotswold AONB Management Plan. An LVIA 
(plus subsequent amendments) was submitted in support of the planning 
application. It considered the potential effects on the existing landscape 
character, landscape components and features and visual amenity.  The 
County Landscape Advisor initially expressed concern about the loss of 
vegetation associated with the development, particularly the existing mature 
hedgerow along Farm Lane; the impact of the proposed development when 
viewed from the AONB to the south; the impact on the Hatherley Brook 
landscape feature; lighting of the internal school footpaths and sports pitches; 
and considerable changes in the levels across the site. Given the high 
intensity of site development, he requested further design detail, greater 
definition and additional information to address his concerns.  He considered 
that the additional submissions in November 2019 did little to address his 
concerns.

8.76 In respect of the additional information submitted in March 2020 the County 
Landscape Advisor states that “whilst I remain of the view that the proposals 
represent an over-development of the site, I am pleased to see the 
considerable effort the applicant has put into developing the scheme, 
responding to my previous comments and, in particular, removing much of the 
uncertainty evidenced on previous application documents. In particular, I am 
pleased to see the significant improvements in the retention of vegetation 
along the Hatherley Brook and along the road frontages. This will significantly 
improve the retention of the important visual connectivity from the AONB.” In 
addition he welcomes the use of the large area of GCC-owned land adjacent 
to Moat Cottage as off-set for biodiversity loss.

8.77 In his consultation response of 30/03/2020, the County Landscape Advisor 
identifies some minor comments which have been addressed by the Applicant. 
Drawing 10 “Land at Moat Cottage” has been amended to provide structured 
planting for the orchard. The Applicant has clarified that “the centre of this field 

Page 111



is for future potential development as requested by GCC and therefor the 
centre is to be retained as existing grassland and continue to be managed as 
it currently is.” The Applicant has clarified how vegetation to be removed and 
that retained is to be achieved along the brook where it borders the access 
path to the Astro Pitch. The Applicant states that “following setting out on site 
of the proposed retaining wall location and alignment, the existing vegetation 
to be removed will be thinned back and removed under the supervision and 
guidance of the landscape architect and arbouriculturist as shown.  Extent of 
removal will be minimised to ensure the minimum area required for installation 
of the retaining wall is achieved only, as indicated”.

8.78 The County Landscape Advisor was concerned about the potential loss of the 
mature hedge along Farm Lane should the bus layby be implemented. The 
Applicant states that “our proposals identify an additional new native 
hedgerow behind the existing hedgerow in this location, so should the layby 
be implemented at a later date, it could happen along with the removal of the 
existing hedgerow, as an established hedgerow will have grown in place 
behind to mitigate against the loss.” The County Landscape Advisor suggests 
that an appropriate condition should be imposed to ensure that should the 
new bus layby on Farm Lane be required, it should be the subject of a 
planning application. An appropriate condition is recommended to secure this.

8.79 The proposal lies outside of the AONB, but would be visible from significant 
viewpoints within the AONB.  The Cotswold Conservation Board was 
consulted regarding this planning application, both when it was submitted and 
when subsequent information was consulted upon. No comments were 
received. The Cotswold AONB Management Plan (2018-2023) sets out the 
vision, outcomes, ambitions and policies to guide the management of the 
AONB for the period 2018-2023. Policy CE1 ‘Landscape’ seeks to ensure that 
“the landscape character, scenic quality and geological features of the 
Cotswolds AONB will have been conserved, enhanced and better 
understood.”  New residential development is currently under construction to 
the south west of the site along Farm Lane and outline planning permission 
has recently (March 2020) been granted on appeal for 25 residential dwellings 
to the east of the site on land off Kidnappers Lane, further enclosing the site 
and bringing it into the built development boundary. In the latter instance the 
Inspector considered that “the proposals would not result in any harm to the 
setting of the AONB. This is due to the distances involved and the relatively 
small size of the development site, together with its proximity to the urban 
edge of Cheltenham.”   The CPA considers that whilst the new School site will 
be visible from the AONB, and the buildings will present a greater 
consolidated mass than the recently granted residential development, it is also 
on the urban fringe of Cheltenham and will be set against the backdrop of 
existing buildings within the townscape, especially with the new development 
to the east.  
 

8.80 Glint and glare from the buildings’ windows and photovoltaics have been 
identified as a potential area for concern, particularly when viewed from the 
AONB. A limited glint and glare assessment was submitted in support of the 
planning application. The Applicant considers that through design and layout, 

Page 112



“there is a low risk of glare to the surrounding environment. The PV array will 
be angled so as to maximise electricity generation. The ideal scenario, which 
will be the case through the summer months is to have the panels being 90° 
from the sun so any reflection will be angled directly back at the sun.”

8.81 After consultation with the County’s Glint and Glare/ Lighting consultant further 
analysis was requested. It was considered that although they may be correct, 
there was little evidence to support the assumptions made. The Applicant 
chose not to provide further analysis of the potential for glint and glare. The 
Applicant states “Your consultant’s comments are noted in respect to the 
submitted glint and glare report, however in light of the relatively small array 
proposed in this instance taken together with the County Council’s climate 
change emergency agenda, I confirm that it is for councillors to determine 
whether the risk of glint and glare during the rare occasion that glint and glare 
could occur is more important than reducing carbon emissions.”

8.82 The potential impact will clearly be restricted to specific times of the year and 
when the sun is at the ‘right’ angle. There is no specific policy advice in the 
NPPF3 regarding glint and glare from photovoltaics, it focuses more on their 
provision to combat climate change, this does raise a potential issue for the 
proposal which needs to be weighed in the planning balance. 

8.83 For the future the Applicant states “As you are aware it is my instruction to 
consider further improvements to reduce yet further carbon emissions from 
the proposed building, this will include the provision of a much larger array of 
PV cells at roof level. I confirm that a revised glint and glare report will be 
submitted in connection with that revised proposal, however that is a matter 
for consideration after determination of this current proposal.” It is important to 
note that this is for information only and does not form part of the current 
proposal.

8.84 JCS Policy INF3 relates to Green Infrastructure and requires that “the green 
infrastructure network of local and strategic importance will be conserved and 
enhanced, in order to deliver a series of multifunctional, linked green corridors 
across the JCS area by: 

i. improving the quantity and/or quality of assets 
ii. improving linkages between assets in a manner appropriate to the 

scale of development, and 
iii. designing improvements in a way that supports the cohesive 

management of green infrastructure. “

It goes on to state that “Development proposals should consider and 
contribute positively towards green infrastructure, including the wider 
landscape context and strategic corridors between major assets and 
populations”. “Existing green infrastructure will be protected in a manner that 
reflects its contribution to ecosystem services (including biodiversity, 
landscape/townscape quality, the historic environment, public access, 
recreation and play) and the connectivity of the green infrastructure network. 
Development proposals that will have an impact on woodlands, hedges and 

Page 113



trees will need to include a justification for why this impact cannot be avoided 
and should incorporate measures acceptable to the local planning authority to 
mitigate the loss. Mitigation should be provided on-site or, where this is not 
possible, in the immediate environs of the site.”

8.85 The site initially formed part of the proposed wider Leckhampton Fields Green 
Space put forward for the emerging Cheltenham Local Plan, but this area has 
been reduced in size through the main modifications to the CLP, and it does 
not form part of a designated LGS. The loss of important local green space is 
a concern raised by several objectors. Considerable effort has been devoted 
to the landscape and ecological impact of the proposals on the local area.  
Paragraph 92 of the Inspector’s Report into the emerging Cheltenham Local 
Plan states that “the designation at Leckhampton as modified forms a large 
part of the undeveloped area which would remain between the land allocated 
for 350 new dwellings and the secondary school in Policy MD5 as modified, 
the residential development which is currently under construction west of 
Farm Lane, and the existing built up area. As the remaining area of fields and 
meadows to the south and east of the enlarged site MD5 and the housing 
west of Farm Lane it would form a green wedge into the built up area on the 
fringes of south west Cheltenham.”

8.86 The County Landscape Advisor is still concerned that the proposal represents 
an over development of the site, however he is satisfied that the proposed 
landscaping and mitigation is achievable through the imposition of appropriate 
planning conditions. The biodiversity offset land would further enhance the 
‘green wedge’ of land. In conclusion on landscape issues the CPA considers 
that taking into account the landscape concerns that, in the planning balance, 
the proposal broadly accords with the aims of JCS Policies SD6 and INF3.  

Flood Risk/ Sustainable Drainage 

8.87 The NPPF3 states at Paragraph 155 that “Inappropriate development in areas 
at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from 
areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is 
necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere.”

8.88 JCS (2011-2031) Policy INF2 (Flood Management) states that proposals must 
avoid areas at risk of flooding, in accordance with a risk based sequential 
approach. Proposals must not increase the level of risk to the safety of 
occupiers of a site, the local community or wider environment. Proposals 
should minimise the risk of flooding, taking climate change into account. 

8.89 The NPPF3 goes on the state at Paragraph 163 that “When determining any 
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is 
not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be 
supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment”. 

8.90 A detailed FRA carried out by Hydrock was submitted in support of the 
planning application. The FRA has assessed whether the application site is 

Page 114



likely to be affected by flooding and whether the proposed development is 
appropriate in the suggested location. It has also considered the appropriate 
flood risk mitigation measures, which together with the drainage strategy, sets 
out how the proposed development will deal with storm and foul water 
discharge.

8.91   Environment Agency mapping shows the majority of the site located within 
Flood Zone 1. A small strip along the eastern boundary along the banks of the 
Hatherley Brook is within Flood Zones 2 and 3. In accordance with the 
sequential test approach to the site layout, the proposed school building will 
be located within Flood Zone 1. There will be no building located within Flood 
Zones 2 and 3, although there will be associated infrastructure such as 
footpaths. On this basis the proposal would appear to be in accordance with 
the sequential test. In addition, there will be no development within 5 metres of 
the Hatherley Brook. 

8.92 In order to minimise the risk of flooding and provide resilience to flooding 
when taking into account climate change, the JCS Policy INF2 clarifies that 
new development should incorporate suitable sustainable urban drainage 
systems (SUDS) in order to manage surface water drainage. In support of 
meeting the challenge of climate change and flooding, Paragraph 165 of 
NPPF3 states that development proposals should incorporate SUDS unless 
there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The geological 
constraints have informed the final drainage strategy and SUDS which make 
up the overall surface water management plan for the proposed development. 
The storm water drainage strategy will be modelled to ensure it is adequate 
for a 1 in 100-year storm event plus 40% climate change. The SUDS designs 
in acknowledging the multiple functional benefits that they can deliver, have 
incorporated a series of Swales as part of the new habitat area in the north-
east corner of the application site.

8.93 Following initial concerns expressed by the LLFA regarding discharge rates, 
estimates of the volume of surface water required to be stored and evidence 
that there is space available on site to store it, the Applicant made further 
submissions to address these points. The surface water strategy is to ensure 
that all surface runoff from the new development roof, hardstanding area and 
positively drained field areas is captured and dealt with in accordance with the 
SUDS management plan. 

8.94 A new foul drain is proposed from the site along Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane 
which will convey foul water into the nearest Severn Trent Sewer, located 
north of Kidnappers Lane towards Shurdington Road (A46).The new drain is 
to be adopted by Severn Trent under a S104 Agreement. Severn Tent Water 
raised no objection to the proposed development subject to a condition 
requiring that the development should not commence until drainage plans for 
the disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted to and 
approved by the CPA.

8.95 LWWHPC expressed concern that the proposed drainage scheme could be 
greatly underestimating the run-off and could result in the school being 

Page 115



flooded. These concerns were passed to the LLFA who are satisfied with the 
data collection method and information submitted by the applicant.  

8.96 The LLFA is now satisfied with the proposal, subject to the inclusion of a 
condition to secure the submission of detailed SUDS. Overall flood risk and 
drainage issues are now fully addressed subject to appropriate conditions. 
The CPA is satisfied that the proposal is therefore in accordance with JCS 
(2011-2031) Policy INF2 (Flood Management).

Archaeology

8.97 The NPPF3 provides a framework for conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment, Paragraph 189 states that “in determining applications, local 
planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of 
any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting.” 

8.98 Policy SD8 of the JCS (2011-2031) reinforces that Framework. The 
explanatory text supporting this policy states that “development proposals 
must describe the significance of any heritage assets affected including any 
contribution made by their setting. Where a development site includes, or has 
potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, a desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary a field evaluation must be submitted to the 
planning authority. Developers are required to record and advance 
understanding of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) through 
development and must provide this information to the relevant local authority 
for inclusion in the appropriate Historic Environment Record.”

8.99 Oxford Archaeology were commissioned on behalf of the Applicant to 
undertake an initial desk-based study which concluded that a further field 
evaluation would be required by the County Archaeologist. A trial-trench 
evaluation (agreed with the County Archaeologist) was completed. In 
summary, two distinct and spatially separate archaeological sites were 
identified by the evaluation. An Iron Age and Roman rural settlement is 
located in the north-western part of the site with a series of hollow ways and 
possible stone structural remains identified in the southern field.

 8.100 The County Archaeologist considers that the report on the archaeological 
evaluation provides sufficient information to allow an informed planning 
decision to be made regarding the impact of the proposed development on 
any archaeological remains present on this site. In his view the archaeological 
remains described above are not of the highest significance, so meriting 
preservation. Nevertheless, the remains have the potential to make a 
significant contribution to our understanding of the archaeology of the locality, 
and indeed a wider area. He raises no objection to the proposal subject to a 
planning condition to secure the implementation of the submitted WSI Issue 
No. 2 dated February 2020 to cover the archaeological work necessary on site 
during the construction period. 

Page 116



8.101 The County Planning Authority is satisfied that the proposal accords with the 
requirements of Paragraph 189 of NPPF3 and Policy SD8 of the JCS (2011-
2031).

Heritage Assets 

8.102 Paragraph 190 of NPPF3 states that “Local planning authorities should identify 
and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise. They should take this into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the 
heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.”

8.103 The proposed school site is located approximately 245 m North West of the 
remains of a medieval settlement known as ‘Moated site and fishponds at 
Church Farm’, also known and ‘Leckhampton Moat’ and designated as a 
Scheduled Monument. As advised by the County Archaeologist, Historic 
England (HE) was consulted because this development may therefore have 
the potential to impact on the setting of that Scheduled Monument. The 
monument is located to the north of Church Farm Leckhampton. The 
proposed biodiversity offset land lies immediately to the north of the 
monument.

8.104 In this area the land is rising slowly towards the escarpment, although still 
remains relatively flat. The majority of the built development for the school lies 
to the north of the application site, close to existing properties and proposed 
residential development as apart of the wider Cheltenham developments. The 
playing fields lie to the south closer to the moated site, and these will help to 
retain open views across the landscape. There are several mature intervening 
hedges between the monument and the School site. It is also proposed to 
enhance the landscaping around the School. It is unlikely that the School site 
would be visible from the Scheduled Monument. 

8.105 HE state that “in our view this will cause some harm to the significance of the 
moated site through a change in its setting, reducing the amount of open fields 
associated with the village and moated site. We note that the proposal 
includes ecological mitigation in two fields to the north of the moated site. This 
is welcome as it retains the open fields close to the village. This will preserve 
some of the moats setting and will be an enhancement to the historic 
environment as well as the natural environment. Any development in those 
fields would cause harm to the significance of the heritage asset.” 

8.106 HE state that “although there is some harm to the significance of the heritage 
asset which is contrary to National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
paragraphs193 and 194 that harm is at the lower end of less than substantial 
and it is for you to decide if that harm is outweighed by the public benefits of 
the scheme and the proposed mitigation, as per NPPF Paragraph 196”. 

Page 117



This is something that needs to be taken into consideration in the planning 
balance. Whilst there will be alteration to the overall setting of the heritage 
asset, it is at some distance from the school, with intervening fields, and the 
biodiversity off set land will be an enhancement to the Moated site. With that in 
mind the CPA does not consider that the proposal would be contrary to 
Cheltenham Borough Local Plan Second Review saved Policy BE20 or JCS 
Policy SD8.

Public Rights of Way (PROW)

8.107 Currently, a PROW (Leckhampton Footpath 9) dissects the application site 
west to east, with access afforded from Farm Lane on the western boundary 
and adjoining a separate pathway to the east of the site. Concerning the 
safeguarding of pupils, once the school is operational, the ‘stopping up’ of this 
footpath is proposed as part of this planning application under Section 257 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act).
 

8.108 In addition to the LWWHPC, several objectors are opposed to the proposals to 
stop up the footpath that traverses the site. Early engagement between the 
Applicant and the LWWHPC suggested that diverting the route, would be a 
more palatable option.  In exploring the options to divert the footpath on an 
alternative route both onsite and offsite options have been explored. It was not 
possible to facilitate a diversion within the school site itself due to the site’s 
compact nature, which, when taken together with the need to ensure the 
appropriate safeguarding measures, led the design and project team to 
explore the option of diverting the route off-site. Alternative routes were 
explored, but the response received from one of the landowners concerned 
was not conducive to facilitating the proposed off-site diversion. Regrettably, 
this has left the applicant with the only remaining option of proposing to the 
stopping up the Leckhampton Footpath 9 without a diversion. The Public Path 
Order application was made as part of this planning application and details the 
modest section of the footpath network to be stopped up in order to 
necessitate the safe operation of the new school. 

8.109 The footpath can be temporarily stopped up during the construction process 
for public safety reasons. At the time of writing the report the application to 
stop up the PROW permanently through the Public Path Order application has 
been referred to the Secretary of State. However, the layout of the school 
playing field and sports pitches has been designed in such a way so as to 
accommodate the line of the PROW should it be necessary to retain the line of 
the path, although for the above pupil safeguarding reasons this is not a 
desired outcome for the school. The resolution of the footpath issue may 
require an amendment to the final approved plans to include at least additional 
fencing and gates, and this would require a subsequent application.  A note to 
the applicant can be added to any permission certificate to advise them of this.

Design 

8.110 LWWHPC makes little comment on the overall visual impression of the design 
of the new school building, but suggests that it could be more sympathetic in 

Page 118



style and materials. A number of members of the public have also made 
comments regarding the design of the building.  Further concerns are 
expressed by LWWHPC about the carbon neutrality requirement in that, 
originally, there were no solar panels and a traditional gas boiler based 
heating system was proposed. This is addressed below. Visual appearance 
and design are subjective, and comments on the design from those making 
representations vary from agreeing with the Parish Council, to others stating 
that the building responds positively to local character of the site and its 
setting, enhancing local distinctiveness and providing a modern, high quality 
learning environment. Some of the representations consider that the sports 
facilities were not big enough.

8.111 CBC set out the policy context to design matters in their consultation response 
dated 8th January 2020 and state that “Policy SD4 of the JCS and saved Local 
Plan policy CP7 require development to be of a high standard of architectural 
design that responds positively to and respects the character of the site and 
its surroundings. Policy CO1 of the Saved Local Plan sets out that in 
considering landscape character development will only be permitted where it 
would not harm; (a) the attributes and feature which make a significant 
contribution to the character, distinctiveness, quality and amenity value of the 
landscape; and (b) visual amenity of the landscape. Policy SD6 of the JCS 
seeks to ensure proposals seek to respect landscape character, local 
distinctiveness and historic landscapes and introduces the need for 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments in support of applications. Policy 
SD7 of the JCS seeks to protection of the AONB.”

8.112 The design of a building is very important. As well as being aesthetically 
pleasing, it should blend naturally with its neighbouring structures and be easy 
to use for its occupants. In addition it must meet the Building Regulations. 

There are several aspects to the design of this school: 

 the layout and location of the buildings and pitches within the site, to take 
advantage of the existing topography;

 the physical design of the structures;
 the palette of materials to be used; 
 to meet the needs of the end user; and 
 the surrounding landscaping which should integrate the building into the 

adjoining built and natural environment.

8.113 The Applicant has put very careful consideration into the design of the School, 
both to meet the ambitions of the potential users and to ensure that it is 
sympathetic to the local environment whilst making the best use of the 
available space within the key site constraints.   At the outset a number of 
design options were developed and analysed with the school stakeholder 
scheme.  Early feasibility work tested site layouts in terms of setting sports 
allocations to various site zones, as well as testing the implications of various 
building layouts. The common theme is the siting of the main school building 
towards the northern edges of the site, allowing good connection to the urban 
edge of Cheltenham as well as keeping any traffic links close to Shurdington 

Page 119



Road. The open sports field are then laid out towards the rural and open 
nature of Leckhampton.

8.114 NPPF Paragraph 124 states that “The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.”

8.115 NPPF Paragraph 129 seeks to ensure that Local Authorities: “have access to, 
and make appropriate use of, tools and processes for assessing and 
improving the design of development. These include workshops to engage the 
local community, design advice and review arrangements, and assessment 
frameworks such as Building for Life. These are of most benefit if used as 
early as possible in the evolution of schemes and are particularly important for 
significant projects such as large scale housing and mixed use developments. 
In assessing applications, local planning authorities should have regard to the 
outcome from these processes, including any recommendations made by 
design review panels”

8.116 The local design review panel in this case is the Gloucestershire Design 
Review Panel (GDRP). The GDRP is made of architects, engineers, 
landscape architects, sustainability advisors and planners.  The scheme 
proposals were presented to the GDRP on the 30th April 2019.  In their report 
the GDRP concluded that “The panel felt that the scheme was received at an 
appropriate time in its development to allow sufficient detail to understand the 
proposals but hopefully early enough to enable comments to be incorporated. 
We felt it was generally well designed but there are a few elements which 
require further development which will no doubt occur as the scheme evolves. 
As stated our main concerns are regarding the conflicts in the access to the 
building and how the site levels can be designed to minimise, or better 
respond to, the retaining across the site. Overall the design could provide an 
interesting addition to the local built form and should be celebrated as good 
design with the building viewed in a positive manner both during the day and 
night time.”

8.117 The final design iteration has been informed by and in response to the 
GDRP’s observations. The consultation and presentation made by the 
Applicant to the design panel at an early stage shows the commitment to 
achieving good design to meet central Government’s design objectives as 
reiterated within the NPPF3. 

8.118 JCS Policy SD4 states “ Where appropriate, proposals for development - 
which may be required to be accompanied by a masterplan and design brief - 
will need to clearly demonstrate how the following principles have been 
incorporated:

i. Context, Character and Sense of Place
ii. Legibility and Identity
iii. Amenity and Space

Page 120



iv. Public Realm and Landscape
v. Safety and Security
vi. Inclusiveness and Adaptability
vii. Movement and Connectivity”

8.119 The Applicant submitted a comprehensive Design and Access Statement  
(summarised above)  together with appropriate plans, artists’ impressions, 
elevational and block plans and supporting documents, which demonstrate 
how the above principles have been incorporated.  This has been updated as 
necessary as the design was developed and progressed through the 
application process and to accommodate the subsequent energy efficiency 
improvements recommended by the Council. 

8.120 The Applicant states that “The proposed building massing has been 
considered in its landscape setting and urban definition in terms of creating 
landmarks, terminating vistas, building height and site edge definition.

Key factors include:

 Strong definition of site edge, both on Farm Lane and Kidnappers Lane.
 Building height is in line with form, scale & massing of the local 

Leckhampton developments
 Building height at the Farm Lane & Kidnappers Lane junction increased by 

Main Hall & Sports Hall elevations to architecturally accentuate this 
landmark corner.

 A further architectural element - Colonnade - has been added to draw the 
eye to the pedestrian Plaza, but also then terminate the view. At the same 
time this signifies the main building entrance.

 Along Kidnappers Lane, the length of the elevation has been broken up by 
Sports Hall and Main Hall 'boxes' to add relief and rhythm to the elevation, 
highlight  internal activities and create interest.

 The character of the building changes on the façades facing the sports 
fields, AONB and Leckhampton Hill where emphasis is put into blending 
with landscape”

8.121 The Applicant states that “The material palette has been developed as a 
reflection on local architecture of Leckhampton and wider Cheltenham area 
and to define its identity as modern and vibrant. The materials chosen are 
simple and contemporary. The proposed Cheltenham Secondary School is 
composed of three main materials, brick, timber and metal cladding for the 
main external walls, complimented by refined fenestration patterns. Textured 
buff brick with soft edges and colour variation is used predominately to contain 
teaching accommodation and through the colonnade to frame and highlight 
landmark frontage elevation. The brick is arranged very simply in stack bond 
creating a sharp modern look. The brickwork will be topped by a thin concrete 
coping as a complementary detail. Other features include recessed rainwater 
pipes on the elevation facing Farm Lane. All metal elements: window, doors 
and curtain walling frames and mullions, rainwater goods and metal flashing 
will be coated in the same dark grey colour for a contemporary solution. The 

Page 121



roof will be predominantly bitumen finish in dark grey and in most situations 
will not be visible.” 

8.122 “Timber panelling has been chosen to compliment the brick features 
predominantly at the landmark and significant points of the elevations. This 
includes the main entrance, community entrance, main hall, staff room and 
LRC.”

8.123 “Dark grey-brown metal standing seam cladding is used to contain large 
volume spaces like Main Hall, Sports Hall and Activity Studio. Here, the 
activity inside is projected to elevation via playful arrangement of fenestration. 
The cladding is used to differentiate the spaces from the rest of the school and 
also to break up the large scale of the building into a composition of separate 
volumes.”

8.124 The layout of the site took into account the site levels, constraints and views 
from Leckhampton Hill to the south. The site can be viewed from the footpaths 
and road that cross Leckhampton Hill. The Applicant states that “the proposals 
for the site have been laid out to ensure views of the new School development 
are filtered wherever possible” The site is split into 3 sections, largely 
governed by topography. The AWP lies furthest to the south, with the sports 
fields in the middle and the school building sitting at the lowest point to the 
north. The Applicant states that “by locating the building to the north of the 
area of the site, the built form of the school will assimilate visually into this 
wider built context”.

8.125 The car parking areas are set out adjacent to Farm Lane and Kidnappers 
Lane. The building then separates the open car park to the front from the 
student areas behind. Access and egress have been designed to ensure that 
potential conflict between pedestrians and vehicles are avoided. There are 
three pedestrian access points to the School, connecting with the wider 
footpath network.

8.126 In terms of soft landscaping an all weather MUGA is proposed comprising 3 
basketball courts, 3 tennis and 3 netball courts, all individually marked out and 
colour co-ordinated for clear visibility. Court sizes comply with Sport England 
guidance. Grassed sports pitches, large enough to accommodate the all year 
round sporting curriculum and further south of the grassed sports pitches, a 
full size sand filled astro pitch is proposed. Community access to the astro 
pitch will be via the macadam surfaced footpath along the east boundary from 
the community entrance of the school building.

8.127 Taking into consideration the views of the GDRP and CBC - who state that 
“Overall it is considered that the design and mixture of materials proposed 
would provide a building with architectural interest and is of a good standard 
which responds well to its surroundings,” the CPA considers the proposal 
design generally accords with the principles of the NPPF3 and the 
requirements of JCS Policy SD4 and Saved Local Plan Policy CP7. Overall 
the CPA considers that alongside taking account the various iterations of 
proposals that the proposals provide an acceptable integrated design solution.

Page 122



Amenity impact

8.128 Concern has been expressed by the Parish Councils, together with some local 
residents that there is a lack of mitigation for noise and light pollution both 
during the construction period and from evening use of the all weather pitch, 
and there will be noise and air pollution arising from the traffic generated by 
the site.  Saved Local Plan Policy CP4 advises that development should avoid 
causing unacceptable harm to the amenity of adjoining land users and the 
locality. The policy is consistent with advice set out within adopted JCS Policy 
SD14 and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF. 

8.129 There are several issues arising from a development of this nature which may 
affect the amenity of local residents and these relate to air quality (see below), 
noise and dust during construction and noise once the school opens; and 
lighting, especially for out of hour operations at the school during the winter 
months. CBC recommended the use of appropriate planning conditions to 
control the use of the sports pitches and a restrictive condition with their use 
finishing at 21:00 hours, however this would not allow for evening events at 
the school or maximise the community use of the sports pitch as suggested by 
Sport England. Lighting in respect of ecology is addressed above and sets 
parameters for the use of sports pitches; the proposed lighting constraints for 
ecology will also protect the amenity of the local residents. The sports pitches 
will not be lit or used during unsociable hours.  Sport England has 
recommended a planning condition to secure a Community Use Agreement, 
which will help to regulate the use of the building. The proposal was 
considered by the CBC Environmental Health Officer and The County 
Planning Authority’s Consultant Air Quality Advisor. 

Noise

8.130 Antisocial noise could be generated throughout the construction period and 
then, once the school is operational, during the normal school day by pupils, 
but also through evening use of the site for extra curriculum activities and 
Community use of the sports facilities.  In terms of noise the CBC 
Environmental Health Officer considers that the noise report is satisfactory, 
however he has recommended that a condition be added to ensure that a 
further acoustic assessment is carried out when choosing/installing plant and 
equipment. The Construction Method Statement (CMS) also sets out how the 
considerate contractor should operate on site to regularly maintain vehicles, 
use white noise vehicle reversing alarms and to work between 0800 to 1700 
Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays, with no working on 
Sundays, bank or public holidays. A planning condition is recommended to 
secure appropriate construction period working hours.

8.131 The indoor sports facilities and changing rooms that would be available for 
community use are located to the north east of the site away from the majority 
of residential development along Farm Lane, with associated car parking in 
the staff car park along Kidnappers Lane. The property known as Peace Croft, 
a children’s day nursery is some 50 metres away, and separated by the 

Page 123



Hatherley Brook and a considerable existing mature hedge. School evening 
events that required additional car parking would be facilitated using the 
MUGA for car parking, again away from the main residential areas. The 
outdoor sports facilities including the astro pitch are located at the southern 
end of the field, again away from most residential properties with the exception 
of Little Vatch, where there is an intervening substantial mature hedge. The 
imposition of a condition in line with Sport England recommendations is 
recommended to control the times of day when the sports facilities could be 
used together with the condition suggested by Sport England for a Community 
Use Agreement to be submitted, approved and implemented.

Dust

8.132 The creation of dust and mud can be problems associated with construction 
sites.  A CMS has been submitted in support of the planning application which 
offers appropriate controls for noise, dust and mud during the construction 
period. The CPA’s Consultant Air Quality Advisor has reviewed the Dust 
Management Plan submitted as part of the CEMP and originally considered it 
to be generic in nature and should be made site specific.  A further Dust 
Management Plan was submitted in March 2020, and is considered to address 
the previous issues raised. The CPA’s Consultant Air Quality Advisor states 
that they “are satisfied that that operational air quality impacts do not present a 
material planning concern. Furthermore, given the revisions described above, 
we are satisfied that an appropriate appraisal of potential air quality impacts 
during construction has been completed, and that the appointed construction 
contractor (Keir) is committed to implementing recommended mitigation 
measures for the control of dust.” An appropriate condition is recommended to 
ensure compliance with the CMS and the CEMP to avoid causing 
unacceptable harm to the amenity of adjoining land users and the locality.

Air Quality

8.133 In 2014 CBC produced an Air Quality Action Plan in accordance with its 
statutory duties under the Environment Act 1995 and following the designation 
of the Borough as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2011. The 
Cheltenham AQMA comprises the entire Borough area because five separate 
locations in Cheltenham did not meet the Government’s health based limit for 
the air pollutant nitrogen dioxide, which is a gas formed from fossil fuel 
combustion.

8.134 Concern has been expressed by the Parish Councils, together with some local 
residents that that the methodology of the pollution modelling contained within 
the Air Quality Assessment is flawed. The Air Quality Assessment by Hydrock 
dated July 2019, has been assessed by the CPA’s Consultant Air Quality 
Advisor who considers “the findings of the AQC report to be valid, such that 
the operational air quality impacts assessed associated with the proposed 
development are not significant and do not present a planning concern.”  

8.135 Having taken into consideration the submitted documents and the appropriate 
consultation responses, the CPA considers that, subject to the imposition of 

Page 124



appropriate planning conditions, the proposal is in accordance with Saved 
Local Plan Policy CP4. The Policy advises that development should avoid 
causing unacceptable harm to the amenity of adjoining land users and the 
locality and is consistent with advice set out within adopted JCS Policy SD14 
and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF3.

Energy efficiency and carbon footprint

8.136 NPPF3 Chapter 14, Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change paragraph 148 states “…The planning system should support 
the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account 
of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape places in ways that 
contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise 
vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.”

8.137 NPPF3 Paragraph 150 b) states that “…New development should be planned 
for in ways that can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as 
through its location, orientation and design. Any local requirements for the 
sustainability of buildings should reflect the Government’s policy for national 
technical standards.”

8.138 NPPF3 Paragraph 154: “When determining planning applications for 
renewable and low carbon development, local planning authorities should:

b) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable 
or low carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects 
provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas 
emissions; and

c) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) 
acceptable49. Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon 
energy have been identified in plans, local planning authorities 
should expect subsequent applications for commercial scale 
projects outside these areas to demonstrate that the proposed 
location meets the criteria used in identifying suitable areas.”

8.139 The need for this school was identified in 2016, with the principle of 
establishing a new school approved by Cabinet in December 2017.  On 15th 
May 2019, the Council endorsed the UK Parliament’s declaration of an 
environment and climate change emergency, by committing to an 80% 
reduction in its corporate carbon emissions by no later than 2030 when 
compared to 2005, with a 100% reduction ambition by the same time inclusive 
of carbon off setting; contributing to a carbon neutral County by 2050. On 20th 
December 2019, GCC Cabinet agreed to approve the Gloucestershire Climate 
Change Strategy 2019/2020 to 2024/2025 incorporating an immediate action 
plan, and to endorse the Gloucestershire Climate Change manifesto. The 
2019/2020 to 2024/2025 strategy sets out an immediate action plan for 
delivery by April 2020 and a suite of medium and long term measures that are 
to be implemented as part of a five year rolling programme, to be reviewed 
and updated annually. However the planning application had been submitted 

Page 125



in August 2019 with the majority of the design work carried out before the 
declaration of the climate emergency.

8.140 In response to the Council’s declared climate change emergency the 
Applicant’s Design Team were tasked with undertaking a review of the 
sustainability/energy strategy for the proposed school. The Applicant 
appointed Hydrock to provide planning stage advisory services in relation to 
the design and construction of the proposed development of the School (for 
details see Paragraph 2.69 of this report.) Neither the CPA nor CBC have 
specific planning policies setting out targets for carbon reduction. The 
Applicant states that “in order to inform the design, the approach taken by 
other local authorities has been considered, where up to date policies exist 
other local authorities seek an improvement of 20% compared to current 
Building Regulation standards. In line with the education authorities’ 
aspirations at that time, the design of the school at this stage was already 
designed to offer significant enhancements on current standards (the Building 
Regulations 2013). Indeed, the submitted scheme being designed using the 
principles of ‘fabric first’ (passive design principles are prioritised over 
technology. So reducing energy consumption by increasing insulation, 
reducing heat loss and air filtration and using heat from the sun is considered 
before deciding to create energy using solar panels or wind energy). This 
achieved an improvement upon part L of the Building Regulations of circa 
16%.”

8.141 In response to the climate change emergency, the Applicant’s Design Team 
were instructed to review the proposals and make recommendations to the 
client as to further enhancements could be achieved without fundamentally 
altering the building design. The Design Team in discussion with the 
Education Authority suggested a target of 25% improvement beyond current 
building regulations. The result was that the design team went beyond this aim 
and achieved an overall reduction of approximately 32%. These measures in 
terms of passive design, form and fabric, ventilation, photovoltaics etc. have 
been incorporated into the design of the building and the plans and 
documents amended accordingly.

8.142 In response, the Applicant’s Design Team have recommended that further 
improvements can be achieved by the provision of PV array at roof level 
coupled with ASHP (in lieu of the gas boilers originally proposed). The 
provision of ASHP and PV, coupled with the ‘fabric first’ design will now 
achieve a building which will achieve a minimum on-site reduction of over 
25%, therefore beyond the targets in the current Building Regulations (Part 
L2A - 2013). Indeed, the design engineer’s assessment achieves an overall 
reduction of approximately 32%. (This achieves an ‘A’ rated energy 
performance certificate). This will assist in contributing toward meeting the 
Council’s and Education Authority’s zero carbon aspirations. 

8.143 The roof of the School has been redesigned to accommodate the photovoltaic 
array and can accommodate more at a later date should that be necessary. 
The potential for glint and glare arising from this development is discussed 
above (Paragraphs 8.80 to 8.82). 

Page 126



8.144 The CPA considers that the design of the proposed new School, through the 
use of appropriate materials and technology together with innovative design, 
has met the requirements of Paragraph 150 (b) of the NPPF3 which seeks to 
ensure that “new development should be planned for in ways that can help to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, orientation 
and design.” This is a significant amendment to the proposals in order to 
contribute towards meeting the Council’s Climate Change Strategy.

8.145 However, the school building itself is not the only consideration when looking 
at climate change. This proposal will also involve the extensive removal of 
woody and other vegetation which represents a significant biodiversity as well 
as carbon loss. The loss will occur as a result of tree and hedge removal 
across the site and on highway verges where road and footway /cycleway 
improvements will take place. Notwithstanding the proposed ecological 
mitigation on land adjacent to Moat Cottages, the overall outcome is that there 
will be a net loss of biodiversity across the site and surrounding highway 
verges. It is acknowledged that this is a negative contribution to the Climate 
Change Strategy and is considered in more detail under the section on 
ecological impact in paragraphs 8.50 to 8.72 above.   

Waste minimisation and management

8.146 WCS Policy WCS2 seeks to ensure that all development incorporates the 
principles of waste minimisation. The policy states that “Planning applications 
for 'major' development must be supported by a statement setting out how any 
waste arising during the demolition, construction and subsequent occupation 
of the development will be minimised and managed.” 

As part of the design and construction of the proposed Cheltenham 
Secondary School by the contractor Kier, all aspects of minimising the amount 
of waste materials that will be created by the construction stage in terms of the 
ways that the generation of waste can be reduced and in the ways that those 
waste products are recycled or reused. The statement of waste minimisation 
submitted in support of the planning application is considered to be in 
accordance with WCS policy WCS2.

Community Engagement.

8.147 Throughout the design development of the Cheltenham Secondary School 
proposal the Applicant’s Design Team has worked to ensure that the project 
has undergone a strong and rigorous consultation process. This has resulted 
in a design that has taken on the requirements and aspirations of a wide 
group in invested stakeholders, from the eventual building managers, the 
GDRP's fellow professional designers and, of course, the end users, the local 
community and their Parish Councillors. The Design Team also appreciated 
being able to present the proposal directly to CBC’s Planning Department. An 
offer was made to make a similar presentation to the County Council’s 
Planning Committee but this was declined as it may have compromised 

Page 127



Members’ ability to make a decision when the application was presented at 
Planning Committee.

8.148 The community consultation undertaken fell into 3 main categories:

 Consultation with the school building end users: Developing the design 
through a series of Client Engagement Meetings with associated 
stakeholders, the GCC Project Management Team and The Balcarras 
Academy Trust.

 Peer Review with fellow professional designers: Engagement with the 
GDRP and presentations to CBC’s Planning Department. 

 Community Engagement: two community engagement events -
presenting the scheme to the local community together with a series of 
meetings discussing the proposals with the site's local Parish 
Councillors.

8.149 The Applicant submitted a document explaining how the community had been 
engaged and how their responses had been taken into consideration in 
finalising the submitted scheme. The comments received from interested 
parties allowed consideration of the design quality during the evolution of the 
schools design. The broad range of opinions expressed provided invaluable 
insight and while it was clear that opinion was wide-ranging, from strong 
support (31%) to strong objection (31%), with a majority (38%) being neutral. 
The strong supporters and neutral respondents were generally accepting that 
a school is required in this location. The public engagement events helped 
clarify expectations and reconcile the design constraints.

Other issues.

8.150 Other issues that have been raised by the Parish Councils or members of the 
public relate to the quality of the planning application, the financial advantage 
of the County Council, the Council not being impartial in determining its own 
planning applications and concerns with the community use of the associated 
sports facilities. 

8.151 Concern has been expressed that the application was of a poor quality, only 
available to view on line, that there was too much information, it was difficult to 
find and no paper copies were available. Comments regarding the quality and 
quantity of the submissions are noted, but it is a subjective judgement. The 
application met the statutory requirements and those contained within the 
CPA’s validation checklist. The quantity of information provided is directly 
proportional to the complexity of the planning application. In this instance there 
was a lot of information to be gathered and presented to satisfy statutory 
consultees. As with most organisations, GCC is moving towards a paperless 
office, planning consultations are undertaken where they can through largely 
electronic means to avoid the cost of postage and for efficiency and accuracy 
in order responses are made electronically. CBC does not wish to receive 
paper copies of planning applications and makes appropriate facilities 
available for members of the public to view applications electronically. The 
CPA does print a paper copy and it can be made available for the public to 

Page 128



see during normal office hours at Shire Hall (prior to the CV-19 restrictions). 
No requests were made to view the paper copy. 

8.152 It is not considered that GCC has a financial advantage in using land already 
in its ownership for this scheme. As described above, the site selection 
process identified several sites, some of which were in the County Council’s 
ownership. Most were ruled out because of the potential planning constraints 
present, whilst the site to the north of the current application site would have to 
have been purchased through the compulsory purchase route which would 
have resulted in uncertainties in delivering the School within the required 
timeframe, as discussed earlier in this report.

8.153 Planning applications for development by GCC on land owned or under the 
control of GCC or on land in which GCC has a substantial interest must be 
dealt with under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992. These applications are processed, considered and 
determined in the same way as any other application.  Arguably the CPA is 
more robust in dealing with its own development to ensure transparency and 
complete impartiality in the process.

8.154 The availability of new community sporting facilities in the area is considered 
in principle to be a welcome addition.

Human Rights 

8.155 From 2nd October 2000, the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of 
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. 
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for 
private and family life and Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  Article 8 also provides that there shall be 
no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except in the 
interests of national security, public safety, or the economic well-being of the 
country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or 
morals, or for the protection of the freedom of others. 

8.156 With the exception of the objections expressed by Leckhampton with Warden 
Hill, Up Hatherley and Shurdington Parish Councils no objections have been 
received from a statutory consultee.  Concerns about the ecological impact 
have been expressed by the County Ecologist, and these do relate in part to 
legal matters considered within Natural England standing orders when 
consider protected wildlife. There have been 45 objections received from local 
residents concerned with the loss of amenity due to increased traffic on local 
roads, increased parking by parents and an increase in air pollution, design of 
the school buildings, location and need for the school, landscape and 
ecological impact, loss of the public footpath and flooding potential. In addition 
there have been 62 supporting letters and 14 neutral comments.  For the 
reasons set out in the Planning Considerations above it is not considered that 
the granting of planning permission would result in any breach of Convention 
rights.  Even if there was to be an interference with Convention rights then, in 
this case, it is considered that the interference would be justified in the 

Page 129



interests of economic well-being and to be a proportionate and balanced 
decision.  Accordingly, it is considered that it would not be unlawful to grant 
planning permission for this development.

  
Summary Reasons for the recommendation to Grant of Planning 
Permission

8.157 The proposal is for the construction of a new secondary school to meet the 
demand for school places in an area identified as having an acute shortage of 
secondary school places with a shortfall predicted by 2021 of 180 Year 7 
places. The School, when at full capacity, will provide education to some 900 
pupils on a site within the urban area of Cheltenham and therefore within the 
potential school catchment area to be served. The Applicant has, in the 
opinion of the CPA, justified the need for the proposal in accordance with 
Paragraph 94 of the NPPF3 and Policy SP1 of the JCS.

8.158 The location of the school was established through a sequential test 
identifying alternative sites of an appropriate size in the vicinity, both within 
and outside GCC’s ownership. This site was selected because in planning 
terms it was considered to be reasonably unconstrained and furthermore 
could accommodate a new 6FE school, including all necessary supporting 
facilities and play space, etc. The site has been included within the proposed 
modifications of the emerging Cheltenham Local Plan, which the Inspector has 
recommended for adoption. Therefore the application site falls within a 
proposed allocation for its intended use, which is a material consideration of 
great weight in the opinion of the CPA. 

8.159 The affected Parish Councils and some public have expressed concern with 
regard to the highways impact upon the local area. The Applicant submitted a 
Transport Assessment with subsequent additional amendments and 
information and an associated draft Travel Plan, which identifies the various 
transport issues and proposed mitigation relating to the proposed 
development. The HA is satisfied that the impact on the highway network has 
been assessed and found to be manageable, the accesses are acceptable 
and the pedestrian and cycling routes to and from the School will be upgraded 
as far as possible depending upon geometric restrictions. It is acknowledged 
that the school development will create some additional transport impact 
however these matters have been considered acceptable by the HA subject to 
the attachment of appropriate conditions. Therefore the CPA considers that 
these matters can be considered acceptable in the overall balance of the 
proposals. 

8.160 The County Ecologist has reviewed the proposal together with the suggested 
mitigation including the offset ecological mitigation land to the rear of Moat 
Cottage. In his conclusion, he states there are adverse impacts on protected 
species including notably dormice and bats. He advises that there is an 
important legal consideration because the CPA must not consent the 
development if there is doubt as to whether Natural England would grant the 
required European Protected Species licences. However it the CPA’s view the 

Page 130



submitted CEMP and LEMP contains sufficient measures to satisfy Natural 
England. 

8.161 Work for the removal of any tree, shrub and hedge removal on site requires a 
licence from Natural England and cannot begin until a licence has been 
granted.  The ecological impact of the proposal and suggested mitigation 
measures will be further reviewed when Natural England consider the licence 
application. 

8.162 The landholding forming the school application was based upon standard 
formula at the time the school proposal was first promoted in 2017, prior to 
new standards for ecology and carbon neutrality being adopted. The Applicant 
has achieved the best mitigation that can be achieved within the confines of 
the site. In normal circumstances the CPA would consider that these matters 
should be fully resolved and understood once the determination is made. 
Clearly the additional off set land is a critical part of the mitigation that is 
provided along with the CEMP and LEMP and which it is hoped will be 
sufficient in obtaining successful licencing arrangements from Natural 
England. The potential ecological loss and landscape impact have to be 
measured against the need for the new school, the proposed mitigation 
measures and the timescale within which that school needs to start receiving 
pupils. The CPA considers that on balance, from the information submitted in 
support of the planning application and taking into consideration the 
consultation responses and representations received, that the potential for 
ecological loss is outweighed by the overriding need for the new school. 
However this does require a significant set of conditions attached and the 
completion of a S.106 Agreement to ensure the mitigation measures can be 
delivered, maintained and safeguarded.

8.163 The amenity impact of the proposal through the construction period can be 
controlled through the Construction Management Plan secured through an 
appropriate planning condition. The potential impact from other issues which 
may impact upon residential amenity such as community use, and lighting can 
also be addressed through planning conditions.

8.164 Design and visual appearance is a subjective matter. However it is considered 
that the proposed school will provide a modern educational facility designed to 
meet the requirements of its users.

8.165 Paragraph 47 of the NPPF3 states that planning law requires that applications 
for planning permission be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Decisions on 
applications should be made as quickly as possible, and within statutory 
timescales unless a longer period has been agreed by the applicant in writing. 
Paragraph 48 states that local planning authorities may give weight to relevant 
policies in emerging plans. The draft Cheltenham Local Plan has reached a 
stage where the Inspector has recommended its adoption including Policy 
MD5. It is therefore considered that emerging Policy MD5 can be given 
considerable weight in this determination.  The CPA does not consider that 
this proposal would prejudice the ability to deliver the full mixed use allocation 

Page 131



of MD5. It is however recognised that this proposal is a departure from the 
adopted Development Plan as it currently stands and therefore will have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State for their consideration.

8.166 Accepting that:

• there is a demonstrated need for a school in this location;
• that there are no suitable and deliverable alternative sites within the 

required timeframe; 
• the proposed school has been included in the draft emerging local 

plan;  
• the design of the school and its surroundings has maximised the 

energy efficiency and reduced the carbon footprint to realistic and 
achievable levels in accordance with the recent GCC’s Climate 
change emergency, declared after the planning application was 
brought together; 

• given the constraints of the size of the site as much as is possible has 
been achieved to safeguard and enhance biodiversity, acknowledging 
protected species on site and the concerns highlighted and to be 
addressed  around those issues by the County Ecologist ;

• highway issues have been addressed to the satisfaction of the HA; 
and 

• with the exception of the concerns of the Parish Councils, there are no 
objections to the proposal from statutory consultees that, in the 
opinion of the CPA, cannot be addressed through planning conditions,  
and therefore on balance there are no planning reasons why this 
application should be refused.

Positive and Proactive Statement

8.167 In determining this planning application, the CPA has worked with the 
Applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to 
any potential problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning 
application by liaising with consultees and the agent, and by discussing 
outcomes, findings and comments with the applicant where considered 
appropriate or necessary.  This approach has been taken positively and 
proactively in accordance with the requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) (Amendment No.2) Order 2012.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
                    
8.1 That the Planning Committee be minded to grant planning permission for the 

reasons summarised in paragraphs 8.157 to 8.166 subject to the application 
being first referred to the Secretary of State as requested by him to consider 
as a departure application from the adopted local plan, the prior completion of 
a S106 planning agreement to secure the long term safeguarding of the 
ecological mitigation land to the rear of Moat Cottage and in accordance with 
Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 
and subject to the following conditions: 

Page 132



Commencement 

1 The development hereby authorised shall begin not later than the expiration of 
3 years from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of 
commencement shall be sent to the County Planning Authority within 7 days 
of such commencement.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

Scope of the Development

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application form, its accompanying documentation, and the 
approved drawings except as varied by other condition(s) of this consent as 
follows: 

000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-RP-A-0001-AP Design and Access Statement( August 2019)
000893-AHR-XX-00-GA-A-2001 – P1 Ground Floor Plan
000893-AHR-XX-RF-G A-A-2001-AP  P2 Roof Plan
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-E E-A-2003-AP P2 Elevations
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-E E-A-2031-AP P1 Detail Façade Study -Farm Lane- Teaching Wing
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-E E-A-2032-AP P1 Detail Facade Study - Farm Lane - Main 

Entrance & Admin
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-E E-A-2033-AP P1 Detail Facade Study - Kidnappers Lane - Main 

Hall
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-R P-A-0001-AP P1 Design and Access Statement 
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-S E-A-2001-AP P1 Sectional Elevations 01 - West
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-S E-A-2002-AP P2 Sectional Elevations 02 - East
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-S E-A-2003-AP P1 Sectional Elevations 03 - South
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-S E-A-2004-AP P2  Sectional Elevations 04 - North
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-S E-A-2005-AP P1 Site Sections
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2001-AP P3 Artists Impression 01 - View of Main Entrance 

Approach from Farm Lane
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2002-AP P2 Artists Impression 02 - View of Main Entrance
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2003-AP P2 Artists Impression 03 - View of the Entrance 

Colonnade
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2004-AP P2 Artists Impression 04 - View of Community 

Entrance
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2005-AP P2 Artists Impression 05 - View of the Courtyard
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2006-AP P2 Artists Impression 06 - View of the Covered 

Dining
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2007-AP P2 Artists Impression 07 - View of Teaching Block
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2008-AP P2 Artists Impression 08 - View from Sports Pitches
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2009-AP P3 Artists Impression 09 - Site & 3D Massing 01
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2010-AP P3 Artists Impression 10 - Site & 3D Massing 02
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2011-AP P3 Artists Impression 11 - Site & 3D Massing 03
000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2012-AP P3 Artists Impression 12 - Site & 3D Massing 04

Page 133



000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-V S-A-2013-AP P3 Artists Impression 13 - Site & 3D
T19002-HYD-R-C-0002 P01 Sustainable Drainage System Strategy 

24/02/2020
CSS ASHP WithPV_brukl Report on air source heat pumps and 

photovoltaics -  BRUKL output Document
11689-HYD-XX-ZZ-RP-ME-0003  Hydrock Energy statement  - PV + photovoltaics 

000893-HYD-XX-XX-D RE-8000 P09
Lighting Details-electrical services external 
lighting lux plot

Construction Method V2 March 2020) Statement
P19-0501 01 Rev A  28/02/2020 Location Plan sheets 1 &2
P19-0501 02 Proposals Rev B 4/02/2020 Landscape Masterplan 
P19-0501 03 Rev A Vegetation Retention Protection & Removal plan 
P19-0501 04 Hard landscape Proposals
P19-0501 05 Boundaries and Fencing
P19-0501_06_1 to 7 Rev A Planting Plan and Schedule
CTP-18-102 SK02 Rev H Offsite Key Works Plan
CTP-18-102 SK03 Rev E Off Site Works Sheet 1of7
CTP-18-102 SK04 Rev G Off Site Works Sheet 2of7
CTP-18-102 SK05  Rev H Off Site Works Sheet 3 of 7
CTP-18-102 SK06  Rev G Off Site Works Sheet 4of7
CTP-18-102 SK07 Rev E Off Site Works Sheet 5of7
CTP-18-102 SK08 Rev H Off Site Works Sheet 6of7
CTP-18-102 SK09 Rev F Off Site Works Sheet 7of7
CTP-18-102 SK10 RevD Access Visibility
CTP-18-102 SK13 Rev C A46 Traffic Calming
CTP-18-102 SP08 Rev B Swept Paths A46 Junction Works
CTP-18-102 SP09 Rev A Swept Paths Road Narrowing
VRP1098 - RSA 1 Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (September 2019)
PROW Supporting Statement PROW Supporting Statement
CHESC-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-7020 P09 Cut and Fill Sections
CHESC-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-7022 P10 Cut and Fill Sections
CHESC-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-7023 P10 Cut and Fill Sections
R9092 Geo Environmental Report
Air Quality Assessment Report (August 2019)
J3837A/2/F2 AQA Construction Dust Assessment

Western Power - area plan diversions Plan showing diversion of electrical supply 
crossing site 26/04/2019

Archaeology WSI  for post approval further investigations (February 2020)
GN2019011A_PEA_Protected_Species 
report v5

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal & Protected 
Species Report

GN2019011Fv1
Ecology - Leckhampton (offsite)Highways Prelim 
Ecological Appraisal

K.3235_AS/AIA_ACU_REV1_Aug 19)
Arboricultural impact assessment addendum 
(offsite)

GN2019011H_CEMP (March 2020) Construction Ecology Management Plan 
T19002-HYD-R-C-0002 _24.02.2020 SuDs strategy 
Drawing Number T19002-HYD-00-XX-
RD-C-7004 Drainage strategy 
T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7002 Drainage strategy 
P19-0501_01_2A landscaping details 
P19-0501_01_01A landscaping details 
P19-0501_09 Landscape  Site Sections (kidnappers Lane)

Page 134



P19-0501_08 Landscape Site Sections (Farm Lane) 
P19-0501_07 Landscape Site Sections (Wildlife & Habitat

P19-0501_11 
Off Site Highways Improvement Works – 
Landscape Proposals 

P19-0501_10 
Land Adjacent to Moat Cottages - Ecological 
Mitigation drawing

211_002 Highway street lighting offsite calculation report 
J3837_B F2  March 2020 Construction dust assessment 
GN2019011H_CEMP_ Leckhampton 
2020 v3

Construction Ecology Management Plan (CEMP) 
11/03/2020

K.3235_AIA CSS Leckhampton (Main 
site and Highways) Addendum Feb 2020

Arboricultural Impact assessment - offsite 
highway works and main site updates 

P19-0501 01_1A Location Plan Revised location plan
P19-0501 01_2A Location Plan revised location plan

P19-0501-12 LEMP
Landscape and ecology management plan 
(LEMP) 02/2020

SP1187 Rev 1 CSS Leckhampton Farm 
Lane Lighting Impact Report All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 2.m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 2.m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 0m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 0m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 10m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 10m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 5m All weather pitch lighting design 
SP1187 Rev 1 Leckhampton Lane_200 
Lux Philips at 5m All weather pitch lighting design 

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
submitted details and for the avoidance of doubt.

Construction hours of working

3 No construction works authorised by this permission shall be carried out on 
site except between the following hours: 

08.00 to 17.00 hours Monday to Friday.
08.00 to 13:00 Saturday

No construction work related to the development shall take place on Sundays, 
Bank or Public Holidays.

The term ‘construction work’ shall, for purpose of clarification of this condition 
include: the use of any plant or machinery (mechanical or other), the carrying 
out of any maintenance/cleaning work on any plant or machinery, deliveries to 
and from the site and the movement of construction vehicles within the 
curtilage of the site.

Page 135



Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Saved 
Policy CP4 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan and Joint Core Strategy 
Policy SD14.

Highways

4. Throughout the construction period of the development hereby permitted 
provision shall be made within the site that is sufficient to accommodate the 
likely demand generated for the following:

i. parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development;
iv. provide for wheel washing facilities.

Reason: To reduce the potential impact on the public highway and 
accommodate the efficient delivery of goods and to ensure that the adjoining 
public highway is kept free from mud and debris in accordance with Paragraph 
108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

5. Prior to commencement of any highway works the subject of any ensuing 
S278 Highway Works Agreement for the site, the Applicant is required to 
establish and maintain, and keep maintained for the duration of those highway 
works, a ‘Residents Liaison Group’ (“RLG”) to comprise of one representative 
each from:

i. The Applicant/Developer
ii. The County Council as Highway Authority
iii. The County Council as County Planning Authority 
iv. A Local Residents representative
v. A Parish Representative
vi. A Local Councillor

Reason: In the interests of seeking to protect the residential amenities of the 
occupiers of the neighbouring properties and in accordance with Saved Local 
Plan policy CP4, Joint Core Strategy Policy SD14

6. The vehicle routeing strategy as submitted T1902/Site logistics/03 
(02/07/2019) (Construction Method Statement, Appendix A, March 2020) shall 
be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: To reduce the potential impact on the public highway and 
accommodate the efficient delivery of goods in accordance with Paragraph 
110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 136



7. The details contained within the submitted interim travel plan shall form the 
basis of a detailed Travel Plan to be submitted for the written approval of the 
County Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the development 
hereby approved. The detailed Travel Plan shall commence with a base study 
with the achieved results and targets being annually monitored and reviewed 
with the results being submitted the County Planning Authority by the 31st 
December each year for their approval in writing. The detailed Travel Plan 
shall be implemented as approved from the first occupation of the school 
building.

Reason: The development will generate a significant amount of movement 
and to ensure that the appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable 
transport modes are taken up in accordance with Paragraphs 108 and 111 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

8. No building on the development site shall be occupied until the carriageways, 
including surface water drainage/disposal, vehicular turning heads and street 
lighting providing access from the nearest public highway have been 
completed to at least binder course level and the footways to surface course 
level.

Reason: - To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and 
cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with Paragraphs 108 and 110 the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

9. Prior to first occupation of the proposed development hereby permitted the 
first 10 metres of the proposed access road, including the junction with the 
existing public road and associated visibility splays, shall be completed to at 
least binder course level.

Reason: - To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and 
cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with Paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

10. With the exception of the archaeological investigation works as detailed in 
condition 22 and within the agreed WSI,  no above ground works shall 
commence on site until a scheme has been submitted to, and agreed in 
writing by the Council, for the provision of fire hydrants (served by mains water 
supply) and no part of the development shall be occupied until the hydrant 
serving that part of the development has been provided to the satisfaction of 
the County Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site for 
the local fire service to access and tackle any fire in accordance with 
paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 137



11. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle 
storage facilities have been made available for use in accordance with the 
approved plan and those facilities shall be maintained and made available 
thereafter for that purpose at all times thereafter.  

Reason: To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle 
parking is provided, to promote cycle use and to ensure that the appropriate 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up in 
accordance with Paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

12. The buildings hereby permitted (or part of building where phased handover is 
required) shall not be occupied until the vehicular parking, turning and 
loading/unloading facilities have been provided in accordance with the 
approved plans and those facilities shall be maintained and made available for 
those purposes at all times thereafter (insofar as the vehicular parking, turning 
and loading/unloading facilities are required to serve the occupied part of the 
building).

Reason: To ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all 
people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the Paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Landscaping 

13. For the first five years, an annual landscape inspection by the Applicant and a 
suitably qualified Landscape Architect of the approved and implemented 
landscaping scheme shall take place each year for the duration of the LEMP.  
Thereafter the landscape inspection should take place every three years. A 
report with appropriate mitigation measures should be  prepared and 
submitted for the written approval of the County Planning Authority.  

Reason: To ensure the implementation of the LEMP to ensure the successful 
establishment and development of the landscape to meet landscape, visual 
and ecological mitigation requirements and provide for the expected 
biodiversity gain.

14. Any tree or shrub forming part of a landscaping scheme approved in 
connection with the development that dies, is damaged, diseased or removed 
within the duration of 5 years during and after the completion of the 
development (operations) shall be replaced during the next available planting 
season (October to March inclusive) with others of a similar size and species 
in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity and amenity is conserved and in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 8, 170 and 
175. 

Building Materials

Page 138



15. Prior to the construction of above ground works details and samples of the 
materials to be used for the external appearance of the building(s) shall be 
submitted for the written approval of the County Planning Authority. The 
details shall be based on  the external building materials and the finishes 
detailed in section 5 of the submitted Design and Access Statement  000893-
AHR-XX-ZZ-RP-A-0001-AP-P1 (August 2019)Only the external building 
materials and the finishes detailed in section 5 of the submitted Design and 
Access Statement 000893-AHR-XX-ZZ-RP-A-0001-AP-P1 (August 2019) shall 
be used in the development. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
Saved Policy CP7 of the Cheltenham Borough Local Plan.

Water and Drainage 

16. The drainage plan drawing no.: T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001 Rev P08 for 
the disposal of foul and surface water flows shall be implemented in full as 
approved by the County Planning Authority before any part the development is 
first brought into use. 

Reasons: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory 
means of drainage as well as to prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding 
issues and to minimise the risk of pollution and in accordance with Joint Core 
Strategy Policy INF2.

Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS)

17. With the exception of the archaeological investigation works as detailed in 
condition 22 and within the agreed WSI, no development shall commence on 
site until a detailed Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) Strategy document 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority, this should be in accordance with the proposal set out in the 
applicant’s submission (T19002-HYD-R-C-0002 and T19002-HYD-00-XX-DR-
C-7001, P09). The SuDS Strategy must include a detailed design and 
maintenance schedule. The SuDS Strategy must also demonstrate the 
technical feasibility/viability of the drainage system through the use of SuDS to 
manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the measures taken to 
manage the water quality for the life time of the development. The approved 
SuDS Strategy shall be carried out in full and in accordance with the approved 
details before the development is first put in to use/occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage and thereby preventing the risk of flooding. It is important that these 
details are agreed prior to the commencement of development as any works 
on site could have implications for drainage, flood risk and water quality in the 
locality.

Sports Pitches

Page 139



18. No works shall commence until details of the design and layout of the artificial 
grass pitches and MUGA have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the County Planning Authority. The artificial grass pitches and MUGA shall not 
be constructed other than in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Joint Core Strategy Policies SD3 and INF4.

Community Use Agreement

19. Within 9 months of the date of this permission, a binding community use 
agreement prepared in consultation with Sport England shall be submitted for 
the written approval of the County Planning Authority. The agreement shall 
apply to the use of the Sports Hall, associated changing facilities, activity 
studio, all weather pitch, sports playing field, and Multi Use Games Area 
(MUGA) and include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by non-
educational establishment users, management responsibilities and a 
mechanism for review. The approved community use agreement shall be 
entered into by the user of the development prior to first occupation thereof  
and the development shall not be used otherwise than in strict compliance 
with the approved community use agreement.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of local residents and to secure well 
managed safe community access to the sports facility/facilities, to ensure 
sufficient benefit to the development of sport and to accord with Joint Core 
Strategy Policy INF4.

20. Before the artificial grass pitches are brought into use, a Management and 
Maintenance Scheme for the facility including management responsibilities, a 
maintenance schedule and a mechanism for review shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The said scheme shall 
contain measures to ensure the replacement of the Artificial Grass Pitch within 
the manufacturer’s recommended period. The measures set out in the 
approved scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from 
commencement of use of the artificial grass pitches.

Reason: To ensure that a new facilities are capable of being managed and 
maintained to deliver facilities which are fit for purpose, sustainable and to 
ensure sufficient benefit of the development to sport and to accord with Joint 
Core Strategy Policy INF4.

Lighting 

21. All non-essential lighting on the school site shall be turned off every night by 
no later than 22:00 hours to 06:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, and 20:00  to 
06.00 hours Saturdays, Sundays and Bank / Public Holidays.  

Reason:  In the interests of seeking to protect the residential amenities of the 
occupiers of the neighbouring properties and in accordance with Saved Local 
Plan policy CP4, Joint Core Strategy Policy SD14.

Page 140



Archaeology.

22. The approved Written Scheme of Investigation for Archaeological Excavation 
Issue no.2 by Oxford Archaeology dated February 2020, shall be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details throughout the construction period of 
the school building and associated ground works. 

Reason: The programme of archaeological work makes provision for the 
investigation and recording of any archaeological remains that may be 
destroyed by ground works required for the scheme. The archaeological 
programme will advance understanding of any heritage assets which will be 
lost, in accordance with Paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Construction Method Statement

23. The submitted Construction Method Statement (Appendix v) and 
supplementary Construction Dust Assessment by Air Quality Consultants 
dated March 2020 shall be implemented and adhered to for the duration of the 
development works including any demolition works.

Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of the area in accordance with 
Policy SD14 of the Joint Core Strategy.  

Noise

24 Atmospheric noise emissions from any items of fixed building plant or 
equipment installed at the school site shall not exceed the criteria outlined in 
Table 6 of the submitted Acoustic Report by Hydrock (5/7/2019) when 
assessed in accordance with BS 2142:2014 to the nearest noise sensitive 
receptor, which are equal to the prevailing background noise levels. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of adjoining land users and in accordance with 
Saved Local Plan Policy CP4, Joint Core Strategy Policy SD14 and Paragraph 
127 of the NPPF.

Ecology 

25. Prior to commencement of any tree, shrub and hedgerow removal on site or 
associated highways, except for imperative safety reasons, the County 
Planning Authority must be provided with either:

a. Evidence that a bat licence and a dormouse licence has been 
issued by Natural England pursuant to The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorising 
the activities of the development can go ahead; or

Page 141



b. a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect 
that it does not consider that the activities of the development will 
require a licence.

Reason: To ensure that certain activities in certain areas liable to cause harm 
to a European Protected Species will not likely to be in breach of the Habitats 
Regulations 2017 (as amended). This is also in accordance with ODPM 
Circular 06/2005.

26. With the exception of the archaeological investigation works as detailed in 
condition 22 and within the agreed WSI, no development shall take place until 
an Arboricultural Method Statement based on the details of tree and shrub 
removal, retention and protection as set out within the submitted drawings 
BHA_667_02A Rev. A and BHA_667_03A Rev. A are submitted to and 
approved in writing by the County Planning Authority and then implemented as 
approved. All protective structures installed shall be maintained until 
construction work has been completed. No materials, soils, or equipment shall 
be stored under the canopy of any retained tree or hedgerow within the 
application site unless indicated otherwise in the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity and amenity is conserved and in 
accordance with Joint Core Strategy Policy SD9, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus 
National Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs 8, 170 and 175. This is also 
in accordance with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local 
Authorities.

27. Notwithstanding condition 21 above, prior to occupation and beneficial use of 
the development a final Exterior Lighting Scheme for the site and the 
immediately adjacent highways subject to facilitating works should be 
submitted for the written approval of the County Planning Authority. The said  
scheme is to be based on draft drawing External Lighting Lux Plot 000893-
HYD-XX-XX-DR-E-8000 Rev. P04, the Lighting Impact Assessment report by 
Neil Johnson and the Outdoor Lighting report by Lighting Reality Ltd. External 
lighting to be implemented is to be restricted as follows:

(a) Any LEDs used must not exceed a colour temperature of 3,000K;
(b) The MUGA should not be illuminated to more than an average of 200 

lux;
(c) All non-essential lighting on the school site must be switched off 

between 22:00 and 06:00 hours throughout the year; 
(d) Adjacent highways lighting must be dimmed between the hours of 

22:00 and 05:30 throughout the year; and in addition;
(e) Floodlighting for the multi-use games area must be switched off 

between the hours of 20:30 and 05:40 from April to October inclusive 
plus between the hours of 21:30 and 06:00 from November to March 
inclusive;

Page 142



The approved Exterior Lighting Scheme shall be implemented for the duration 
of the development hereby permitted and maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s recommendations and scheme details.

Reason: To conserve amenity and ensure that bats, dormice, otters and 
badgers are not discouraged at this location. In accordance with Joint Core 
Strategy Policy SD9, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework Paragraphs 170, 175 and 180 and Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers a general 
biodiversity duty upon local authorities whilst exercising their functions.

28. Within six months of the commencement of the development a tree, shrub, 
hedgerow planting scheme to be implemented on other County Council owned 
land shall be submitted for the written approval by the County Planning 
Authority. The number of specimens to be used must exceed 100. The exact 
locations, species and descriptions of plants that have been chosen will need 
to be specified plus a timetable for their implementation any required 
maintenance regime to maintain them in good condition. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved.

Reason: In the interests of the conservation and enhancement of local 
biodiversity and amenity in accordance with Joint Core Strategy Policy SD9 
and Paragraphs 170 and 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This 
is also in accordance with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local 
Authorities.

Ecological Mitigation land safeguarded.

29 The Ecological offset mitigation area on land adjacent to Moat Cottages 
outlined blue and  identified as number 2 on submitted drawing number P19-
0501-01, sheet 1 Rev A  dated 27/02/2020, shall be maintained in accordance 
with the details set out in the submitted Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (PL19-0501_12 ) dated February 2020 for the duration of 
this permission.  The said offset mitigation area shall not be developed in any 
way that would impact upon its status as ecological mitigation land.

Reason: In the interests of the conservation and enhancement of local 
biodiversity and amenity in accordance with Joint Core Strategy Policy SD9

Removal of Permitted Development Rights

30. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order 
revoking or re-enacting that order with or without modification) no buildings, 
structures, alterations or operations, as defined within Class A of part 4, Class 
M of Part 7 and Class A of Part 12  of Schedule 2 of the Order, shall be 
carried out on the site otherwise than in accordance with a planning 
permission granted by the County Planning Authority. 

Page 143



Reason: To enable the County Planning Authority to adequately control, 
monitor and minimise the impacts on the amenities of the local area, and in 
the interests of the conservation of local biodiversity and public amenity in 
accordance with Joint Core Strategy Policies SD6, SD9 and SD14.

31 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification) the layby bay identified on the 
Landscape Master Plan no.  P19-0501-02 Rev B (04/02/2020) shall not be 
installed without the benefit of express planning permission.

Reason: To enable the County Planning Authority to adequately control, 
monitor and minimise the impacts on the amenities of the local area, and in 
the interests of the conservation of local biodiversity and public amenity in 
accordance with JCS policies SD6, SD9 and SD14.

Notes to Applicant:

Highways:

1. The proposed development will involve works to be carried out on the public 
highway and the Applicant is required to enter into a legally binding Highway 
Works Agreement including an appropriate bond with the County Council as 
Highway Authority before commencing those works.

2. The school Safety Zone and parking restrictions as shown on the submitted 
plans will require Traffic Regulation Orders and the Applicant is advised to 
commence these procedures as soon as practicable.

3. The improvements to the footways, cycleway and carriageways are shown and 
included on the submitted and amended application plans. These form an 
integral part of the documents for any approval of the application. For the 
avoidance of doubt and for the purposes of the works and improvements to the 
public highway under the terms of the T & C P Act 1990, the Highway Authority 
is satisfied that the statutory consultation period has been complied with.

4. The highway works hereby approved will require a Road Safety Audit Stages 
1, 2, 3 and 4 and the Applicant is advised to contact an approved Road Safety 
Auditor to formally adhere to those requirements.

Sports Pitches

5. The Applicant is advised that the design and layout of the artificial grass 
pitches, netball courts and pavilion should comply with the relevant industry 
Technical Design Guidance, including guidance published by Sport England, 
and England Hockey for Sport.

Severn Trent Water

Page 144



6. Please note for the use or reuse of sewer connections either direct or indirect 
to the public sewerage system the Applicant will be required to make a formal 
application to the Company under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
They may obtain copies of our current guidance notes and application form 
from either our website (www.stwater.co.uk) or by contact our Development 
Services Team (Tel: 0800 707 6600). 

7. If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, dormouse, badger, 
water vole, otter, reptile, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a 
feature on site that would be affected by the development or related works all 
activity which might affect the species at the locality should cease. If such 
discoveries can be dealt with satisfactorily by the implementation of mitigation 
measures that have already been drawn up by your ecological advisor and 
approved by the County Planning Authority and/or you and your contractors 
then these should be implemented. Otherwise a suitably experienced ecologist 
should be contacted and the situation assessed before works can proceed. 
This action is necessary to avoid possible prosecution and ensure compliance 
with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Protection of 
Badgers Act 1992. Works taking place between 1st March and 31st August 
require special care as trees, shrub, open fields or certain parts of built 
structures could harbour nesting birds unless it is reasonably determined by 
observation or survey by an experienced person that nesting bird activity is 
absent. This advice note should be passed on to any persons or contractors 
carrying out the development/works.

8. In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement with the Local 
Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of 
countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological 
work commissioned by the Applicant should be copied [if not already] to the 
Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

Environment Agency 

9. For our flood risk comments please refer to our Area Flood Risk Standing 
Advice.

10.For contaminated land matters, you are advised to seek the comments of your 
Environmental Health Officer or Contaminated Land Officer, with reference to 
our 'Development Guidance' sheet.  

11.For foul drainage matters, you are advised to seek the completion of the 'Foul 
Drainage Assessment Form' for your consideration.   

12.For Pollution Prevention and any consent requirements (separate to planning) 
you are advised to refer to our 'Development Guidance' sheet which includes 
pollution prevention advice relating to specific activities.

LLFA

Page 145



13.The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will give consideration to how the 
proposed sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help 
protect water quality. However pollution control is the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency.

14.Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter that will be 
dealt with by the County Planning Authority and has not, therefore, been 
considered by the LLFA.

15.Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA when 
resubmitted through suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. Please 
quote the planning application number in the subject field.

Western Power Distribution.

16.Western Power Distribution have High Voltage overhead distribution network 
within this proposed development. The Applicant must agree to either a 
permanent easement to protect our access rights, or the diversion of our 
network from the area at the developer’s cost.

17.We must emphasise that any alteration, building or ground works proposed in 
the vicinity of our network that may or may not directly affect our cables, must 
be notified in detail to Western Power Distribution.

Public Right of Way

18. In the event that Public Right of Way Leckhampton 9, is not permanently 
stopped up, an application will need to be made to the County Planning 
Authority to regularise any necessary amendments to fencing.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 Planning Application file 19/0058/CHRG3MJ containing the planning 
application, supporting statement, drawings, consultation responses and 
representations may be viewed by appointment with the case officer below or 
on the Council’s Public Access website 
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/ by a search with the 
application reference.

 Cheltenham Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan April 2014  
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/3780/air_quality_action_plan_2
014 

 County Council Cabinet Meeting 
Friday 20 December 2019 10.00 am Agenda Item 8 Leading The Response 
To The Climate Emergency Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 
2019/20 To 2024/25
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9232/Public%20reports%2
0pack%20Friday%2020-Dec-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10

Page 146

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/3780/air_quality_action_plan_2014
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/file/3780/air_quality_action_plan_2014
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9232/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2020-Dec-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9232/Public%20reports%20pack%20Friday%2020-Dec-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer: Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning Officer
Telephone: 01452 425617
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 147

mailto:planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Summary of Public Comments.

Page 148



Summary of Public Comments

Objection Support Comments
Highways
Survey data/analysis
 Important issues are missing from the traffic 

survey -was carried out in July for 3 weeks, 
when traffic would have been lighter. 

 Concern that the traffic survey is based on 
numbers of journeys rather than the ability of 
the traffic network to cope with traffic levels.

 The walking and cycling analysis has not 
factored in a reduction in movements in 
winter and adverse weather conditions. 

 Omission of assessment of travel patterns for 
after school activities. 

 Concern over swept path analysis, which 
shows that large vehicles are unable to turn 
into/out of the school without encroaching on 
opposing sides of the carriageway. 

 Worse case scenario may not be worse case - 
The Paramics model is apparently run on a 
worst case scenario. It includes improvements 
to the Moorend Park Road/A46 junction 
which you are relying upon to address traffic 
issues on Shurdington Road. This scheme is 
part of the Redrow housing development, not 
the school. However, the Redrow scheme 
may not be delivered along with junction 
improvements. 

Transport infrastructure 
 Omissions of there being no plans to modify 

Travelling to school
 Unsure how children from key catchments, e.g. 

Leckhampton CofE would cycle to the new school.
 Concern raised over the safety of children and 

pedestrians along Church Road.
 There is a local catchment so no demands for bus 

transport. 
 Existing traffic is made up of parents taking children to 

schools in distant locations – having a local school will 
remove this issue. 

 The school will not increase traffic as children will walk 
and cycle to school.

Transport infrastructure  
 A bridge walkway over the A46 would help with traffic 

and keep children safe crossing that road.
 It is essential that appropriate pedestrian and cycle 

infrastructure is put in place to facilitate the safe 
movement of children, suitable for use in all weather 
conditions and periods of darkness. 

 Traffic lights on Shurdington Road and a local school will 
help any marginal increase in traffic.

 Support for a new Park and Ride being built on the 
A46/A417 junction. This may reduce traffic and air 
pollution near the new school.

Cycle/pedestrian infrastructure
 The proposed measures do not go far enough to provide 

safe and suitable routes that favour pedestrians and 

Congestion
Concern over the level of congestion on 

Shurdington Road.

Cycling/pedestrian infrastructure
Poor plans/design for supporting walking 

and cycling infrastructure. 
 The existing roads should be upgraded with 

segregated facilities and prioritise 
pedestrians, e.g. raised tables at road 
junctions. 

There is a lack of suitable paving on 
Shurdington Road; hence it is unsafe for 
pupils who will not walk or cycle. 

 If Lott’s Meadow and Burrow’s field are to 
be used by cyclists, a more appropriate gate 
will be required. 

Local residents
 In winter, residents from the bottom end of 

Brizen Lane and The Lanes leave cars on 
Farm Land and top of Brizen Lane. 
Condoning local resident parking in Brizen 
Lane/The Lanes during school pick-up/drop-
off shows inadequate thought to the local 
residents.  

Parking
Provision of 90 spaces for staff does not 

P
age 149



Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane junction to allow 
large vehicles to negotiate it more easily.

 Request that a new set of traffic lights 
incorporating pedestrian controls should be 
sited at Kidnappers Lane junction of the A46  

increasing visibility of the lights and providing 
a proper traffic control for vehicles entering 
and exiting Kidnappers Lane.

 The highway improvements at the Moorend 
Park Road/A46 junction may not deliver the 
required result. The junction already a right 
hand lane. It will lengthen queues on the 
approach rather than shorten.  

 The highway improvements at the Moorend 
Park Road/A46 junction may not be 
implemented. 

 There are conflicting and confusing 
conclusions regarding the signalisation of the 
Kidnappers Lane/A46 Shurdington Road 
junction. 

 There are no plans to mitigate log jams on 
A46 and Church Road. 

 Incorporating pedestrian controls should be 
sited at Kidnappers Lane junction to the A46, 
to increase the visibility of lights and provide 
a proper traffic control for vehicles using 
Kidnappers Lane.

 A bus stop between Farm Lane and Brizen 
Lane should be avoided, as it would hinder 
visibility of vehicles turning out of Brizen Lane 
and inter-visibility between vehicles. 
approaching the kerb build-out from either 
direction, increasing risk of collisions

cyclists over the car. 
 Concern about the state of Church Road and its lack of a 

pedestrian crossing point. 
 An assessment of the options to complete the 

footway/cycleway over the length of Kidnappers Lane 
should be undertaken, including the potential to make 
the eastern end of Kidnappers Lane one way and the 
footway/cycleway extended to Church Road.

 An assessment of the options for safe crossing facilities 
across Leckhampton Road and across Church Road in the 
vicinity of Kidnappers Lane should be undertaken, 
including the potential for signal controlled zebra 
crossing, pedestrian islands or carriageway narrowings.

 There is a need to improve and enhance proposed 
walking and cycle routes so they are away from main 
roads, and extended to at least a mile radius of the 
school site. 

PROW
 Questions the removal of the footpath through the site. 

Suggests that the path could be diverted along the 
southern boundary to create a circular walk. 

Other
 Understanding that there will be a spike in footfall, but 

this will only be between 8.30am-9am and 3.30pm - 
4.00pm in term time. 

 There are traffic issues on Shurdington road, but this will 
be helped by infrastructure improvements/traffic 
analysis.

encourage use of sustainable transport 
methods.

Energy efficiency
No mention of electric vehicle charging 

points.

PROW
 Would be happy for PROW Footpath 9 to be 

re-routed along the boundary. 
 Request consideration is given to reroute the 

footpath from junction of paths 9 to 10 down 
to Kidnappers Lane along their boundary 
with GCC land until it meets Kidnappers 
Lane. It is unnecessary to maintain a 
footpath entrance through the driveway of 
their house when there is a safer route away 
from the houses. 

Car parking/drop offs
 There should be sufficient drop off/collection 

points on school land, rather than side roads 
which will create tensions. 

 Will the additional car park off Kidnappers 
Lane for 90 parking spaces be for staff?

Safety
 Would like to see additional speed bumps at 

Farm Land and Kidnappers Lane. The 
proposed changes do not go far enough to 
increase safety. 

Speed limits on this bendy narrow road 
should be a 20mph camera-controlled road, 

P
age 150



 Proposes that the small hedge be removed for 
the initial access arrangements and the main 
vehicular drop-off is one way.

 No reason why verges cannot be used to 
widen roads or put footpaths on. 

 Pedestrian/cyclist demand on the proposed 
toucan crossings is likely to be insufficient to 
have any meaningful impact on movements 
out of the junction. 

 Comment about the Managing Director of 
Redrow Homes who stated that the junction 
off Farm Lane with Leckhampton Lane/Church 
Road at the Crippetts crossroads will be 
closed off to cars, meaning people will have 
to travel through the main ‘Spine Road’ of the 
Redrow housing development. 

 The site is defectively accessed off A46-south 
which was ruled to have severe traffic 
congestion.

 A new park and ride needs to be created. 

Impact on wider area
 Parents dropping off on the way to work will 

divert onto narrow lanes around the school.

Cycle/pedestrians
 There is no room for a cycle path so more 

parents will drive their children. 
 The aim of 90% children walking/cycling is 

hard to believe as many will come from 
Charlton Kings.  

 The current footpaths intended for school 
access are too narrow, overgrown and have 

at least during morning and evening peaks.
  Concern over safety –there is a ‘pinch point’ 

in Kidnappers Lane along from Vineries Close 
as it is a blind bend too narrow for two cars. 

P
age 151



unsuitable surfaces for winter months.
 More effort needs to be made to have 

footpaths and cycle ways away from roads 
that are safe to use all year round. 

 There is inadequate segregation of pedestrian 
and cyclists from vehicles.

 There is risk to safety of pupils walking and 
cycling to school, which will lead to additional 
car journeys.

 The higher traffic volumes as shown in the 
2026 base figures  will deter walkers and 
cyclists.

Environmental impact
 Does not contain strategies to reduce carbon 

emissions from transport. 

PROW 
 Would formally object to any order for 

closure or to vary the line of the existing 
PROW that may be made by the County 
Council under the Highways Act 1980.

 Objection to the permanent closure rather 
than rerouting of a public footpath.

 Loss of PROW for local people not mentioned. 

Other safety concerns
 Highways need to commence work soonest 

because it appears very much that the 'tail is 
wagging the dog'. Without a major effort to 
solve traffic problems lives could well be lost 
if the school is built. 

P
age 152



 Concern that the sharp bend, right in front of 
proposed school is dangerous. 

Parking/access
 Irresponsive to show the use of nearby 

housing estates as car parks for the school.
 There is inadequate parking provision.
 There is inadequate provision for 

buses/lorries to access the school, e.g. 
delivery lorries and coaches for school trips.

 Farm Lane and Kidnappers Lane - the drop off 
and collection will cause problems. Can these 
roads be widened to create a third lane so 
cars can pull in off the main thoroughfare so 
traffic flow is not affected?

 Can Chestnut Place become resident parking 
only – sixth formers will be driving if parking is 
easy parking is available. 

Design  of school building/site
 The school building is not carbon neutral, as 

per GCC climate change motion. 
 The site is not big enough - plans show no 

space for a sufficient sport’s facilities.
 The proposed design is not sympathetic or in 

keeping with its location and scenic quality of 
the area.     

 The impact of the new school on the drainage 
system has not been properly assessed. 

 Disappointment that the site could not accommodate a 
sixth form.

 Sports facilities could be improved to include a full size 
sports hall with plenty of storage and changing facilities, 
parking and outdoor lighting.

 The building design responds positively to local character 
of the site and its setting, enhancing local distinctiveness 
and providing a modern, high quality learning 
environment.

 The proposed building could have had a better design 
rather than being a standard format. 

Concern about the building’s ‘green’ design 
(e.g. use of rain water capture, solar power, 
wind power etc).

 No reference to how school will be heated 
e.g. ground source heat pumps. 

 Support for design of school.

P
age 153



Infrastructure
 Waste water and sewage management in the 

overall area has/is coming under increased 
stress. Where is the joined up thinking that 
ensures the combined impact of all of these 
developments has been considered? 

Location of school facility
 Evidence shows that demand of primary 

school places and therefore secondary school 
places is coming from central/northern side of 
Cheltenham, not from the south. 

 Why not choose a site like the fields opposite 
Morrisons due to easier traffic flow and room 
for expansion. 

 There is a lack of consideration for alternative 
sites. A better location is as part of the JCS  
West Cheltenham’s urban development. 

 Find a more suitable location rather than 
adding a school at an unsuitable site, because 
it's financially beneficial to the council.

 A better location would be opposite and with 
access as a fourth exit off the Hatherley 
Way/Shurdington Road roundabout. This is a 
larger site with better access.

 Should be sited on the old farm shop site in 
Hatherley road. Roads and access are better.

 The land off Up Hatherley Way currently used 
as a car washing area would be a better 
location.

 Scheme is inappropriately sited upon sensitive 
value landscape. 

 The site's location is well served by the local bus network 
and offers accessibility on foot and by bicycle.

  It is well located to address the education needs of both 
existing residents and the future residents.

P
age 154



 This school is not required - it is being 
forced on the community to satisfy a 
entirely virtual demand created by 
yourselves. Even if this demand existed, it 
could be satisfied by Bournside School, to 
which this proposal of yours is far too 
closely located.

Need for school facility and catchment area
 The assumption that children will be from the 

local area cannot be guaranteed.
 The site is not big enough - the numbers of 

pupil spaces are unlikely to meet current 
demand with there being little room for 
physical growth. 

 The new dwellings in Cheltenham for the over 
sixties, should have been omitted from GCC 
forecast figures for additional school places. 
This appears not to have been, leading to 
some misleadingly high pupil forecast figures. 

 Disagreement with the statement that 
demand will continue after ‘the two year 
bulge years of secondary entry in 2017 and 
2018’.

 No need for a new a school in south 
Cheltenham was ever justified in evidence 
supplied by GCC during the JCS Examination 
process. 

 Why have Balcarras in Charlton Kings not 
been extended?

 This satisfies demand from a projected population 
increase/education demand. 

 Would like the school to consider a priority catchment 
for Leckhampton, which ranks above the general 
distance for its admissions.

 Concern that with the new housing development, the 
distance allocated may be smaller than hoped, meaning 
that children from Leckhampton will miss out.

 If the school is not built, children from Leckhampton and 
Naunton Park will have to either be bused or driven to 
schools across town.

 With growing student numbers, the existing schools will 
not be able to meet the rising demand and schools are 
likely to be over subscribed.

 Would be ideal if a new infant and/or junior school was 
built in conjunction. 

 Site chosen is the best site. 

 Support for provision of school places.
 A constrained site for future school 

expansion, which would have to be upwards. 
 GCC should ensure that a new school  in this 

location: will not adversely impact on 
established offers at other school’s; that 
children in the wider Cheltenham area are 
not disadvantaged in terms of average 
distance that they need to travel to school. 

 Any miscalculation in forecasted pupil 
numbers from 2021 could damage the ability 
of existing schools to maintain their 
published admission number, e.g. Bournside.

 Questions how the catchment area will be 
administered. 

 Appreciates the call to increase spaces in 
other schools, but this will only increase 
traffic and pollution. 

Landscape

P
age 155



 The impact of noise and light pollution from 
night use of all weather pitch upon edge of 
AONB has not been considered and assessed.

 Will cause environmental damage to the 
scenic and recreational value of the area, in 
particular to views from Leckhampton Hill.

 Visually sympathetic to area

Ecology
 Question as to why the hedgerow needs to be 

replaced when there is an existing old native 
hedgerow.

 Question whether the brook will be cleared.
 Widening roads will destroy ancient 

hedgerows and wildlife. 
 The hedgerow to be lost at the back of the 

sports pitch will break the wildlife corridor 
along Hatherley Brook. 

 Field to the south of the MUGA – an ad-hoc 
bird survey for BTO took place, which 
included Spotted Flycatcher and Whitethroat. 
The results can be verified through the BTO. 
No mention of this in the Ecology report. 

 Would like the hedge on Farm Lane to remain 
to provide privacy for residents, to filter the 
construction dust, to protect children from 
pollution and allow natural wildlife to thrive. 

 The area is a haven for wildlife, e.g.  bats and 
owls. Deer are less frequent now since the 
access is gradually being cut off since the 
Redrow estate.

 Concern about the air quality on Church Road.  Concern over the loss of hedgerows, which 
act as wildlife habitats to privet hedges.

 Notable wild animals have been seen in the 
local area.

Pollution 

P
age 156



 There is an apparent lack of mitigation for 
noise and light pollution from evening use of 
all weather pitch. 

 The school will have a negative impact upon 
air quality and health due to additional traffic.

 The air pollution assessment from AQC is 
flawed as only one local data point is used (it 
has only 5 months of data) - it cannot be 
relied upon to give an accurate assessment. 

 Public health impacts have not been assessed 
correctly - the methodology of the AQC report 
is flawed. No account is given to the 
Government's stated intention to impose 
more stringent limits for particulate pollution.

 Noise pollution from increase in traffic.

Concern over new floodlights for all weather 
sports pitch. Request for strict closing times 
(e.g.7.45pm) and switch off times (e.g.8pm), to 
limit light and noise intrusion. 

Flooding 
 Concern over the impact of building on an 

important flood plain on the local water 
levels during extreme weather. 

 The Warden Hill area has suffered flooding 
in recent times, which is just across the road 
from Kidnappers Lane.

 Flooding from Hatherley Brook during times 
of heavy rainfall needs to be strongly 
mitigated. 

 The Hatherley Brook is now frequently 
flooding and running over the road which 
has resulted in carriage way damage.

 Questions the loss of the existing green 
land, which acts as a ‘huge sponge 
absorbing and dispersing water draining 

P
age 157



from the hill’.

Health and safety concerns
 The statement saying that no hazardous 

substances will be used or stored is unlikely, 
as cleaning materials/fuel will be stored at the 
school.

 Has any concern been given to welfare of 
local residents from daily school traffic?

 What measures are proposed and costed for 
people with mobility issues; and to cover 
health and safety issues of pupils with special 
educational needs/disability? 

 Local residents would have the health and 
safety hazard of cars parked on both sides, 
which would be for pedestrians and restricted 
access for emergency vehicles. 

 A row of trees need to be looked at from a 
health and safety aspect due to potential 
falling debris in heavy winds.

 Proviso that any significant archaeology 
should be investigated and recorded in 
advance of the commencement of the 
development in order to mitigate the ground 
impacts of this scheme.

Planning policy/legislation
 Lack of any Environmental Impact 

Assessment.
 Building a school in Leckhampton is unsound 

as it: was not part of Cheltenham Plan; does 
not comply with the JCS or Cheltenham Plan; 
was not referred to in the examination stage, 
despite a review of schools in Autumn2016; 
loss of PROW and ancient hedges; is not 
justified by GCC’s own statistics; and the 
school has been downsized from the original 
planned “all-through” school.

  Involves the removal of a designated Local 
Green Space.

 Given the significant concerns raised by the Planning 
Inspector  in relation to the Local Green Space 
designation,, it is unsafe to attach any weight to the draft 
LGS designation in the determination of this application

Ecology, CBC Planning, the County Ecologist 
and Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish 
Council (LWWH PC) have objected to the 
position of a floodlit Astropitch. Can GCC 
Planning Committee be asked to relocate that 
pitch to save the tranquility of the central 
Leckhampton Fields (LGS)

P
age 158



 The land is valuable Greenbelt and provides a 
valuable recreational area. Cutting down trees 
and hedges can only serve to reduce the 
positive impact the Greenbelt has on the air 
quality.

 A new school in south Cheltenham will 
threaten the viability and deliverability of an 
all-through school for the Cheltenham North 
West JCS allocation. 

 Contrary to Policy CE1 Landscape of the 
Cotswold AONB Management Plan (2012-13). 

Housing development
 There are many small housing pockets in 

Cheltenham which could do with rebuilding 
and would put less strain on the roads rather 
than build yet another new development.

 Various comments on housing development 
and the need for building to be carbon 
neutral. 

Quality of planning application 
 Documents refer to Up Hatherley Road, 

Leckhampton Farm Crescent, Kidnapped Lane 
and Church Lane – these do not exist. 

 Para 7.38 of Appendix K confirms that 
Paramics model is based on 337 dwellings, 
not 377 dwellings as planned. 

 Information is only available online and is 
hard to find. This excludes citizens without 
such access. Paper copies were not supplied 
to Cheltenham Borough Council.  

 The poor quality of the planning application 
undermines any confidence in the quality of 
arguments put forward and conclusions 

P
age 159



reached. 
 The application photographs also fail to show 

the full extent of Farm Lane.

Decision making process
 Objection to any financial advantage to 

Gloucestershire County Council (by using a 
site already they own) should play any part in 
decision making.

 The council cannot give impartial verdict on 
its own application. 

Miscellaneous
 With the passing of Mrs Murray I'm 

concerned that once probate is passed the 
land will be sold and planning permission will 
be sought for her land with increased vigour, 
leaving [respondant] in an island of building 
sites which will affect my peace and quiet, 
pollution / anti social behaviour will increase 
and I loose the green space I sought. 

 I would request a full picture be sought for 
the whole area, rather than the piece to piece 
jigsaw which is currently in place with random 
requests and no great picture on the impact 
of the wildlife.

 Questions the advisability of using Kier 
Construction.

 Having a local new school will encourage more families 
to the area and having a good local school is a well 
known factor in increasing local residential house prices 
and insulating them from market down-turns.

P
age 160



Appendix 2
Consultation Response from the County Ecologist 

01/04/2020

Page 161



ECOLOGY (BIODIVERSITY) OBSERVATIONS ON A PLANNING APPLICATION

To: Sarah Pearse Date: 01/04/2020
My Ref: 20(018)

From: Gary Kennison, Principal Ecologist
Application No: 19/0058/CHR3MJ
Proposal: The construction of a new 6 forms of entry secondary school building, with a new 
all-weather pitch, sports playing fields, a multi-use games area, onsite parking and other 
associated works.
Location: Land Between, Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire
Grid Reference: 394127, 219629

This response is based on the inspection of submitted drawings and other documents as 
well as a site visit. Further information was supplied in both November 2019 and March 
2020. This memo supersedes my previous memo on this application dated 09/09/2019. The 
observations relate to all proposed works, mitigation and aftercare management on Land off 
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane, adjacent highways and land adjacent to Moat Cottages. Main 
points and conclusions are shown in italics.

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION
No observations and/or minor observations
Could be refused on biodiversity grounds alone but given other consideration 
could be consented subject to the attachment of appropriate conditions and 
informatives 



Further information and/or clarification required
Refusal (for the reasons set out below if details remain unchanged)
Consider enforcement or other action
2. Advice by Topic
Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

Ecological Reports Preliminary Ecological & 
Protected Species 
Report – Wild Service 
19/11/2019 [the Site 
PEA]

Leckhampton Highways 
- Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal – Wild Service 
29/11/2019 [the Off-Site 
or Highways PEA]

Construction 
Environmental 
Management Plan 
(CEMP) - Wild Service 
11/03/2020

An Interim Ecological Report was received in 
August 2019 and deemed insufficient due to 
survey work not being finished and ecological 
assessment incomplete.

A further Ecological Report including additional 
survey data was received late November 2019. 
In early December, on request, an additional 
ecological report covering the assessment of 
off-site highways works was received. 

Unfortunately due to lack of sufficient and 
adequate mitigation details across the school 
site, on Farm Lane and Kidnapper’s Lane etc. it 
was agreed that a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) must be compiled to 
properly inform a decision on the planning 
application. In response a CEMP was submitted 

Page 162



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

Landscape & Ecological 
Management Plan 
(LEMP) – Pegasus 
02/2020

in mid March 2020.

Also requested and now submitted (March) was 
a Landscape & Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) to cover planting and future aftercare 
management.

Special Area of 
Conservation 
(SAC)/Special 
Protection Area 
(SPA)/Ramsar site

Given the distance away and type of 
development, and that no new recreational 
pressure on the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC 
will be generated, there should not be a likely 
significant effect on this or any other 
European/International Sites.

Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI)

Leckhampton Hill and Charlton Kings Common 
SSSI are over 1km to the south east. 
Development unlikely to significantly affect this 
or any other SSSIs.  

Designated Sites

Local (Key) Wildlife Site 
(LWS)

Nearest LWS is Shurdington Grove about 
1.4km away to the south west. Development 
unlikely to significantly affect this or any other 
LWSs.

Green Infrastructure 
(Strategic)

In an area recognised 
by the Local Nature 
Partnership as 
strategically  important 
for improving green 
infrastructure

Good landscaping with demonstrable 
biodiversity net gain is expected at this location. 
This is particularly relevant as this is a County 
development and GCC has signed up to a 
Green Infrastructure Pledge and has a statutory 
requirement to conserve biodiversity whilst 
carrying out its functions. 

Priority Habitats Rivers and hedgerows Hatherley Brook is adjacent to the eastern 
boundary of the site and is bounded by trees 
and shrubs. This corridor is a valuable one for 
biodiversity generally but specifically for 
protected species, i.e. bats, otters, dormice 
(see below). The watercourse corridor will be 
largely retained but affected by some tree/shrub 
works and potentially lighting. Some new 
planting could help to screen the brook corridor 
from lighting to the benefit of bats, otters and 
dormice (see below).

Hedges (with trees) are on site and next to the 
adjacent highways and beyond. They are part 
of an extensive hedgerow network. The hedges 
are substantial in width and height in many 
places. They are of significant value as wildlife 
corridors including for a range of legally 
protected species including dormice and bats. 
Hedgerow loss, retention, creation and 
management are therefore a crucial matter to 
consider.

An internal hedgerow will be completely lost 
(H3) and those on the other boundaries will be 
significantly (H2) or partially affected (H1). 
Good protection is needed for retained 
hedgerows and trees if further impacts are to be 
avoided. 

Page 163



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

The compensatory hedgerow planting in places, 
i.e. school boundary next to Farm and 
Kidnapper’s Lanes will probably be managed to 
a smaller stature and width which will reduce 
their potential biodiversity value. However their 
intended structure is an improvement on the 
original proposals. Elsewhere some substantial 
hedge and shrub creation is proposed, i.e. 
eastern boundary near the Hatherley Brook and 
land at/near Moat Cottages.

The proposed highways works will involve 
some sections of hedgerow to be lost alongside 
some other vegetation in places. Generally 
hedgerow retention is proposed but in pruning 
back some retained hedge sections 
opportunities to fill in existing gaps with native 
shrubs and trees will be taken.

The latest vegetation retention, protection & 
removal drawings P19-0501_03 and PL19-
0501_11 show that there is a notable loss of tall 
hedge sections and some severance of a local 
hedgerow network. There is to be 
compensation for lost hedge sections and some 
shrub/tree planting on the school site. 
Additionally on the adjacent affected highways 
there will be some hedgerow gap filing plus a 
little new planting. To avoid an overall short fall 
in hedges, shrubs and trees, and in connection 
with protected species needs (see below); 
offset planting on land at/next to Moat Cottage 
is proposed. This land is currently in the 
ownership of the County Council. The CEMP 
reports that overall the net gain for hedgerows 
alone will be around 30% which is good. 
However I recommend there should be further 
planting on other GCC land to try and reduce 
the overall all habitats balance to a no net loss 
position. Some advance planting would reduce 
what is quite large a residual impact (as it takes 
time for new woody plants to mature).

I note that no dig highways works are proposed 
but where this is not possible some roots may 
be pruned back or scheme altered and/or 3D 
cellular confinement systems used. 

[See also trees below for more observations]
Trees Mainly boundary trees 

(many and various 
species present) next to 
agricultural fields and 
existing highways

Overall at least 9 trees will be lost and several 
trees and hedgerows will be pruned back. 
Hopefully the removal of more than the 
anticipated number of trees/shrubs will be 
minimised. It is unfortunate that well over 30 
trees will have their root protection areas 
affected but this may not be significant enough 
in many cases to compromise tree health New 

Page 164



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

trees/shrubs are to be planted both as 
compensation and potentially enhancement.

The latest Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
Addendum has reviewed the updated works 
and landscaping proposals on site and on 
surrounding highways. In the appendices there 
are associated drawings entitled Tree Retention 
and Removal Plan (BHA_667_02A) and Tree 
Protection Plan (BHA_667_03A). These will 
need to be implemented as part of an 
Arboricultural Method Statement which needs 
to be submitted via a condition if consent is 
granted for the development.

(See also hedgerows above)
Other habitats / features 
of interest

Tall grassland on site 
and grass verges  
connected with 
associated highways 
works

On the school site there will be some loss of 
low value tall grassland and the associated 
highways works will impact on some existing 
verge vegetation. Removal of some verge 
areas which are not of high biodiversity value 
still represents an additional loss. After kerbing 
and other works are completed some verge 
areas next to base of hedges will be made good 
with species-rich grass managed to a long 
height. Some orchard tree planting is also 
planned as part of the landscaping (biodiversity 
offsetting) proposals.

European Protected 
Species (EPS)

Bats – several species Bats are significantly affected by the 
development due to loss of habitat and also 
potentially by disturbance from uncontrolled 
lighting. Proposed bat mitigation measures are 
set out in the CEMP at 3.13.5 to 3.13.13 and 
4.6.1 to 4.6.10. These could be acceptable to 
Natural England. This is important because the 
development, if consented, cannot fully proceed 
without a Natural England development licence 
being subsequently granted. 

The ecological consultants have reported the 
presence of pipistrelles, brown long-eared, 
Natterer’s, Leisler’s, noctule, serotine, 
whiskered, barbastelle and horseshoe bats. 
There is a very good diversity of species using 
the site and wider area. In addition to the 
hedgerows the greatest bat flight and feeding 
activity was noted along the Hatherley Brook on 
the eastern edge of the site. This is a critical 
matter to address as the area may be 
strategically important for bats. 

In the stable to be demolished roosting by 
common pipistrelle bats has been confirmed. 
Prior to the demolition commencing a licence 
from Natural England is required. Bat boxes in 
trees are being proposed as mitigation for the 
loss of the stable building roost which is 
probably a summer day/night/feeding roost. 

Page 165



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

These bat boxes are to be installed prior to the 
demolition of the stable which is appropriate. 
Four integral bat boxes are also planned for 
installation into the new school building(s).

Figure 5 of the site PEA maps the bat potential 
of trees on the new school site. At least two 
trees to be removed/pollarded have moderate 
bat roosting potential and so need follow up 
survey before works affect them. Any tree to be 
removed with identified bat roosting potential 
needs to be visited at dusk at a suitable time of 
year before they could be felled. 

Although new planting will mitigate some of the 
impact upon bats there is a need for off site 
mitigation nearby in the form of new planting of 
trees/shrubs/hedgerows. The total overall gain 
in usable hedgerow length over time plus the 
proposals at/near Moat Cottages are helpful to 
bats. There will obviously be a residual effect 
upon bats until any new planting matures so 
early planting is important and recommended.

Lighting will increase at this location and there 
is a risk without good mitigation of additional 
adverse impact on bat foraging and commuting 
routes. Especially important is the Hatherley 
Brook corridor but also some of the hedgerows 
alongside the proposed school boundaries and 
adjacent highways. 

Taking the proposed new school site first the 
contours shown on the ‘DRAFT’ External 
Lighting Lux Plot 000893-HYD-XX-XX-DR-E-
8000 Rev. P04 shows some elevated levels of 
illumination. These could adversely affect bat 
movements and feeding. However existing and 
new planting may mitigate these predicted 
levels. Most critical are the lux levels over the 
brook corridor near to the proposed Multi-use 
Games Area (MUGA). Here we have a 
separate drawing SP1187 from the Neil 
Johnson Lighting Impact Assessment report 
(page 8) and also modelled images at Appendix 
1. These show some unacceptable lux levels 
are possible over the Hatherley Brook corridor 
but this will be mitigated somewhat by the use 
of special fencing, the presence of existing 
trees and proposed new planting. Bat usage will 
be affected in some way not least as the 
floodlight columns may be visible to them at 
distance as they approach the area. However if 
a suitable colour temperature of LEDs is used 
and time controls are put in place the corridor 
might be useable in a not too dissimilar way to 
that already recorded.. The colour temperature 
needs to be at the lowest end of what is 

Page 166



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

available for the chosen luminaires 
(ArenaVision Gen 3). Strict time controls on all 
the external lighting are needed during the part 
of the year where lighting use and bat activity 
could coincide, i.e. spring through to early 
autumn (late April to early October inclusive). 
These requirements must be enforced through 
an appropriately worded condition.

The applicant is proposing floodlighting is 
switched off between 20:30 and 05:40 (April to 
August) plus between 20:30 and 06:30 
(September to October). Other lighting would 
be a little less restricted. Section 9 of the Neil 
Johnson report assesses bat impact from the 
floodlighting. At 7.1.3 of the CEMP we also see 
that the proposal is also to restrict LEDs to a 
colour temperature of 3,000K or less and the 
illumination of the MUGA to an average of 
200lux.

Turning secondly to the proposed highways 
works we have an Outdoor Lighting Report by 
Lighting Reality Ltd. Here the focus is on the 
modelled drawings (Grid 1 to 9 from page 6). 
The colour temperature of proposed highway 
luminaires seems to be either 4,000K or 
3,000K. However the CEMP states that all new 
and existing lighting would be set at a colour 
temperature of 3,000K or less (4.6.9). This is 
less disturbing for bats. The highway lights will 
also be dimmed between 22:00 and 05:30 hrs.

Although some light pollution will occur bats 
might be able to adapt behaviourally and 
spatially to this. The tentative conclusion is that 
important local bat populations might be 
adequately conserved.

Dormouse Dormice are a critical constraint to this 
development being successfully progressed. 
Given the proposed habitat loss for the local 
dormouse population it is clear that the 
development cannot fully proceed without a 
Natural England development licence being 
subsequently granted. Proposed extensive 
dormice mitigation measures are set out in the 
CEMP at 3.9.1 to 3.11.11 and 4.4.1 to 4.4.4. 
These measures could be acceptable to Natural 
England.

Dormouse presence has been previously 
recorded from field hedgerows to the south 
west (2016). Dormice have now been recorded 
within hedgerow habitat of the site (Figure 4 of 
the Site PEA). An adult dormouse was visually 
seen by the ecological consultants and also 
some nests found in hedgerows. Dormice can 
now be assumed to be present in all suitable 

Page 167



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

habitats on the site and adjacent/connected to it 
(NE Standing Advice). 

The hedgerow/shrub/tree losses (see above) 
will have a significant adverse effect on 
dormice. There is an issue here of 
compromising the survival of the local 
population as the development proposal will be 
fragmenting an existing habitat network. Gaps 
created in hedgerows should be minimised. 
Measures to mitigate this are being put forward 
in the CEMP/LEMP i.e. small overhead 
vegetation ‘bridges’ such as over the new pupil 
entrance off Kidnapper’s Lane, plus maintaining 
some long grass to narrow exposed gaps. Tree 
protection measures (see trees above) will also 
be protective for dormice. 

Phased removal of dormouse vegetation is 
suggested between November 2020 and May 
2022 with new compensatory mainly 
‘connected’ habitat created. Around 50 
dormouse boxes are to be installed in retained 
woody habitat to enhance it for these mammals 
but also to provide receptors for any dormice 
found during clearance works. 

Additional new school planting is proposed as 
well as compensatory/new planting on the 
highways which are subject to associated 
works. Offsetting (compensatory) habitat is also 
being proposed on land at/near to Moat 
Cottages. 

People (children) using the school site presents 
a risk of disturbance to dormice post 
development and so an element of creating 
enough new habitat including off-site is 
important. To mitigate disturbance on the 
school site I note that most of the new planting 
will protected from school users with 8cm + 
mesh fencing. Re-stablishing comparable 
‘connected’ suitable habitat will take time to be 
really beneficial for dormice.

New lighting may adversely impact dormice 
because they are active at night. Mitigating light 
spill onto key hedgerows/tree lines/scrub will 
help to reduce impact on dormice as well as 
bats (see bats above). 

Overall there is estimated to be an increase in 
hedgerow habitat of up to around 30% which 
could be used by dormice. Additionally there is 
some shrub and tree planting that will be 
beneficial. Although the development 
constitutes an overall loss of habitat for dormice 
(and to a lesser extent bats) in the short-term 

Page 168



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

there could be an improved situation over time. 
The tentative conclusion is that an important 
local population of dormice might be adequately 
conserved.

Great Crested Newt 
(GCN)

I agree with the ecological reports that great 
crested newts are unlikely to be using the areas 
affected by the works. Presence cannot be 
completely ruled out though. GCNs would in 
any case be incidentally protected by the 
proposed measures for common toads, 
hedgehogs and badgers (see below). 

Otter Otter has been recorded to the south east and 
this mammal is therefore more likely than not to 
use the Hatherley Brook (which is on the 
eastern boundary of the proposed development 
site). The stream corridor with trees may be 
used for resting up due to its enclosed nature. 

Without care works next to or affecting the 
trees/shrubs within the brook corridor may 
disturb otters. Proposed otter mitigation 
measures are set out in the CEMP at 3.17.2 to 
3.17.4 and 4.10.1 to 4.10.3. As generally otters 
are nocturnal they will benefit from the 
measures targeted to protect bats and dormice 
from disturbing illumination. The proposed 
mitigation measures are acceptable and there 
should be no need to apply for a licence to 
Natural England to facilitate the development.

Apply 3 derogation 
tests?
[Habitats Regs for EPS 
licensing]

Dormouse and Bat 
European Protected 
Species (Development) 
Licences are required

Bats and dormice would be impacted by the 
proposed development and associated 
highways works. Roosting bats will be affected 
by the stable demolition, tree loss and work on 
site plus potentially highway works. Dormice 
are affected by the on-site and highways works 
involving loss to hedges and trees etc. 

The LPA must consider the three tests in 
Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
before determining this application (ODPM 
Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 99, 112 & 116). 
Regulation 55(2) defines the circumstances 
where derogation is allowed for an affected 
species and a licence could be issued by 
Natural England. 

The judgement on the first two tests should be 
made by the planning officer under delegated 
powers, or members of the planning committee. 

The first test at Regulation 55(2)(e) asks if there 
is a justification of public health, public safety or 
an imperative reason of overriding public 
interest, which includes beneficial 
consequences of primary importance for the 
environment? To pass this test there should be 

Page 169



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

a high degree of need for the development 
which would result in beneficial results to the 
local area that are likely to be in accordance 
with local planning policy requirement(s). The 
LPA might conclude for example that there is 
an urgent need for the new school due to 
nearby residential housing developments 
having been already permitted or planned in 
accordance with local planning policy 
requirements. 

The second test set out in Regulation 55(9)(a) 
deems that there should be ‘no satisfactory 
alternative’. In this case the LPA conclusions 
could be that there are no other viable options 
to the activity proposed that can be done 
differently, i.e. changed footprint or 
landscaping, location of the new school on a 
different site.

The third test set out in Regulation 55(9)(b) 
deems that the development should have no 
detrimental effect on the favourable 
conservation status of a species. This last test 
is ultimately made by Natural England but 
currently my view is that tentatively this test 
might be met for both bats and dormice.

If the LPA deems that the 3 tests can be met 
then it is possible to consent the planning 
application in accordance with obligations under 
Regulation 55 of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 
Thereafter TWO development species licence 
applications would be required which may or 
may not be granted by Natural England to allow 
the development to proceed. 

Water vole The development is unlikely to significantly 
affect water voles. However their presence 
cannot be completely ruled out so an advisory 
note mentioning them should be attached to 
any consent for the development that may 
eventually be granted.

Badger Some precautions will be necessary so as not 
to impact badgers. Proposed badger mitigation 
measures are set out in the CEMP at 3.12.3 to 
3.12.6 and 4.5.1 to 4.5.2. As badgers are 
nocturnal they will benefit from the measures 
targeted to protect bats and dormice from 
disturbing illumination. The mitigation measures 
are acceptable and there should be no need to 
apply for a licence to Natural England.

Other Protected 
Species

Reptiles A grass snake has been recorded on the site 
during survey work. Other species such as slow 
worm and common lizard may occur on site and 
in surrounding highways verges and hedges. 
Although not extensive some reptile habitat will 

Page 170



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

be lost but landscaping proposals should 
replace a good deal of that over time. The 
CEMP sets out mitigation to reduce harm to 
reptiles (at 3.7.1 to 3.7.5 and 4.3.1 to 4.3.2). 
These measures are acceptable. 

Barn owl Barn owl has been recorded in the general area 
but not on the development site. Barn owls may 
predate upon the small mammal population on 
the site. Some adverse impact on barn owls 
(and tawny owls) in the area cannot be ruled 
out but any effect would soon be well 
moderated once proposed landscaping 
matures. 
(See also nesting birds below)

Nesting birds (see also 
priority species below)

The development would significantly affect 
nesting birds so precautions are needed and 
alternative habitat/features provided. Many 
trees and significant hedgerow lengths will be 
lost. Swallows have also nested in the stables 
that will be demolished. Clearing vegetation and 
structures that are likely (or known) to be 
occupied by nesting birds can be done between 
September to February to avoid most impact. 
Most of the birds will be nesting in hedgerows 
and trees and such features will be replaced 
and extended over time. However there will be 
a residual impact until the new planting 
matures. The CEMP sets out mitigation 
measures to avoid harm to nesting birds (at 
3.14.2 to 3.14.5 and 4.7.1 to 4.7.2). These 
measures are acceptable and additionally 
include provision of:

 three swallow nesting cups in a 
retaining wall;

 three house sparrow terraces & one 
swift nesting box on the main school 
building;

 mesh fencing (8cm wide) around 
planting areas will assist nesting bird 
use.

Priority Species e.g. hedgehog, toad, 
lesser spotted 
woodpecker, 
yellowhammer, linnet, 
marsh tit recorded 
nearby

These species have been recorded in 
surrounding areas particularly significant are 
hedgehog, toad and birds. Loss of significant 
hedgerow lengths, some trees/shrubs plus 
increased traffic are likely to have an adverse 
impact on all of these priority species. The 
impacts will be moderated by the new 
landscaping planting but there will still be a 
residual impact until at least new vegetation 
matures. In relation to the bird species here see 
nesting birds, hedgerows and trees above. 

The (mesh) fences proposed must have small 
gaps beneath them in places to allow toads and 
hedgehogs to pass through them (at least 13 
cm by 13 cm is proposed). The measures in the 
CEMP for toads (amphibians) and hedgehogs 
at 3.15.3 to 3.15.4 and 3.16.2 to 3.16.9 will help 

Page 171



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

to avoid a significant impact on these species. 
One hibernaculum and two log piles for 
amphibians will be constructed on the new 
school site and also two hedgehog shelters..

Small mammals and 
invertebrates

Common species but 
will be fairly abundant

Wood mice, yellow necked mice and bank vole 
have been recorded (along with dormice) and 
so the hedges are important for small mammals 
plus local invertebrates. Hedgerow and grass 
loss will adversely affect populations which will 
take time to recover until the proposed new 
planting matures. 

Mitigation Strategy 
included?

Yes The CEMP provided is adequate given the 
nature of the development proposals which are 
extensive in their threat to existing biodiversity. 
Sections 5, 6 & 7 in the CEMP are important in 
these respects. The CEMP needs to be 
considered in combination with Kier’s 
Construction Method Statement (CMS). The 
CMS states ‘before any works commence the 
site will have to be checked and cleared for 
ecology in line with the published report from 
Wildservice (CEMP). This will allow the 
vegetation to be removed in a phased manner..’ 

The CMS, CEMP and LEMP must be 
conditioned if any consent for the development 
is granted. A permanently retained Ecological 
Clerk of Works is proposed in the CEMP and 
this is essential. The ECofW must liaise closely 
with the Contracts Manager, Design Manager, 
and Environmental Manager for Kier through 
the implementation of the development should it 
be consented.

Compensation, 
Landscaping & 
Aftercare included?

Yes, but see also 
‘Biodiversity Net Gain’ 
below.

A Landscape & Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) which is linked to the CEMP has been 
provided which should be conditioned. It is a 
good document and should (as proposed) be 
operational for 20 years. The required LEMP 
clearly sets out its purposes at 1.3 which cover 
not only the new school site but offsetting land 
at/near Moat Cottages as well as surrounding 
highways. It is linked to the CEMP, CMS and 
also the Arboricultural Impact Assessment(s).

Section 5.8 (Ecological Habitats) is of most 
relevance to biodiversity and gives a summary 
of protection and creation. The proposed 
landscape planting (new trees, long grass, 
wildflowers) and features (nesting/roosting 
boxes) mitigates for a good amount of the 
environmental impact but in terms of 
biodiversity an overall enhancement cannot be 
claimed (see below). In section 6 of the LEMP a 
detailed schedule of works for the first 5 years 
is presented as well as an outline for long-term 
management (6 to 20 years). Key contacts for 
responsibility are also provided.

Biodiversity Net Gain? No, i.e. after all The CEMP reports the use of the new DEFRA 

Page 172



Item (Topic) Coverage General Observations

preparatory, 
construction, and post 
construction works have 
been completed plus 
landscaping matured 
and managed well. 

Biodiversity Metric Calculation Tool (which may 
become a compulsory tool under the new 
Environment Bill). Currently the tool is being 
trialled to inform a final version for use in 
planning applications. The metric does not 
cover species matters and so cannot quantify 
the full biodiversity outcomes. The unfortunate 
outcome of using the new DEFRA net 
biodiversity tool is a dramatic conclusion of over 
50% net loss of all habitats if the development 
is consented. This is however down from over 
90% before the proposals were recently 
amended (March 2020). On a more positive 
note the main habitat of interest, i.e. hedgerows 
which support a range of protected and priority 
species, will show around a 30% net gain. 

To try and address the picture of undoubtedly 
overall net loss of biodiversity (when gain is 
expected for a GCC development) further 
habitat creation and/or planting on other GCC 
land is recommended. The County Council 
should attempt to try and get closer to an 
overall neutral effect upon biodiversity over 
time. 

The proposals (with some added enhancement 
on other GCC land) are borderline acceptable 
for a county council development given relevant 
policy and statutory considerations.

Planning conditions & 
informatives?

Yes See below

3. Additional Comments on Advice (above)

Air quality changes are judged to not be significant (Air Quality Assessment, Air Quality 
Consultants, August 2019) and are not an issue for biodiversity if this development goes 
ahead (Ecological Appraisal).

4. Assessment against Legislation, Policy and Guidance Considerations

Relevant legislation, policy and guidance considerations have been taken into account as 
part of this response, including as relevant the following:

 The Town & Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2017
 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended)
 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
 Protection of Badgers Act 1992
 Biodiversity – Code of practice for planning and development BS 42020:2013
 Natural England’s Standing Advice
 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 ODPM Circular 06/2005 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation – Statutory Obligations and 

their impact within the Planning System

Page 173



 Gloucestershire Minerals, Waste, Transport and District Local Development Plan(s) 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/ 

 Gloucestershire Green Infrastructure Pledge https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-
infrastructure-pledge 

 Gloucestershire County Council Climate Change Strategy 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-
change/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/ 

5. Conclusions

The conservation and enhancement of biodiversity is not just a planning policy matter. The 
County Council as planning authority, applicant and landowner must also consider its Green 
Infrastructure Pledge and Climate Change Strategy. In addition to this there are legal matters 
to address. The County Council has a statutory duty to conserve biodiversity where it is 
reasonable to do so whilst carrying out its functions (Section 40 of the Natural Environment & 
Rural Communities Act 2006). This covers not just protected species but also priority species 
and habitats on the English List (Section 41). Several of these categories of species occur 
on and around the proposed new school site and the surrounding highways network.

There are adverse impacts on protected species including notably dormice and bats. This is 
an important legal consideration because the Planning Authority must not consent the 
development if there is doubt as to whether Natural England would grant the required 
European Protected Species licences. However it is my view the submitted CEMP and 
LEMP might contain sufficient measures to satisfy Natural England.

The extensive removal of woody and other vegetation represents a significant biodiversity as 
well as carbon loss. This has been difficult to mitigate. The fact that some trees next to 
nearby highways may also become compromised and struggle to survive in the future adds 
further carbon loss potential. This is disappointing and this development if consented would 
not sit that well with the Council’s Climate Change Strategy (December 2019). The Council’s 
Climate Change Strategy says the Council will implement climate change impact 
assessments into the council’s decision making process such as planning. Relevant to this is 
the strategy’s land use ambition to “maintain and enhance the quality of our natural 
environment, protecting and enhancing the biodiversity of the county”. 

The development proposals are not particularly consistent with the NPPF paragraphs 8, 
102(d), 118(a), 170(d) and 175(d) or the PPG Climate Change paragraphs 005 plus Natural 
Environment paragraphs 016, 019, 022, 023 & 024. I am also of the opinion that the 
development appears to be somewhat contrary to Joint Core Strategy policies SD9 and 
INF3. 

The overall outcome for biodiversity has been greatly reduced compared to the original new 
school proposals. On biodiversity grounds alone my view is that the development could be 
refused but of course there are other important planning matters to consider here such as 
public (educational) need. 

6. Recommended Action
Determination:

If the County Planning Authority is minded to give consent to the development it must be 
based on at least the following items.

Page 174

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/
https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge
https://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/green-infrastructure-pledge
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/


1. Condition - The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the submitted application, its accompanying documentation, and the approved 
drawings: 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) by Wild Service dated 
11/03/2020
Landscape & Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) by Pegasus dated 02/2020
Construction Method Statement by Kier
Vegetation Retention, Protection & Removal drawing P19-0501_03
Landscape Masterplan drawing P19-0501_02
Land Adjacent to Moat Cottages - Ecological Mitigation drawing P19-0501_10
Off Site Highways Improvement Works – Landscape Proposals drawing P19-
0501_11
Landscape Site Sections drawings P19-0501_07, P19-0501_08 & P19-0501_09
Planting Plan & Schedule Sheets 1 to 7 drawings P19_0501-6_1, P19_0501-6_2, 
P19_0501-6_3, P19_0501-6_4, P19_0501-6_5, P19_0501-6_6 &  P19_0501-6_7
etc.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted 
details and for the avoidance of doubt.

2. Condition – Prior to commencement of any tree, shrub and hedgerow removal on site 
or associated highways, except for imperative safety reasons, the County Planning 
Authority must be provided with either:

a) a bat licence and a dormouse licence issued by Natural England pursuant to The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorising 
the activities of the development can go ahead; or

b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does not 
consider that the activities of the development will require a licence.

Reason: To ensure that certain activities in certain areas liable to cause harm to a 
European Protected Species will not likely to be in breach of the Habitats Regulations 
2017 (as amended). This is also in accordance with ODPM Circular 06/2005.

3. Condition – No development shall take place until an Arboricultural Method 
Statement based on the details of tree and shrub removal, retention and protection 
as set out within the drawings BHA_667_02A Rev. A and BHA_667_03A Rev. A are 
submitted and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority and then 
implemented as approved. All protective structures installed shall be maintained until 
construction work has been completed. No materials, soils, or equipment shall be 
stored under the canopy of any retained tree or hedgerow within the application site 
unless indicated otherwise in the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity and amenity is conserved and in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy X, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 8, 170 and 175. This is also in accordance with Section 40 of 

Page 175



the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, which confers a general 
biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

4. Condition – Prior to occupation and beneficial use of the development a final Exterior 
Lighting Scheme for the site and the immediately adjacent highways subject to 
facilitating works should be submitted for approval. The Scheme is to be based on 
draft drawing External Lighting Lux Plot 000893-HYD-XX-XX-DR-E-8000 Rev. P04, 
the Lighting Impact Assessment report by Neil Johnson and the Outdoor Lighting 
report by Lighting Reality Ltd. External lighting to be implemented is to be restricted 
as follows:

(a) The LEDs used must not exceed a colour temperature of 3,000K;
(b) The multi-use games area should not be illuminated to more than an average of 
200 lux;
(c) All non-essential lighting on the school site must be switched off between 22:00 
and 06:00 hours throughout the year; 
(d) Adjacent highways lighting must be dimmed between the hours of 22:00 and 
05:30 throughout the year; and in addition;
(e) Floodlighting for the multi-use games area must be switched off between the 
hours of 20:30 and 05:40 from April to October inclusive plus between the hours of 
21:30 and 06:00 from November to March inclusive;

The approved scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the development and 
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations and scheme 
details.

Reason: To conserve amenity and ensure that bats, dormice, otters and badgers are 
not discouraged at this location. In accordance with Local Plan Policy X, ODPM 
Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 170, 175 and 
180 and Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising 
their functions.

5. Condition –Within six months of the commencement of the development a tree, 
shrub, hedgerow planting scheme to be implemented on other County Council owned 
land shall be submitted for approval by the County Planning Authority. The number of 
specimens to be used must exceed 100. The exact locations, species and 
descriptions of plants that have been chosen will need to be specified plus any 
required maintenance regime to maintain them in good condition. The scheme shall 
be implemented as approved.

Reason: In the interests of the conservation and enhancement of local biodiversity 
and amenity in accordance with Local Plan Policy X and paragraphs 170 and 175 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. This is also in accordance with Section 40 
of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, which confers a 
general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

6. Advice Note – If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, dormouse, 
badger, water vole, otter, reptile, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a 

Page 176



feature on site that would be affected by the development or related works all activity 
which might affect the species at the locality should cease. If such discoveries can be 
dealt with satisfactorily by the implementation of mitigation measures that have 
already been drawn up by your ecological advisor and approved by the County 
Planning Authority and/or you and your contractors then these should be 
implemented. Otherwise a suitably experienced ecologist should be contacted and 
the situation assessed before works can proceed. This action is necessary to avoid 
possible prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Works taking place between 1st 
March and 31st August require special care as trees, shrub, open fields or certain 
parts of built structures could harbour nesting birds unless it is reasonably determined 
by observation or survey by an experienced person that nesting bird activity is 
absent. This advice note should be passed on to any persons or contractors carrying 
out the development/works.

7.  Advice Note - In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement with the 
Local Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of 
countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological work 
commissioned by the applicant should be copied [if not already] to the 
Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

It is my view that the above advice is in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), ODPM Circular 06/2005, Natural England’s Standing Advice, and with 
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers a 
general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising their functions. 
Opportunities to produce measureable gains for biodiversity have been explored (NPPF 
paragraph 175(d)).

Page 177



Appendix 3
Highways Development Management Consultation response (18 Dec 2020 

(Received on 30/12/2020)

Page 178



Highways Development Management 

No Objections subject to conditions.

In summary, Highways Development Management Officers are satisfied from all
the evidence which has been presented and rigorously scrutinised and are
satisfied that no objections should be raised subject to conditions as follows:

Proposed Secondary School at Farm Lane, Leckhampton, Cheltenham

1. This is the formal response of the Highways Development Management 
Department of Gloucestershire County Council as the Highway Authority for 
the County of Gloucestershire.

1..1 We have been consulted as a statutory consultee on a Regulation 3 planning 
application, which is the formal method of dealing with an application by the 
County Council as applicant. We would wish to make it clear from the outset 
that this application is dealt with in no different a way to any other application 
that the Highways Development Management (HDM) Service receives; indeed 
as will become clear during the remainder of this report and eventual 
recommendation we have dealt with this application in an even more robust 
way than other applications, as there can be some misconception that an 
application is looked on more favourably as it is a County Council 
development. The application is considered by highly experienced officers, 
who have professional reputations to maintain.

1..2 The proposed development is for the construction of a 6-Form form of entry 
Secondary School (but excluding Y12 and Y13 (sixth form)) and associated 
facilities, including a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA), Sports Pitches and car 
parking. The proposed school is located on land between Farm Lane to the 
west and Kidnapper’s Lane, Leckhampton, at the southwestern edge of the 
urban area of Cheltenham, some 2.5km from the town centre.

1..3 The proposed development will eventually provide 900 secondary education 
places to meet the existing and forecast demand for Secondary school places 
in the local area and will be provided over a phased programme of entry, with 
year 7 commencing first. The associated sports facilities alongside the school 
will be available for community use outside of school hours such as weekday 
evenings and weekends.

1..4 The need for the development is set out in detail in the Strategic Review of 
Secondary Education Planning for Cheltenham (November 2017); the 
conclusions reached were that an increase in the birth rate and new 
residential development has led to a forecast shortfall of 6 forms of entry (180 
places) by 2021 and the ’School Places Strategy’ 2018-2023 expanded on this 
shortfall and how it could be addressed by and including a new Cheltenham 
Secondary School.

2. Planning and policy context-
NPPF 2019

Page 179



2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) is a material 
consideration in determining all planning applications and development and 
carries significant weight in planning policy terms. In assessing and 
determining planning proposals, Planning Authorities should apply the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, which is the main focus of 
the NPPF in relation to both the plan-making and decision making process.

2.2 Development Plan

Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
Planning applications  should be determined in accordance with the Development 
Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

2.3  Whilst the application will be determined by the County Planning Authority 
under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 
1992, the relevant Development Plan policies against which to assess the 
proposed development are contained within the saved policies of the 
Cheltenham Borough Local Plan Second Review to 2006 (unless superseded 
by relevant Joint Core Strategy (JCS) policy); together with the policies of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011 to 2031. 
The emerging policies within the Cheltenham Plan will also be relevant to the 
determination and the weight to be given to these policies will be dependant 
on their status within the Local Plan examination process at the time of 
decision.

2.4 Department for Communities and Local Government - Planning for  
Schools Development –
Policy Statement:

The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, and 
Secretary of State for Education have set out a Policy Statement – Planning 
for Schools Development (August 2011), in support of the planning and 
development of state-funded schools and their delivery through the planning 
system, stating that their creation and development is strongly in the national 
interest. With the aim of ensuring that the planning system should operate in a 
positive manor when dealing with proposals for the creation, expansion and 
alteration of state-funded schools, the statement sets out 8 principles that 
should apply to the consideration of this type of planning application.

This will be more formally reported on in the Planning Officers report.

2.5 Planning History-
The proposed site of the school is outside of, but adjacent to, land that was 
previously subject to a planning application for outline permission for up to 650 
dwellings and a mixed use local centre. The application was refused and the 
subsequent appeal dismissed. Transport matters were one of the reasons for 
refusal and so will be a material consideration for this proposal. The site was 
removed from the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core 
Strategy as an allocation; however the emerging Cheltenham Local Plan has 

Page 180



proposed the northern area (closest to the A46) as an allocation of up to 250 
dwellings and a Secondary school. A modification to the Local Plan is 
currently being considered to extend the allocated land to the north of the 
proposed site of the school and increase the number of dwellings to 
approximately 350. That determination forms no part of this planning 
application or consultation response, as this application has to be 
determined on its own merits.

2.6 To the south of the site there is a new residential development (Brizen Park / 
Brizen View) that is currently being built out, with permission for 377 dwellings. 
This development is required to provide highway capacity improvements at the 
existing A46 Shurdington Road/Moorend Park Road traffic signal junction, 
traffic calming along Church Road and Leckhampton Lane, along with 
pedestrian improvements in the local area.

3. Local Highway Network-

3.1 The site is located between Farm Lane and Kidnappers Lane. Farm Lane runs 
approximately north-south between Shurdington Road (A46) and Leckhampton Lane. 
The area to the north of Kidnappers Lane is an emerging allocation for residential 
development within the current draft Cheltenham Local Plan.

3.2 Further to the south, Farm Lane joins Leckhampton Lane which, further to the 
east becomes Church Road, which runs approximately south west to north east - 
from the A46 junction at Shurdington (‘The Bell’ junction) to the west, eastwards on 
to Leckhampton Road. There are committed improvements along this route (as part 
of the Brizen Park / Brizen View residential development) including traffic calming 
and pedestrian improvements. This includes additional gateway features, road 
markings and protection for pedestrians at the point of Church Farm where there is 
currently no footway.

3.3 Immediately to the north of the site Farm Lane joins Kidnappers Lane before 
joining the A46 Shurdington Road, which is the primary route to and from the centre 
of Cheltenham from the south-west side of town.

3.4 Existing Highway Safety-

The record of Personal Injury Collisions over a 5 year period up to and 
including May 2019 has been reviewed to give an indication as to how well the 
existing network is operating under current conditions in terms of safety.

3.5 The study area covers the immediate area surrounding the site and extends to 
Leckhampton Lane/Church Road and Leckhampton Road to the east, and the 
Warden Hill area to the north. A total of 5 serious injury collisions are recorded with 
the most relevant being at the A46/Up Hatherley Way roundabout which involved a 
Motorcycle that failed to stop, and at the eastern end of Church Road that involved 
the loss of control for a Motorcycle with no other vehicles involved.
3.6 There are also a total of 9 slight injury collisions recorded, however these are 
all isolated incidents with no pattern or causation factors that would suggest they 
were directly as a result of the existing highway arrangements.

Page 181



4.  Proposed School Development
4.1 Trip Rates and Distribution/Pupil Catchment Area

There is no overall catchment area policy for secondary schools in 
Gloucestershire and each school operates its own policy overseen by the 
Education Authority. As a new school the proposed school does not yet have 
a defined admissions policy, however it is intended that it will be similar to that 
of the nearby Balcarras School located off East End Road, Charlton Kings; as 
it will be the Balcarras Academy Trust who will be the sponsors of the new 
school. Balcarras
School has an admissions policy that prioritises the proximity of a potential 
pupil’s home address giving a geographically small catchment area. This is 
intended to be replicated by the new Leckhampton School and, given the 
potential overlap with nearby existing comprehensive schools at Bournside 
(located on Warden Hill Road) and Balcarras, the anticipated catchment area 
is likely to be particularly small.

4.2  However, it is necessary to determine the potential pupil post codes for the 
new school in order to predict the distribution of where future pupils are likely 
to travel to and from and therefore the routes they would be expected to take 
by all modes of travel. This allows the likely traffic impact of the development 
to be assessed and improvements for walking and cycling facilities to be 
concentrated in the right places.

4.3  In order to do this, pupil postcode data has been provided by Gloucestershire 
County Council as the Education Authority, which includes current Primary 
aged pupils in the local area that would be due to start secondary level 
education at the time of the opening of the proposed secondary school. 
Notwithstanding the expectations above regarding the projected small size of 
the future school catchment area, the HDM Department requested and it was 
agreed that to achieve a
fully robust pupil distribution assessment, thus providing a degree of comfort 
for nearby residents and the wider community, that a wider geographic range 
of postcode data within Cheltenham Borough would be provided. This covers 
the additional areas of Up Hatherley, The Reddings, Benhall and Rowanfield. 
This effective doubling of the catchment area, gave the location of 2,186 
potential pupils within the central, southern and western areas of Cheltenham. 
This is not to say that all these prospective pupils would or could come to the 
new school, as there would be a limit on the capacity of the school (900 
pupils) and its forms of entry and nearby pupils would be favoured, as is the 
case with the existing Balcarras School. Thus by extending the pupil postcode 
areas, this revised approach in defining the school catchment area will allow a 
more robust assessment of the potential vehicle trip generation and 
distribution patterns to/from the school.

4.4 For the purposes of calculating a development-related vehicle trip generation 
for the weekday peak periods and subsequently testing the likely traffic 
impact, it was necessary to consider the peak periods of both the proposed 
land use and the existing traffic on the local highway network. For this reason 
three time periods have been assessed. Firstly the AM peak period (08:00-

Page 182



09:00 hrs) where the highest number of development trips (school related) 
coincide with the peak usage of the local highway network, the afternoon peak 
period (15:00-16:00 hrs) referred to as the Inter-peak period (IP) where the 
highest number of development trips (school related) occur in the afternoon 
and when the existing use of the local network is lower, and finally the PM  
peak period (17:00-18:00 hrs) where there is a lower number of development
trips (school related) mostly associated with staff and after school clubs etc., 
which coincide with the evening peak hour period on the local highway 
network. At the current time the exact start and finish times of the school have 
not been set out, however these time periods are considered to be a 
reasonable representation for assessment and are consistent with other 
schools.

4.5 Pupil Home Postcodes - Distribution

As set out above, the pupil distribution (postcode data) was provided by GCC 
Education, as they are the competent authority to assess where likely pupil 
numbers will arise from. The resulting distribution was set across 12 local post 
code areas, with the majority for areas of GL51 and GL53. These postcodes 
represent: The Reddings/Benhall/Shurdington and Leckhampton/Charlton 
Park/Moor End areas of Cheltenham and, whilst it is recognised that the likely 
pupil numbers from The Reddings/Benhall areas are likely to be lower given 
the distance to the proposed school, this again provides evidence of the 
robust assessment of potential future travel patterns we have taken bearing in 
mind as always parental preference for which school a child would wish to 
attend.

4.6 Based on the agreed pupil postcode distribution using the data provided by 
GCC Education, it was agree that the resultant school trips by car mode 
should be assigned on to the local highway network according to the quickest 
main road routes to and from the proposed school site.

4.7 Predicted Trip Movements and Travel by different Modes- School Pupils 
- Given the nature of the development there is the potential for a number of 
modes of travel to the school. In order to assess the likely modal choice for 
pupils travelling to and from the school a Technical Note (02) – Multi-Modal 
Baseline Travel Data - was prepared by the transport consultants, for 
assessment and agreement. This sets out the likely mode choice for pupils 
travelling to the school along with a separate assessment for staff, with the 
pupil trip data based on existing travel patterns for comparable local 
secondary level schools (Balcarras, Bournside and Pittville schools).

4.8 National Travel Survey (NTS) data for School Travel Patterns to/from 
Secondary Schools in England, produced by the Department for Transport, 
has been reviewed and compared with the locally derived pupil mode share 
percentage and trip distance information.

4.9 Following discussions and review of evidence, the predicted modal choice for 
pupils travelling to / from the proposed school has been agreed as: - 21% by 
car (including car sharing), 65% by walking/cycling modes and 14% by bus 
(using existing services). Based on these mode choice percentages and 

Page 183



assuming a total of 900 pupils attending the school, it is estimated that there 
could be 141 associated vehicle arrivals during the AM drop-off and 132 
during the PM pick-up periods.

4.10 Also, based on the agreed postcode distribution assumptions, 89% of pupils 
(800) are predicted to live within 2 miles of the proposed school (compared to 
49% based on NTS national data); this is as a consequence of the nature of 
the catchment area and likely management of admissions to favour those 
living closest to the school, as at Balcarras school.

4.11 Staff travel- The Technical Note has also considered the travel mode of 
school staff separately to those of the pupils, as they will inevitably have 
different characteristics and a wider travel to work catchment area. Information 
from recent Bournside and Balcarras school staff travel surveys was used to 
provide a set of average mode share statistics for the proposed school. The 
information is considered to be comparable to the proposed school and it is 
anticipated that the proximity of the proposed school to regular bus services 
and the proposed sustainable travel improvements give the potential for staff 
to travel by a wider variety of modes.

4.12 The arrival and departure times of staff have been determined from a survey 
of the existing Balcarras School staff. Based on the above comparison mode 
share information sources, it is predicted that 80% of school staff will travel by 
car (including car sharing), 18% by walking/cycling modes and 2% by bus 
(existing services). This is compared to 84% by car at Bournside School and 
77% at Balcarras School. Whilst the predicted car usage is comparatively high 
it is acknowledged that many teachers have to carry large numbers of books 
for marking or equipment for lessons.

4.13  Given the likely staff arrival and departure travel time characteristics, it is 
estimated that there could be approximately 33 staff vehicle arrivals 
associated with the school during the network AM peak hour (08:00-09:00hrs) 
and 15 departing during the network PM peak hour (17:00-18:00hrs) periods.

4.14 Following agreement with the HDM Department, the distribution of the school 
staff trips has been undertaken using data from the 2011 Census Journey to 
Work category for the Cheltenham 015 Super Output area. These trips have 
then been assigned a route on the network according to the quickest route to 
the defined destinations.

5.  Transport Assessment

The additional vehicle movements associated with the development – as set 
out above, have been tested to assess the likely impact on the operation of 
the local highway network using industry standard computer software. The 
primary traffic assessment has been undertaken using S-Paramics Discovery 
micro simulation modelling. Micro simulation modelling means that each 
individual vehicle is modelled along with the interaction between vehicles such 
as the exit of upstream or downstream junctions being blocked by queues 
further along the road, and allows for vehicles to change their route within the 

Page 184



model depending on traffic conditions and therefore offers a closer replication 
of the real world environment than could be provided by individual ‘stand-
alone’ junction models.

5.1 A 2018 Base year S-Paramics model has been developed based on traffic 
surveys of observed traffic movements from that year. This enables the model 
to be developed using up to date traffic data and calibrated as close as 
possible to current network conditions and operation. The Base model has 
been reviewed by GCC’s Transport Consultants and it is considered that the 
model is a suitable base on which to test the impact of the development traffic.

5.2 ‘Stand-alone’ junction modelling using industry standard JUNCTIONS 9 
computer software has also been undertaken for the nearby A46 / Kidnappers 
Lane junction, to determine the potential worst case operational performance, 
which ignores the effects of ‘gap creation’ on the A46 mainline traffic flows due 
to the activation of nearby existing and proposed signalised pedestrian 
crossings; which in reality will occur and assist in providing gaps for vehicles 
exiting the Kidnappers Lane side road.

5.3  In addition to the 2018 Base Year assessment, the development traffic has 
been tested for a future year of 2026 as this is the year when the school is 
considered to be fully operational with all of the school years filled (Y7 to Y11). 
Different modelling scenarios were considered in the traffic assessment of the 
application. However, there was a criticism received that, during the 2018 
traffic count carried out at the A46 / Kidnappers Lane junction, one of the 
vehicle turning movements – the A46 Shurdington Road northbound straight-
ahead movement - appeared to have had a low and unrealistic flow recorded 
during the AM peak hour (08:00-09:00hrs); in answer to this, the HDM 
Department reviewed the base year traffic count data and requested the 
development’s transport consultants to model the effects of adding a further 
100 vehicles in the AM peak hour on the A46 Shurdington Road northbound 
arm to ensure that the base year figures were more representative of ‘typical’ 
base AM peak flows. Therefore, adding an additional 100 vehicles to this A46 
northbound straight-ahead peak hour movement has provided an assessment 
of the ‘resilience’ of the junction in terms of reviewing the potential impact of 
any increase in traffic flow on the capacity and operational performance.

5.4  Detailed review and assessment of the model outputs did raise some issues 
with the A46 / Kidnappers Lane junction and this have now been addressed. It 
is proposed that, in mitigation, the school development will provide some 
limited widening to the carriageway of Kidnappers Lane on the side road 
approach to the A46, to allow 6 vehicles queuing in separate and parallel left 
and right turning lanes, therefore increasing the approach road flare length 
and thus allowing for a greater number of right turning vehicles to queue 
before blocking left turning vehicles from exiting the side road. This will allow 
side road left turning traffic to exit through the junction more quickly.

5.5 An allowance has been made for reduced background traffic growth forecasts 
between 2018 and 2026, which are derived from the Department for 
Transport’s TEMPro (Trip End Model Presentation Program) software. The 

Page 185



latest nationally derived TEMPro figures – Version 7.2b, released on 3rd 
October 2019 , have enabled the transport consultants traffic modellers to 
revise their modelling results, as the expected growth in traffic is now less than 
that originally forecast and assumed in the Transport Assessment submitted in 
July 2019.

5.6  A further review of the Transport Assessment 2026 Reference Case has thus 
been undertaken, which in addition to assuming completion of the nearby 
Farm Lane committed development, plus the fully opened Secondary school 
and incorporating the improved side road flare length at Kidnappers Lane to 
allow up to 6 vehicles to queue in parallel to each other, now includes the 
recently released reduced background traffic growth.

5.7 The results from the latest revised junction traffic assessment – based on the 
PICADY stand-alone modelling, provides a worst case scenario of a maximum 
queue length of 42 vehicles occurring at the A46 junction on the Kidnappers 
Lane side road approach, with a Maximum Average Delay of approximately 6 
minutes.

5.8 Reviewing the above baseline ‘2026 Reference Case’ junction capacity 
assessments, the results show that vehicle queues and associated delays on 
Kidnappers Lane are predicted to be highest during the AM peak hour, with 
any ‘backing up’ of vehicles on this side road approach arm occurring mainly 
within a limited 25 minute period between 08:20 and 08:45hrs; during the 
network PM peak hour, queues develop over a shorter 15 to 20 minute time 
period between 17:20 and 17:40hrs. It should also be noted that these 
operational assessment results are ‘worst case’, as the PICADY modelling 
cannot take into account the effects of gap creation on the A46 mainline flows 
due to activation of the nearby existing and proposed signalised pedestrian 
crossings, nor the effects of driver courtesy behaviour.

5.9  This assessment has been based on a future year of 2026 with the school fully 
occupied (900 pupils). The intention is that the school will expand gradually on 
a yearly basis with an additional ‘form entry’ intake of pupils each year and so 
the associated traffic impact will also increase proportionally year on year until 
full occupation of the school in 2026. The provision of the proposed mitigation 
at the outset of the development will benefit the operation of the junction 
overall, however there will be a particular benefit during the first few years of 
operation of the school, prior to full admission of all school years.

5.10 Whilst it has not yet been confirmed, it is relevant to consider the fact that the 
land to the north east of Kidnappers Lane is being promoted for residential 
development (proposal for up to 350 dwellings) through the emerging 
Cheltenham Local Plan. Current plans would mean the existing northern 
section of Kidnappers Lane is diverted in to the western edge of the new 
residential development to a new junction with the A46 and this could take the 
form of a roundabout (or traffic signals) which would greatly improve traffic 
flows at the junction. From assessment and review of the ‘cumulative impact’ 
traffic modelling outputs, it is noted that any such future additional 
development will substantially improve local network operational conditions, 

Page 186



given the associated junction improvement mitigation proposals. Traffic 
modelling has shown this new junction is shown to operate well within 
capacity.

5.11 However, and  with the existing A46 / Kidnappers Lane junction remaining as 
the main access for the school from the A46 for the time being, assuming no 
development of the land to the north east of Kidnappers Lane. This is based 
on the fact that the application for potential development of the adjacent land 
to the north east of Kidnappers Lane has yet to be submitted and decided 
upon through the planning process; thus ensuring that the proposals can be 
undertaken on the existing network.

5.12 In order to address possible issues as a result of increased vehicle queues 
and delays at this junction, prior to any future residential development, further 
work will be undertaken to examine additional solutions to provide ‘gap 
creation’ to the A46 / Kidnappers Lane junction by the introduction of 
additional ‘Keep Clear’ and ‘Yellow Box’ road marking restrictions within the 
junction to provide ‘gaps’ for vehicles to exit Kidnappers Lane. This will be 
enhanced by the upgrading of the existing Pelican crossing to a ‘Toucan’ 
crossing with the addition of a further ‘Toucan’ crossing located 160m to the 
northeast of the kidnappers Lane junction on the A46 Shurdington Road.

5.13 From the junction capacity assessment modelling work undertaken, it should 
be noted that it is predicted that any ‘backing up’ of vehicles on the Kidnapper 
Lane side road will mainly occur within the AM peak hour over what may be up 
to a maximum 25 minute period within that hour (between 08:20 and 
08:45hrs); during the network PM peak hour, queues will develop over a 
lesser 15 to 20 minute time period between 17:20 and 17:40hrs, which is the 
case with nearly every school within the country and is not exceptional.

5.14 It should be noted however that with any new development, particularly in the 
case of a new school, there is bound to be an associated impact on the local 
highway network, but this can be accepted over limited periods providing it is 
not unreasonable; which is why GCC as the Highway Authority has required 
the most robust assessment of the traffic impact from this proposed 
development on the existing A46 junction.

5.15 Clearly, the new school will have a localised impact on the nearby A46 main 
road junction with Kidnappers Lane; although the proposed junction capacity 
improvements (comprising an increased 40 metre flare length on the 
Kidnappers Lane side road approach arm) will help mitigate the impact on 
queues and delays under peak traffic conditions.

5.16 The data used for the traffic assessment is considered to be a worst case 
scenario, with a relatively high element of predicted car usage (21%) in terms 
of pupil trips to/from the proposed school. It should be noted that, based on 
data collected in recent years at Balcarras and Bournside schools, equivalent 
average ‘pupil mode share’ percentages by car at these schools are 17% and 
14% respectively.

Page 187



6. School Travel Plan

An indicative School Travel Plan has been submitted and has been scrutinised 
and reviewed and will be included within appropriate conditions which would 
be necessary for a development of this scale. There is a list of indicative 
measures and the full School Travel Plan will address these and there will be 
opportunities to influence travel behaviour. The School Travel Plan will be a 
live ongoing document and will remain in force for the lifetime of the school; 
there will be annual reviews to establish if modal share targets are being met 
and what can be done by education to improve upon these results. The 
proposed school will be advocating and actively encouraging travel to school 
by sustainable modes, particularly walking and cycling, and this will feature 
heavily in the School Transport Plan.

7. Walking, Cycling and Horse riding Assessment Review (WCHAR)

A walking, cycling and horse riding assessment review (WCHAR) has been 
compiled by the applicants transport consultants, WYG. This is a nationally 
recognised method of assessing Non-Motorised User (NMU) trips to and from 
destinations. The results from this assessment then went on to inform the 
designers of the development proposals of the areas that needed to be made 
to provide safe walking and cycling routes to and from the school.

7.1  Following on from consultation responses from the Parish Councils and 
members of the public and further assessment by the council’s consultant’s 
Cotswold Transport Planning and GCC Highways Development Management 
officers, further improvements have been made. These have then been again 
further assessed through the Road Safety Audit process. Many sections of 
existing and proposed footways will be widened and where possible converted 
to footway/cycleway provisions.

7.2  All these improvements to the footways cycleway and carriageways are 
shown and included on the submitted and amended application plans. These 
form an integral part of the documents for any approval of the application. For 
the avoidance of doubt and for the purposes of the works and improvements 
to the public highway under the terms of the T & C P Act 1980, the Highway 
Authority is satisfied that the statutory consultation period has been complied 
with.

8. Road Safety Audit

A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit report has been submitted. This was assessed 
and a number of recommendations were made, primarily involving the safety 
of pupils and staff walking to the school. The designers responded by 
accepting these recommendations and addressed these concerns by 
amending their plans. We have reviewed these and found them to be 
acceptable in consultation with our own Road Safety Auditors. There will be 
follow up audits carried out at opening and post opening to assess the safety 
of the scheme.

Page 188



8.1 Proposals for a school safety zone and a local area parking strategy with 
appropriate restrictions have been formulated and plans have been prepared 
and are included within the submitted amended application plans.

9. Car and cycle Parking

At the northern boundary of the proposed new school will be the main access 
into the school from Kidnappers Lane. This leads into the main car parking 
area providing 91 car parking spaces including 15 spaces for parent/guardian 
pupil pickup bays; this further leads to provision for coach and minibus parking 
and delivery drop off. There are also sheltered cycle bays in this area.

9.1 A secondary access is from Farm Lane to the west of the site and this leads to 
19 visitor parking spaces including 5 spaces reserved for people with 
disabilities and a further area for pupil drop off.

10. Summary

This is a major planning application and as a Regulation 3 application it has to 
be considered in an open and fair process. GCC as the Education Authority 
are the experts in assessing the needs for secondary education in a particular 
area and are aware of the anticipated locations where pupils will be drawn 
from. GCC as the Highway Authority have to consider the transport 
implications on the local highway network and ensure that there are safe and 
usable routes to the new school, taking into consideration all the information 
by various consultants.

10.1 The inclusion of additional post code areas for consideration has effectively 
doubled the pupil catchment area, and has thus allowed a more robust 
analysis of the potential vehicle trip generation and distribution patterns 
to/from the school, as well as ensuring a worst case assessment of the impact 
on the nearby junction of the A46 Shurdington Road with Kidnappers Lane. 
The Education Authority assessed the catchment areas but we in 
Development Management wanted to look at and examine a worst case 
scenario. The resultant modelling still allowed the junction to function, albeit 
with some delays so in reality, with the likely smaller catchment area where 
pupils will realistically travel from will ensure that the worst case scenario will 
not be reached.

10.2 In addition, the Local Plan development allowing for 350 houses, whilst not 
forming any part of the consideration of this proposal, will provide for improved 
junction capacity along the A46, although the timing of such further 
improvements may not occur during the initial opening years of the school 
prior to its full occupancy.

10.3 The impact on the highway network has been assessed and found to be 
manageable, the accesses are acceptable and the pedestrian and cycling 
routes to and from the school will be upgraded as far as possible depending 
upon geometric restrictions. There will always be an impact with any new 

Page 189



development such as a new school and a balanced and equitable view has to 
be taken in arriving at a recommendation.

10.4 In summary, Highways Development Management Officers are satisfied 
from all the evidence which has been presented and rigorously 
scrutinised and are satisfied that no objections should be raised subject 
to conditions as follows:

1. Throughout the construction period of the development hereby permitted 
provision shall be made within the site that is sufficient to accommodate the 
likely demand generated for the following:

i. parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
iv. provide for wheel washing facilities
Prior to commencement of any highway works the subject of any ensuing 
S278 Highway Works
Agreement for the site, the Applicant is required to establish and maintain, and 
keep
maintained for the duration of those highway works, a ‘Residents Liaison 
Group’ (“RLG”) to
comprise of one representative each from:
 The Applicant/Developer
 The County Council as Highway Authority
 The County Council as County Planning Authority, and
 Local Residents representative.

Reason: To reduce the potential impact on the public highway and 
accommodate the efficient delivery of goods and to ensure that the adjoining 
public highway is kept free from mud and debris in accordance with paragraph 
108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The vehicle routeing strategy as submitted shall be adhered to throughout 
the construction period.

Reason: To reduce the potential impact on the public highway and 
accommodate the efficient delivery of goods in accordance with paragraph 
110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the 
details and timetable therein, and shall be continued thereafter, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the County Planning Authority.

Reason:- The development will generate a significant amount of movement 
and to ensure that the appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable 
transport modes are taken up in accordance with paragraphs 108 and 111 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.
4. No building on the development shall be occupied until the carriageways, 
including surface water drainage/disposal, vehicular turning heads and street 

Page 190



lighting providing access from the nearest public highway have been 
completed to at least binder course level and the footways to surface course 
level.

Reason: - To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and 
cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with paragraphs 108 and 110 the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

5.  Prior to occupation of the proposed development hereby permitted the first 
10m of the proposed access road, including the junction with the existing 
public road and associated visibility splays, shall be completed to at least 
binder course level.

Reason: - To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and 
cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

6. No above ground works shall commence on site until a scheme has been 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by the Council, for the provision of fire 
hydrants (served by mains water supply) and no part of the development shall 
be occupied until the hydrant serving that part of the development has been 
provided to the satisfaction of the CPA.

Reason: To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site for 
the local fire service to access and tackle any fire in accordance with 
paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle 
storage facilities have been made available for use in accordance with the 
submitted plan and those facilities shall be maintained for the duration of the 
development.

Reason:- To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle 
parking is provided, to promote cycle use and to ensure that the appropriate 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up in 
accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

8. The buildings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the vehicular 
parking, turning and loading/unloading facilities have been provided in 
accordance with the submitted plans and those facilities shall be maintained 
available for those purposes thereafter.

Reason:- To ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all 
people that minimises the scope for conflict between traffic and cyclists and 
pedestrians is provided in accordance with the paragraphs 108 and 110 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 191



Informatives:

a) The proposed development will involve works to be carried out on the public 
highway and the Developer is required to enter into a legally binding Highway 
Works Agreement including an appropriate bond with the County Council as 
Highway Authority before commencing those works.

b) The school Safety Zone and parking restrictions as shown on the submitted 
plans will require Traffic Regulation Orders and the applicant is advised to 
commence these procedures as soon as practicable.

Page 192



APPLICATION NO: 19/0025/FDMAJW VALIDATION DATE: 20 June 2019

DISTRICT REF:          P1046/19/CPC

APPLICANT: Mr John Reilly, Lydney Skip Hire

SITE: Unit 37 Lydney Industrial Estate, Harbour Road
 
PROPOSAL: Waste recycling facility 

PARISH OF:

Lydney Town Council

SITE AREA: 

    6432 m2

GRID REF: 

364494, 
201727

RECOMMENDED: That planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons set out in this 
report and summarised at paragraphs 7.57 to 7.60 and subject to the 
conditions set out in section 8.0

1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

1.1 The site is located on Lydney Industrial Estate, off Harbour Road. The industrial estate is 
located to the south east of Lydney, south of the A48. Lydney Golf course lies to the 
northeast of the industrial estate, with the River Severn to the south. A wetlands area is 
located to the west of the industrial estate, with a canal and fields to the southwest of the 
industrial estate.  

1.2 The 0.64 ha site consists of waste ground with one single-story industrial building (Unit 37). 
The applicant states that the building was last occupied as a storage facility until January 
2019. Prior to this it was used for the temporary storage of empty containers. The site has 
been cleared and comprises a compressed soil surface with gravel and rock debris. 

1.3 The access to the site is a via the industrial estate access roads, with the main entrance to 
the estate being off Harbour Road. 

1.4 There are no residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the application site. The 
nearest residential property known as Naas House lies approximately 257 metres to the 
east and Naas Court lies approximately 466 metres to the northeast. Lydney Golf 
Clubhouse lies approximately 375 metres to the east. To the north, west and south lies the 
industrial estate where various companies are located.  

1.5 The site itself is not located within any flood zone. There is a corridor of land within 
Floodzone 1 adjacent to the industrial estate, which follows the line of the River Severn, as 
identified on the Environment Agency flood maps. The site is not underlain by an aquifer. 
There is a public right of way which runs along the northern boundary of the industrial site, 
in a north-easterly direction.

Page 193

Agenda Item 8



1.6 The site lies within a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) impact zone. The River 
Severn to the southeast of the industrial estate and the riverbank immediately adjoining is 
designated as a Ramsar site, a SSSI, and a Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Part of 
Lydney Docks is designated as a Scheduled Monument.

Site location plan: 

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100019134. Scale 1: 5000

2.0 THE PROPOSAL

2.1 The proposal involves the change of use of an unused plot of land to a recycling facility 
designed to accept and manage bulky household items and inert construction waste. All the 
waste brought to the site will be mostly bulky household items, soil, stone and some 
commercial and industrial from local companies.

2.2 The applicant states the volume and type of waste received and processed per year would 
include 24,999 tonnes (T) of inert waste, 5,000 T of non-hazardous waste (commercial and 
industrial and bulky household items), 150 T of metal (non-hazardous) waste, 240 T of tyre 
waste. Hazardous waste would not be permitted. Material would be brought onto the site 
via heavy commercial vehicles (HCV) including those operated by the company’s skip hire 
business. Access is proposed via a metal double gate capable of allowing two-way traffic to 
use.

Page 194



2.3 The proposal includes use of an existing building on the site to which it is proposed to 
adjoin a lean-to steel framed building to be constructed. The buildings are to be used as a 
sorting area for waste materials as well as storage of consumables and paper bales. The 
site also proposes the use of open bay storage areas. A concrete surface area 
approximately 59m by 39m is proposed for use in offloading the waste materials into the 
covered area.  An L-shaped hard standing area (100m by 27m by 50m by 30m) is 
proposed to the east and north of the site to accommodate the construction waste, which 
would be sorted and stored into differing grades and stored in the proposed storage bays. 
Boundary ground drains will guide water off the concrete and hardstanding areas into two 
proposed interceptors within the site. Further drainage is proposed for flood and foul water. 
Operating hours are proposed to be Monday to Friday 0700 to 1900, Saturdays 0700 to 
1700 and 0700 to 1900 on Sundays and bank holidays. Staff and operational vehicle 
parking is proposed to the north on the hardstanding. This area will also be used to store 
empty and full containers. 

2.4 Inert waste material comprising demolition/construction wastes, brick/ rubble and soils will 
be imported and then stockpiled for processing. The materials will be crushed using mobile 
plant. Finished materials will be placed into specific stockpiles and holding bays for future 
distribution. 

Environmental Impact Assessment – Screening

The proposed development 

The application was not accompanied by an Environmental Statement.  Under Regulation 8 
of  The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Regulations 2017 
(EIA Regs) the Waste Planning Authority (WPA) must screen the proposal to determine if 
there may be significant environmental effects as if a screening opinion had been 
requested by the applicant under Regulation 6(6).  

Under the above EIA Regs the proposal falls under the description of development, 
Schedule 2, Column 1 Section 11 'Other projects' (b) 'Installations for the disposal of waste 
(unless included in Schedule 1)’ and Column 2 ‘(ii) the area of the development exceeds 
0.5 hectare; or (iii) the installation is to be sited within 100 metres of any controlled waters.'

It was considered that the use of the application site as a bulky household items and inert 
construction waste recycling facility, with appropriate mitigation, would not have a 
significant impact on the environment, either by itself or in combination with other 
development in the vicinity of the site. The potential impacts were not considered to have a 
significant effect to warrant the production of an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).  
An Environmental Statement (ES) has therefore not been requested.

Application documents

The application documents include:
 Planning application form:
 Planning, Design and Access Statement;
 Ecological Appraisal (Blakedown Environmental, August 2019);
 Drainage Report (Southwest Environmental Limited, August 2019);

Page 195



 Asbestos Report (Survey Services Chartered Consultancy Ltd, March 2019);
 Drainage Plan;
 Fire Prevention Plan;
 Site Location Plan (00) 001 V3; and
 Proposed Site Plan (00) 002.

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

The applicant already operates a waste recycling site at Unit 48 (04/0060/FDFUL) on the 
industrial estate and there are several other waste uses within the industrial estate. There 
is no County planning history for these waste uses on the industrial estate.

Planning Ref Development Decision 

04/0060/FDFUL Archive Recycling facility with associated storage 
and ancillary activities

Approved 8th 
December 

2004

P0688/19/OUT
(Adjacent to 
eastern boundary 
of Lydney 
Industrial Estate)

A hybrid planning application comprising of all 
existing structures and their demolition and mixed 
use development and associated infrastructure and 
works comprising of fish processing building 
(20,600m2 B2 use), Building consisting of an eel 
farm (8,000m2 of B2 use), plus 1,300m2 
restaurant/cafe (A3 use) and 700m2 visitor centre 
(D1 use). Energy centre (800m2 B2 use), storage 
building (500m2 ancillary to B2 use), Amenity 
building for HGV drivers (150m2 ancillary to B2 use), 
Generator building/substations (500m2 ancillary to 
B2 use), staff accommodation consisting of 3 No. 3 
bed dwelling houses, 8 No. 1 bed apartments, 4 No. 
2 bed apartments and 18 shared units of 
accommodation for seasonal staff. New pedestrian, 
cycle and vehicular accesses onto Harbour road and 
a network of internal routes. 2 No water treatment 
lagoons, parking areas for visitors, staff and HGVs. 
Landscaping and planting and associated 
development and works. Utilities infrastructure 
including water supply, foul and surface water 
sewers and underground tanks, electrical supply 
(including substations), telecommunications 
equipment, on site renewable energy and associated 
works. Outline application (all reserved matters for 
approval other than external appearance) for the 
erection of a building containing up to 2,500m2 of 
A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5 uses.

Pending

4.0 PLANNING POLICY 

Page 196



4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) and associated Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG), together with the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014 (NPPW), form 
the national guidance for the determination of planning applications.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published in March 2012 has been twice 
revised.  This revised document (February 2019) sets out the Government’s planning 
policies and how these should be applied with immediate effect.  The NPPF is a material 
consideration in planning decisions and must be taken into account.

NPPF Paragraph 7 advises that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development.  Sustainable development means that 3 
overarching objectives of building a strong and competitive economy, maintaining healthy 
and vibrant communities and protecting the environment need to be pursued.  

NPPF Paragraph 11 advises that decision takers should apply a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development by:  

 approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan 
without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies are out of date, 
granting permission unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas 
or assets of particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the proposed 
development or any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 
taken as a whole.

NPPF Paragraph 108 advises that, in assessing proposals for development, it should be 
ensured that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users, while 
NPPF Paragraph 109 requires development should not be refused on highway grounds 
unless there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.  

NPPF Paragraph 170 states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to 
enhance the natural and local environment.

NPPF Paragraph 175 requires the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and 
geodiversity and, in determining applications, should avoid significant harm through locating 
on an alternative site with less harmful impacts, mitigate or as a last resort compensated 
otherwise permission should be refused.

NPPF Paragraph 180 advises that planning “decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely effects of pollution 
on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity 
of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.  In so doing 
they should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from 
noise from new development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impact on 
health and the quality of life.”  

Page 197



NPPF Paragraph 183 states “The focus of planning decisions should be on whether the 
proposed development is an acceptable use of land rather than the control of processes or 
emissions where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes.  Planning 
decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively”.

The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies as these are published in the National 
Planning Policy for Waste (Oct 2014) as part of the National Waste Management Plan for 
England

National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW)

4.2 The National Planning Policy for Waste was issued in October 2014.  The government 
expects that decisions on waste applications should have regard to policies in the NPPW 
so far as they are relevant.  When determining waste planning applications, the WPA 
should only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative or market need for new or 
enhanced waste management facilities where proposals are not consistent with an up to 
date Local Plan.  In such cases, the WPA should consider the extent to which the capacity 
of existing operational facilities would satisfy any identified need.

The NPPW states that the Government is seeking a more sustainable and efficient 
approach to resource use and management and identifies positive planning as playing a 
pivotal role in achieving this.  In testing the suitability of sites in determining planning 
applications, the WPA is asked to consider 12 locational factors set out in Appendix B of 
the NPPW.  The WPA should ensure that waste management facilities are well designed so 
that they contribute positively to the character and quality of the area in which they are 
located.  They are also urged to bear in mind the type and scale of the waste management 
facility.  The 12 locational considerations are:

a) Protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management;
b) Land instability;
c) Landscape and visual impacts;
d) Nature conservation;
e) Conserving the historic environment;
f) Traffic and access;
g) Air emissions including dust;
h) Odours
i) Vermin and birds;
j) Noise, light and vibration;
k) Litter and 
l) Potential land use conflict.

Development Plan Policies for Gloucestershire

4.3 Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plans relevant to this 
planning application are the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (adopted November 
2012), Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002 -2012 (adopted October 2004) (within which 
the ‘saved’ policies which are relevant to the proposed development and considered to be 
NPPF compliant) and Forest of Dean District Local Plan (adopted February 2012) and 
Allocations Plan (2006-2026).

Page 198



4.4 Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (adopted Nov 2012)

WCS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
“When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants jointly to find 
solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where relevant, with 
policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at 
the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:
• Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning Policy 
Framework taken as a whole; or
• Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted.”

Core Policy WCS3 – Recycling & Composting
“In order to achieve the Gloucestershire local authorities' household recycling and 
composting target of at least 60% by 2020, and diversion of an additional 91,000 – 111,000 
tonnes per year of C&I waste from landfill, the Council will support in principle, proposals 
relating to the development of new and expanded recycling and composting facilities 
including businesses that process recyclates and re-use waste.

Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:

1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses 
is acceptable. Proposals for composting generally must be at least 250m from sensitive 
land uses such as housing unless it can be demonstrated that it can operate in closer 
proximity without adverse impact.

2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.

3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management system for 
Gloucestershire.

4. If the proposal is of a 'strategic' scale (>50,000 tonnes/year) it is located in the area 
defined as 'Zone C' (see Key Diagram). 

Particular support will be given to proposals that:

- Are located within1 or close to an urban area; and/or
- Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or underutilised employment land 
and/or redundant rural buildings including farm diversification opportunities; and/or
- Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or complimentary nature; and/or
- Incorporate alternatives to the transport of waste by road (rail, water etc.), and/or

Page 199



- Are well located to allow employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public transport.

Proposals for the development of markets for recycled materials, in particular initiatives to 
assist small to medium-sized businesses to re-use/recycle their
discarded waste materials will be supported and encouraged through partnership working 
including the Gloucestershire Waste Partnership.

1 It is acknowledged that in the case of composting it may prove difficult to locate within an 
urban area due to a 250m buffer generally being required for issues relating to bio-
aerosols.”

WCS4- Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery
“In order to help reduce the impact of landfill and achieve the requirements of the Waste 
Framework Directive (2008) the Council will aim to divert around 85,000 tonnes/year of 
inert waste from landfill through recycling and recovery operations.

Proposals for inert waste recycling and recovery facilities will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that:
1. The impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is acceptable including 
detailed assessment of the impact of noise and dust and attenuation measures.
2. Where viable, the proposal incorporates the use of alternatives to road transport such as 
rail and water and that where road transport is used the highway access is suitable for the 
proposed vehicle movements and is supported by a transport assessment and travel plan 
setting out measures to encourage employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public 
transport.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management system for 
Gloucestershire.
4. If the proposal is permanent and of a ‘strategic’ scale (>50,000 tonnes/year) it is located 
in the area defined as ‘Zone C’ (see Key Diagram) except where located within an existing 
or disused mineral working.

Developments may be acceptable on existing waste management sites and mineral 
workings where it can be demonstrated that the minimum amount of materials are being 
used for restoration/engineering purposes and that the use will not unduly prejudice the 
agreed restoration principles and timescale for the site. Temporary developments may be 
acceptable where the material is recycled and re-used on site”

WCS10 – Cumulative Impact
“In determining proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced waste 
management facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative effects of previous and 
existing waste management facilities on local communities alongside the potential benefits 
of co-locating complimentary facilities together. Planning permission will be granted where 
the proposal would not have an unacceptable cumulative impact. In considering the issue 
of cumulative impact, particular regard will be given to the following:
1. Environmental quality;
2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and
3. Economic potential.
Within these broad categories this will, subject to the scale and nature of the proposal, 
include an assessment of the following issues: noise, odour, traffic
(including accessibility and sustainable transport considerations), dust, health,

Page 200



ecology and visual impacts.”

WCS 11 – Safeguarding Sites for Waste Management
“Existing and allocated sites for waste management use will normally be safeguarded by 
local planning authorities who must consult the Waste Planning Authority where there is 
likely to be incompatibility between land uses. Proposals that would adversely affect, or be 
adversely affected by, waste management uses will not be permitted unless it can be 
satisfactorily demonstrated by the applicant that there would be no conflict.

The WPA will oppose proposals for development that would prejudice the use of the site for 
waste management.”

WCS12 – Flood Risk
This policy sets out policy criteria for consideration for proposals within floodzones.
“Proposals for waste-related development within Flood Zone 3b (the functional floodplain) 
will not be permitted other than 'water compatible' proposals such as sewage transmission 
infrastructure and pumping stations and, subject to the exception test, development which 
is classified as 'essential infrastructure'.
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required for all development of 1 hectare or more 
and for any proposal located within Flood Zone 2 and 3a. The FRA should consider all 
sources of potential flood risk.
The design of all new development will be required to take account of current and potential 
future flood risk from all sources both on and off-site including in particular the use of 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS).”

WCS14- Landscape
“Proposals for waste development will be permitted where they do not have a significant 
adverse effect on the local landscape as identified in the Landscape Character Assessment 
or unless the impact can be mitigated. Where significant adverse impacts cannot be fully 
mitigated, the social, environmental and economic benefits of the proposal must outweigh 
any harm arising from the impacts.”

WCS15 – Nature Conservation
“Planning permission for waste management development within or outside a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or National Nature Reserve (NNR) will only be granted 
where it can be demonstrated that:
- The development would not conflict with the conservation, management and 
enhancement of the site unless the harmful aspects can be satisfactorily mitigated; and
- The benefit of the development clearly outweighs the impacts that the proposal would 
have on the key features of the site; and
- The proposal complies with other relevant policies of the development plan; and
- In the case of a SSSI, there would be no broader impact on the national network of SSSIs.
Local nature conservation designations will also be safeguarded from inappropriate 
development and planning permission will only be granted for development affecting such 
designations where it can be demonstrated that the impact of the development can be 
satisfactorily mitigated and that the benefit of the development clearly outweighs any 
impact.

Development proposals will be required to assess their impact on the natural environment 
and make a contribution to local nature conservation targets to ensure net gain for 
biodiversity”.

Page 201



Core Policy WCS 16 –Historic Environment
“Planning permission for waste management that would have a significant adverse impact 
upon heritage assets including their integrity, character and setting will only be granted 
where it can be demonstrated that:

-the benefits of the development clearly outweighs the impacts that the proposal would 
have in the key features of the site; or 
- the proposal includes adequate measures to mitigate adverse impacts: and
- the proposal complies with other relevant policies of the development plan.

There will be a presumption in favour of the conservation of designated heritage assets, 
and of those heritage assets with archaeological interest that are of demonstrably of 
equivalent significance.”

Core Policy WCS17 - Design
“Subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies, planning permission 
will be granted for waste related development that achieves a high standard of design that 
is clearly robust and articulated through a Design and Access Statement.

Particular issues to address will include:
- How the proposal reflects, responds and is appropriate to its local environment and 
surroundings within Gloucestershire;
- The durability, adaptability and sustainability of the proposal including the use of 
sustainable drainage to reduce the impact of surface water run-off;
- How the proposal makes the most efficient use of the site; and
- The use of high-quality architecture and landscaping.

Poor quality design which fails to reflect or contribute positively to the character and quality 
of the area in which the proposal is located will be rejected.”

WCS18- Bulking and Transfer
“In order to promote greater efficiency and to reduce the potential impact of transporting 
waste by road, particularly on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) the Council will support in 
principle, proposals relating to the development of new and expanded bulking and transfer 
facilities.

Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses 
is acceptable.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management system for 
Gloucestershire.”

WCS19- Sustainable Transport
“In the interests of sustainable development and minimising the impact of waste 
management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider natural and historic environment, 
proposals for waste-related development that utilise alternative modes of transport such as 
rail and water will be positively supported. This is subject to compliance with other relevant 
development plan policies and the contribution to a sustainable waste management system 
for Gloucestershire.

Page 202



Any development exceeding the thresholds set out in the Department for Transport 
publication 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' must be supported by a Transport 
Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan. Consideration will also be had to the location of the 
proposed development in determining whether a TA is required.

Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway network which cannot be 
mitigated will not be permitted.”

4.5 Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 (Adopted October 2004) (WLP)

Policy 33- Water Resources – Pollution Control
“Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no 
unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or 
groundwater resources.”

Policy 37- Proximity to other land uses
“Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such matters as 
the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and health, the countryside, 
the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire, the local highway network, any 
hazardous installation or substance and any adverse cumulative effect in combination with 
other development in the area. Where appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be 
incorporated in the proposals to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, 
landfill gas, vermin, leachate and flue emissions”.

Policy 38- Hours of Operation 
“The waste planning authority will where appropriate impose a condition restricting hours of 
operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity”.

4.6 Forest of Dean Core Strategy (2012) (adopted February 2012)

Policy CSP.1 - Design and environmental protection
“The design and construction of new development must take into account important 
characteristics of the environment and conserve, preserve or otherwise respect them in a 
manner that maintains or enhances their contribution to the environment, including their 
wider context. New development should demonstrate an efficient use of resources. It 
should respect wider natural corridors and other natural areas, providing green 
infrastructure where necessary.
In achieving the above, the following will be considered:

 The effect of the proposal on the landscape including AONBs and any mitigation/ 
enhancement that is necessary or desirable;

 The impact on any protected sites (natural and historic sites and heritage assets and 
potential for avoiding and/ or mitigating any impacts, or providing enhancement, should the 
development be acceptable The requirements of the management plans of the AONBs;

 Whether the existing infrastructure is adequate- additional provision will be required where 
it is not;

 Whether the development is at risk from flooding, whether it can be permitted taking into 
account any risks, and the sequential approach and any mitigation that may be necessary 
to ensure the development is safe and flood risk is not increased elsewhere;

 The impact of the development on any land contamination or risk to the development from 
ground instability including the mining legacy- Proposals must undertake appropriate 

Page 203



remediation measures and verification works where contamination and /or stability issues 
are identified;

 The potential for the development to cause pollution and any mitigation measures to avoid 
pollution or make environmental improvements where existing problems occur;

 The provision of water supply and the development's impact on groundwater, watercourses 
and any protected abstractions;

 Any potential impact on the sterilisation of mineral resources and consideration of the 
potential for the prior extraction of those mineral resources ahead of development; and

 Proposals for waste minimisation and management. 
 Development that is not able to be satisfactorily accommodated in respect of the above will 

not be permitted.”

Policy CSP.2 - Climate Change Adaption 
“Proposals for development will be required to demonstrate that their design and layout will 
reduce the impacts of climatic change as identified in national, regional and local 
predictions over the lifetime of the development concerned. The following should be 
addressed in an integrated way, demonstrating that one element benefits another:

1 Water management
1. Improving water efficiency- proposals should demonstrate high levels of water efficiency.
Rain water harvesting and grey water recycling systems should be incorporated unless it 
can be demonstrated that it is not appropriate in a specific location;
2. Managing surface run off- Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) and measures to 
reduce or avoid water contamination and safeguard ground water supply should be 
incorporated into all development unless it can be demonstrated that this is not appropriate 
in a specific location;
3. Flood risk- ensuring that risks (including changing risks due to climate change) are taken
account of in new development, including improving resistance, resilience and safety of the
areas concerned.

2 Heating and cooling
Proposals will be required to demonstrate how the development comprehensively utilises
passive solar gain and provides cooling for buildings, gardens and communal areas at the
appropriate times of the year.

3 Biodiversity
1. Developments must support green infrastructure corridors that link to existing habitat 
features and networks. They must show that the integrity of any affected nature 
conservation sites is not compromised by the development proposed. Proposals that 
prevent or restrict network connections will not be supported.
2. Developments will be required to make long lasting biodiversity enhancements which 
could include the creation of new habitats where these would be appropriate. They should 
support existing features (trees, ponds, hedgerows etc.), provide and manage public open 
space and should also provide additional features for a wide variety of species and habitats 
in appropriate locations throughout the development. Additional features provided should 
be consistent with the characteristics of the surrounding area”.

Policy CSP.4 – Development at Settlements

Page 204



“New development must contribute to reinforcing the existing settlement pattern in a 
manner which emphasises the importance of the towns, especially Lydney and Cinderford 
where most change will take place. The following principles will be applied:

Most changes in towns and villages will be expected to take place within the existing 
settlement boundaries, unless or until they are replaced by other LDF documents (for 
example an Area Action Plan). Exceptions to this may include affordable housing for local 
persons and building conversions and (rarely) new buildings for employment uses on the 
edge of settlements. Areas outside settlement boundaries unless otherwise shown in the 
Key Diagram will be treated as part of the open countryside.

All proposals, whether at settlements or not, should be resource efficient and make the best 
use of available infrastructure. Where their needs cannot be met, additional infrastructure 
provision arising from the needs of the development will be sought by way of developer 
contributions. This includes social and community infrastructure, such as library or health 
provision, or facilities for emergency services; green infrastructure such as recreation 
space, protected landscapes and natural areas; and physical infrastructure which includes 
roads, sewers etc.”.

Policy CSP.7 – Economy
“Economic development will be promoted throughout the district in accordance with the 
spatial strategy and its allocations. This will encourage new and more diverse types of 
employment and supporting infrastructure to be established by making land and premises 
available. The location of new development must be justifiable in terms of the settlement 
hierarchy and policy CSP 4. Priority will be given to:
sustaining the development of key economic sectors or clusters, including knowledge 
based
 enterprises and tourism;
 supporting the development of growth sectors;
 providing office and business (B1) space in attractive locations;
 providing the conditions and support for small and medium sized enterprises to become
 established and grow;
 supporting further and higher education and skills training and the facilities to provide it;
 supporting transport investment that will aid economic development; and
 ensuring that secure and safe environments result from any provision.

Land presently used for employment will be expected to remain so, unless allocated for 
another purpose. In order to encourage this, a range of employment generating uses 
appropriate to each site will be considered favourably. Where a site is underused and 
unsuitable (by way of environment or location) for any employment generating use, 
(including service based uses) then a mixed use may be appropriate (e.g. employment and 
housing) and failing that an alternative non employment use”.

4.7 Forest of Dean Allocations Plan (2006 to 2026) (adopted June 2018)

AP43 Pine End Works and Land to the North

“Approximately 10.6ha of land including Pine End Works and land to the rear is allocated 
for an employment led mixed use development. The main uses will generate employment 
and can include a wide range of activities, in order to form a leisure and tourism focus. The 

Page 205



site has the potential to provide both conventional employment space as well as a harbour 
frontage which maximises its potential as a leisure and tourist destination. These other 
uses could include retail, food and drink uses, education and tourist accommodation. In 
addition an element of residential use is provided for and is expected to be integrated into 
the whole”.

AP44 Lydney Industrial Estate

“The existing Lydney Industrial Estate (24ha approx.) is allocated for employment 
generating uses. The policy supports a range of employment uses on the site and expects 
a suitable range to be permitted that is compatible with other policies of the Plan”. 

Other relevant documents

4.8 Lydney Neighbourhood Plan 2014 - 2024
Lydney Neighbourhood Plan 2014 – 2024 (LNP) was approved in October 2015.
LNP, in summary, is aimed at meeting the needs and aspirations of the whole community 
for the next 10 years by providing a providing a sustainable environment, promoting a 
clean, safe and low crime community, supporting and developing local activities and 
facilities for all, growing Lydney’s local economy, encouraging appropriate development to 
sustain a vibrant town and modernising and improving infrastructure.

Policy LYD HAR 1 provides a supportive context for the development of recreational 
facilities at the Harbour area.

4.9 Climate Change
On the 15th May 2019, Gloucestershire County Council endorsed the UK Parliament’s 
declaration of an environment and climate change emergency by committing the Council to: 
- an 80% reduction in its corporate carbon emissions by no later than 2030 when compared 
to 2005, with a 100% reduction ambition by the same time inclusive of carbon off-setting; 
contributing to the delivery of a carbon neutral county by 2050; ensuring major council 
plans have clearly identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions; and apply the scientific 
advice published by The Committee on Climate Change (CCC). 
 
On the 20th December 2019, Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet agreed to: - approve 
the Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 incorporating an 
immediate action plan; and to endorse the Gloucestershire Climate Change manifesto. The 
2019/20 to 2024/25 Strategy sets out an immediate action plan for delivery by April 2020 
and a suite of medium and long-term measures that are to be implemented as part of a 
five-year rolling programme, which will be reviewed and updated annually. The immediate 
action plan is made up of 10 key actions that incorporate commitments to: - joint-working to 
bring about a coordinated response to climate change; dedicated staff and financial 
resources to tackling climate change; and targeted climate change procurement practices. 
It also specifically supports the planting of 1 million trees by 2030 and commencement of a 
review of the Local Transport Plan to reflect the climate change emergency declaration. 
The medium and long-term measures consist of a further 14 actions that cover such 
matters as: - dedicated local climate change research, assessment and monitoring; 
targeted climate change communication and campaigning initiatives;  carbon reduction 
transport-related actions; exploration of renewable energy potential on public sector land 
and the development of at least one District Heating Networks by 2025; offering of support 
for both future public and private sector developments that are zero carbon and will 

Page 206



contribute towards improvements in climate change resilience; and making provision for 
green infrastructure in line with Building with Nature (BwN) standards.
 

4.9.1 The Gloucestershire Climate Change Manifesto which has been endorsed by the County 
Council seeks a wider pledge from the Council’s partners to commit to the headline 
ambitions outlined in the Council’s climate change emergency resolution and Climate 
Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25. It seeks for a partnership approach to be taken to 
grow a low carbon economy, help residents, business and partners to radically reduce 
carbon; and to maintain and enhance the quality of our natural environment by protecting 
and enhancing the county’s biodiversity.
 

4.9.2 The commitments set out in the climate change emergency resolution, Gloucestershire 
Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 and Gloucestershire Climate Change 
Manifesto that contain a land-use planning element are a material consideration in the 
assessment of planning application determined by the County Council. In particular weight 
should be given to measures contained within individual proposals that are likely to make a 
positive contribution to the implementation of the resolution, strategy and / or the manifesto.

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The application was advertised by a site notice on the 10 July 2019 and a newspaper 
advertisement was placed in the Forester on the 10 July 2019. No representations have 
been received from members of the public as a result of the publicity.

6.0 CONSULTATIONS
 

6.1 Cabinet member on behalf of the Local Member
No direct comments from Members other than that received below:

Comment received: 28/07/2019 

“In my capacity as County Council Cabinet Member Environment & Planning I have been 
asked by local county councillors to comment on this application. I have visited the site and 
inspected the planning application. In particular, I have read the comments from Forest of 
Dean District Council and I am able to support their representations. The regeneration of 
this area is important to both the environment and economy of Lydney. There is no 
strategic need for the waste recycling facility at this location and this needs to be weighed 
in the balance when determining the application. On balance I think the application should 
be refused.”

6.2 Forest of Dean District Council
Comments received 23/07/2019.

“We advise that the land the application is subject to forms previously developed land and 
therefore may have the potential to be contaminated and you may wish to seek specialist 
advice.

The site is within the area covered by our Allocations Plan Policy AP.44, which supports 
employment generating development on the industrial estate. It seeks to improve the 
frontage and setting of the harbour but could support a wide range of development. Policy 

Page 207



AP.43 is also of particular relevance.

I would also draw your attention to a largescale major application which borders the site 
and is pending consideration. The application is a hybrid, however the site borders an 
element for staff accommodation, which has been submitted in detail and there is no scope 
for this element to be re-arranged at a later date. I would advise that you can view the 
application documents on our website www.fdean.gov.uk, the reference number for the 
application is P0688/19/OUT. This application is in relation to the aforementioned Policy 
AP.43, which can also be found on our website.

There is a concern that if the development were to be permitted, it would make the 
implementation of AP.43 and AP.44 difficult to achieve. In addition, the two uses in such 
close proximity are incompatible, whilst the current application is pending consideration the 
site and uses are allocated through Policy AP.43 of the Allocations Plan.

I would therefore advise that on the basis of the above, the Council strongly object to the 
proposal for the creation of two recycling areas.”

Environmental Health at the FoDDC was separately consulted on this application. It is 
noted from the FoDDC website that no objections were raised by the EHO. 

6.3 Lydney Town Council 
Comments received 11/07/2019.

“Objection. Lydney Town Council have concerns over the effect the proposed development 
would have on existing watercourses; GCC have also requested further flood mitigation 
documentation which the town council also require sight of before being able to provide its 
considered opinion on this application. Furthermore, Lydney Town Council do not believe 
sufficient consideration has been given by the LPA to possible water/air contamination from 
the proposed site given its close proximity to a proposed large fish/food processing plant 
which is currently under construction at pine end works.”

Further to the above Lydney Town Council were provided with the further information 
requested and responded on 11th February 2020 with the following comment: 

“Whilst Lydney Town Council notes the additional information which has been provided, it 
wishes to reiterate that its original concerns still stand.”

6.4 Environment Agency (Lower Severn) (EA)

Initial comments dated 31st July 2019 stated:

“Having reviewed the details submitted, we have some concerns relating to the following:
-  Drainage.
-  Fire arrangements; water containment, storage of waste, receptors.

We would request that further information relating to these aspects is submitted. At this 
stage the Environment Agency wishes to register a ‘holding objection’ to the application. 
Our concerns are detailed below:

Page 208



The proposed facility will require an Environmental Permit under the terms of the 
Environmental Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2018 (EPR). 

Our EPR Waste team, that would ultimately regulate the site through the EPR, have some 
concerns with regards to the drainage system. The application shows that the site will have 
an interceptor but does not specify where this drains too (if at all). Although, there is some 
mention of this being cleaned out. Some further clarification on this is required.  

The Design and Access Statement mentions a fire plan; the permit will need to have a fire 
prevention plan rather than just a fire action plan. The site will need to take in factors 
including local receptors, water management, waste management within fire prevention 
guidelines. 

The above matters could have land-use planning implications, hence we request the 
additional detail about this now at the planning stage. We are mindful that the planning and 
EPR processes should not duplicate each other, hence we do not require full detail of the 
above, but where this could impact planning some additional information will assist all 
parties. 

In addition to the above points, our EPR Waste team have highlighted some further 
queries. These are less likely to have a planning impact but we raise them here for the 
applicant’s consideration as they may wish to clarify these details at the same time:

• It would be of use to understand if the current building is free of asbestos, should a 
fire break out this would limit the Environment Agency’s response.

• The site is situated on a piece of land leased to the operator. It would be of interest 
to understand how long this lease is for. This will ensure that the permit is long-
standing and limits the availability of the site being filled and left for the land owner to 
deal with. Although, the site has run a waste site in the area for a long amount of 
time and this has not happened, it will just safeguard that aspect. 

I trust the above will assist at this time. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have 
any queries. We look forward to clarification of the above, at which point we would be in a 
position to remove our objection.”

Following consideration of further information the EA provided the updated consultation 
response on the 11th December 2019 stating:

“We write further to our initial response to the above application dated 31 July 2019, our 
reference SV/2019/110357/01-L01. In that response we raised some queries relating to 
drainage, fire arrangements, water containment, storage of waste and receptors. We have 
since been provided with additional information addressing these matters. We initially 
received this directly from the agent, but thank you for your email of 13 November 2019 
clarifying the information that had been submitted for consultation. I apologise for the delay 
in providing formal response, and understand our comments are still required and will be 
taken into consideration. 

Having reviewed the additional information submitted by the agent in response to our 
previous queries, we are satisfied this addresses the matters we raised and we have no 
objections to the proposed development.

Page 209



It has been made clear that the interceptor connects to the foul sewer. The applicant will 
need to ensure they have a discharge consent with Severn Trent Water. The clean out of 
the interceptor will be completed as part of regular work and is something that can be 
covered by the Environmental Permit (EP). 

We welcome that the information regarding asbestos and the Fire Prevention Plan (FPP) 
has been provided. The FPP will be reviewed in detail at the EP application stage, however 
we are now satisfied with this element from a land use planning perspective. Information 
regarding asbestos will be useful when forming future documents e.g. off-site fire plans 
once the EP is live.”

Overall comment is now - No Objection.

6.5 Historic England
Comments received by email 16.7.19

“Thank you for your letter of 4 July 2019 regarding the above application for planning 
permission. On the basis of the information available to date, we do not wish to offer any 
comments. We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 
archaeological advisers, as relevant.

It is not necessary for us to be consulted on this application again, unless there are material 
changes to the proposals. However, if you would like detailed advice from us, please 
contact us to explain your request.”

6.6 Natural England 
Comments received 22/07/2019.

“The application site is within or in close proximity to a European designated site (also 
commonly referred to as Natura 2000 sites), and therefore has the potential to affect its 
interest features. European sites are afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (the ‘Habitats Regulations 2017’). The application site is in 
close proximity to the Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) which is a European site. The site is also listed as Severn Estuary 
Ramsar site and also notified at a national level as Severn Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). 

In considering the European site interest, Natural England advises that, as a competent 
authority under the provisions of the Habitats Regulations, should have regard for any 
potential impacts that a plan or project may have.”

Officer summary - Natural England (NE) considers that as submitted the application could 
have potential significant effects on Severn Estuary.  Natural England required further 
information in order to determine the significance of these impacts and the scope for 
mitigation. NE requests that an HRA is submitted for consideration.

GCC has undertaken an (draft) HRA and NE was subsequently consulted on 9/12/2019. 
NE responded on 27/01/2020 with the following comments:

Page 210



“NO OBJECTION
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development 
will not have significant adverse impacts on designated sites and has no objection.
Natural England’s further advice on designated sites and advice on other natural 
environment issues is set out below.

European sites – Severn Estuary Ramsar

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development 
will not have likely significant effects on the Severn Estuary Ramsar and Special Protection 
Area, and has no objection to the proposed development.

Natural England notes that your authority, as competent authority, has undertaken an 
appropriate assessment of the proposal in accordance with Regulation 63 of the 
Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended). Natural England is 
a statutory consultee on the appropriate assessment stage of the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment process.

Your appropriate assessment concludes that your authority is able to ascertain that the 
proposal will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any of the sites in question. 
Having considered the assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate for all identified 
adverse effects that could potentially occur as a result of the proposal, Natural England 
advises that we concur with the assessment conclusions, providing that all mitigation 
measures are appropriately secured in any permission given.

Additional Information to note – Severn Estuary Functionally Linked Land and SPA birds

The Council may wish to acknowledge the information provided here, and use it to reflect 
any Habitat Regulations Assessments that are completed.

The major high tide roost is located south-west of the industrial estate at New Grounds and
Aylburton Warth. Both of these sites’ have known importance, with New Grounds being an
established roost site. However, despite being relatively close to the estate, due to the 
distance from the established roost it is unlikely that the proposal will impact upon the birds 
at this location.

It is likely that the birds are habituated to a general low level background from the estate, 
and steam trains on the heritage line are also running in the near vicinity. The old railway 
line embankment, which borders New Grounds’ north-eastern edge (and separates New 
Grounds from the ship canal and industrial estate) is well lined with trees, so the birds will 
tend to keep a safe distance in order to beware of predators. The proposal site is located 
on the far side of the estate from here.

The immediate site of the has mature trees immediately north, which would deter waders 
from roosting. The arable fields next door (north of Pine End works) might be usable, but 
there are more mature trees bordering the estuary not that far away, making it less likely 
that these fields would form a favoured spot for SPA birds.

Further general advice on the consideration of protected species and other natural 
environment issues is provided at Annex A.”

Page 211



Overall, having considered the further information provided, NE raise no objection to the 
proposed development.

6.7 GCC Ecologist 

The County Ecologist, having undertaken a HRA and consulted accordingly with Natural 
England, raises no objections subject to planning conditions and informatives. These are 
included in the recommended conditions and informatives below.

6.8 GCC Archaeologist

The County Archaeologist raises the following comment:

“I advise that I have checked the application site against the County Historic Environment 
Record. The wider landscape contains two designated heritage assets. Only c. 250m to the 
north-east is the important early 17th century Naas House, which is designated a Grade II* 
Listed Building. Some 400m to the south-east is the Scheduled Monument of Lydney 
Harbour. The proposed development may therefore have an unacceptable impact on the 
settings of these nearby heritage assets, and for that reason I recommend that you should 
consult Historic England for their view of this scheme before this planning application is 
determined.

There is no record of any archaeological remains being present within the application site, 
but recent archaeological evaluation of land to the immediate east suggests the presence 
of a sparse scatter of later prehistoric activity. However, given the previous development 
and activities undertaken within the application site (described in the Design and Access 
Statement), and relatively small size of the proposed development area, it is my view that 
there is a low risk that archaeological remains will be preserved there.

For that reason I recommend that no archaeological investigation or recording need be 
undertaken in connection with this planning application, and I have no further observations 
regarding this scheme.”

6.9 GCC Highways Development Management

The Highway Authority (HA) raises no objection subject to planning conditions relating to 
controlling mud and debris drag out and sheeting of vehicles. These are included in the 
recommended conditions below.

6.10 GCC Lead Local Flood Authority

The Lead Local Flood Authority raises the following comment:

“Following additional information being submitted to the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 
and a site visit with the Lydney Industrial Estate owner, I have the following comments and 
recommendation on the planning application.

The site is currently served by the existing drainage network in the industrial estate, as 
shown in the "LHE Ground Drains" and "Drainage Survey", which the applicant is proposing 

Page 212



to discharge into post development. According to these plans, this drainage discharges into 
the Lyd, rather than the Plummers Brook as indicated on the Environment Agency Detailed 
River Network. It is believed that the condition of the current site and the development 
proposals will mean there will not be a significant increase in surface water runoff rate or 
volume, if any.

LLFA Recommendation: The proposal is not likely to increase the risk of flooding 
elsewhere. Therefore, the LLFA recommends the No Objection of this application.”

6.11 GCC Minerals and Waste Team 

The GCC Minerals and Waste Team has considered the proposed development against 
the Development Plan policies and provides the following summarised comments:

“The site is located near to two other sites which are currently safeguarded for waste 
management purposes under policy WCS11 and that the proposal appears to be a 
replacement for one of these sites at Unit 48, enabling the applicant to increase the amount 
of waste handled.”

“It is also noted that the site falls within the adopted Forest of Dean Allocations Plan 
allocation AP44 and is adjacent to AP43.  Allocation AP44 requires uses B1, B2, B8 and 
other employment generating uses.  Allocation AP43 is for mixed use which includes an 
element of housing as well as employment and leisure activities.  It is noted that there is a 
current proposal (P0688/19/OUT) being determined on allocation AP43 which includes staff 
accommodation near to the site and the sites which are already safeguarded as well as a 
fish farm and processing facility.” 

In determining the district hybrid application (P0688/19/OUT) the onus is on the Forest of 
Dean District Council to ensure that there are no aspects of incompatibility regarding the 
existing strategic waste uses in accordance with “agent of change” paragraph outlined in 
Paragraph 182 of the 2019 NPPF and also Paragraph 8 of the NPPW.

It is “noted that many waste activities are considered to be “industrial” processes and are 
acceptable under uses classes B1, B2 and B8.  Other waste uses are considered to be sui 
generis….”

The response identifies that the site may be contaminated from previous uses and that this 
is a matter to be considered. 

Waste Core Strategy policies identified include: WCS3, WCS4, WCS10, WCS12, WCS15, 
WCS16, WCS17 and WCS18 and the Minerals and Waste Team comments are:

“There are two waste policies related to the proposal.  For the household waste aspect of 
the proposal policy WCS3 is applicable and for the inert aspect WCS4 is applicable.

Both of these policies require a demonstration that the proposal contributes towards a 
sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire and that the impact on 
neighbouring land uses is acceptable.  It is not apparent from the information provided 
whether these particular policy aspects have been addressed.

Page 213



Given that there are already three safeguarded waste sites within the Lydney Industrial 
Estate area, the case officer should ensure that the proposal is in accordance with policy 
WCS10 – Cumulative Impact.  It is not clear from the submitted details how the matters 
within the policy have been considered by the applicant.

Comments from the lead local flood authority are required to ensure that the proposal is in 
accordance with WCS12 – flood risk.

I note that there are nearby wildlife designations and therefore comments from the County’s 
ecologist will be required to ensure that the proposal is in accordance with Policy WCS15 
Nature Conservation (Biodiversity and Geodiversity).

Comments should be sought from the county’s archaeologist to ensure that the proposal is 
in accordance with policy WCS16 Historic Environment.

Given that there are some alterations proposed to the existing building and that the local 
plan allocation policies are looking to enhance the harbour area (I appreciated the site is 
located towards the rear of the industrial site) the careful consideration of WCS17 – design 
should be applied to ensure that the proposed “lean to” reflects and contributes positively 
towards the local character and quality of the area.

From the proposal submission it is not entirely clear what will happen to the materials, 
therefore it may also be possible that policy WCS18 for bulking and transfer is applicable.  
This also requires demonstration that the proposal contributes towards providing a 
sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire….”

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The main issues to be considered in this application relate to:

 the location of the waste use and planning policy context; and
 the environmental impacts of the development.

The location of the waste use and planning policy context

7.2 The application site (Unit 37) is located on an existing well-established industrial estate for 
which there are no known industrial use restrictions. The industrial estate has existing 
general industrial (B2) and storage (B8) uses in operation including waste uses. The 
applicant’s own waste recycling and skip business is close (approximately 50m away) to 
the site of the application at Unit 48, which benefits from a waste planning permission 
identified in the planning history earlier. 

7.3 There are three sites in or adjacent to Lydney Industrial Estate which are currently 
safeguarded under Policy WCS11 (Safeguarding Sites for Waste Management) of the 
adopted 2012 Waste Core Strategy.

These sites are:

 Lydney Skip Hire – located in the northeast of Lydney Industrial Estate;
 Enovert South Limited – located in the northeast of Lydney Industrial Estate; and
 Bendalls of Lydney – located to the southwest of Lydney Industrial Estate.

Page 214



7.4 The applicant’s existing site is recognised as one of the three safeguarded strategic sites 
for waste management on the Lydney Industrial Estate. The intention of the applicant is to 
relocate the existing waste business to the site of this application. As a replacement 
operation the proposed development is not considered to conflict with Policy WCS11 and 
WCS 10 since the provision of the waste facility would be safeguarded (WCS11)  by the 
relocation to a nearby site along with satisfying the cumulative impact (WCS10) of a new, 
albeit relocated, waste use in the vicinity.

7.5 The proposed site falls within the adopted FODDC Allocation AP44 and is adjacent to 
Allocation AP43.  Allocation AP44 requires uses satisfying Classes B1, B2, B8 and other 
employment generating uses.  The adjacent Allocation AP43 is for mixed use which 
includes an element of housing as well as employment and leisure activities. The objection 
from the FoDDC concerns the impact of the proposed development on Allocation AP43 and 
in particular the current hybrid application being determined by the FoDDC described 
above.

7.6 Many waste management activities fall within the general industrial class in the Use 
Classes Order and can be considered to be a B1 (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) 
and B8 (storage) especially where waste management activities are enclosed within a 
purpose designed building. Waste is also considered at times to be a “sui generis” use i.e. 
in a class of its own. Some waste operations may potentially demonstrate two or more of 
these uses within one operation. As such these types of waste operations can be 
considered broadly within the scope of B use categories. There is considerable case law on 
the subject much of which demonstrates that such uses can be potentially acceptable on 
land allocated within development plans for employment uses.

7.7 The application includes use of an existing building and an adjoining new waste building (to 
be erected) for storing and sorting of waste. Also included is a mobile plant to be used for 
crushing and screening of inert waste materials. The existing waste uses safeguarded on 
the industrial estate involve open air waste operations. It is not considered that the 
proposed waste use would conflict with the Allocation AP44 employment uses in the 
FoDDC development plan.

7.8 Allocation AP43 in the FoDDC Allocations Plan refers to Pine End Works and land to the 
north. It states “Approximately 10.6ha of land including Pine End Works and land to the rear 
is allocated for an employment led mixed use development. The main uses will generate 
employment and can include a wide range of activities, in order to form a leisure and 
tourism focus. The site has the potential to provide both conventional employment space as 
well as a harbour frontage which maximises its potential as a leisure and tourist destination. 
These other uses could include retail, food and drink uses, education and tourist 
accommodation. In addition, an element of residential use is provided for and is expected to 
be integrated into the whole.” 

7.9 It is noted that there is a current proposal (P0688/19/OUT), to the east of this application 
site, being determined by the FoDDC on Allocation AP43 which includes staff 
accommodation near to both the proposed waste site and the waste sites which are already 
safeguarded, as well as a fish farm and processing facility and other associated buildings.

7.10 The hybrid application includes land to the east of the application site, which is identified in 
the layout masterplan (in part) for staff residential accommodation. FODDC raises an 

Page 215



objection to this application and considers that the use of the application site as a waste 
site would have an adverse impact on the AP43 allocation and the undetermined hybrid 
application currently being considered by  FoDDC. Lydney Town Council also raises similar 
concerns by the Cabinet Member on behalf of the local County Councillor that also 
supports the objections raised.

7.11 It is noted that the FoDDC hybrid application is undetermined and, as such, does not have 
planning approval for the proposed use. 

7.12 Waste development of the type proposed is considered to be more appropriately located on 
industrial estates than in urban areas or in the countryside. WCS3 and WCS4 support the 
need to recycle and recover inert waste. WCS3 recognises the need to divert commercial 
and industrial waste from landfill. WCS3 identifies criteria that need to be met in considering 
planning applications. In this case criteria relating to highway access requirements are 
acceptable as well as contributing towards providing a sustainable waste management 
system for Gloucestershire. WCS3 supports inert waste recycling operations which are 
located close to an urban area and involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant 
or underused employment land and/or redundant buildings. WCS4 in particular refers to 
inert waste recycling and recovery and seeks to divert such waste from landfill. WCS4 
supports waste planning applications where the impact on the environment (of which noise, 
dust and ecological impacts are considered below) and neighbouring land uses (as does 
WLP37 Proximity to other land uses) is acceptable as well as contributing towards 
providing a sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire. This application 
will divert waste from landfill by the recycling and recovering the majority (up to 25,000 
tonnes per annum) of the inert waste stream as well as contributing towards providing a 
sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire. WCS18 supports bulking and 
transfer of waste subject to criteria relating to acceptable environmental and neighbouring 
land uses, appropriate highway access and contributing to a sustainable waste 
management system for Gloucestershire along with the re use of previously developed 
land. The processing of the waste on site will involve extracting recyclates for onward 
processing or as a last resort landfill. The waste operation would involve an element of 
bulking of waste and onward transfer which will contribute to reducing the potential impact 
of transport waste by road. The bulking of waste for onward transport to other waste 
facilities allows for greater efficiency, helps reduce journey length and in turn can help 
reduce traffic impacts. 

7.13 The development proposes the processing of approximately 30,000 T of waste per year 
which is not of such a scale that it is more likely to be considered as EIA development, for 
which an annual 50,000 T waste throughput threshold exists. The application has been 
screened as not being EIA development.  Environmental impacts regarding, noise, dust, 
traffic are an expected part of any general industrial business activity. Apart from the 
proposed workers’ residential accommodation to the east, then there are no other nearby 
residential existing or proposed uses. 

7.14 The proposed hybrid application to the east of the application site identifies workers’ 
residential accommodation at more than 60m from the boundary of the proposed waste 
site. Should the FoDDC hybrid application be approved and the accommodation built in the 
identified location, then greater weight would be attached to the environmental impacts that 
may arise from the waste use proposed. However, having said this, if the workers’ 
residential accommodation was brought forward as proposed (subject to FoDDC planning 
permission) it is considered that the environmental impacts could be appropriately 

Page 216



managed and controlled to acceptable levels through both planning conditions and the 
Environment Agency environmental permit (EP) (which is required before the use can be 
fully operational). It is considered that the submission and approval of a noise management 
plan (NMP) and a dust management plan (DMP) are capable of being controlled via 
planning condition should this application be approved thereby satisfying WCS4. These are 
considered in more detail below.

7.15 No substantive evidence has been provided to support the concerns raised by FoDDC and  
Lydney Town Council and as such it is considered to be based on perception that a waste 
recycling use, including open air processing in part, would have a detrimental impact on 
economic activity on the industrial estate and the wider area. Environmental impacts, 
including noise and dust, are commonly controlled by a combination of the EP issued by 
the EA as well as by planning conditions. This type of waste facility is often located close to 
other employment uses as well as residential uses.  The WPA is not aware of any noise or 
dust complaints from the operation of the applicant’s existing waste site at unit 48. Based 
on current practices at this site and subject to the proposed waste operation being well 
managed by the operator, in accordance with the parameters set out in the EP and 
planning conditions, then there are not considered to be any adverse environmental 
impacts that could be used in arriving at sustainable reasons for refusal of planning 
permission. 

7.16 The NPPF sets out the importance of sustainable economic development to deliver a 
strong and competitive economy. The NPPF as one of its core principles identifies the need 
to proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes, 
businesses and industrial sites that the country needs. Significant weight is given to the 
need to support economic growth.

7.17 The representations made refer to the negative economic effect that the development 
would have on other businesses, as well as the hybrid planning application being 
considered and the future businesses and development in the area, whether they be 
environmental impacts or perception of such impacts. There appears to be a perception 
that the waste development will cause environmental nuisance to other businesses and put 
off business being attracted to the employment site. The positive and negative effects of the 
development on other jobs and the local economy have not been qualified by objectors so it 
is assumed these are based on a perception of nuisance. It is noted that the applicant 
expects that the waste operation will sustain 15 full time jobs (which is a net increase of 5 
above the existing 10 jobs at the operational waste site at unit 48) and that the existing 
waste permission allows up to 27,000 tonnes of waste to be imported per annum compared 
to approximately 30,000 tonnes per annum as part of the current waste application being 
considered.

7.18 Clearly, there are the economic benefits to society of reducing the need for landfill by 
moving waste up the waste hierarchy. This facility, given its location on an established 
brownfield employment site, with nearby safeguarded waste uses and with good access to 
the highway network should be considered a sustainable waste management facility, 
subject to other site-specific considerations.

7.19 The assessment of predicted environmental impacts for such an open-air waste operation 
are considered below and whether they are considered acceptable and capable of being 
controlled through planning conditions.

Page 217



7.20 Environmental impacts relating to noise and dust, as in many other similar waste uses in 
such locations, are   capable of being controlled by planning conditions. This being the 
case, then the WPA does not consider that the stated disbenefit of the development in 
terms of local effects on employment and economy, referred to in the representations made 
above, would be significant and are based on perceived economic impact rather than an 
evidence-based argument.

7.21 The WPA has considered the economic implications of the proposed development on the 
adjoining proposed outline hybrid use. The WPA is satisfied that the proposed development 
does not raise any issues that are not capable of being managed via planning conditions 
and/or via other controls available outside planning control. The proposed development is 
therefore considered to accord with WCS policies WCS1, WCS3, WCS4, WCS10, WCS11, 
WCS18, WLP Policy 37, FoDDC Core Strategy Policies CSP2, CSP7 and Allocation Plan 
Policy AP44 as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraphs 7, 11,180,183 referred to above.

The environmental impacts of the development.

7.22 The main environmental impacts of the proposed development relate to ecology, noise, 
dust, traffic, flood and visual.

Ecology

7.23 Following initial consultation with the County Ecologist, the applicant provided a Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment (PEA). The County Ecologist having reviewed the submitted 
environmental information and having undertaken a HRA raises no objection subject to  the 
developer implementing the recommendations set out in the ecological report and subject 
to planning conditions and informatives. The County Ecologist provides the following 
detailed summarised response:

7.23.1 Ecological Reports 
The applicant has agreed to implement the recommendations set out in the ecological 
report.

7.23.2 Designated Sites 
These include Special Area of Conservation (SAC)/Special Protection Area (SPA)/Ramsar 
site, Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and a Local (Key) Wildlife Site (LWS).

The Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/Ramsar site is about 0.5km away to the east and south. 
Given there is a pathway of drainage possible from the development site to the Severn 
Estuary an HRA is required to be completed by GCC as a competent authority.

An impact on horseshoe bats related to the 4km distant Wye Valley & Forest of Dean Bat 
Sites SAC can be screened out given the footprint and proposals (see under bats below). 
The HRA concludes that the development would not have an adverse effect on the integrity 
of the Severn Estuary European Marine Site. Natural England were consulted on the draft 
HRA and raised no objections.

SSSI Impact Risk Zones indicate under Waste that Natural England need to be consulted. 
Lydney Cliff (geological) SSSI lies 0.6km to the east and the Severn Estuary SSSI about 
0.5km to the east and south. Further afield, at about 4km to the north west, is Devil’s 

Page 218



Chapel Scowles SSSI which is part of the Wye Valley & Forest of Dean Bat Sites SAC. 
Horseshoe bats related to this SSSI may visit the areas adjacent to the development site 
but given the proposals and safeguards there is unlikely to be a significant effect on these 
bat populations. Given the development characteristics and the outcome of the HRA the 
development is unlikely to significantly affect any SSSI subject to contrary views being 
received from Natural England. Natural England has not raised any contrary view in its 
consultation responses.

Lydney Town Marsh & Sidings LWS is about 0.7km to the north west and Nass Cliff LWS is 
just over 0.8km to the east. Given their distance and direction the development is unlikely to 
significantly affect LWSs.  

7.23.3 Trees 
Some trees are present on this site in adjacent area including the boundaries. The County 
Ecologist agrees to the recommendation of Heras fencing around the retained areas of 
vegetation/tree boundaries during construction. A tree protection plan drawing is therefore 
required to be submitted under condition before development commences/continues.

European Protected Species (EPS) include bats and great crested newts (GCN).

7.23.4 Bats 
There are several close by records for common pipistrelle, soprano pipistrelle, brown long-
eared, noctule, serotine, Daubenton’s, greater horseshoe and lesser horseshoe bats. The 
boundary ditch and vegetation adjacent to the development footprint provide foraging and 
some potential roosting habitat for bats. The existing warehouse on site provides negligible 
potential for bat roosts. It is notable that 4 mature ash trees and one oak are considered to 
be of moderate or high potential for bat roosts. However, despite this bat value, the 
development proposals will not directly affect the habitats and features likely to be used by 
bats. An advisory note on trees should be used in any consent granted. Also, any new night 
time lighting used on the site between March and October could have some adverse impact 
on bats. The working hours of the site may preclude the need for this however. If any 
proposed external lighting is required, it will need to be carefully designed and controlled. A 
planning condition is therefore recommended.

7.23.5 GCNs 
In the Great Crested Newt Risk Zones (now held by the FoDDC  for a forthcoming District 
Licensing option for developers) this site is in a red zone. However, this may be based on 
potential breeding ponds in the area that appear to be absent or no longer suitable for 
newts. If GCN’s are still present in the area, the risk of impact from the proposals is 
probably negligible. An advisory note for protected species recommended.

Other protected species include water vole, badger, reptiles and nesting birds.

7.23.6 Water Vole 
The development is unlikely to significantly affect water voles which should not be present 
(see Ecological Appraisal). An advisory note for protected species is recommended.

7.23.7 Badger
There appears to be badger habitat available in the surrounding area and on boundaries. 
Whilst there is no evidence of any presence, they could utilise the site using the built up 

Page 219



mounds and scrubby/woodland/ruderal areas. A precautionary advisory note is 
recommended based on Section 5.3.1 of the Ecological Appraisal.

7.23.8 Reptiles
These may occur in adjacent vegetated areas but development proposals should not 
adversely affect these species. An advisory note for protected species is recommended.

7.23.9 Nesting Birds
There is considered to be a high possibility of birds nesting in scrub and trees in adjacent 
area but these should not be affected by the development proposals. Birds including gulls 
and jackdaws appear to be roosting or nesting in/on the warehouse at certain times of year. 
An advisory note for protected species is recommended.

7.23.10 Priority Species 
Priority species such as hedgehog and toads may occur in adjacent vegetated areas but 
development proposals should not adversely affect the habitat for these species.

7.23.11 Invertebrates
Development is unlikely to significantly affect invertebrates or notable species or 
populations. There are no identified non-native and/or invasive species. 

7.23.12 Regarding mitigation then the recommendations in the submitted Ecological 
Appraisal have been reviewed and incorporated as appropriate for a planning consent as 
conditions or advisory notes. Enhancement measures are given at Section 5.4 of the 
Ecological Appraisal and should be formalised given losses to the land in the recent past. A 
planning condition is required for an enhancement scheme.

7.23.13The County Ecologist recommends planning conditions are attached to any decision 
notice relating to a tree protection plan, lighting scheme and an enhancement mitigation 
scheme along with advice notes relating to  protected species and copies of species and 
habitat records be deposited with the Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records 
(GCER).

7.24 Natural England has confirmed they have no objection to the proposed development.

7.25 The WPA has considered the ecological implications of the proposed development on 
matters of acknowledged environment importance including statutorily protected designated 
areas and species. The WPA is satisfied that the proposed development does not raise any 
ecological issues that are not capable of being managed via planning conditions and/or via 
other controls available outside planning control. In relation to the ecological matters raised 
the proposed development is considered to accord with WCS Policies 1, 10 and 15, FoDDC 
Core Strategy Policies CSP1 and CSP2 as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraphs 7, 
170 and 175.

Noise 

7.26 Noise associated with the proposed development would arise in the crushing and screening 
of builders’ construction waste (bricks, blocks, roofing materials, soils)  and civil engineering 
waste (road waste, commercial buildings demolition), baling of recycled materials and noise 
associated with deliveries of waste materials and operational waste plant.

Page 220



7.27 The screening and crushing of the materials would be undertaken with mobile plant. It is 
stated that the mobile processing plant would be located to the east of the site and is 
expected, subject to demand, to operate on a daily basis. The plant, as is usual for this type 
of process, would not be located in a building. This is not unusual in waste operations of 
this type. Such mobile processing plant are often used on redevelopment sites within urban 
areas where residential development is in close proximity. The controls to minimise the 
noise impacts at such sites are considered acceptable and often include noise suppression 
measures such as locating within certain areas of a site and noise barriers if necessary and 
long term.  The use of such mobile processing plant is undertaken on a campaign basis 
when there is sufficient inert waste stock available and can range from a few days to a few 
weeks at a time. Most waste sites are similar in their use of mobile plant.  

7.28 The EA in its response dated 12 December 2019 have raised no objection to the 
application. It is noted that the operation of the site would require an EP which, among 
other environmental matters, will include noise controls. However, having considered the 
concern raised by FoDDC regarding the proposed nearby adjoining residential workers’ 
dwellings/flats, it is recommended that a pre-commencement planning condition is imposed 
requiring a Noise Management Plan to be agreed with the WPA to ensure that noise arising 
from the site is controlled to within acceptable levels given its location to adjoining 
businesses and proposed residential use of adjoining land. The applicant has agreed to the 
imposition of a pre-commencement noise planning condition. The site cannot legally 
operate without compliance with the requirements of such a condition.

7.29 Subject to the submission, approval and implementation of such a Noise Management 
Plan, the proposed development is considered to accord with WCS Policies WCS3, WCS4, 
WCS10, WLP Policy 37, as well as the NPPW and NPPF paragraphs 7 and 180.

Dust

7.30 Similar to the noise consideration above, dust emissions would arise from similar sources 
from within the development proposed i.e. processing and baling plant and waste 
deliveries. These are not unusual in waste operations of this type. Such mobile processing 
plants are often used on redevelopment sites within urban areas where residential 
development is in close proximity. The controls to minimise the dust impacts at such sites 
are considered acceptable and often include dust suppression measures as demisters of 
stock piles and attached to processing plant along with water bowsers to damp down roads 
within the site and outside if necessary. The use of such mobile processing plant is 
undertaken on a campaign basis when there is sufficient inert waste stock available and 
can range from a few days to a few weeks at a time. Most waste sites are similar in their 
use of mobile plant. The EA in its response dated 12 December 2019 have raised no 
objection to the application. Concerns raised by FoDDC can be addressed as part of the 
controls available via the EP issued and monitored by the EA as well as by the WPA 
through planning conditions. As referred to under the noise consideration above and having 
considered the concerns raised by  FoDDC regarding the proposed nearby adjoining 
residential workers’ dwellings/flats, it is recommended that a pre-commencement planning 
condition is imposed requiring a Dust Management Plan to be agreed with the WPA to 
ensure that emissions to air arising from the site are controlled to within acceptable levels 
given its location to adjoining businesses and proposed residential use of adjoining land. 
The applicant has agreed to the imposition of a pre-commencement dust planning 
condition. The site cannot legally operate without compliance with the requirements of such 
a condition.

Page 221



7.31 Subject to the submission, approval and implementation of such a Dust Management Plan 
the proposed development is considered to accord with WCS Policies WCS3, WCS4, 
WCS10, WLP Policy 37 as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraphs 7 and 180.

Traffic

7.32 Commercial vehicles delivering waste would arrive at the site. The volume of traffic using 
the site is constrained by the quantity of waste brought onto and processed at the site. This 
is stated in the application as being 24999 T per year of inert waste, 5000 T per year of 
non-hazardous waste, 150 T per year of metal waste and 240 T per year of tyre waste. The 
applicant’s existing waste operation at unit 48 has a restriction, through planning condition, 
regarding importation of 27000 T per annum. This application proposes a similar quantity of 
imported waste material per annum. There are no known previous highway concerns 
regarding the existing waste operation.  The applicant has stated that the proposed 
application would replace that of the existing waste site once operational.  The operation 
would use skip vehicles ranging from household and commercial waste. The site is located 
on an industrial estate and the quantity of waste indicated does not raise any highway 
safety or capacity concerns given the existing highway network serving the industrial 
estate. The Highway Authority has considered the planning conditions attached to the 
applicant’s existing waste operation and raises no objection subject to planning conditions 
relating to sheeting/netting of laden vehicles entering or leaving the site and the avoidance 
of dust or deleterious materials being brought onto the highway outside the site. As a 
replacement of the existing use it is considered that WCS10 Cumulative Impact is satisfied. 
The use of the site as a waste recycling site will contribute to a reduction in traffic using the 
road network since less waste will need to be transported further afield to other waste 
processing sites and/ or landfill sites. The economics of road transport will dictate the 
geographical area where the waste can be economically delivered from. This supports 
WCS policies WCS18 Bulking and Transfer, Policy WCS19 relating to sustainable 
transport, WCS3 relating to recycling as well as WCS4 relating to inert waste recycling and 
recovery.

7.33 Subject to the implementation of highway planning conditions the proposed development is 
considered to accord with WCS Policies WCS3, WCS4, WCS10, WCS18, WCS19, WLP 
Policy 37, as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraphs 108 and 109.

Flood  

7.34 The EA, having considered the additional information provided by the applicant, has raised 
no objections to the proposed development. Similarly, the Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) has considered the additional information provided by the applicant regarding 
drainage. The LLFA notes that the site is currently served by the existing drainage network 
in the industrial estate, as shown in the "LHE Ground Drains" and "Drainage Survey", which 
the applicant is proposing to discharge into post-development. According to these plans, 
this drainage discharges into the Lyd, rather than the Plummers Brook as indicated on the 
EA Detailed River Network. It is believed that the condition of the current site and the 
development proposals will mean there will not be a significant increase in surface water 
runoff rate or volume, if any. Overall, the LLFA considers the proposal is not likely to 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and raises no objection to the application.

Page 222



7.35 Given the applicant has provided information to the satisfaction of both the EA and the 
LLFA during the processing of the application the proposed development is considered to 
accord with Policies WCS12 of the WCS, WLP 33, FoDDC Core Strategy Policies CSP1, 
CSP2 as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraphs 163 and 165.

Visual

7.36 The site is located within the context of an existing industrial estate. The industrial estate 
has several large industrial style buildings and includes other waste uses including that of 
the applicant’s at Unit 48 as well as the Enovert waste site to the north at Unit 47. The site 
will have open air processing plant and storage of waste materials in stockpiles and 
dedicated bays along the eastern part of the site. Some of the operations would take place 
within an existing building on site and a new adjoining lean-to building. Views into the site 
are limited to those from within the industrial estate. Views from the proposed residential 
units to the north east would be at distance and from floors above ground floor. Views 
would be seen in the context of existing industrial buildings and external storage outside 
existing industrial units. Given the context of the proposed residential units, the WPA 
considers that the views into the site would not be unacceptable and would not harm any 
amenity. A pre-commencement condition relating to landscaping of the site, agreed by the 
applicant, is proposed should planning permission be forthcoming. This would further 
contribute to integrating the site visually when viewed from outside by other businesses or 
the public, including proposed residents.

7.37 Given the above, the proposed development is considered to accord with Policy 14 of the 
WCS, FoDDC Core Strategy Policy CSP1 as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraph 127.

Heritage

7.38 The County Archaeologist has, in the wider landscape, identified two designated heritage 
assets. These are Grade II* listed early 17th Century Naas House approximately 250m to 
the north and Lydney Harbour Scheduled Monument approximately 400m to the south east. 
Given that the proposed development may have an unacceptable impact on the settings of 
these heritage assets, it was considered prudent to consult Historic England (HE). HE has 
not raised any concerns and are satisfied that consideration of the impact on heritage can 
be dealt with at a local level. Other consultees, including FoDDC have not raised any 
concerns regarding the impact of the proposed development on the character and setting of 
the noted heritage assets. 

7.39 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a 
statutory duty on a local planning authority to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving a listed building, its setting and any features of special architectural or historic 
interest it may possess. The NPPF provides a framework for conserving and enhancing the 
historic environment, which sits alongside a range of legislative regimes associated with 
planning and heritage.

7.40 Section 16 NPPF states that historical 'assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for 
their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations'. Specifically, 
Paragraph 192 states that local planning authorities should take account of the desirability 
of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable 
uses consistent with their conservation.

Page 223



7.41 Paragraph 193 NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development 
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset's conservation. Paragraph 194 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of 
a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within 
its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Paragraph 196 states that 
where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.

7.42 In this case consultees, including HE and the FoDDC, do not raise any concerns regarding 
the impact of the proposed use on the Scheduled Monument or the Grade II* listed building. 
Naas Barn is a curtilage listed building to Naas House. Naas Barn restricts any views into 
the site. It is noted that the agricultural setting has undergone change with industrial 
buildings at Pine End Works and Harbour Industrial Estate and the creation of Lydney Golf 
Club changing the character of the wider landscape setting. Industrial buildings currently 
comprise part of the asset’s wider setting. The heritage assets are a minimum of 250 m 
away and there is development (existing and proposed) between them and the proposed 
development the subject of this application. Developments at Lydney Golf Club to the north 
of the heritage assets are closer to them than the proposed waste site being considered as 
is the proposed intervening development which includes the staff residential 
accommodation. It is noted that there are mature trees to the north of the proposed waste 
site boundary which further screen any views into the site. Given the existing  intervening 
land uses and mature trees which would screen views into the application site as a whole 
the WPA does not consider that the proposed development has any adverse impact on the 
character and setting of the identified Scheduled Monument or Grade II* listed building.

7.43 The County Archaeologist advised that there is no record of any archaeological remains 
being present in the site and given the previous development activities on the application 
site and the relatively small scale of the development area, it is considered that there is a 
low risk of any archaeological remains being preserved. The County Archaeologist 
recommends that no archaeological investigation or recording need be undertaken and 
raises no objection.

7.44 The proposed development is considered to accord with Policies WCS16 of the WCS, 
FoDDC CSP1 and CSP7 as well as the NPPW and NPPF Paragraph 197.

Design

7.45 Core Policy WCS17 - Design states that planning permission will be granted subject to a 
high standard of design. Such a design should be reflective of its setting, durable and 
adaptable and sustainable. The application includes the re-use of an existing building on 
site as well as the provision of a new lean-to building to be attached. The building has a 
footprint of approximately 12.2m wide by 18.3 m long with a pitched roof. The sides are 
proposed to be open and roof materials would be plastic coated metal sheets. The details 
of this building regarding size and scale are provided and considered appropriate to the 
adjoining industrial building and others in the vicinity. Materials are not indicated in detail 
but are capable of control through an appropriately worded planning condition.

7.46 The proposed development is considered to accord with Policies WCS17 of the WCS, 
FoDDC CSP1 as well as the NPPW and the NPPF.

Page 224



Hours of operation

7.47 The proposed hours of operation are notably greater than that of the applicant’s current 
nearby waste business. The proposed hours include Saturday afternoon, Sunday and Bank 
Holiday working. The applicant has stated that they undertake some charity work with skips 
that are sometimes needed at weekends and bank holidays. Although the proposed 
development is on an industrial estate and adjoining other businesses that are 24/7 
operations, the WPA does not consider that working all of a  Saturday afternoon, Sundays 
and Bank Holidays is appropriate. On Saturday afternoons, Sundays and Bank Holidays 
other businesses on the industrial estate may not be working and therefore the climate 
regarding noise is quieter generally and dust generation minimal. To the north of the site is 
a golf club and to the east is proposed residential development (albeit associated with 
employee accommodation). Whilst the residential amenity has been considered in other 
parts of this report, it is not considered justified that an open-air waste processing operation 
should be undertaken on Saturday afternoon, Sundays and Bank Holidays when the 
industrial estate is likely to be generally quieter, with most businesses not operational. It is 
therefore proposed that the operating hours reflect that of the applicant’s existing waste 
business at Unit 48. This is a matter that would be controlled by planning condition. The 
applicant has agreed to the hours of operation being the same as that of the existing waste 
operation at Unit 48.

7.48 The proposed development is considered to accord with Policy WLP38 as well as the 
NPPW and NPPF paragraph 8.

Contaminated land

7.49 The FoDDC has raised the matter regarding the potential for the site to be contaminated by 
previous uses. The applicant has provided the following comment: “We have done a series 
of boreholes on site in the past and highlighted the areas of buried contamination on site, 
mostly hydrocarbon, and the vast majority of contamination can be found within the area of 
the Mabey Bridge / Acro Bridge site. All contamination exists within a ground clay envelope 
and shows no sign of migration due to the chemical binding in that environment and the 
non-motility of water through this layer. Any ground contamination is not localised in your 
area at Unit 37. As you have correctly noted, this area was rail sidings during WW2 and has 
become overgrown in the post war years when tracks were removed. The ground was 
cleared to use for hardstanding again in recent years and to eliminate the potential for fly 
tipping and injury from unauthorised access.”

7.50 The applicant is aware of the previous uses on the site and the identified contamination 
from previous reports.  Given the potential for contamination on the site, the applicant has 
accepted that a pre-commencement planning condition requiring a contaminated land 
scheme of investigation and any necessary remediation to be agreed with the WPA is 
acceptable.  As such pre-commencement contaminated land planning conditions requiring 
a scheme to be agreed in writing with the WPA be attached to any planning permission that 
may be granted. Such conditions would prohibit the use of the site for recycling until the 
WPA is satisfied that any contamination can be addressed or is in an acceptable physical 
state and within acceptable levels so as to pose minimal risk to sensitive receptors. The 
proposed development is considered acceptable subject to such pre-commencement 
planning conditions being imposed and accords with the NPPW and Paragraph 118 of the 
NPPF.

Page 225



Climate Change

7.51 The Gloucestershire Climate Change Manifesto seeks the Council’s partners to commit to 
the headline ambitions outlined in the Council’s climate change emergency resolution and 
Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25. It seeks for a partnership approach to be 
taken to grow a low carbon economy, help residents, business and partners to radically 
reduce carbon; and to maintain and enhance the quality of our natural environment by 
protecting and enhancing the county’s biodiversity.

 
7.52 The commitments set out in the climate change emergency resolution, Gloucestershire 

Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 and Gloucestershire Climate Change 
Manifesto that contains a land-use planning element are a material consideration in the 
assessment of planning applications determined by the County Council. In particular, 
weight should be given to measures contained within individual proposals that are likely to 
make a positive contribution to the implementation of the resolution, strategy and / or the 
manifesto.

7.53 Appropriate weight has been given to the proposed development’s expected environmental 
impacts, individually and cumulatively, that are likely to make a positive contribution to the 
implementation of the resolution, strategy and / or the manifesto.

Human Rights

7.54 From 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of enshrining much of 
the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. Under 6(1) of the Act, it is unlawful 
for a public authority to act in a way, which is incompatible with a convention right. A person 
who claims that a public authority has acted (or proposes to act) in a way which is made 
unlawful by Section 6(1), and that he is (or would be) a victim of the unlawful act, may bring 
proceedings against the authority under the Act in the appropriate court or tribunal, or may 
rely on the convention right or rights concerned in any legal proceedings.

7.55 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals are Article 1 of 
the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of property) and Article 8 (the right to a private 
and family life). Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to peaceful enjoyment of 
possessions and Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for 
private and family life. Article 8 also provides that there shall be no interference by a public 
authority with the exercise of this right except in the interests of national security, public 
safety, or the economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for 
the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the freedom of others.

Positive and Proactive Statement

7.56 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the applicant in a 
positive and proactive manner by liaising with consultees, respondents and the 
applicant/agent and discussing changes to the proposal where considered appropriate or 
necessary. This approach has been taken positively and proactively in accordance with the 
requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

Page 226



Conclusion

7.57 The commitments set out in the climate change emergency resolution, Gloucestershire 
Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 and Gloucestershire Climate Change 
Manifesto that contains a land-use planning element is a material consideration in the 
assessment of planning applications determined by the County Council. Appropriate weight 
has been given to the application being considered regarding its environmental impacts 
individually and cumulatively that are likely to make a positive contribution to the 
implementation of the resolution, strategy and / or the manifesto.

7.58 The proposed waste recycling facilities would provide a facility which will result in the 
recycling of waste locally instead of it being sent to landfill or transported for recycling 
further afield (apart from post recycling residual waste and products that require specialist 
recycling elsewhere). The recycling facility is considered to be an acceptable development 
in this employment allocated area subject to appropriate environmental impact compliance 
which can be achieved through the requirements of planning conditions and the EP issued 
by the EA.

7.59 In weighing all the issues in the planning balance, including economic, environmental and 
design, it is concluded that the benefits of delivering the recycling facilities outweigh any 
adverse environmental impacts perceived or otherwise (which in any case can be 
appropriately mitigated).

7.60 The proposal moves waste up the waste hierarchy avoiding the need for landfill. This 
complies with Government policy and helps achieve the targets for landfill diversion.    The 
proposed development accords with the  relevant policies of the Gloucestershire County 
Council Waste Core Strategy WCS1, WCS3, WCS4, WCS10, WCS11, WCS12, WCS14, 
WCS15, WCS16, WCS17, WCS18, WCS19 and  WLP33, WLP37, WLP38, the FoDDC 
Core Strategy CSP1, CSP2 and Allocations Plan AP43 and AP44.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION Planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons set out in 
Paragraphs 7.57 to 7.60, and subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS

Commencement

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of three years  from 
the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of commencement of 
development shall be sent to the Waste Planning Authority within seven days of such 
commencement.

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

Scope of the permission

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following submitted documents and plans:

 Planning application form;

Page 227



 Planning, Design and Access Statement;
 Ecological Appraisal (Blakedown Environmental, August 2019);
 Drainage Report (Southwest Environmental Limited, August 2019);
 Asbestos Report (Survey Services Chartered Consultancy Ltd, March 2019);
 Drainage Plan;
 Fire Prevention Plan;
 Site Location Plan (00) 001 V3; and
 Proposed Site Plan (00) 002;

except in so far as the approved documents and plans listed above are amended by the 
conditions specified below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the details in the 
submitted planning application in the interest of the amenity of the area with regard to 
Policies WCS1, WCS3, WCS4, WCS15 and WCS17 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core 
Strategy (adopted Nov 2012) (WCS) and Forest of Dean  Core Strategy Policies CSP1 and 
CSP2.

3 No additional processes for the treatment of waste, other than those specified in the 
submitted planning application and supporting information, shall be carried out at any time 
on the application site (the Site). There shall be no processing of biodegradable kitchen 
and canteen waste on the Site.

Reason: In order to define the scope of this permission in the interests of the amenity of the 
area with regard to WCS Policies WCS1, WCS10, WCS12 and WCS17.

4 A copy of this permission shall be kept available for inspection at the Site offices during the 
prescribed working hours for the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the Site operators are fully aware of the requirements
of these conditions throughout the period of development.

Hours of Operation

With the exception of necessary works arising from emergency situations, no operations 
(including movement of: waste, recyclable materials, processed materials to or from the 
Site; and vehicles, delivery and removal of materials, plant and equipment) shall take place 
other than between the following hours:

07:00 - 18:00 hours Monday to Fridays; and 
07:00 - 13:30 on Saturdays. 

There shall be no materials accepted onto the Site and no operations carried out on the 
Site at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public holidays. The operator shall inform the Waste 
Planning Authority in writing within 24 hours of any emergency situations occurring stating 
what has happened, when and how the situation arose. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area with regard to Gloucestershire Waste 
Local Plan 2002-2012 (Adopted October 2004)(WLP) Policy 38.

Page 228



Import Limit

6 The total quantity of  waste material imported into and handled at the Site shall not exceed  
30,500 tonnes during the previuos 12 months or a monthly limit of 3,000 tonnes per 
calendar month subject to the annual  limit not being exceeded. 

Reason: To define the scope of the development for which the use of the site
at a higher rate of input could raise environmental and amenity issues not  considered in 
the determination of this proposal in the interests of safeguarding the amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers/residents and highway safety with regard to WCS Policy 19.

7 The operator shall keep accurate records of the amount of  waste arriving at the Site, along 
with transport records detailing dates/times/registrations/ownership,  and this record shall 
be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority every 4 months (from waste first arriving at 
site) and shall otherwise be made available for inspection by the Waste Planning Authority 
on request.

Reason: In order to monitor compliance with the authorised waste input tonnage in the 
interests of amenity with regard to Policies WCS 1 and WCS19. 

Highways

8 No commercial vehicles shall enter the public highway from the Site unless their wheels 
and chassis are clean to prevent materials being deposited on the highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to help prevent mud and dust from being 
carried out onto the highway with regard to WCS Policy 19.

9 No mud or debris from this development shall be deposited on the public highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to help prevent mud and dust from being 
carried out onto the highway with regard to WCS Policy 19.

10 All heavy commercial vehicles  entering or leaving the Site shall be netted, sheeted, or 
placed within containerised  vehicles.

Reason: To minimise dust and spillage in the interests of amenity and highway safety with 
regard to WCS Policy 19.

Environmental Protection

11 There shall be no burning of waste on the Site.

Reason: In the interest of amenity and to prevent environmental pollution and in the 
interests of the visual amenity of the area with regard to Policies WCS1, WCS3, WCS4, 
WLP33 and WLP37.

Page 229



12 Subject to the prior written approval of the Waste Planning Authority, any facilities for the 
storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by 
impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to 
the capacity of the relevant storage tank plus 10%. If there is multiple tankage, the 
compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the 
combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, 
associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund or 
have separate secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed 
with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. Associated pipework 
shall be located above ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling points and 
tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment with regard to WLP Policy 33.

13 Prior to the commencement of development a noise scheme, including a noise 
management plan to minimise noise emissions, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The noise scheme shall include, a baseline noise 
assessment, details of all noise sensitive properties (residential (including that proposed) 
commercial and recreational), noise suppression measures and the methods to monitor 
emissions of noise arising from the development. The noise scheme shall then be 
implemented as approved with the approved noise suppression measures being retained 
and for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of noise disturbance from the Site on the local environment 
with regard to WLP Policy 37.

14 All plant and machinery on the Site shall operate only in the permitted hours specified in 
Condition 5 of this permission and shall be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer's recommendations to maintain optimum performance and reduce noise. 

Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development in the interests of the 
amenity of the area with regard to WLP Policy 37.

15 All reversing warning systems used on plant and vehicles on the Site shall either be non-
audible, ambient related or low tone devices.

Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development in the interests of the 
amenity of the area with regard to WLP Policy 37. 

16 Prior to the commencement of development, a dust scheme, including a dust management 
plan to minimise dust emissions, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression 
measures and the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The 
scheme shall then be implemented as approved with the approved dust suppression 
measures being retained and for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the Site on the local environment 
with regard to WLP Policy 37.

Page 230



17 All rubbish, debris, scrap and other waste material generated on the Site by the 
development shall be regularly collected and stored in a suitable container until disposed of 
off-site in a suitable facility.

Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area and of the environment with regard to WLP 
Policy 37.

18 Non-conforming wastes shall be stored in a sealed container or skip and removed from the 
Site within 7 days of their receipt on site, or a request by the Waste Planning Authority to 
do so, whichever is the sooner.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and management of waste not authorised to be 
received and processed at the Site with regard to WLP Policy 37.  

Contaminated Land

19 Prior to the commencement of development, an investigation and a risk assessment must 
be carried out in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the Site, whether or not it originates on the Site, which shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of their 
findings must be produced. The written report shall be submitted to the Waste Planning 
Authority for its written approval. The report of the findings must include:

(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland 
and service lines and pipes,

• adjoining land,
• groundwater and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archaeological sites, historical sites and ancient monuments; and

(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).

The investigation and the risk assessment must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA 
and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’.

Reason: To identify, remediate and control any contaminated land, or pollution of controlled 
waters and to minimise the risk to Site workers, the public, end users, heritage assets, and 
ecological receptors Paragraph 118 of the NPPF.

Submission of Remediation Scheme

20 Following the investigation and risk assessment required by Condition 19, if necessary a 
detailed remediation scheme to bring the Site to a condition suitable for the intended use by 
removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 

Page 231



environment must be prepared, and be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority for its 
written approval within 1 month of the date of approval in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority of the risk assessment and investigation required by Condition 19.

The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works and Site management procedures. The scheme 
must ensure that the Site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the Site after 
remediation.

Reason: To identify, remediate and control any contaminated land, or pollution of controlled 
waters and to minimise the risk to Site workers, the public, end users, heritage assets and 
ecological receptors and Paragraph 118 of the NPPF.

Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme

21 The remediation scheme approved under Condition 20 must be carried out in accordance 
with its terms and conditions  prior to  commencement of development other than that 
required to carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority. The Waste Planning Authority must be given at least two weeks written 
notification in advance of the date commencement of the remediation scheme works.

Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced to the Waste Planning 
Authority for its written approval. 

Reason: To remediate and control any contaminated land, or pollution of controlled waters 
and to minimise the risk to Site workers, the public, end users and ecological receptors and 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF.

Biodiversity

22 Within two months of the implementation of this planning permission, a Biodiversity 
Enhancement Scheme as identified in the Ecological Appraisal at Section 5.4 shall be 
submitted for approval in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.  The approved 
Biodiversity Enhancement Scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the 
timescales agreed as part of the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity is conserved and enhanced in accordance with WCS 
15, WLP37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework Paragraphs 170 and 175. 

23 No development shall take place until a Tree Protection Plan incorporating an Arboricultural 
Method Statement based on the Ecological Appraisal at Section 5.2.2 has been submitted 
for approval in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.  The Tree Protection Plan and 
Arboricultural Method Statement shall be implemented as approved before the waste use is 
brought into beneficial use. All protective structures installed shall be maintained until 
construction work has been completed.

Page 232



Reason:  To prevent unnecessary loss of amenity and biodiversity value of trees and 
shrubs to be retained ensuring  that biodiversity is conserved and enhanced in accordance 
with Policies WCS15, WLP37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National 
Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs 8,170 and 175.

24 No lighting shall be installed until a Lighting Scheme has been submitted to and approved 
by the Waste Planning Authority. The Lighting Scheme shall include the following details:

(a) the position, height and type of all lighting;
(b) the intensity of lighting and predicted spread of light as a lux contour plan of the Site;
(c) the measures proposed must demonstrate no significant effect of the light on the 
environment including disturbance to bats and amenity; light falling on vegetated areas and 
features used by bats shall be below or not greatly exceeding 1.0 lux;
(d) the periods of day and night throughout the year when lighting will be used and 
controlled for construction, operational, maintenance and emergency needs.

The approved scheme shall be implemented before the waste use is brought into beneficial 
use and maintained thereafter for the duration of the development in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s recommendations and scheme details.

Reason: To conserve amenity and ensure that bats are not discouraged at this location. In 
accordance with WCS 15, WLP37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus 
National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 170, 175 and 180.

Landscaping

25 Within two months of the commencement of development, a Landscape and Aftercare 
Management Scheme shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority. The Landscape and Aftercare Management scheme shall include details of:

 planting species, size of plants, density of planting and means of protection;
 ground preparation;
 planting timetable;
 the arrangement for maintenance and aftercare for a period of three years (including 

cutting, trimming, watering, protection from pest damage and weed control and 
replacement); and

 details of any perimeter bund including height.

The approved Landscape and Aftercare Management scheme shall be implemented in the 
first planting and season following the written approval of the scheme and thereafter 
maintained throughout the lifetime of the permission.

Reason: To conserve and enhance biodiversity value and amenity of neighbouring uses 
with regard to Policies WCS 14 and15, WLP Policy 37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2 and NPPF 
Paragraphs 133,143-146. 

26 Any tree or plant, or any replacement of it, that is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies 
within five years of the date of planting shall be replaced with the same or similar species in 
the same location.

Page 233



Reason: To minimise the visual impact of the development  with regard to Policies WCS 14 
and 15, WLP Policy 37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2 and NPPF paragraphs 133,143-146. 

Boundary treatment 

27 Within 2 months of commencement of development, a scheme relating to boundary 
treatment shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The 
approved boundary treatment scheme shall be fully implementated within 2 months of  the 
approved scheme and maintained throughout the operation of the approved waste use.

Reason: To minimise the visual impact of the development  with regard to Policies WCS 
14,15 and 17, WLP Policy 37 and FoDDC CSP1, CSP2.

Skips 

28 Within two months of the date of this permission, details of skip storage, including the 
maximum number of skips and stacked height, purpose and a location area within the Site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. Skips shall 
then only  be stored in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of local amenity and to minimise the visual impact of the 
development  with regard to WCS 14,15 and 17 and WLP Policy 37.

29 Within two months of the date of this permission, a scheme providing details of the 
construction of the finished surface and datum level of the yard where unprocessed and 
processed waste is stored shall be submitted in writing for approval by the Waste Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full prior to beneficial use of the 
site.

Reason: In order to minimise any pollution and to monitor stockpile heights in the interest 
of visual amenity.

30 The maximum heights of any materials in the external materials handling bays (as identified 
on plan refernce “Proposed Site Plan”) shall not at any time exceed the height of the 
storage bay walls and in any event the storage of recyclable and recycled materials shall 
not exceed 3 metres in height (measured from the finished level of the yard), storage bay 
walls shall not exceed 3.5m in height and the storage of waste in stockpiles shall not 
exceed 5 metres in height.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to minimise dust nuisance from the Site with 
regards to Policies WCS 14,15 and17, WLP Policy 37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2.

31 No buildings shall be erected on the Site until all details of proposed externally facing 
materials have been submitted to the Waste Planning Authority and approved in writing. 
The approved details shall be implemented before the building is brought into beneficial 
use and maintained therafter during the operation of the waste use on the Site.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to minimise dust nuisance from the Site with 
regards to Policies WCS 14,15,17, WLP Policy 37, FoDDC CSP1, CSP2.

Informatives

Page 234



1 Advice Note - If it becomes necessary to re-distribute the earth on the bank a check for 
evidence of badger setts is undertaken by a suitably experienced ecologist prior to the start 
of works.

2 Advice Note – If it becomes necessary to remove adjacent mature trees, bat surveys 
including dusk emergence and dawn re-entry surveys or detailed inspections of identified 
PRFs at height (or a combination of both types of survey) would be required. The surveys 
would follow guidelines published within Bat Surveys - Good Practice Guidelines 
(Collins,2016). If further assessment identifies the presence of a bat roost within a tree to 
be felled or have arboricultural maintenance works conducted, a European Protected 
Species Licence (EPSL) from Natural England would be required.

3 Advice Note – If a protected species (such as any bat, badger, reptile, great crested newt, 
otter, water vole, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a feature on Site that 
would be adversely affected by any operation or activity on Site then a suitably qualified 
ecological consultant should be contacted and the situation assessed. This action is 
necessary to avoid possible prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), and the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Works taking 
place between 1st March and 31st August require special care as trees, shrubs or certain 
parts of buildings could harbour nesting birds unless it is reasonably determined by 
observation or survey by an experienced person that nesting bird activity is absent. This 
advice note should be passed on to any person or contractors carrying out or occupying the 
development.

4 Advice Note - In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement with the Local 
Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of countywide 
biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned by the 
applicant should be copied (if not already) to the Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental 
Records (GCER).

5 Advice Note - The applicant is advised that a discharge consent from Severn Trent Water is 
required.

BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Planning Application file 19/0025/FDMAJW containing the planning application, supporting 
statement, drawings, plans and consultation responses may be viewed by appointment with the 
case officer below or on the Council’s Public Access website 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning by a search with the application reference.

CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer: Denis Canney Telephone: 01452 425611
Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 235

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning
mailto:planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Members Site Visit Notes
	7 Application No: 19/0058/CHR3MJ     Site: Land Between Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane, Cheltenham, GLos
	8 Application No: 19/0025/FDMAJW (District Reference P1046/19/CPC) Waste recycling facility.   Site: Lydney Skip Hire, Unit 37 Lydney Industrial Estate, Lydney, Glos.

